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PREFACE.

IT is related by ZEsop, that a forester once meet-
ing with a lion, they travelled together for a tnne,
and conversed amicabl ly without ‘much differing in
opinion. At length a dis[}ulo happening to arise
upon the qnmlum of bupulunu between their re-
spective races, the former, in the absence of
better argument, pointed to a monument on whlch
was sculptured 1n m;tr'nl(, the statue of a man stri-
ding over the body of a vanquished lion. “If
this,” said the lion, * is all you have to say, let us
be the scul ptm:. and you will see the lion striding
over the man.”

‘I'he meral of this fable should ever be borne in
mind when contemplating the character of that
brave and ill-used race of men, now melting away
before the Anglo-Saxous like l.h SNOW benealh a
vertical aun——tlu, aboriginals of America. No
[ndian pen traces the hlalm} of their tribes and
nations, or records the deeds of their warriors and
-('hu,ta——thelr prowess and their wrongs. Their
spoilers have been their historians ; d.lid although
a reluctant assent has been awarded to some of
the nobler traits of their nature, yet, without yield-
ing a due allowance for the })LLLllidrlllLS of their
smmum the Indian character has been presented,
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with singular uniformity, as being cold, cruel, mo.
rose, and revengeful, unrelieved by any of those
varying traits and characteristies, those lights and
shadows, which are admitted in respect to other
people no less wild and uncivilized than they.
Without pausing to reflect that, even when most
cruel, they have been practsing the trade of war—
always dreadful-——as much in conformity to their
own usages and laws as have their more civilized
antagonists, the white historian has drawn them
with the characteristics of demons. Forgetting
that the second of the Hebrew monarchs did not
scruple to saw his prisoners with saws, and har-
row them with harrows of iron ; [orgetful, likewise,
of the scenes at Smithfield, under the direction of
our own British ancestors, the historians of the
poor, untutored Indians, almost with one accord,
have denounced them as monsters sui Zenerys —
of unparalleled and unapproachable barbarity—as
though the summary tomahawk were worse than
the iron tortures of the harrow, and the torch of
the Mohawk hotter than the fagots of Queen Mary.
Nor does it seem 0 have occurred to the * pale-
faced” writers that the identical cruelties, the rec-
ords and descriptions of which enter so largely
into the compositaon of the earlier volumes of
American history, were not barbarities in the esti-
mation of those who practised them. ‘The scalp-
lock was an emblem of chivalry. Every warrior,
in shaving his head for battle, was careful 1o leave
the lock of defiance upon his crown, as for the
bravado, “Take it if you can.” ‘The stake and
the torture were identified with their rude notions
of the power of endurance. They were inflicted

I e D i
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gpon captives of their own race as well as upon
the whites ; and, with their own braves, these tri-
als were courted, to enable the sufferer to exhibit
the courage and fortitude with which they could be
borne—the proud scorn with which all the pain
that a foe might inflict could be endured.

[f the moral ol the fable is applicable to aborigi-
nal history in general, it is equally so in regard' to
very many of their chiefs whose names have been
forgotten, or only known to be detested. Peculiar
circumstances have given prominence and fame ol
a certain description to some few of the forest
chieftains : as in the instances of Powhatan in the
South, the mighty Philip in the East, and the great
Pondiac of the Northwest. But there have been
many others, equal, perhaps, in courage, and skill,
and energy to the distinguished chiefs just men-
tioned, whose names have been steeped in infamy
in their preservation, because *the lions are no
sculptors.” They have been described as ruth-
less butchers of women and children, without one
redeeming quality, save those of animal courage
and indifference to pain; while it is not unlikely
that were the actual truth known, their characters,
for all the high qualities of the soldier, might sus-
tain an advantageous comparison with those of half
the warriors of equal rank in Christendom. Of
this class was a prominent subject of the present
volumes, whose name was terrible in every Amer-
ican ear during the War of Independence, and was
long afterward associated with everything bloody,
ferocious, and hateful. It is even within our own
day that the name of Brant would chill the young
blood by its very sound, and cause the lisping child
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to cling closer to the knee of its mother. As the
master-spirit of the Indians engaged in the British
service during the war of the Revolution, not only
were all the border massacres charged directly
upon him, but upon his head fell the public male-
dictions for every individual atrocity which marked
that sanguinary contest, whether committed by In-
dians, or Tories, or by the exasperated regular sol-
diery of the foe. In many instances great injus-
tice was done to him: as in regard to the affair ol
Wyoming, in connexion with which his name has
been used by every preceding annalist who has
written upon the subject; while it has, MOTeover,
for the same cause been consigned to infamy, deep
and foul, in the deathless song of Campbell. In
other cases, again, the Indians of the Six Nations,
in common with their chief, were loaded with ex-
ecrations for atrocities of which all were alike in-
nocent, because the deeds recorded were never
committed : it having been the policy of the pub-
Jic writers, and those in authority, not only to mag-
nify actual occurrences, but sometimes, when these
were wanting, to draw upon their imaginations for
accounts of such deeds of ferocity and blood as
might best serve to keep alive the strongest feel-
ings of indignation against the parent-country, and
likewise induce the people to take the field for re-
venge, if not driven thither by the nobler impulse
of patriotism.

In the execution of this task, the author had sup-
posed that the bulk of his labour would cease with
the close of the war of the Revolution, or, at most,
that some fifteen or twenty pages, sketching rap-
1dly the latter years of the life of Thayendanege
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would be all that was necessary. Far otherwise
was the fact. When the author came to examine
the papers of Brant, nearly all of which were con-
nected with his career subsequent to that contest,
it was found that his life and actions had been in-
timately associated with the Indian and Canadian
politics of more than twenty years after the treaty
of peace; that a succession of Indian congresses
were held by the nations of the great lakes, in all
which he was one of the master-spirits; that he
was directly or indirectly engaged in the wars be-
tween the United States and Indians from 1789 to
1795, during which the bloody campaigns of Har-
mar, St. Clair, and Wayne took place ; and that he
acted an important part in the affair of the North-
western posts, so long retained by Great Britain
after the treaty of peace. This discovery compel-
led the writer to enter upon a new and altogether
unexpected field of research. Many difficulties
were encountered in the composition of this branch
of the work, arising from various causes and cir-
cumstances. The conflicting relations of the Uni-
ted States, the Indians, and the Canadians, togeth-
er with the peculiar and sometimes apparently
equivocal position in which the Mohawk chief—the
subject of the biography—stood in regard to them
all ; the more than diplomatic caution with which
the British officers managed the double game
which it suited their policy to play so long; the
broken character of the written materials obtained
by the author, and the necessity of supplying many
links in the chain of events from circumstantial
evidence and the unwritten records of Indian di-
plomacy, all combined to render the matters to be
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elucidated exceedingly complicated, intricate, and
difficult of clear explanation. But, tangled as was
the web, the author has endeavoured to unravel the
materials, and weave them into a narrative of con-
sistency and truth. The result of these labours is
imbodied in the second part of the present work ;
and, unless thie author has over-estimated both the
interest and the importance of this portion of Amer-
ican history, the contribution now made will be
most acceptable to the reader,

In addition to the matters here indicated, a pret-
ty full account of the life of Brant, alter the close
of the Indian wars, is given, by no means barren
either of incident or anecdote; and the whole is
completed by some interesting particulars respect-
ing the family of the chief, giving their personal
history down 1o the present day.
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BORDER WARS

OF THE

AMERICAN REVOLUTION

CHAPTER L.

Tue birth and parentage of Josepu BRANT, v,
more correctly, of T'HAVENDANEGEA—I{OT such was
his real name—have been involved in uncertainuy,
by the conflicting accounts that have been published
concerning him. By some authors he has been

called a half-breed. By others he has been pro-
nounced a Shawanese by parentage, and only a
Mohawk by adontion. Some historians have spo-
ken of him as a son of Sir William Johnson ; while
others, again, have allowed him the honour of Mo-
hawk blood, but denied that he was descended from
a chief.

The facts are these : the Six Nations had carried
their arms far to the west and south, and the whole
cmlmly south of the lakes was claimed by them, to

¢=rtain extent of supervisory JlIIl‘n(lICll{Jl] by the
nghl of conguest. 'l'o the Ohio and Sandusky coun-
try they asserted a stronger and more peremptory
claim, extending to the right of soil, at least on the
lake shore as far as Presque Isle. From their asso-
ciations in that country, it had become usual among
the Six Nations, especially the Mohawks, to make
temporary removals to the west during the hunting
Beasons, and one or more of those families would
frequently remain abroad. among the Miamis. the
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Hurons, and Wyandots, for a longer or shorter pe-
riod, as they chose.

It was while his parents were abroad upon one
of those hunting excursions that Thayendanegea
was born, in the year 1742, on the banks of the Ohio.
The home of his family was at the Canajoharie
Castle—the central of the three castles of the Mo-
hawks, in their native valley. His father's name
was Tehowaghwengaraghkwin, a full-blooded Mo-
hawk of the Wolfl Tribe.* Thayendanegea was
very young when his father died. His mother mar-
ried a second time to a Mohawk ; and the family
tradition at present is, that the name of Brant was
derived from that of her second husband, whose
Christian name was Barnet, or Bernard, modified, by
contraction, to *“ Brant.” There is reason to doubt
the accuracy of this tradition, however, since it is
believed that there was an Indian family, of some
consequence and extent, bearing the English name
of Brant. Indeed, from the recently-discovered
manuscripts of Sir William Johnson, it may be
questioned whether Tehowaghwengaraghkwin, and
an old chief, called by Sir William sometimes Brant,
and at others Nickus Brant, were not one and the
same person.

The denial that he was a born chief is likewise
believed to be incorrect. The London Magazine for
July, 1776, contains a sketch of him, probably fur-
nished by Boswell, with whom he was intimate du-
ring his first visit to England in 1775-76. In that
account it is affirmed that he was the grandson of
one of the five sachems who visited KEngland, and
excited so much attention in the British capital, in
1710, during the reign of Queen Anne. Of those

* Each af the original Five Nations was divided into three tribes : the
Tortoise, the Bear, and the Wolf. The subject of the present memoir
was of the latter. According to David Cusick, a Tuscarora. who has
written a tract respecting the history of the ancient Five Nations, the
laws of the confederation required that the Onondagas should provide
the king and the Mohawks a great war-chief
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chiefs, two were of the Muhhekaneew, or River In-
dians, and three were Mohawks—one of whom was
chief of the Canajoharie clan.* Thayendanegea
was of the latter clan; and as there is reason to
believe that his father was a sachem, there can be
little doubt of the correctness of the London publi-
cation, in claiming for him direct descent from the
Canajoharie chief who visited the British court at
the time above mentioned. But there is other evi-
dence to sustain the assumption. In the Life of the
first President Wheelock, by the Reverend Messrs.
M:Clure and Parish, it is asserted that the father
of Joseph Brant ¢ was sachem of the Mohawks after
the death of the famous King Hendrick.” 'The in-
timacy for a long time existing between the family
of Brant and the Wheelocks, father and sons, ren-
ders this authority, in the absence of unwritten tes-
timony still more authentie, very good; and, as
Hendrick fell in 1755, when Thayendanegea was
thirteen years of age, the tradition of the early death
of his father, and his consequent assumption of a
new name, is essentially weakened. Mrs. Grant,
of Laggan, who in early life was a resident of Al-
bany, and intimately acquainted with the domestic
relations of Sir William Johnson, speaks of the sis-
ter of young Thayendanegea, who was intimately

* These five sachems, or Indian kings, as they were called, were taken
to England by Colonel Schuyler. Their arrival in London created a
great sensation, not ouly in the capital, but throughout the kingdom.
The populace followed them wherever they went. The court was at
that time in mourning for the death of the Prince of Denmark, and the
chiefs wera dressed in black under-clothes, after the English manner ;
but, insteal of a blanket, they had each a scarlet ingrain cloth mantle,
edzed wit™ gold, thrown over all their other clothes. This dress was
directed by the dressers of the playhouse, and given by the queen. A
more than ordinary solemnity attended the audience they had of hex
majesty. They were conducted to St.James’s, in two coaches, by Sir
Charles Cotterel, and introduced to the royal presence by the Duke of
Shrewsbury, then lord-chamberlain, (Smith’s History.) Oldmixon has
preserved the speech delivered by them on the oceasion, and several his-
torians record the visit. Sir Richard Steele mentions these chiefs in the
Tatler of May 13, 1710. They were also made the subject of a number
of the Spectator, by Addison.
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associated in the family of the baronet, as * the
daughter of a sachem.”

In the manuscript diary of Sir William Johnson,
Just referred to, the baronet often had occasion to
speak of Brant, of Canajoharie. Sometimes he was
called * Nickus Brant,” and at others Aroghyadagha,
but most frequently * Old Nickus,” or * Old Brant.”
As these private journals of Sir William have never
seen the light, and are curious in themselves, a few
extracts will probably not be unaceceptable to the
reader, serving, as they will, not only to illustrate
the present history, but also the character of the in-
tercourse and relations existing between the English
and the Indians, under the administration of the In-
dian department by that distinguished officer. A
more just idea of the characier and importance of
the chieftain’s family may likewise be derived from
a perusal of the extracts proposed to be given, ex-
hibiting, as they do, something of the intercourse
maintained between the families of the white and
the red warriors.

[t must be borne in mind that the diary was writ-
ten in the years 1757, 1758, and 1759, in the midst
of the old French war, ending by the conquest of
Canada 0 1763. An expedition against that colony,
under the conduct of Lord Loudoun, projected early
in the former year, had been abandoned, in conse-
quence of his lordship’s mability to bring a sufficient
number of troops mto the field 1o meet the heavy
re-enforcements sent over that year from France.
Meantime, the Marquis de Montealm, with an army
of 9000 men, had advanced through Lake George,
and carried Fort William Henry—the siege of which
was followed by a frightful massacre—and was then
threatening Fort Edward and the settlements on the
Hudson; while, at the west, the French, with their
Indian allies, were continually threatening an inva-
sion by the way of Oswego, and by their scouts and
scalping parties were vexing the German settle-
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ments on the Upper Mohawk, and continually har-
assing the Six Nations, or Iroquois, ever the objecis
of French hostility In this state of things, it re-
quired the utmost activity on the part of Sir William
lohnson, his officers, and Indian allies, to keep them-
selves well informed as to the actual or intended
movements of their subtle enemies. There was,
therefore, constant employment, until the close of
the year, for Indian scouts and messengers, through-
out the whole wilderness country from Lake Cham-
plain to Niagara, and Fort Du Quesne, on the Ohio.
With this explanation we proceed to the diary :

“1757.—November 4th. Canadiorha, alias Nickus
Brant’s son, who was in quest after De (‘ouagne as
far as Oneida, came here (Fort Johnson), and said
he inquired what news was stirring among the Onei-
das. One of the sachems told him the same piece
of news Ogaghte brought some days since, about
the French intending to stop the powder from the
Six Nations, building a fort near Chennessio, &e. :
that it made a great noise among the nations, and
gave them uneasiness ; wherefore they were assem-
bling often at Chennessio, and keeping (holding)
often greal councils among themselves how to act
in this affair of last moment.”

In the next extract it will be seen that Sir William
spedks of Brant as a “sachem.” Of course it could
be none other than the elder, or “ Old Brant,” at the
time, as Joseph was not then more than sixteen
years old.

“ IS8, —April 15th. Sir William set out for Cana-
joharie, and took with him Captains Johnson,* Fon-
da, and Jacobus Clement, in order to settle some
matters with the Indians of that castle He arrived
that night.

* Aprd 16th. He delivered a string of wampum to
Brant and Paulus, two sachems, desiring them to
eall all their people out of the woods to attend a

A * Guy Johnson his son-in-law.
5 o
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meeting he proposed the next day with them, at
which he should let them know General Abercrom-
bie’s pleasure, and his own inclination and advice ;
also what passed between him and the several na-
tions. who of late had had several meetings with
him.”

Preparations were now making for a more for-
midable and vigorous campaign, under General Ab-
ercrombie, who had succeeded Lord Loudoun. His
object was an attack upon Ticonderoga, and, if suc-
cessful, a descent upon Crown Point and Montreal.
The French in Canada were, of course, making cor-
responding exertions to repel the expected invasion.
With a view of creating a diversion, by annoying
the colony of New-York from another quarter, they
were said to be preparing to invade the Mohawk
Valley by the way of Oswego and Fort Stanwix.
A party of their Indians had made a bold irruption,
towards the close of April, upon Burnetsfield, on
the south side of the Mohawk, and destroyed the en-
tire settlement ; massacring men, women, and chil-
dren—thirty-three in number—being the whole pop-
ulation save two persons. There had likewise been
outrages at the German Flatts, where several In-
dians had been killed by the inhabitants. The mili-
tia were promptly ordered into the field, to rendez-
vous at Canajoharie, whither Sir William repaired
on the 4th of May, to lead them against the enemy,
reported, on the same day, to be in force at the great
carrying-place (Fort Stanwix).

Meantime, it was well known that the French had
left no means untried to seduce the five westernmost
tribes of the Six Nations from their allegiance to
the English. They had long had their Jesuit priests
among the Oneidas, Onondagas, &c.; and a variety
of circumstances had occurred to induce the Mo-
hawks to distrust their brethren of the other tribes.
Under these circumstances Sir William received the
invitation thus noted in his diary :
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% April 4th. Sir William having had an invitation
from the Six Nations to attend a grand meeting to
be held at Onondaga within a few days hence, where
he intends to prou,ed, in case the last alarm should
prove groundless.”

The baronet arrived at Canajoharie in the evening,
and attended a dance of the young warriors, having
the scalp of one of the hostile Indians engaged in
the recent irruption, who had been killed at the Ger-
man Flatts. He is thus spoken of in the diary, in
the handwriting of Sir William’s secretary :

“ The body of Otqueandageghte, an Onondaga
warrior, who lived for some years at 'Swegachy,
and formerly a mate of Sir William’s, was found.
His name was engraved on the handle (of his knife),
and how often he had been to war, together with
this inscripliuu : ¢ Otqueandageghte le Camera de Jean-
son.’

Sir William was higl 1I\ respected by the Six Na-
tions, and by the Mohawks, in particular, was great-
ly beloved. This affection was not Unly manifested
by their actions, but often in their speeches at their
councils, and in their concern for his welfare when
sick, and for his safety when in the field. Such be-
ing their feelings towards the baronet, they were
reluctant, under existing circumstances, to allow
him to place himself in the power of the Indians
about to assemble at the Great Council Fire at On-
ondaga. They were likewise apprehensive that he
might incur danger from some of the scalping par-
ties of the French. These e xplanations will render
the following extracts from the diary intelligible :

“ May 5th. Sir William having no farther ac-
counts of the enemy’s appearance, sent a scout of
two Mohawks, two Canajoharies, and a white man,
to go as far as Wood Creek and the Oneida Lake, in
order to obtain the certainty of the alarm. About
noon, all the women of the chief men of this castle
met at Sir William’s lodging, and brought with them
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several of the sachems, who acquainted Sir William
that they had something to say to him in the namne
of their chief women.

“ Old Nickus (Brant) being appointed speaker,
opened his discourse with condoling with Sir Will-
iam for the losses his people had sustained, and
then proceeded :

¢+ Broruea—We understand you intend to go to a
meeting to Onondaga ; we can’t help speaking with
this belt of wampum to you, and giving our senti-
ments on your intended journey. 1n the first place,
we think it quite contrary to the customs of any
governor or superintendent of Indian affairs being
called to Onondaga upon public business, as the
council fire which burns there serves ouly for pri-
vate consultations of the confederiacy : and when
matters are concluded and resolved upon there, the
confederacy are to set out for the great fireplace
which is at your house, and there deliver their con-
clusion. In the next place, we are almost convin-
ced that the invitation is illegal, and not agreed
upon or desired by the confederacy, but only the
Oneidas— which gives us the more reason to be un-
easy about your going, as it looks very suspiclous,
Did not they tell you, when they invited you, the
road of friendship was clear, and every obstacle re-
moved that was in before? They scarce uttered 1,
and the cruelties were committed at the German
Flatts, where the remainder of our poor brethren
were butchered by the enemy’s Indians. Is this a
clear road of peace and friendship? Would not yon
be obliged to wade all the way in the blood of the
poor innocent men, women, and children, who were
murdered after being taken?

“ ¢ BroTHER, by this belt of wampum, we, the wom-
en, surround and hang about you like little children,
who are crying at their parents’ going from them

for fear of their never returning again to give them
suck ; and we earnestly beg you will give ear to
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our request, and desist from your journey. We
flatter ourselves you will look upon this our speech,
and take the same notice of it as all our men do,
who, when they are addressed by the women, and
desired to desist from any rash enterprise, they im-
mediately give way, when, before, everybody else
tried to dissuade them from it, and could not pre-
vail.’ Gave the bell.”

* May 10th. 'This afternoon Sir William returned
his answer to the speech of the chief women of this
castle, made to him on the 5th instant, which is as
follows :

“* DyarTeco—Your tender and affectionate speech,
made some days ago, | have considered, and there-
upon have despatched messengers to Oneida, in or-
der to inquire how things stand there after what
happened at the German Flatts, and whether my
presence at the meeting would be still necessary.
These messengers are returned, and I find by them
that the sachems of Oneida likewise disapprove my
proceeding any farther, for sundry reasons they
give in their reply. Wherefore I shall comply with
your request to return, and heartily thank you for
the great tenderness and love expressed for me in
your speech.’ Returned their belt.”

The next mention of the Brants contained in the
broken manuscripts of Sir William, is found in the
private journal kept by him of his tour to Detroit,
in 1761, after the surrender of the Canadas. The
duty then devolved upon Sir William of meeting
the upper Indians around the great lakes, previous
ly under the influence, and many of them in the
service, of the French, in Grand Council at Detroit
to establish friendly relations with them, and re.
ceive a transfer of that guas: allegiance which the
Indians have generally acknowledged to the whites,
French, English, or American. In addition to his
own immediate suite, among whom was his son,
Lieutenant Johnson (afterward Sir John), he was
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attended on the expedition by a detachment of
troops and a band of the Mohawk warriors. While
at Niagara, Sir William notes :

“ Monday, August 10. Nickus,* of Canajoharie,
an Indian, arrived here, and acquainted me that sev-
eral of his castle had died of malignant fever; and
that all Brant’s family were ill of the same disorder,
except the old woman. He also told me that he
had heard by the way, from several Indians, that I
was to be destroyed or murdered on my way to De-
troit : and that the Indians were certainly determin-
ed to rise and fall on the English, as several thou-

* Nickus Hance—another name and a different person from Nickus
Brant ; of this Nickus, repeated mention is made in Sir Willinm’s pre-
vious official dinries. The following quotations are given as curious il-
lustrations of Indizan customs :

¢ Fort Johnson May 22, 1757. Sir William spoke with Nickus Hancs,
alins Taicarthogo, u Uanajoharie chief, who came to see him, and told
him that, as he was much concerned for the loss of his (said Hance's,
mother, who lately died, he expected he would remove his concern by
going to war, and bringing either a prisoner or a scalp to put in her
room, or stead, a8 18 usual among Indians. Upon this, Sir William gave
him a very fine bluck belt to enforce his request. Taicarihogo returned
Sir Willinm thanks for the concern he shared for the loss of his mother,
accepted the belt, and promised he would, on his return home, cal. his
young men together, and lay Sir William’s belt and request before them.”
[The giving of a belt in this way was a sort of commission to make up
a scalping party aguinst the forces or the settlements of the enemy.—
Author.]

Of a similar character is the following extract from the diary :

“ Albany, May 18, 1758. Capt. Jacob Head, of a company of Stock-
bridge Indians, brought to Sir William’s lodgings four French scalps,
which his cousin, chief of another company of said Indians, had taken
from the enemy some few days before, and the aforesaid Jacob spoke as
follows :

“{Brother Warraghayagey, This scalp (the one with a black belt tied
to it, painted) I desire may be delivered to my wife’s uncle, old Hickns.
of Cannjoharie, to replace her mother, who was his sister.

¢ ¢This sealp (meaning another upon the same stick, with a bunch of
black wampum tied to it) I send to the aforesaid man to replace Euse-
nia, who was Taraghyorie's wife.

¢€¢ This scalp (meaning a scalp by itself on a stick, with a bunch of
black wampum) my cousin, Captain Jacob, gives to replace old King
Hendrick, of Canajoharie. [Killed, in 1753, at the battle of Lake George.
— Author.]

& ¢ Thig sealp (meaning the small one tied round with a bunch of wam
pum) my said cousin gives to replace Hickus's son, who was killed ai
the battle of the luke under vour command.” ”
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sands of the Ottoways and other nations had agreed
to join the Five Nations in this scheme or plot.”

It is needless, however, to multiply citations to
the point immediately in view. The object of those
already made has been to clear up the doubts, 1f
possible, and establish the fact as to the immediate
ancestry of Thayendanegea, alias Joseph Brant;
and although the fact 1s nowhere positively assert-
ed, yet there is much reason to suppose that he
was the son of Nickus Brant, whose Indian name,
according to Sir William Johnson, was Aroghyadec-
ka, but which has been furnished to the author by
the family as Tehowaghwengaraghkwin. It has been
seen, from the extracts, that Nickus Brant was a
Canajoharie chief of character and celebrity, be-
tween whom and Sir William a close intimacy sub-
sisted. When called to Canajoharie upon business
or pleasure, the baronet’s quarters were * at Brant’s
house,” as noted m his own diary. It is likewise
well known that, after the decease of Lady John-
son (an event which occurred several years antece-
dent to the period of which we are now writing, and
before he had won his baronetcy at Lake George),
Sir William took to his home as his wife, Mary
Brant, or “ Miss Molly,” as she was called, with
whom he lived until his decease, in 1774, and by
whom he had several children. This circumstance
1s thus mentioned by Mrs. Grant, in her delightful
book already referred to: ‘ Becoming a widower
in the prime of life, he connected himself with an
Indian maiden, daughter to a sachem, who possess-
ed an uncommonly agreeable person and good un-
derstanding ; and, whether ever formally married to
him according to our usage or not, continued to
live with him in great union and affection all his
life.” 'The baronet himself repeatedly speaks of
this Indian lady in his private journals. While on
his expedition to Detroit, entries occur of having
received news from home, and of having written
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o “ Molly.” He always meutioned her Kkindly,
ex. gr. .

* Wednesday, Oct. 21st. Met Sir Robert Davers
and Captain Etherington, who gave me a packet of
letters from General Amherst. * * * C aptain Eth-
erington told me Molly was delivered of a girl ; that
all were well at my house, where they staid two
days.”

But to return from these digressions. Molly, as
it has already been stated, was the sister of Thay-
endanegea ; and both, according to the account of
the London Magazine of 1776, the earliest printed
testimony upon the subject, were the grandchildren
of one of the Mohawk chiefs who visited England
half a century before. 'That his [ather was a chief,
several authorities have likewise been cited to show ;
to which may be added that of Allen’s l:‘nmgm;;hluli
Dictionary, where the fact is positively asserted.®
From such a body of testunony, therefore, direct
and circumstantial, it is hazarding but very little to
assume, that, so far from having been of humble and
nlebeian origin, Joseph Brant was of the noblest de
scent among his nation.

Of the early youth of Joseph, there are no ac-
counts, other than that he was very young when
first upon the war-path. In one of the authorities
it is stated that, having attained the age of thirteen
years, he joined the warriors of his tribe under Sir
William Johnson, and was present at the memora-
ble battle of Lake George, in which the French were
defeated, and their commander, the Baron Dieskau,
mortally wounded. The Mohawks were led into
action by their celebrated king, the brave old Hen-
drick, who wus slain.t It was this victory which

* President Allen 18 connected by murriuge with the family of the
-ate President Wheelock, and has had excellent opportunities for arri-
ving at the probuble truth.

t A council of war was called, Sept. B. |t was proposed to send a de~
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aid the foundation of Sir Williamn’s military fame,
and in reward for which he was ereated a baronet.
It is reported, that m relating the particulars of this
bloody engagement, the warrior acknowledged,
“That this being the first action at which he was
present, he was seized with such a tremour when the
firing began, that he was obliged to take hold of a
small sapling to steady himself; but that, after the
discharge of a few volleys, he recovered the use of
his limbs and the composure of his mind, so as to
support the character of a brave man, of which he
was exceedingly ambitious.” He was, no doubt, a
warrior by nature. * 1 like,” said he once, in after-
life, when the conversation was about musice, * the
harpsichord well, and the organ still better; but |
like the drum and trumpet best of all, for they make
my heart beat quick.”

President Allen states that the father of Thayen:
danegea had three sons in the army of Sir William
Johnson in the year 1756. Of these, Joseph was
probably the youngest, since he was but thirteen
at the battle of Lake George, in 1755. A young
warrior, truly ; but he might well have been there,
even at that tender age, siice, by all the accounts
that have descended to us, he must have been a lad
of uncommon eunterprise—giving early promise of
those eminent qualities which were developed in
the progress of a life of various and important ac-
tion.

The youthful warrior likewise accompanied Sir
William during the Niagara campaign of 1759, and,
i1 the brilliant achievements of the baronet, after
the chief command had devolved upon him by the

tachment to meet the enemy. When the number was mentioned tc
Hendrick, he replied, *“ If they are to fight, they are too few ; if they
are to he killed, they are too many.” When it wus proposed to send
out the detachment in three parties, Hendrick took three sticks, und
!aid, ! Put these together, and you can't break them ; take them oue
ay one, apd you wiil do it easily,” Hendrick’s advice was taken, and
victory wus the result.— Holmes.

YorL. 1.—C
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death of General Pridzaux, is said to have acquitted
himself with distinguished bravery. On the 24th
of July, Monsieur d’Aubrey approached the fortress
with a strong force, for the purpose of raising the
siege. A severe engagement ensued in the open
field, which resulted in the triumph of the British
and provincial arms. The action was commenced
with great impetuosity by the French, but Sir Will-
iam was well prepared for their reception. After
a spirited contest of half an hour, the French broke,
and the fate of the day was decided. The flight of
the French was bloody and disastrous for the space
of five miles, at which distance D’Aubrey and most
of his officers were captured. The Indians behaved
uncommonly well on this occasion, and Brant was
among them. On the following day, so vigorously
did the baronet prosecute his operations, the fort
was taken, with all its military supplies and about
six hundred prisoners. By this blow the French
were cut off from their project of keeping up a line
of fortified communications with Louisiana.

The exertions of Sir William Johnson to improve
the moral and social condition of his Mohawk neigh-
bours were not the least of his praiseworthy la-
bours among that brave and chivalrous people.
Having aided in the building of churches and loca-
ting missionaries among them, at the request of the
Rev. Mr. Kirkland and others, he selected numbers
of young Mohawks, and caused them to be sent to
the “ Moor Charity School,” established at Lebanon,
Connecticut, under the immediate direction of the
Rev. Doctor Eleazer Wheelock, afterward President
of Dartmouth College, of which, by its transfer, that
school became the foundation. Among the youths
thus selected was young Thayendanegea, the prom-
ising brother of * Miss Molly.” :

The precise year in which he was thus placed
under the charge of Dr. Wheelock cannot now be
ascertained. ‘The school itself was opened for the
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reception of Indian pupils, avowedly as an Indian
missionary school, in 1748 ; the first Indian scholar,
Samson Occum, having been received into it five
years before.* It has been asserted that Jusqph
was received into the school in July, 1761, at which
time he must have been nineteen years old, and a
memorandum of his preceptor to that effect has
been cited. According to Dr. Stewart, however, he
was a mere boy when first sent to Lebanon; and it
will presently appear that the entry of Dr. Wheelock

ras most probably incorrect. He was doubtless a*
the school in that year, and very likely on the point
of leaving it; since, three years afterward, he will
be found settled in his own native valley, and enga-
ged in very different pursuits.

The correspondence between Doctor Wheelock
and Sir William was quite active at this period upon
the subject of the school, and Joseph was himself
employed as an agent to procure recruits for it.
Thus, in a letter from the baronet to the doctor, da-
ted November 17, 1761, he says, “1 have given in
charge to Joseph to speak in my name to any gooc
boys he may see, and encourage to accept the gen-
erous offers now made to them ; which he promised
to do, and return as soon as possible, and that with-
out horses.” The probability, however, is, that he
went to the school immediately after his return from
the Niagara campaign, in 1759. No doubt he had
left 1t before Sir William wrote the letter just cited,
and, being engaged upon some Indian mission, had
been instructed to interest himself among the people
of the forest in behalf of that institution. That he
did not himself remain long at the school, is conce-
ded. According to Dr. Stewart, moreover, he made

* The sucess of the doctor with him was a strong inducement for
establishing the school. Occum was ordeined to the ministry in 1759,
and was subsequently located as a missionary among the (]-m:idus, to
which place he was accompanied by Sir Willam himself. The Indian
L}ru:t:'hcr afterward compiled and published a volume of devotional

ymns,




28 BORDER WARS OF THE

but little proficiency in his studies at this seminary,
having * learned to read but very indifferently in
the New Testament, and to write but very little."”
The fact, however, that the Rev. Charles lJefirey
Smith, a missionary to the Mohawks, took Thayen-
danegea as an interpreter in the year following
(1762), and gave him an excellent character, pre-
gents a much more favourable idea of his progress
in learning while at the school ; as :l%rsnl does the
following passage from the memoirs of his teacher :
«“ Sir William Johnson, superintendent of Indian af-
fairs in North America, was very friendly to the de-
sign of Mr. Wheelock, and at his request sent to the
school, at various times, several boys of the Mo-
hawks to be instructed. ‘One of them was the since
celebrated Joseph Brant, who, after recewing his ed-
ucation, was particularly noticed by Sir William
Johnson, and employed by him in public business.
He has been very useful in advancing the civiliza-
tion of his countrymen, and, for a long time past,
has been a military officer of extensive influence
among the Indians in Upper Canada.” Accompa-
nying Thayendanegea to the * Moor School” were
several other Mohawk youths, and two Delawares
had entered the school before him. The name of
one of Thayendanegea's companions was \William,
a half-breed, who was supposed to be the son of
his patron. Only two of the number remained to
receive the honours of the future college. The oth-
ers, impatient of the restraints of a school, and de-
lighting more in the chase of game than of literary
honours, returned to their hunter state in about two
years. 'Thayendanegea probabiy left the school at
the same time. He used, when speaking of the
school, to relate with much pleasantry an anecdote
of * William,” who, as he affirmed, was one day or-
dered by Mr. Wheelock’s son to saddle his horse.
The lad refused, alleging that, as he was a gentle-
man’s son, the performance of such a menial office
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would be out of character. * Do you know,” inqui-
red the younger Wheelock, ¢ what a gentleman is 10
“ 1 do,” replied William : *a gentleman is a person
who keeps racehorses and drinks Madeira wine,
and that is what neither you nor your father do—
therefore, saddle the horse yourself!”

The exigences of the frontier country did not al-
low Thayendanegea to remain long associated in
the mission with Mr. Smith. He was again called
out upon the war-path, as appears by the [ollowing
paragraph in one of the Rev. Mr. Kirkland’s* earli-
est reports to the Rev. Dr. Wheelock, in regard to
the Christian missionaries and teachers employed
among the Six Nations :

“ Joseph Brant,a Mohawk Indian, and of a family
of distinction in that nation, was educated by Mr.
Wheelock, and was so well accomplished, that the
Rev. Charles Jeffrey Smith (a young gentleman,
who, out of love to Christ and the souls of men, de-
votes his life, and such a fortune as is sufficient to
support himself and an interpreter, wholly to this
glorious service) took him for his interpreter when
he went on his mission to the Mohawks, now three
years ago. But the war breaking out at that timne
between the back Indians and the English, Mr. Smith
was obliged to return ; but Joseph tarried, and went
out with a company against the Indians, and was
useful in the war, in which he behaved so much lLike
the Christian and the soldier, that he gained grea*
esteem. He now lives in a decent manner, and en
deavours to teach his poor brethren the things of
God, in which his own heart seems muech engaged

* The Rev Samuel Kirklaud, father of President Kirkland, late of
Harvard University, aud for more than forty years & missionary among
the Six Nations, chiefly the Ouendas. Ile was the son of the Rev. Danie)
Kukland, of Norwich, Connecticut, where he was born in 1742, Ile first
commenced his labours among the Senecas in 1766, having learned the
Mohawk language while in college He was often employed by the
government in varnous Indian transactions, and died at Pans, Oneida
County, in March, 15808,
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His house is an asylum for the missionaries in that
wilderness.”

Neither the particular war in which the young
chief was then engaged, nor the time of the cam-
paign, is noted in the foregoing extract. A passage
contained in a letter from Sir William Johnson to
Dr. Wheelock, however, dated April 25th, 1764, af
fords a clew to the desired information: “J 18
just returned from an expedition against the enemy,
who have abandoned their towns, of which three
were burned, with four villages, consisting, in all,
of about two hundred houses, built with squared
logs, and vast quantities of corn, &c. Parties are
now in pursuit of the enemy.” It was, therefore,
early in the spring of 1764 that young Brant return-
ed from the war, then brought to a close. The war
itself could have been none else than that against
the great Ottoway chiefl Pontiac, who, in 1763, un-
dertook to dispossess the English of the country of
the lakes, then recently acquired by conquest from
the French. Pontiac was by far the most formida-
ble chief with whom the English colonists had had
to contend since the fall of Philip. He combined
the great Indian tribes of the northwest almost as
one man, and in 1763 led thirty-six chiefs, with their
trains of warriors, against Detroit, after having car-
ried several of the remote western posts. A well-
concerted stratagem, timely discovered to the Brit-
1sh commander by an Indian woman, had wellnigh
placed that important position within his power also.
Foiled in the plan of obtaining admission by strata-
gem and putting the garrison to death, Pontiac laid
siege to the fort, attacking it with great fury. It
was besieged for a long time, as also were the fort
at Niagara and Fort Pitt. It was not until the au-
tumnn of 1763 that the English were able to throw
succours into Detroit, in accomplishing which en-
terprise some of the Mohawk warriors were enga-
ged. There had been several severe engagements
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with Pontiac’s warriors in the course of that sum-
mer, in which the Indians attached to the English
cause had fought with great bravery. The vessel
carrying the supplies to Detroit was likewise furi-
ously attacked by a force of 350 Indians, in boats on
the lake, but they were bravely repulsed. In what
particular battles, during this contest, Thayendane-
gea was engaged, does not appear. But he was in
the war, and his courageous and enterprising spirit
offered the best evidence that he neither avoided the
post of danger, nor failed to reach it for want of ac-
tivity. Having invested Detroit for a twelvemonth,
the French, moreover, with whom he was in alli-
ance, having lost their power in America, Pontiac
sued for peace on the approach of General Brad
street from Pittsburg, at the head of 3000 men.*

In 1765, Thayendanegea, having been previously
married to the daughter of an Oneida chief, was set-
tled at Canajoharie, as appears by a letter from the
Rev. Theophilus Chamberlain, one of the mission
aries to the Six Nations, to the Rev. Dr. Wheelock,
written from Canajoharie, and dated July 17th of
that year.

Three years afterward, he was still leading a
peaceful life at the same place, as we learn from the
following entry in the journal of Mr. Ralph Whee-
lock, who had been sent to Oneida to relieve Mr.
Kirkland, that gentleman being sick :

“ March 18,1768. Atmy old friend, Joseph Brant’s,
I met one of the chiefs of the Onondagas (who is, by
way of eminence, called the Wise Man) on his re-
wurn to his tribe, with his wife and child ; and, by
Joseph Brant’s help, I was able to discourse with
him, and delivered my message to his nation.”

During the three years next ensuing, no certain
information has been obtained respecting his course
of life. As the country was at peace, however, he

w I)

Pontiae was assassinated in 1779, during a war between the [owayy
and Ottoways. He was a great man.
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was probably leading a life of repose at home save
when acting, upon occasional business visits among,
the Indians, under the direction of Sir William John-
son It is very probable, moreover, that he was at
that time connected with the English Episcopal
Missions to the Mohawks, commenced in the Mo-
hawk Valley so early as 1702, and continued down
to the beginning of the Revolutionary war. Having
been employed as an interpreter by one of the mis-
sionaries several years before, and as the Rev. Dr.
John Ogilvie, the predecessor of Dr. Barclay in that
mission, was engaged, in the year 1769, in revising,
extending, and reprinting the Mohawk Prayer Book,
embracing additional passages of Scripture, some
occasional prayers, and Indian versifications of sey-
eral psalms, it is highly probable that Thayendane-
gea was employed as an assistant in that labour,
since he was partial to exercises of that description.

In the year 1771, the Rev. Mr. Stewart conducted
a school at Fort Hunter, thirty miles below Canajo-
harie. A venerable friend of the author, yet living
in Albany,* states, that being a pupil in Dr. Stew-
art’s school at about that time, he had opportunities
of seeing Thayendanegea at that place frequently,
and formed an acquaintance with him, which con-
tinued, interrupted only by the war of the Revolu-
tion, until the death of the warrior. He then form-
ed an excellent opinion of the young chief in regard
to talents and good disposition. It is believed that,
from the shrewdness of his sister Molly, and the ir-
fluential position which she occupied in the family
of Sir William, added to his own talents and sagaci-
ty, he was much employed at home by the baronet,
in the discharge of the multifarious duties incident
to his important official station. He was also [re-
quently engag. d upon distant embassies among the

* Douw Fomds, Esq , son of Captain Jelles Fonda, who wus un active

aud very efficient officur, buth in the Indian aud military service, under
Sir Wilhums Johuson.
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western tribes, and talents and tact as a diplomatist
of the forest were qualities pertaining to his char-
acter through life.

Thay L‘lhidl][‘!l‘( a was thrice married, having been
twice a widower before the war of the Revolution,
His first two wives were of the Oneida tribe. The
Reverend Dr. Stewart states that he first became ac-
guainted with him in the winter of 1771. ke was
then still residing at Canajoharie, on visiting which
village, the doctor says he found him comfortably
settled, in a good house, with everything necessary
(or the use of his family, consisting of a wife, in the
last stage of consumption, and two children, a son
and a daughter. His wife died some time afterward,
on which Thayendanegea repaired to I'ort Hunter,
and resided with the doctor for a considerable length
of time. Doctor Stewart was then engaged upon
another ]‘{-":wl:m of the Indian Prayer Lm:r]\, and .Tr_J—
seph assisted him in making various additional trans-
lations. He likewise assisted the doctor in transla-
ting a 1__-.“1-nr,.n of the Acts of the Apostles, and a
short history of the Bible, together with a brief ex-
planation of the Church catechism, into the Mohawk
language.”

Itis ‘-’1"1(!1 on the same authority,that in the win-
ter of 1772-3, he ap [Jli'.ti to Dr. Stewart to marry
him to the }LLnl-.‘sl.-wll.i of his deceased wife, but the
divine refused the application, on the ground of the
forbidden relationship. Brant, however, vindicated
the act, much in the manner of white widowers de-
sirous of forming the like connexion; ainluuu.\m\'
naturally, that the fact of the re lationshi ip would se-
cure a greater degree of tenderness and care for his
children. Still the Episcopal minister persisted in

* Dr. Stewart states that he was d IIH ted to repair to New-York and
1|"|" h these books at the expense ol the Mission: iry Society, but was
]d] vernte lLf\ the bre 1|H'|1 out of the war. He quL the .\I\b to Can-
ada, and afterward delivered them to Colonel Daniel Claus, by whom
they were taken to England ; but it does not appear that they were ever
published
o—9
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his refusal, and a less scrupulous German ecclesias-
tic gratified his desire by performing the ceremony

It was at about the same period of his life that
Thayendanegea became the subject of serious re-
licious impressions. He attached himself to the
Church ; was a chastened and regular communicant
at the celebration of the Eucharist; and from his
serious deportment, and the anxiety he had evel
manifested to civilize and Christianize his people
great hopes were entertained from his future exer
tions in that cause. No doubt has ever been enter
tained of his sincerity at that time ; and it has been
attributed to the counteracting influences of the
dreadful trade of war, in which it was his fortune
afterward again so actively to become engaged,
that those manifestations of Christian utility were
effaced ; entirely eradicated they were not, as will
be seen at a subsequent stage of the career of this
remarkable man.

In compliance with Indian custom, he selected «
bosom friend, during that period of his life we are
now contemplating, in the person of a Lieutenant
Provost, @ half-pay ofiicer residing in the Mohawk
Valley. Those unacquainted with Indian usages
are not probably aware of the intimacy, or the im-
portance attached to this relationship. The select-
ed friend 1s, in fact, the counterpart of the one who
chooses him, and the attachment often becomes ro-
mantic ; they share each other’s secrets, and are
participants of each other’s joys and sorrows. As
the Revolutionary troubles were approaching, Lieu-
tenant Provost was ordered to his regiment and upon
foreign service, greatly to the regret of the future
chieftain. His lamentations attracted the attention
of Dr. Stewart, who advised him to select another
friend, offering to stand as a substitute himself. But
no: the young chief declared that such a transfer
of his affections could not take place. He was Cap-
tain John’s friend. and another such friend could not
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be 1n existence at the same time. Lieutenant Pro-
vost had been ordered to the West Indies; and, in
order to assure him of the strength and constancy
of his attachment, Thayendanegea procured an en-
tire Indian costume of the richest furs he could ob-
tain, which was sent to him in Jamaica. This inci-
dent has been detailed, not because in itself of any
particular importance, but as disclosing an excellent
trait of character, besides HIuwtmtm'r a feature of
[ndian life which may not be familiar to all.* Oth
er events will now occupy the attention of the reader,
in which the Mohawk chieftain will be but one of
many actors, though seldom an obscure one.

CHAPTER 11I.

It has been usually asserted by historians, that
the first blood in the war of the American Revolu
tion was shed at Lexington, but such is not the
fact. The Boston massacre of 1770 was the begin-
1ung of that contest, so fearful in its commence-
ment, so doubtful in its progress, and so splendid in
its results. The storm had even then been gather-
ing for several years, and the public mind had be-
come exceedingly feverish, not only in regard to
the conduct of the parent f_{ll‘t.‘]'tlll]{‘lﬂ, but in re spect
to the language and bearing of the officers of the
crown stationed in the colonies. When, moreover,
the people of Boston were subjected to what they
considered a still greater indignity, by the quarter-
ing of soldiers among them, the irritation was such
that but a small degree of forecast was nece ssary

* A similar custom prevailed amon, the ancient Greeks. Two voung
warriors often assumed this obligation of brotherhood, which was taken
with peculiar ceremonies, und maintained inviolate through life,
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to the perception of an approaching explosion. The
affair at Gray’s Ropewalk, on the 2d of March, in-
creased the mutual exasperation ; and the massacre
that followed on the 5th was but the natural conse-
quence. The first blow was then struck. The
town was thrown into commotion, the drums beat
to arms : and the news, with the exaggerations and
embellishments incident to all occasions of alarm,
spread through the country with the rapidity of
lightning. Everywhere, throughout the wide ex-
tent of the old thirteen colonies, it created a strong
sensation, and was received with a degree of indig-
nant emotion which very clearly foretold that blood
had only commenced flowing; and although five
years intervened before the demonst ration at Lex-
mgton, there were too many nervous pens and elo-
quent tongues in exercise to allow those feelings to
subside, or to suffer the noble spirit of liberty that
had been awakened to be quenched. Such stirring
orations as those of Joseph Warren were not utter-
ed in vain; and so often as the anniversary of the
5th of March returned, were the people reminded
by him or by his compatriots of kindred spirit, “ The
voice of your brethren’s blood cries to you from the
ground.” The admonition had its effect, and the
resolutions of vengeance sank deeper and deeper
into the hearts of the people, until the fulness of
time should come.

Sir William Johnson was too observing and saga-
cious not to note the signs of the times. He saw
the gathering tempest, and it is believed to have
given him great uneasiness. His sympathies, ac-
cording to the testimony of those who knew him,
were undoubtedly with the people. He was from
the body of the people himself, having been the ar-
chitect of his own rank and fortunes ; and those who
were acquainted with, and yet survive him, repre-
sent the struggle in his bosom to have been great,
between those sympathies and his own strong prin-
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ciples of liberty on the one hand, and his duty to
his sovereign on the other—a sovereign whom he
had served lunsz and faithfully, and “hu. in turn, had
foaded him with princely benefactions. His do-
mains in the Valley of the Mohawk were exten-
sive ; and his influence, through a large number of
subordinate officers and a numerous tenantry, was
eorrespondingly great. ‘I'o the Indians, not only
of the Six Nations, but those far in the west be ‘,cmd
who had fallen within the circle of his influence af-
ter the conquest of Canada and the subjugation of
Pontiac, he had been as a father, and they looked
up to him with veneration. Long association with
him and great respect for his character — which
from its blunt honesty, frankness, and ;_n“u-malu,
not altogether devoid of that roughness incident to
a border population, was well caleulated to secure
the attachment of such people—had also given to
his opinions the force of legal authority among the
eolonists. The population, aside from the Indians,
was chiefly Dutch, in the lower part of the Mohawk
Valley ; while in 'the interesting vale of the Scho-
harie Kill and the upper {Ilslmt of the Mohawk, it
was composed of the descendants ol lhu German
Palatinates, who had been planted there fifty years
before. It was not at that period a very intelli-
gent population ; and the name of Sir William, who
h 1d been their friend and con l[)(illlUIl in peace, and
their leader in war, like that of > king, was a
tower of strength. It was very utn\n l, therefore,
that their lljlllllt}]h upon the great politic al que stions
then agitating the country \i}ulll( take their com-
plexion, for the most part, from those entertained by
Rim. Hence, when the storm of civil war commen-

ecd, the loyalists in that valley were probably more
:umkua. in proportion to the whole number of the
population, than in almost any other section of the
northern colonies.

In connexio with the troubles which every man
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of ordinary sagacity could not but perceive were
fermenting, Sir William visited England for t/ > last
time in the autumn of 1773, returning in the suec-
cecding spring. He probably came back with his
loyal feelings somewhat strengthened. It was not
his fortune, however, good or ill, to see the break-:
ing out of the tempest, the near approaches of which
he had been watching with an intenseness of obser-
vation corresponding with the magnitude of his own
personal interests, which must necessarily be in-
volved. He died suddenly, at Johnson Hall, on or
about the 24th of June, 1774.

It was reported by his enemies—or, rather, by the
enemies of the crown—that he perished by his own
hand, in consequence of the clouds which he saw
darkening the political sky : and such an impres-
sion is yet very generally entertained. The tradi-
tion is, that on the day of his decease he had receiv-
ed despatches from England, which were handed to
him while sitting in court, and with which he imme-
diately left the courthouse and walked to his own
house. These despatches, it was afterward report-
ed, contained instructions to him to use his mflu-
ence with the Indians in behalf of the crown, in the
event of hostilities. Another version of the tradi-
tion is, that on the day in question he had received
despatches from Boston, the complexion of which,
in his own mind, indicated that a civil war was near
and inevitable. In such an event, he saw that he
must either prove recreant to his principles, or t ke
part against the crown ; and, to avoid either alter-
native, it has been extensively believed that he put
an end to his life. But there is no just ground for
this uncharitable conclusion. It is true that he had,
on the evening of the 24th, received despatches from
Massnchusetts, the tenour of which, by excitement,
may have hastened the malady to which his system
was predisposed. It was a busy day at Johnstown.

The Circuit Court was in session, al which, howev
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er, Sir William was not present, hu_in;,r-mu.{ngcd in
holding a treaty with some of the Six Nations. In
the course of his speech to the Indians on that oc-
casion, he alluded to the despatches he had received,
and stated to them that troubles were brewing be-
tween the Americans and their King, advising them
not to abandon the cause of the latter, who had al-

wavs been benevolent and kind to them. * What-

ever may happen,” said the baronet, * you must not
be shaken out of your shoes.”

In the afternoon of that day Sir William was ta-
ken with a fit. Colonel Johnson, his son, was ab-
sent at the Old Fort, distant nine miles. An ex-
press was sent for him, and, mounting a fleet Eng-
lish blood-horse, he rode for the hall with all possi-
ble haste. His horse fell dead when within three
quarters of a mile of the house, having run upward
of eight miles in fifteen minutes. The colonel hired
the horse of some one standing by, and pushed for-
ward to the hall. On entering the room, he found
his father in the arms of a faithful domestic, who at-
tended upon his person. He spoke to his parent,
but received no answer; and in a few minutes af-
terward the baronet expired—of apoplexy, beyond
a doubt. This was early in the evening. While
the judges of the court were at supper in the village,
one mile distant, a young Mohawk Indian entered
their apartment and announced the event.

Sir William was succeeded in his titles and es-
tates by his son, Sir John Johnson ; but the reins
of authority, as general superintendent of the In-
dian department, fell into the hands of the son-in-
law of Sir William, Colonel Guy Johnson, who had
long been in office as the assistant or deputy of the
old baronet. This officer was assisted by Colonel
Daniel Claus, who had likewise married a daughter
of Sir William. On the decease of his father, Sir
John also succeeded to his post as major-general of
the militia




40 BORDER WARS OF THE

Of the early life of Sir John Johnson not much 1«
known. He was not as popular as his “ather, being
less social, and less acquainted with human nature
and the springs of human action. He accompanied
his father on some of his warlike expeditions, how-
ever, and probably saw considerable service. Be-
fore the Revolution commenced, Sir John married
Miss Mary Watts, of the city of New-York.*

The sucecessors of Sir William Johnson did not
possess the same degree of moral power over the
population of Tryon county, Indian or white, as had
been exercised by him. Dut they, nevertheless, de-
rived essential aid from * Miss Molly,” who was a
woman of talents as well as tact, and possessing
great influence among the Indians, who were her
own people. Molly was, in turn, aided by the coun-
sels and exertions of her brother, Joseph Thayen-
danegea, who had been much in the service of Sir
William during the latter vears of his life, and who,
on the death of the barconet, was advanced to the
post of secretary of Guy Johnson. These gentle-
men, however (Sir John Johnson, Guy Johnson, and
Colonel Claus), living in great splendour at, and in
the neighbourhood of Johnstown, and thus allied
with the family of a powerful Mohawk sachem,
were still enabled to exert a decided influence, es-
pecially among the Indians. They were likewise

i

in close official and political alliance with Colonel
John Butler, an opulent and influential gentleman of
that county, and his son, Walter N. Butler—names
rendered memorable, if nothing worse, by associa-
tion with certain bloody transactions, which will be
developed in the progress of the present volume.
But, notwithstanding all their influence—and ne
family in America had ever been regarded with
greater deference by the surrounding population
than that of the Johnsons—they were not long in
discovering that the principles now openly avowed

* Sister to the late venerable John Watts, who dird in September, 1826
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in Massachusetts could not be confined within the
limits of that colony, or evell of New-Lngland.
Though less openly proclaimed, yet, a5 the waters
of a fountain 00ze through the earth unseen until
thev have gathered force enough to break the sur-
face and gush forth, so was it with the principles of
liberty sent abroad by ¢ the Boston rebels,” as they
worked their way up the valley of the Mohawk ;
and the successors of Qir William Johnson were not
Jong in discovering that, although they could still
count among their retainers a large number of ad-
herents, the leaven of civil liberty had been more
deeply at work than they had desired, or probably
supposed. The celebrated * Boston Port Bill,” en-
acted in consequence of the destruction of the tea
in that harbour 1n 1773, had gone into operation only
a month preceding the death of Sir William ; and,
in the month subsequent to his decease, a public
meeting was held 1n the Palatine district, warmly
seconding the proposition of Massachusetts for the
assembling of a General Congress, for mutual con-
sultation and counsel in the existing posture of the
puliiltut:1['1';111'5t::l"liu_'.{fuh_m'urba. The original draught
of the proceedings of that meeting is yet in exist-
ence, in the handwriting of ( owlonel Hendrick Frey,
a patriot who lived to a great age, and is bul re-
cently deceased. They breathed the genuine spiri
of freedom, and, a8 d declaration of rights, are well
ontitled to a place among the fervid papers ol that
day, which were SO powerful in ther operation upon
the public mind, After setting forth the concern
and sorrow felt by the meeting at the shutting up
the port of Boston, and the tendency of the acts of
Parliament for raising a revenue in the Amerlcan
colonies, which they held to be an abridgment of
the privileges of the people, the meeting resolved,
1st. That they recognised the king as their lawfu!
sovereign, would bear true faith and allegiance 10
him, and would, with their lives and fortunes, sup-
Vor. .—D
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port and maintain him on the l.l_n':'m(f of lli.l‘:i ances
tors, and the just dependance of the colonies upor
the crown of Great Britain. 2d. That they consid
ered it their greatest happiness to be governed by
British laws, and would pay ¢heerful submission tc
them, as far as they could do so consistently witk
the security of the constitutional rights of Englisk
subjects, “which were so sacred that they could noy
permit them to be violated.” 3d. That all taxes with-
out their own consent, or the consent of their rep-
resentatives, were unjust and unconstitutional : and
the acts of Parliament upon the subject were de-
nounced, as obvious encroachments upon the rights
and liberties of British subjects. 4th. That the act
closing the port of Boston was arbitrary, and op-
pressive to the inhabitants, whom they considered
to be suffering in the common cause. 5th. That
they would unite with their brethren elsewhere in
relieving the necessities of the suffering poor in
Boston, and in “anything tending to support our
rights and liberties.” 6th. Approving of the calling
of a General Congress, and of the five members who
had already been appointed by their brethren of
New-York. 7th. That they would abide by such
regulations as might be agreed upon by the said
Congress. 8th. Appointing a committee of corre-
spondence for that district,* and recommending the
other districts of the county to do the same.

The Congress met in Philadelphia in September,
1774, and after adopting a declaration of rights, and
setting forth wherein those rights had been violated,
they agreed upon an address to the king, exhibiting
the grievances of the colonies, and praying for his
majesty’s interposition for their removal. An ad-
dress to the people of British America was likewise
adopted, together with an appeal to the people of
Great Britain, as also a letter to the people of Cana-
da. The Congress then adjourned, to meet again in

* Christopher P Yates, Isnac Paris, and John Frey,
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May, 1775. 'The papers put forth from that august
assembly had a powerful eflect upon the public
mind. They were also highly extolled by Lord
Chatham in the House of Peers, who declared, that
: In all his reading and observation—and it had been
his favourite study, for he had read Thucydides, and
had studied and admired the master states of the
world—for solidity of reasoning, force of sagacity,
and wisdom of conclusion, under such complication
of circumstances, no nation or body of men could
stand in preference to the General Congress at
Philadelphia.”

"The Provincial Assembly of New-York was the
only legislature in the colonies that withheld its ap-
probation from the proceedings of the Congress—
the loyalists of that colony being, from a variety of
causes. more numerous and influential than in any
other of the provinces. Inthe Valley of the Mohawk
they were particularly zealous and active ; and the
Johnson family, with their assoclates, were cease
less in their efiorts to divert the revolutionary spirit,
which was but too obviously abroad.

But, like the bitter plant in the vegetable pharma-
copeeia, the principles ol liberty only thrive more
rapidly beneath a pressure ; and the spark which had
been struck in the Palatine district they not only
found it impossible to extinguish, but a measure of
their own adoption had the effect of kindling it into
2 blaze : and, once kindled, the fire of liberty is as
inextinguishable as the Greek.

In Massachusetts, however, other menacing meas-
ures besides the passage of resolutions were adopted
towards the close of 1774. Governor Gage having
:ssued writs for the holding of a General Assembly,
in October, afterward countermanded the writs by
proclamation. But the new members, to the num-
her of ninety, maintaining the illegality of the proc-
lamation, met notwithstanding.  Neither the gov-
ernor, nor any substitute, appearing to complete
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their organization, they formed themselves 1ato a
Provineial Congress, and adjourned to Concord.
From Concord, alter some collisions with the gov-
ernor. they removed to Cambridge ; and i the
course of their sittings measures were adopted for
the public defence, and the organization of minute
men, to the number of twelve thousand. Connecti-
cut and New-Hampshire were requested to augment
the number to twenty thousand. Governor Gage
complained bitterly that the ediets of this Congress
were implicitly obeyed throughout the country. Be-
fore the year had expired, a royal proclamation was
received, prohibiting the exportation of military
stores to America. This document caused general
indignation. In Rhode Island and New-Hampshire
the people atonce seized upon the arms and ordnance
in their public places and garrisons, and other cor-
responding measures were adopted by the colonial
authorities. In the more southern provinces signs
of jealousy and discontent began to be more unequiv-
ocally manifested. A meeting of the military offi-
cers of Virginia, under Lord Dunmore, was held, at
which resolutions, professing loyalty and looking
rebellion, were adopted. The Provincial Congress
of Maryland approved of the proceedings of the
General Congress ; and in South Carolina, Judge
Dayton, in a memorable charge to a grand-jury at
Camden, set the ball in motion in that colony
Doctor Franklin, being in London, was required te
attend a meeting of the Committee for Plantations.
to whom had been referred the petition of the Mas-
sachusetts Assembly for the removal of Governor
Hutchinson and Lieutenant-governor Oliver. He
supported the petition, and was, the day after, dis-
missed by the crown from the office lli_.IlH}.'ilLll'.L?-'\“.‘l'
for the colonies.

It may readily be conceived that an excitement
thus increasing from day to day, and thus rapidly

extending the circle of its influence, would not long
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be confined to measures of remonstrance and peti-
tion. Most unfortunate was it, therefore, that just at
this conjuncture, while all sagacious men saw by
the shadows what events were coming, and all good
men were solicitous for the preservation of the
character and augmentation of the physical strength
of the country, a small band of bad ones adopted a
course well fitted to awaken the jealousy of the
whole Indian race, and exasperate a portion of them
to the highest pitch of anger and revenge. It was
evident that the colonies were about to measure
swords with one of the strongest powers in Chris-
tendom, and to strike for freedom.: True wisdom,
therefore, required that the clouds of Indians dark-
ening more than a thousand miles of our border, and
in the North forming an intermediate power between
our own settlements and the country of the antici-
pated foe, should be at least conciliated into neu-
trality, if not courted into an alliance. But a con-
trary course was taken by some of the frontier-men
of Virginia,and a hostile feeling awakened by a suc-
cession of outrages, unprovoked and more cruel than
savages, as such, could have committed. The well-
informed reader will at once anticipate that refer-
ence is now had to the hostilities upon the north-
western frontier of Virginia, commonly known as
Cresap’s War, from the agency of a subaltern officer
of that name, whose wanton cruelty provoked it, and
one striking event of which has rendered every
American ear familiar with the name of Loeax, the
celebrated ¢ Mingo Chief.”*

The wars and the conquests of the Six Nations
had been the cause of transplanting many familics,
among whom were some of distinction, over the
countries subjected to their arms. Among these
was the family of Logan, the son of Shikellimus, a
distinguished Cayuga sachem, who had removed

Mingo, Mengwe, Maausns, and Iroquois, are all oily different names
apphed to the Six Nations.
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from the particular location of his own tribe to
Shamokin, or Canestoga, within the borders of Penun-
sylvania, where he exec uted the duties of principal
chief of those of the Six Nations residing on the
Susquehanna. He was a man of consequence and
humanity, and one of the earliest to encourage the
introduction of Christianity by Count Zinzendorf,
He was a great friend to the celebrated James Logan,
who accompanied William Penn on his last voyage
to America, and who subsequently became 1Ii~qLi|1-
guished in the colony for his learning and benevo-
lence. Hence the name of the famous son of ‘:-In-
kellimus, so closely identified with the scenes about
to be described.

Logan had removed from his father’s lodge at
‘\lmmul\m to the Shawanese country on the Ohio,
where he had become a chiel. He was a friend ui'
the white men, and one of the noblest of his race
not only by right of birth, but in consideration of
his own rlllrdt ter. During the Indian wars con-
nected with the contest with France, which were
continued for a considerable time after the conquest
of Canada, he took no part, save in the character of
a peacemaker.

The circumstances which transformed this good
and just man from a sincere friend mTu a bitter foe,
will appear in the following narrative : It happened,
in April or May of 1774, that a party of f land- jobbers,
while eng: lg(‘ti in exploring lands near the Ohio Riv-
er, were robbed, or pretended to have been robbed,
of a I]llmlu r of horses by the Indians. The leader
of the land-jobbers was Captain Michael Cresap.
Alarmed at the depredation upon their property, or
affecting to be so, Cresap and his party determined
to make war upon the Indians, without investiga-
tion, and irrespective, as d nl.lll(_l of course, of the
guilt or innocence of those whom they should at-
tack. On the same day, falling in with two In-
dians, Cresap and his men killed them. Hearing,
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moreover, of a still larger party of Indians encamped
at some distance below the site of the present town
of Wheeling, the white barbarians proceeded thither,
and, after winning the confidence of the sons of the
forest by pretended friendship, fell upon and slaugh-
tered several of their number, among whom were a
part of the family of the white man’s friend—Logan.

Soon after this atrocious affair, another followed,
equally flagitious. There was a white settlement on
the east bank of the Ohio, about thirty miles above
Wheeling, among the leading men of which were
one named Daniel Greathouse, and another named
Tomlinson. A party of Indians, assembled on the
opposite bank of the river, having heard of the mur-
ders committed by Cresap, determined to avenge
their death, of which resolution Greathouse was ad-
monished by a friendly squaw, who advised him to
escape, while he was reconnoitring for the purpose
of ascertaining their numbers. He had crossed the
river with thirty-two men under his command, and
secreted them for the purpose of falling upon the
Indians; but finding that they were too strong for
him, he changed his plan of operations, recrossed the
river, and, with a show of friendship, invited them
over to an entertainment. Without suspicion of
treachery, the Indians accepted the invitation, and,
while engaged in drinking—some of them to a state
of intoxication—they were set upon and murdered
in cold blood. Here, again, fell two more of the
family of Logan—a brother and sister, the latter be-
ing in a situation of peculiar delicacy. The Indians
who had remained on the other side of the river,
hearing the noise of the treacherous attack, flew to
their canoes to rescue their friends. This move-
ment had been anticipated ; and sharp-shooters, sta-
tioned in ambuscade, shot numbers of them in their
canoes, and compelled the others to return.

These dastardly transactions were enacted on the
24th of May. They were soo1 followed by anoth-
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er outrage, which, though of less magnitude, was
not less atrocious in its spirit, while it was even
more harrowing to the feelings of the Indians. The
event referred to was the murder, by a white man,
of an aged and inoffensive Delaware chief, named
the Buld Fagle. He had for years consorted more
with the white people than his own, visiting those
most frequently who entertained him best. At the
time of his mur {er he had been on a visit to the fort
at the north of the Kanhawa, and was killed while
alone, paddling his canoe. The man who commit-
ted the murder, it was said, had been a sufferer at
the hands of the Indians; but he had never been in-
tured by the object upon whom he wreaked his ven-
geance. After tearmng the scalp from his head, the
white savage placed the body in a sitting posture in
the canoe, and sent 1t adrift down the stream. The
voyage of the dead chief was observed by many,
who supposed hiim living, and upon one of his ordi-
nary excursions. When, however, the deed be-
came known, his nation were not slow in avowals
of vengeance. E qu: illy exasperated, at about the
same time, were the Shawane se against the whites,
by the murder of one of their favourite chiefs, Silver
Heels, who had, in the kindest manner, undertaken
to escort several white traders across the woods
from the Ohio to Albany, a distance of nearly two
hundred miles.

The conse quenc e of these repeated outrages, per
petrated by white barbarians, was the immediate
commencement of an Indian war, the first leader of
which was Logan, who, with a small party of only
eight warriors, made a sudden and unexpected de-
scent upon a Muskingum settlement, with complete
success. In the course of the summer great num-
bers of men, women, and children fell victims to
lIil‘ tomahawk and scalping-knife. Log: i1, howev-

', though smarting under a keen sense of his own
Ltlllilg‘w, set his face against the practice of putting
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prisoners to the torture, so far as he could. In one
instance. he so instructed a prisoner doomed to run
the guantlet, as to enable him to escape without re-
ceiving essential injury. In another case, with his
own hand he severed the cord which bound a pris-
oner ta the stake, and by his influence procured his
adoption into an Indian family.

To punish these atrocities, provoked, as all au-
thorities concur in admitting, by the whites, a vig-
orous campaign was undertaken by the Governor of
Virginia, Lord Dunmore, with a force of between
two and three thousand men. Eleven hundred of
these provincials mostly riflemen, and comprising
much of the chivalry of Virginia, constituting the
left wing, were intrusted to the command of Gen
eral Andrew Lewis, with instructions to march di-
rect for Point Pleasant, at the mouth of the Great
Kanhawa; while his lordship, proceeding with the
right wing, was to cross the Ohio at a higher point,
and fall upon the Indian towns in their rear. For
reasons never satisfactorily explained, although the
cause of some controversy at the time, there was a
failure of the expected co-operation on the part of
Lord Dunmore.

General Lewis commenced his march on the 11th
of September. His course was direct, through a
trackless wilderness, one hundred and sixty miles,
over which all the supplies of the army were to be
transported on pack-horses. The march was very
slow and tedious, occupying nineteen days. Ar-
rived at or near the junction of the Kanhawa with
the Ohio, Lewis waited eight or nine days to obtain
tidings from Lord Dunmore, but heard not a syl-
lable.

Farly on the morning of the 10th of October, two
of Lewis’s scouts, who were about a mile in ad-
vance, were fired upon by a large body of Indians;
one of the scouts was killed, and the other escaped
to camp with the intelligence. It was yet half an

g |

i




of) HORDER WARS OF THE

hour to sunrise. and instant dispositions were made
to move forward and attack. Just as the sun was
rising, the Indians, who were advancing upon a Jike
errand, were met, and an engagement ensued, which
continued with greater or less severity through the
day. The Virginians had bivouacked upon a point
of land between the two rivers, giving the Indians
an important advantage of position, inasmuch as, if
defeated. retreat would be impossible for the former,
while the latter could fly at their pleasure. Bul
such was not the purpose of the Indians. Their
numbers have been variously stated from eight to
fifteen hundred, consisting of Shawanese, Dela-
wares, Mingoes, Wyandots, Cayugas, and several
other tribes, led in chief by Logan, assisted by oth-
er celebrated chiefs, among whom were Cornstock,
Flilenipsico (his son), and the Red Eagle.

The onset was impetuous on both sides. Colonel
Charles Lewis led the right of the Virginians, and
was in advance. He fell almost at the first fire,
mortally wounded, and shortly afterward expired,
having walked back to his own camp. 'The Virgin-
ians, like the Indians, sought every advantage by
fighting from the shelter of trees and bushes ; but In
the first part of the engagement the advantages werc
with the Indians, and two of the Virginia regiments,
after severe loss, especially in ofiicers, were coni-
pelled to give way. Colonel Fleming, who coin-
manded the left, though severely wounded, in the
beginning of the action, by two balls through his
arm and another through the breast, bravely kept
the field for some time, cheering his men, and, ur-
ging them not to lose an inch of ground, directed
them to outflank the enemy. But the assault of the
[ndians was vigorous, and their fire so severe, that
the left, like the right, was yielding, when, at the
most critical moment, Colonel Field’s regiment was
brought with great spirit and resolution into the ac-
tion, by which timely movement the fortunes of the
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lay were retrieved. The im]JL‘llmﬁ'it\fnf the Indians
was checked, and they were in turn forced to re-
treat, falling back to ivail themselves of a rude
breastwork of logs and brushwood, which they had
taken the precaution to construct for the occasion.
Colonel Field was killed at the moment his gallant
regiment had (]mng »d the aspect of the battle, and
he was succeeded | vy Captain Isaac Shelby, after-
ward the brave and hardy old Governor of Kentucky.
The Indians made a valiant stand at their breast-
work, defending their position until nearly nightfall.
For several hours every attempt to dislodge them
was unsucecessful, the savages fighting like men who
had not only their soil :m:l homes to protect, but
deep wrongs to avenge. * The voice of the mighty
Cornstock was often Iw.ml during the day, above
the din of battle, calling out to his warriors, ‘ Be
strong! Be strong!” And when, by the lvpeatcd
charge of the Virginians, some of his warriors began
to waver, he is said to have sunk his tomr ahawk into
the head of a coward who was attempting to fly.”
The action had continued extremely hct until past
twelve o'clock, after which it was abated at inter-
vals, though a scattering fire was kept up most of
the time during the (Ll\ Towards night, finding
that each successive attack upon the line of the In-
dians in front but weakened his oewn force, without
making any perceptible impression upon the Indians,
and rigl 11,]\ judging that, if the latter were not rout-
ed before dark, the contest must be resumed under
at least doubtful circumstances on the following day,
Lewis made a final attempt to throw a body of troops
into the rear. Three companies were detached upon
this service, led by Captain Shelby. The ground
favoured the enterprise. Availing themselves of the
tall weeds and grass upon the b: wnk of a creek flow-
ing into the Kanhawa, those companies [}l‘\m(‘fl ‘he
flank of the Indian ranks unobserved, and, falling
vigorously upon their rear, drove them from then
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lines with preeipitation. Night came on, and the
Indians, anppmmer that re-enforcements of the Vir-
ginians had arrived, fled across the Ohio, and con-
tinued their retreat to the Scioto. They had not
the satisfaction of taking many scalps—the bodies
of a few stragglers only falling into their posses-
sion. In the official account, it was stated that they
scalped numbers of their own warriors to prevent
the Virginians from doing it. Of those Indians first
killed, the Virginians scalped upward of twenty.
The loss of the Indians was never known. It must,
however, have been severe ; since, in addition to the
killed and wounded borne away, numbers of the
slain were thrown into the river, and thirty-three
of their warriors were found dead upon the field on
the following day. The loss of the Virginians was
likewise severe. Two of their colonels were kill-
ed, four captains, many subordinate officers, and be-
tween fifty and sixty privates, besides a much lar-
ger number wounded.*

Arrived at Chilicothe, a council of the Indians was
convened to debate upon the question what was next
to be done. Cornstock, it was said, had been op-
posed to giving battle at Point Pleasant, but had re-
solved to do his best on being overruled in counc i]
Having been defeated, as he had anticipated, he de-
manded of the council, “ What shall we do now? The
Long Knwes are coming upon us by two routes. Shall
we turn oul and fight them?’ No response being
made to the question, he continued, * Skall we kill
all our squaws and cluldren, and then fight untl we are

Duddridge states the number of kilied at 75, and of wounded at 140

In the e te miven 1n the text, Thuatcher hos been followed. It is
stated by « that o stratagem was resorted to in this action by the
Viroim similar to one that |Il'1 |I t | | ractised in the early New -Eng-
land war of the Indians at Pas et. 'I.Il'.t' Yirginians, conce 1li T
themselves behind trees, wwould he .l]l out their hats ‘.um In '[IJ||J wnd drow
the firy Indisa .'g||| hat being instantly droj s Indian war-

rior wi b lown, supposing that he had kill -.'. the owner,
woulil rush fo LI ' o secure the sc Lill tlI This st 1pposed vietim, only to'fall

cted tomahawk.
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all killed ourselves ' As before, all were silent;
whereupon Cornstock struck his tomahawk into the
war-post standing in the midst of the council, and
remarked, with emphasis, “Since you are not inclinea
to fight, I will go and make peace.” Saying which,
iic‘l'i_fszif'ul to the camp of Lord Dunmore, who, hav-
ing descended the Ohio, was now approaching the
Scioto.

Meantime, General Lewis, having buried his dead
and made the necessary dispositions for an advance
into the heart of the Indian country, moved forward
in pursuit of the enemy, resolved upon his extermi-
nation. He was soon afterward met by a counter-
order from Lord Dunmore, which he disregarded ;
and it was not until the governor visited Lewis in
his own camp that a reluctant obedience was ex-
acted. Meantime the negotiation proceeded, but un.
der cirenmstances of distrust on the part of the Vir-
ginians, who were careful to admit only a small
number of the Indians into their encampment at any
one time. The chief speaker on the part of the In-
dians was Cornstock, who did not fail to charge the
whites with being the sole cause of the war, enu-
merating the provocations which the Indians had
received, and dwelling with peculiar force upon the
murders committed in the family of Logan.* This
lofty chief himself refused to appear at the council.
He was in favour of peace, but his proud spirit scorn-
ed to ask forit; and he remained in his cabin, brood-
g 1 melancholy silence over his own wrongs.

Of so much importance was his name considered
by Lord Dunmore, however, that a special messen-

* Cornstock was a truly great man. Colonel W lson, who was present
at the interview between the chief and Lord Dunmore, thus speaks of

We caeltain's bearing on the oceasion: ** When he arose I!J. Wils 11 no=

e 1 i tspuke in a distinct and audible voice, with-
out stmnmering or repetition, and with peculiar emphasis., His looks,
Prunmore, were truly grand and majestic, vet sraceful

L have heard the first orators in Virginia, Patrick Henry
fenry Liee, hut never have 1 heard one whose powers of

uelivi ry surpassgd those ol Cornstock.”
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ger was despatched to ascertain whether he would
accede to the articles of peace. This messenger
was Colonel John Gibson, an officer in Dunmore’s
army, and afterward a man of some distinction.
The * Mingo Chief” did not dissent from the terms,
but gave not his sanction without an eloquent re
hearsal of his grievances, relating in full the cir-
cumstances of the butchery of his own entire fami-
ly, to avenge which atrocities he had taken up the
hatchet. His conference with Gibson took place In
a solitary wood, and, at its close, he charged him
with the celebrated speech to Lord Dunmore, which
has become familiar wherever the English language
is spoken :

“1 appeal to any white man to say if he ever en-
tered Logan’s cabin hungry, and he gave him not
meat : if ever he came cold and naked, and he clo-
thed him not. During the course of the last long
and bloody war, Logan remained idle in his cabin,
an advocate for peace. Such was my love for the
whites, that my countrymen pointed as they passed,
and said, ¢ Logan 1s the friend of the white men.’ I
had even thought to live with you, but for the inju-
vies of one man. Colonel Cresap, the last spring,
in cold blood and unprovoked, murdered all the re-
lations of Logan, not even sparing my women and
children. There runs not a drop of my blood in the
veins of any living creature. This called on me for
revenge. 1 have sought it; I have killed many ; I
have fully glutted my vengeance. FFor my country,
I rejoice at the beams of peace ; but do not harbour
a thought that mine is the joy of fear. Logan nev-
er felt fear. He will not turn on his heel to save
his i‘i‘l'v. Who is there to mourn for Logan?! Not
one.’

This speech has ever been regarded as one of the
most eloquent passages in the English language.
Mr. Jefferson remarked of it, “ I may challenge the
whole orations of Demosthenes, and of Cicero, and



AMERICAN REVOLUTION. 595

of any more eminent orator, if Europe has furnish-
ed more eminent, to produce a single passage supe-
rior to it:” and an American statesman and schol-
ar,* scarcely less illustrious than the author of this
noble eulogium, has subscribed to that opinion.f
Lord Dunmore, it is believed, was sincerely desi-
rous of peace—f{rom motives of humanity, we are
rcady to believe, although writers of less charity
have attributed his course to a more unworthy feel
ing. Peace, therefore, was the result of the counecil.
But it will readily be conceded that the Indian war-
riors could not have retired to their respective tribes
and homes with any feelings of particular friendship
towards the white men. On the contrary, the pain
of defeat, and the loss of the warriors who fell, were
causes of irritating reflection, in addition to the ori-
vinal and grievous wrong they had suffered at the
f hands of Cresap and Greathouse. 'The Six Nations,
* De Witt Clinton.

+ Thatcher's Indian Biogruphy. Itis due in candour to stute, that
the authenticity of this celebrated speech has been questuioned. On the

[ first publication of Jufferson’s Notes, the relatives and friends of Cresap
made a great outery against the charge of his having murdered Logun’s
- family. Among other arguments in his defence, it was contended that

the speech attributed to Logan had in substance, and almost in words,
heen delivered to the General Assembly of Virginia il_\' 4 sachem named
T Lonan, twenty years before the dute assigned to it by Mr, Jefferson. The
\ speech referred to was discovered 1n the travels of Robin, a Frenchman,
- who visited the colonies at an enrly period of the war of the Revolution.

The passage stands thus in the English translation of ** Robin's New

r Travels in America :”
I ‘i Speech of the savage Lonan, in a General Assembly, as it was sent
to the Governor of Virginia, anno 1754 ;
' ‘¢ Lonan will no longer oppose making the proposed peace with the
r white men. Yonu are sensible he never knew what fear is ; that he nev- It

er turned his back in the day of battle. No one has more love for the
- white men than | have The war we have had with them has been long
g and bloody on both sides. Rivers of blood have run on all parts, and yet
no good has resulted therefrom to any. I once more repeat it—let us be

I at peace with these men. [ will forget our injuries ; the interest of my

country demands it. [ will forget—but difficult, indeed, is the task!
e Yes, | will forget that Major cruelly and inhumanly murdered, in
' their canoes, my wife, my children, my father, my mother, and all my
b windred, This roused me to deeds of vengeance ! I was cruel in despite
" of myself. 1 will die content if my country is once more at peace But

\ when Lonan shall be no more, who, alas !

will drop a tear to the mem
ory of Lonan 1"
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as a confederacy, had not taken part in the war of
the Virginia border; but many of their warriors were
II]”’d"l‘Ul in it, L‘Hl)l‘(,ld“l the Cayugas, to which na-
¢ion Logan h(hm'rml and the warriors of the Six
Nations colonized on the banks of the Susquehanna,
and its tributary, the Shamokin. These, 1t may |)('
reasonably inferred, ret turned from the contest uuh
to brood over their accumulated wrongs, and In a
temper not over-inclined to cultivate the most ami-
cable relations with the colonies. In one word, the
temper of the whole Indian race, w ith the exce rmm:
of HH Oneidas, was soured by these occurrences ol
the year 1774: a mOSt unfortunate circumstance,
since events were then following in rapid succes-
sion, which within a twelve month rendered the
friendship of the nations not only desirable, but an
object of vast importance.

But before the direect narrative leading to those
events is resumed, it may be well to end the mel-
ancholy tale of l.mr 10, ¢ which can be dismissed with
no relief to its gloomy colours.” After the [JL’dLC of
Chilicothe, he sank into a state of deep mental de-
pression, declaring that life was a torment to him.
He became in some measure delirious ; went to De-
troit, and there yielded himself to habits of intoxica-
tion. In the end, he became a victim to the same
ferocious cruelty which had already rendered him a
desolate man. Not long after the treaty, a party ol
whites murdered him as he was returning from De-
troit to his own country. s

CHAPTER IIIL

MTaE parent government did not relax its coercive
measures, notwithstanding the efforts of the Earl ol
Chatham, now venerable for his years, who, after a
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long retirement, returned into publie life, to Mierpose
his e]m;mnm* and the influence of his great name in
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mortification.

The New-York address was a stror 1 denunciation
ol the measures of the government towards the colo-

nies,

Mr. Burke,

and an energetic appeal for redress.
dress was presented to the House of

but was never called up.

The ad-

[ Commons by

A new Provincial Congress was assembled in Mas-

sachusetts

in February, which, antic rmmn r

that the

parent government was preparing to strike the first
blow at that L-ulu.n, adopted farther means of pre-
caution and defence, but, with great wisdom, avoid-

ing anything 1

like an overt act of resistance. Hos-
tilities had m]lnwh been commenced, on the 26th
of Febru: iry, between Salem and Danvers. by the

opposition of Colonel Timothy Pickering and others

to Colonel Leslie, who had been sent to Salem by
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General Gage to seize some military stores whieck
he had been informed were collecting at the former
place. The interposition of Mr. Barnard, the min-
1ster of Salem, prevented the effusion of blood, and
Leslie returned to Boston from a bootless errand.

The ill-starred expedition, by the direction of Gen-
eral Gage, to Concord, and the battle of Lexington
on the 19th of April, gave the signal of a general
rush to arms throughout most of the colonies. 'True :
it was not admitted to be a formal commencement
of hostilities, and the Provineial Congress of Massa-
chusetts despatched an account of that affair to Great
Britain, with depositions establishing the fact, indis-
putably, that both at Concord and Lexington the firing
had been commenced by the king’s troops, ".I,l]tr
Pitcairn himself discharging the first shot at the
former place. But although this message was ac
companied by an address to the people of Grea
Britain with continued professions of loyalty, those
professions were sent, hand in hand, with a declara
tion that they would ¢ not tamely auhnut to the per
secution and tyranny” of the existing ministry, and
with an appeal to Heaven for the justice of a cause
in which they were determined to die or conquer.
It was very evident, therefore, that reconciliation
was out of the question, and that a trial of arms was
near at hand. Of course, the exasperation of the
public mind was now at its height, and those who
fiad not taken sides could no longer stand neutral.

It was at this moment, just as the Continental
Congress was about to reassemble, that, most un-
wisely for themselves, the influential Loyalists of
Tryon county undertook to make a demonstration
against the proceedings of the Congress of the pre-
t('lilll;_{' autumn. A declaration in opposition to those
proceedings was drawn up, and advantage taken
of the gathering of the people at a court holden in
Johnstown, to obtain signatures. The discussions
*an high upon the subject, but the movers in the aflair
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succeeded in obtaining the names of a majority of
tt'n' grand-jurors, and the greater portion of the ina-

stracy ol the county.

flu, W higs in attendance at the court were indig-
nant at this procedure, and, on returning to their
respective homes, communicated their feelings to
those of their neighbours who had embraced kindred
}rlllltllll(a Public meetings were called, and com-
mittees appointed in every LEIHT.HLI, and sub- ummm-
tees in almost every hamlet in the county.* The
first of these public meetings was held at Ilw house
of John Veeder, in C .m*shn:m aga. It was attended
by about three hundred people, who assembled, un-
armed, for the ])lI]‘[}()‘:L of deliberation, and also to
erect a liberty-pole—the most hateful object of that
day in the eyes of the Loyalists. Among the leaders
of the Whigs on that occasion were Savpson San-
moxs, an opulent farmer residing in the neighbour-
hood, and two of his sons, Jacoe and Freperic.
Before they had accomplished their purpose of rais-
ing the emblem of rebellion, the proceedings were in-
terrupted by the arrival of Sir John Johnson, accom-
;ulm.:_l by his brothers-in-law, Colonels Claus and
Guy Johnson, Colonel John Buth r, and a large num-
Yer of their retainers, armed with swords and pistols.
Guy Johnson mounted a high stoop and har: 111fuud
he people at length, and with great ve m mence.
He dwelt upon the strength and power of the king,
ad attempted to show the folly of u])p(wmlr his offi-
:eTs or revolting against the authority of his crown.
\ single ship, he said, would be sufficient to c: ipture
ill the navy which could be set afloat by the colo-
nies; while on the frontiers, the Indians were under
his majesty’s control, and his arms were sustained

* The county of 'I'l'_-\.'ml then included all the colonial settlements wust
and southwest of 5( henectady. It was taken from Albany county in
1772, and named in honour of William Tryon, then governor of the prov-
ince. In 1784 the name was changed to ‘-lun'.gulm ry. When formed,
it r—mhr:u‘.ull all that part of the state lying west of a line running .-:..r'i.
rnd south, nearly throurh the centre of the present county of Schohare.
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by a chain of fortified posts, extending from the Gulf
of the St. Lawrence to the Mississippi. He was
very virulent in his language towards the disaffected,
causing their blood to boil with indignation. But
they were unarmed, and for the most part unpre
pared, if not indisposed, to proceed to any act of
violence. The orator at length became so abusive,
that Jacob Sammons, no longer able to restrain him-
self, imprudently interrupted his discourse by pro-
nouncine him a liar and a villain. Johnson there-
upon seized Sammons by the throat, and called him
a d—d villain in return. A scufile ensued between
them, during which Sammons was struck down with
a loaded \\hlp On recovering from the momentary
stupor of the blow, Sammons found one of Johnson's
servants sitting astride of his body. A well-directed
blow relieved him of that encumbrance, and, spring-
mg upon his feet, he threw off his coat and prepared
for fight. Two pistols were immediately presented
to his bre: 1st, but not discharged, as Sammons was
again knocked down by the clubs of the Loyalists
and severely beaten. On recovering his feet once
more, he perceived that his Whig friends had all de-
camped, with the exception of the families of the
Fondas, Veeders, and Visschers.® 'The Loyalists
also drew off, and Jacob Sammons returned to his
father’s house, bearing upon his body the first scars
of the revolution: iy contest in the county of Tryon.
One of the largest and most spirited of these
meetings took place in Cherry Valley. It was held
in the church, iL}Iii the people entered into the sub-
ject with so much enthusiasm, that they took their
children to the assembly, that they might imbibe
lessons of p.:ummm, as it were, at the altar—thus
hallowing the cause in which they were about to
engage with the impressive sanctions of religion.
The orator of the occasion was an Indian interpret-

* Narratives of Jacob and IPrederic Sammons, furnished to the author
repeated hich will be made hereufter.

references to both of wl
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er named Thomas Spencer ; he was rude of speech,
but foreible ; and warming with his theme, spoke
with such power and effect, that the story of his el-
oquence yet lives in the annals of tr: wdition. The
result of this meeting was the adoption of a strong
counter-declaration, u)lldunmuu the |nmru|1ug5 of
the Loyalists at Johnstown, and approving, in the
most unequivocal and solemn terms, of the proceed-
ings of the Contiental Congress.

These proceedings took place early in May. But
from a letter addressed to the Committee of Safety
of Albany, by the Committee of the Palatine Dis-
trict, on the 18th of that month, it appears that the
Johnsons, and their powerful confederates in the
Mohawk District,succeeded, by threats, intimidation,
and an array of military strength, in preventing the
adoption of a n:uiu»lmluim” declaration by the
Whigs. The committee farther notified their friends
in Albany, that Sir John Johnson was fortifying the
Baronial Hall, by planting several swivels around
it ; and he had paraded P irts of the regiment of mi-
litia which he commanded, on the day previous, for
the purpose of intimidation, as it was conjectured
It was likewise reported that the Scotch Highland-
ers, settled in large numbers in and about Johns-
town, who were Roman Catholics, had armed them-
selves to the number of one hundred and fifty, ready
to aid 1n the suppression of any popular outbreaks
in favour of the growing cause of liberty.

Strong suspicions were early entertained that the
Jutmwlh Iiutlt rs, and Colonel Claus, were endeay-
ouring to alienate the good-will of the Indians from
the colonists, and prepare them, in the event of
open hostilities, to take up the hatchet against them.
Thayendanegea, alias ]:h( ph Brant, as heretofore
mentioned, was now the secretary of Colonel Guy
Johnson, the superintendent, and his activity was
ceaseless. Notwithstanding his former friendship
for Mr. Kirkland, the faithful missionary to the One-
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idas, Thayendanegea was apprehensive that his -
fluence would be exerted to alienate the .ndians
from the interests of the crown, and attach them to
those of the colonists. The wily chief, accordingly,
attempted to obtain the removal of Mr. Kirkland
from his station; and at his instigation a dissolute
sachem of the Oneidas puhmul charges against
llm minister to Guy Johnson, the H‘u;mmlmn](m
A correspondence took place between Johnson and
Mr. Kirkland upon the subject, in which the latter
sustained himself with force and dignity. The One-
ida nation, moreover, rallied to his support, almost
to a man; so that the superintendent was obliged,
for the time, to relinquish the idea of his foreible
removal.

Justice, however, both to Brant and Guy Johnson,
requires it to be stated, that the vigilant eyes of the
Bostonians had d|l(<l{!\ been directed to the i impor-
tance of securing an interest among the Indians of
the Six Nations, in anticipation of whatever events
were to happen. To this end, a correspondence was
opened through Mr. Kirkland, even with the Mo-
hawks, by the Provincial Congress of Massachu-
setts, before the affair of Le xington and Concord.

There were at that time dwe lling at Stockbridge,
in the western 1.11! nI Massachusetts, a remnant of
the Mohickanders, or ** River !I]f'ni!ih._ as they were
usually called during the greater portion of the last
century, but latterly Stockbridge Indians, from then
locality. ‘I'hese Indians were the remains of the
Muhhekaneew* of the Hudson River, at the time o

* This is the orthography of Dr. Edwards, who was long a missionary
among them at Stockbridge. Heckewelder says their proper name wai
Alahicanmi. It is one of the most difficult things in the world to arrive
at anything like system or certainty in regard to Indian names of per
sons, places, or things. For instance, the author has papers before him
at the time of writing, in which the River Indians are called Moheagans
Mourigans, or Mahingans (French), Mahickanders (Dutch), Mokiccona
(English), Mohuccans, Mahickinders, Schaticooks, Wabingas, Muhheak
unnuks, and the Moleakounucks ; indeed, it has been the practice of wri
ters of different, and of even the same nations, to spell more by the em

-
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the discovery. They came originally, according to
their own traditions, from the far West—even be-
yond the great lakes. That such was their original
location 18 auppmlcd by the fact, that their language
was radically different from that of the }s.rmmmr]-
setts and '\Lu—l,ngldnd Indians generally, and also
from the language of the Five Nations. Its affini-
ties were allied to the Shawanese and Uhipp(w.'a.
affording farther evidence that they had emigrated
from the West, crossing the country of the Dela-
wares, and establishing themselves on the banks of
the Hudson, or Mohickannittuek, as the North River
was called. ‘They were a powe rful tribe at the time
of the discovery, numbering a thousand warriors.
and inhabiting the country between the U pper Del-
aware and the Hudson, together with portions of
territory now included in Massachusetts and Ver-
mont. They dwelt mostly in little towns and villa-
ges, their chief seat |nmlf the site of the present
city of Albany, called by them Pempotowwuthut-
Muhhecanneuw, or the Fire place of the Nation.
Becoming feeble and dispe rsed as the white popula-
tion increased around and among them—although
their numbers h 'rtl been partially recruited by refu
Fees from the I dlhl"rlll'~l‘LI and Pe qllmlx on the
conquest of those n: wions—the Muhlickaneew were
collected together at Stockbridge, in 1736, under the
care of the Rev. John Sergeant, who, and his son
alter him, were long the spiritual um-f s of the
tribe. The y were ever faithful to the English, hav-
ing been actively employed by General Shirle 'y to
range the country between Luke Georgze and Mon-
treal. during the  I'rench war ending in the conqguest
of Canada.

The relations of the Stockbridge Indians with the
Oneidas had become intimate, and it 1. Very possi-
ble that the negotiations had even ther commenced

than by rule, until our Indian names have been invol 4 10 almost ivey
irica voe conluston.
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between the two tribes, which a few years after.
ward resulted in the removal of the Stockbridge In-
dians to the Oneida. Be that, however, as it may,
when the troubles began to thicken, the Provincial
Congress of Massachusetts sent a message to the
Stockbridge Indians, apprizing them of the gather-
ing tempest, and expressing a desire to ¢ n]tnnt(* a
[{:)mi understanding between them. The Indians,
in return, despatched Captain Solomon Ahhaunnau-
waumut, their chief sachem, to the Congress, to
make a reply, and on the 11th of April he delivered
Ilr following speech :

¢ BroTraers—We have heard you speak by your
le Ilf r—we thank you for it: we now make answer.

“ BroTHERs— Youremember, when yvou first came
over the great waters, 1 was great, and you was lit-
tle, very small. I then took you in for a friend, and
kept you under my arms, so that no one might in-
jure you; since that time we have ever been true
friends ; there has never been any quarre 1 betweey
us. But now our conditions are changed. You are
become great and tall. You reach to the clouds
You are seen all around the world, and 1 am be-
come small, very little. I am not so high as your
heel. Now you take care of me, and I look to you
for [n'utv:-iinn.

“ BroTners—I am sorry to hear of this great quar-
rel between you and Ol | England. It appears that
blood must soon be shed to end this quarrel. We
never till this day understood the foundation of this
l}ll:ll‘l'{'l between you and the couniry you came
{rom.

‘““ Brorners— Whenever I see your blood running,
you will soon find me about to revenge my brother's
blood. Alt 11[;11 ch F am lmx' and very small, T will
gripe hold of your enemy’s heel, that he eannot run
so fast, and so light, as if he had nothing at his
heels.

“ Brorners— You know I am not so wise as you
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are ; therefore I ask your advice in what I am now
going to say. I have been thinking, before you
come to action, to take a run to the westw ard, and
feel the mind of my Indian Iucllnen‘ the Six Na-
tions, and know how the 'y stand—whether they are
on your side, or for your enemies. If I find Lhtr’- are
agaiust you, I will try to turn their minds. I think
they will listen to me, for the y have always looked
this wi 1y for advice concerning all impr'u't;ml news

that comes from the rising of the sun. [ they
ln-'::':‘](:'u to me, you will not be afraid of any rirmfru

)ehind you. However their minds are affe Lterl vou
shall soon know by me. Now I think T can do 1‘0[}
more service in this way than by marching off im-
mediately to Boston, and st: wying there ; it ma y be a
great while before blood runs.*  Now, as [ said,
you are wiser than I'; 1 leave this for your consid-
1;2!-1’!['. whether I come down immediately Y, Or wait
till 1 hear some blood is st pilled.

“ BroTHE] w—‘l would 1m1 have you think, by this,
that we are falline back from our engagements.
We are ur:uig.' to do anything for your relief, and
hall be guided by your counsel.

* Brorners—One thing I ask of you: if you send
for me to fight, that you will let me fight in my own
Indian way. 1 am not used to fis ocht English fash-
ton, therefore you must not expect I can train like
your m('n Ullh [JFJHH out to me where vour e ne-
mies keep, and that is all I shall want to know.’

These f; lcLs are mtroduced, not only as being con-
nected with the main history, and mteresting in
themselves, but in justice to ‘Guy Johnson ; since,

in regard to his own measures of defi ensive prepar-
ation, he is entitled to the benefit of all the facts,
going to warrant his suspicions that an extraneous

B company of minute-men, composed of the Stockbridee Indis ans,
wus organized by the Massachusetts Congress befure the battle of Lex-

mgton. They were retained in service some ['Jur after the war began,
& came down and jomned the cainp at Cambrid ge.—Sparks.

o—5
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'nfluence was exerting over the subjects of his gen
eral superintendence ; and it can hardly be suppo-
sed that he was kept altogether in ignorance, either
of the correspondence with Mr. Kirkland or of that
with the Stockbridge Indians, through whom, prob-
ably, the Bostonians were at the same time hr:ldmrr
intercourse with the Six Nations. These circum-
stances could not but awaken a lively jealousy in
regard to the movements of the white people among
the Indians under his charge, and especially in re-
gard to Mr. Kirkland. Accordingly, although in the
month of February the superintendent had not been
able to effect the removal of Mr. Kirkland from his
station among the Oneidas, he accomplished that
object in the course of the spring, as appears by a
letter from the missionary himself, addressed from
Cherry Valley to the Albany Committee

The influence of Mr. Kirkland was great among
the Oneidas, and deservedly so. Hence, had he un-
dertaken the task, he might, beyond all doubt, and
easily, have persuaded the Indians of his forest-
f,h.ug.. to espouse the cause of the colonies. But
he did no such thing; or, at least, he avoided the
exertion of any farther influence than to persuade
them to the adoption of a neutral pn]iuy. This de-
termination, probably, was an act of their own voli-
tion, after listening to the interpretation of the pro-
:m*dm;:s of Congress. It was made known to the
people of New-England by the following address,
transmitted by the Oneidas to Governor Trumbull,
of Connecticut, with a request that he would cause
it to be communicated to the four New-England
colonies :

TaE Oneipa Inpiaxs 1o GoverNor TRUMBULL.

“As my younger brothers of the New-England
Indians, who have settled in our vicinity, are now
going down to visit their friends, and to move up
parts of their families that were left behind —with

P
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this belt by them, I open the road wide, clearing it
of all obstacles, 111-11 they may visit 111511 friends
and return to their settlements here in peace.

“ Now we more immediately address you, ou
brother, the governor, and the chiefs of New-I3 ng-
tand.

“ Broruers—We have heard of the unhappy dif.
ferences and great contention between you and 0Old
England. We wonder greatly, and are troubled in
our !l“llf]."'.

* Broruzrs—Possess your minds in peace re-
specting us Indians. We cannot intermeddle in
this dispute between two brothers. The quarrel
seems to be unnatural. You arve two brothers of one
blood. We are unwilling to joirn on either side in
such a contest, for we bear an equal affection to
both you Old and New England. Should the great
King of England apply to us for aid, we shall deny
him ; if the colonies apply, we shall refuse. The
present situation of you two brothers is new and
strange to us. We Indians cannot find, nor recol-
lect in the traditions of our ancestors, the like case,
or a similar instance.

‘ Broruers—For these reasons possess your
m]ui in peace, and take no umbrage that we In-

lians refuse joining in the contest. We are for
ilt';lL('.

SroTHERS—AS we have declared for peace, we
desire you will not :11}‘111. to our Indian brethren in
\L\'. England for their assistance. Let us Indians

e all of one mind, and live with one another; and
vou white pe ople settle your own disputes between
yourselves.’

Of an Indian foe the inhabitants of Tryon county
entertained a special dread. In the communication
of the Palatine Commitiee to that of Albany, there:
fore, cited a few pages back, it was suggested
whether it would not be expedient to prevent the
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gending of powder and ammunition into the Mo
hawk V alley, unless consigned to the committee, to
be sold under their inspection. 1In coneclusion, the
committee declared that, although few in number,
they were determined to let the world see who
were, and who were not, attached to the cause of
American liberty ; and they closed by avowing their
fixed determination * to carry into execution every-
thing recommended by the Continental Congress,
and to be free or die.’

T lll({ days after making this communication to
their Albany brethren, that is to say, on the 21st of
May, the question whether Guy Johnson was or
was not tampering \\uh the Indians in anticipation
of hostilities, was solved by an intercepted commu-
nication from Thayendanegea to the chiefs of the
Oneida tribe: The letter, written in the Mohawk
language, was found in an Tndian path, and was sup-
posul to have been lost by one of their runners.
The following is a translation, being the earliest
specimen extant of the e composition of Brant :

“Written at Guy Johnson's, May, 1775.

““This is your letter, you great ones or sachems.
Guy Johnson says he will IH‘ glad if you get this in-
telligence, you Oneidas, how it goes mill him now ,
and he is now more certain conc erning the inten-
lrr.m of the Boston people. (im' Johnson is in great
fear of being taken prisoner by the Bostonians.
We "\Enh,mlw are obliged to watch him constantly.
Therefore we send you this intelligence, that you
shall know it; and {uv Johnson assures himself,
and depends upon your coming to his assistance,
and that you will, without fail, ho of that opinion,
He believes not that you will assent to let him suf-

fer. We therefore expect you in a couple of days’

time. So much at present. We send but so far as
to you Oneidas, but afterward, perhaps, to all the
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other nations. We conclude, and expect that you
will have concern about our ruler, Guy Johnson,
because we are all united.
“ (Signed) “ AREN KKANNENZARON,
“ JoHANNES TEGARIHOGE,
“DEYAGODEAGHNAW EAGH.
“ JosepH BRANT,
“ Guy Johnson's Interpreter.”

The surface of this intercepted despatch discloses
nothing more than a desire on the part of Guy John-
son to strengthen his domestic forces for the pro-
tection of his person, in the event of any attempt to
seize and carry him away. But the inhabitants al-
lowed him no credit for sincerity. Information had
been received from Canada, through the emissaries
sent thither by the revolutionary leaders in Massa-
chusetts, that secret agents of the crown had been
gent among the Six Nations to stir them up against
the colonies. Hence the correspondence of the
Massachusetts Congress with Mr. Kirkland and the
Indians ; and hence, also, the increasing apprehen-
sion of the people that the Indians were to be in-
flamed and let loose upon them. Such, consequent-
ly, was their distrust of Johnson, that they neithex
believed there was any design against his person,
nor that he was labouring under any apprehension
of the kind. There is no reason to doubt, however,
that Guy Johnson did feel his position to be critical.
General Schuyler had his eye upon him; and, be-
yond question, his every motion was so closely
watched as to make him feel very uncomfortable.®

In addition to the before-mentioned intercepted
letter, 1t was ascertained that already expresses had
actually been sent to the upper tribes of the Six Na-

* ¢ Watch the movements of the Indian agent, Colonel Guy Johnson,
and prevent, so fur as you can, the effect of his influance, to our preju-
dice, with the Indians.”—Letter from Washington to General Schuyler,
Tune. 1775
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tions, t~ invite them down to Guy Johnson'’s house.
His own domestic army amounted to five hundred
men, and he had now cut off all free communication
between the upper Mohawk settlements and Albany.
And although the distriets of Palatine, (‘dna]nh.um
and the lﬂ.lnldn Flatts were sanctioning the pro-
ceedings Jhe Continental Congress with much
ununumil.y, Llav_v were in a great measure unarmed
and destitute of ammunition, not having more than
fifty pounds of powder in the districts. Under these
circumstances, the committee wrote an urgent let-
ter to Albany, representing their situation, and sug-
gesting whether it might not be expedient to open
the communication through the lower districts of the
valley by force. They also advised the se nding of
two trusty messengers, well acquainted with the In-
dian language, to the upper nations, to dissuade
them, if possible, from obeying the summons of Guy
Inhnsun, and to enlighten them in respect of the true
nature and causes of the quarrel with the king’s
_u*m ( rnment.

'his letter was despatched by express, and the
"llwnv Committee replied on the !f:-]]nwmw day,
advising their friends of the upper districts that they
had no ammunition to spare, and dissuading them
from any atte mpt Lo reopen the communication by
force. That project was, accordingly, ab: mdoned ;
but the committee sent four of its members to Al-
bany, to gain information as to the condition of
the country generally, and with instructions to pro-
cure a quantity of powder and lead, the committee
holding itself responsible for the purchase money.
Meantime, they plhhil| their measures of internal
organization with great energy and success, estab-
lishing sub-committees wherever it was expedient.
and assuming the exercise of legislative, judicial,
and executive powers. Secret articles for mutual
succour and defence were prepared, and very gener-
ally signed by the Whigs ; and threats having been
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qttered by Guy Johnson, that unless the commitlees
desisted from the course they were pursuing, he
would seize and imprison certain c:-f their number.
they solemnly bound themselves to rescue any wno
might thus be arrested by force, “ unless such per
sons should be confined by legal process, issued upon
a legal ground, and executed in a legal manner.”

It is here worthy, not only of special note, but of
all admiration, how {'mnplctcly and L]lIllL]}’ these
border-men held themselves amenable, in the most
irying exigencies, to the just execution of the laws.
Throughout all their proceedings, the history of the
Tryon Committees will show ‘that they were gov-
erned by the purest dictates of patriotismn, and the
highest regard to moral principle. Unlike the rude
inhabitants of most frontier settlements, especially
under circumstances when the magistracy are, from
necessity, almost powerless, the frontier patriots of
Tryon county were scrupulmh in their devotion to
the supremacy of the laws. Theirleading men were
likewise distinguished for their intelligence; and
while North Carolina is disputing whether she did
not, in fact, utter a declaration of independence be-
fore it was done by Congress, the example may
almost be said to have proceeded from the Valley
of the Mohawk.

On the whole, there is no good reason to doubt
that Guy Johnson was, in reality, apprehensive of a
clandestine visit from the Yankees, and possibly of
an abduction. The great influence of his official
station, and his equivocal conduct, had created uni-
versal distrust; and the affair of the “ Tea Party”
had taught the Loyalists that the Bostonians were as
adroit and fearless in stratagem as in deeds of open
daring and bold emprise. It was well understood
that he had arrested and searched the persons of
two New-Englanders, suspicious, as it was inferred,
and probably not without reason, that they had been
despatched on a mission to the Indians, with whom
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it was policy to prevent any communication, save
through his own interposition. Nor could he be
ignorant of the fact, that at that critical conjuncture,
the possession of his person might be of as much
consequence to those who were on the verge of re-
bellion as of detriment to the service in which his
predilections would probably induce him to engage.

CHAPTER IV.

A councir of the Mohawk chiefs was held at Guy
Park* on the 25th of May, which was attended by
delegates from Albany and Tryon counties. The
records of this council are very scanty and unsatis-
factory. The principal chief of the Mohawk tribe
at that time was Little Abraham,t a brother of the
famous Hendrick who fell at Lake George, in the
year 1775.

This council having been but thinly attended, and
only by one tribe of the Indians, the superintendent
immediately direc te d the assembling of another in
the westérn part of the county, to attend which he
proceeded to the German Flatts with his whole
family and retinue. His quarters were at the house
of a Mr. Thompson, on Cosby’s Manor, a few miles
above the Flatts. It has been alleged that this sec-
ond council was convoked because of the superin-
tendent’s dissatisfaction with the first—a conclusion
not unlikely, from the absence of the western In-
dians, who had been invited.

On the 2d of June there was, for the first time, a

2 Gu; n beautiful situution immediately on the bank of the Mo-
hawk. The ega it st tone mansion is yet upon the premises, giving the
best evidences of substautial bmlding.

t Little Abraham seems rather to have been & leading chief at the
Lower Castle of the Mohawks—not the principal war-chief,

yuy Parl
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tull meeting of the Tryon County Committee, the
Llﬂ:l]l‘\l‘k}hl\'lllf’" previously prevented the attendance:

delegates from the lower, or Mohawk District.*
"‘hi:-. committee addressed a strong and patriotic let-
ter to the superintendent, l(ll'lll.l“\ notifying him of
the purposes of their organization. The following
1S an e ‘-.lhi[l from this le tter:

“ We are not ignorant of the very great impor-
tance of your uihu as superintendent of the Indians,
and therefore it 1s no more our duty than inclina-
tion to protect you in the discharge of the duty of
your proper province ; and we meet you with pleas-
ure. in behalf of ourselves and our constituents, to
thank you for meeting the Indians in the uppei
parts of the county, which may be the means of
easing the people of the remainder of their fears on
this account, and prevent the lmlmnw L'!J"iu[]ili]:]'-.[' 11-
rvrr'if]:|1"ati~--' on their way down to Guy Park. And
we beg of you to use your endeavours \\1111 the In-
dians to dissuade them from interfering in the dis-
pute with the mother-country and the colonies.
We cannot think that, as you and your family pos-
sess very large estates in this county, you are unfa
vourable to American freedom, although you may
differ with us in thesmode of obtaining a redress of
grievances. Permit us farther to observe, that we
cannot pass over in silence the interruption which

* It may be mteresting to some to give the names of this body of 1aen,
who had su olten professed their willingness to penl their lives and
property in defence of the hiberties of their country. (From Palatine Dis-
trict)—Chnstopher P. Yates, John Frey, Andrew Fink, Andrew Reeber,
Perter Waggoner, Duniel M*Doagul, Jacob Klock, George Ecker, lLllh.
Hurmnnus Van Slyek, Christopher W. Fox, Anthony Van Veghten.
(Canajuhane District)—Nicholns Herkimer, Ebenezer Cox, Willinin See-
ber, John Moore, Samuel fl‘:l“!!lllt'l:' Sumuel ‘.:::\lif'r Thomas “t']ll'_\.. John
Pickard, (Kingsland and German FFlatts Districts)—Edward Wall, Will-
iam Petry, John Petry, Augustine Hess, Frederic Orendorf, George
Wentz, Michael Ittig, Frederic Fox, George Herkimer, Duncan \:'I)uu
gal, Frederic Helmer, John Frink. (Mohawk District)—John Morlett,
John Bliven, Abraham Van Horne, Adam Fonda, Frederic Fisher,
sampson Sammons, William Schuyler, Volkert Veeder, James M*Master,
Danijel Line—42, Christopher P, Yates was chosen chairman of this
body —Camplell's Annals.
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the people of the Mohawk District met in their meet.
ing, which, we are informed, was conducted in 4
peaceable manner; and the mlmm:ul treatment of
«. man whose only crime was being faithful to his
employers, and refusing to give an account of the
receipt of certain papers, to persons who had not
the least colour of right to demand anything of that
kind. We assure you that we are much concerned
about it, as two important rights of English subjects
are thereby 1111";111;31[1—1(: ult, a right to mu, , and
to obtain all the intelligence in their power.”

Colonel Nicholas Herkimer and Edward Wall
were deputed to deliver the letter to the superintend-
ent, for which purpose they proceeded to Coshy's
Manor, and discharged their trust. The ]U”H\'vlll”
was Colonel Johnson's reply — manly and direct;
and with which, if’ sincere, certainly no fault could
be found, bating the lack of courtesy in its com-
mencemeindt :

“ Thompson’s, Cosby’s Manor, June 5th, 1775.
‘“ GENTLEMEN,
*1 have received the paper signed Chris. P. Yates,
chairman, on behalf of the (IIHI[’ILES therein men
tioned, which I am now to answer r, and shall do 1t
briefly, in the order you have stated matters. As to
the letter from some Indians to the Oneidas, I real-
ly knew nothing of it till I heard such a llunrr had
been by some means obtained from an hu]mu mes-
senger; and from what I have heard of its contents,
| can’t see anything material in it, or that ¢ nuldjm-
tify such idle” apprehensions; but I must observe,
that these fears among the people were talked of
long before, and were, I fear, propagated by some
m.llluulh persons for a bad ])mpoae
“As to your political sentiments, on which you
enter in the next paragraph, I have no occasion to
enter on them or the merits of the cause. I desire
to enjoy liberty of conscience and the exercise of
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my oWl judnmvm, and that all others should have
the same privilege ; but, with regard to your saying
you might have prnr[mm[l the .111&11* if therc had
been the least kind of probability that the petitior
of the General Assembly would have been noticed
more than that of the :I:.lr_';_r.ilc s, I must, as a true
(riend to the country, in which I have a large inter-
est, say, that the present dispute is viewed in differ-
ent lights, according to the education and prir.ciples
of tln parties affected ; and that, however reasona-
ble it may appear to a conside rable number of hon-
est men here, that the petition of the delegates
should merit attention, it is not viewed in the same
light in a country which admits of no authority that
is not constitutionally established; and I persuade
myself you have that reverence for his majesty,
that you will pay due regard to the royal assu-
rance given in his speech to Parliament, that when-
ever the American grievances should be laid before
him by their constitutional assemblies, they should
be fully attended to. I have heard that -:umpulmr)
steps were taken to induce some persons to come
into your measures, and treasonable toasts drank ;
but I am not willing to give too easy credit to flying
reports, and am happy fo hear you disavow them.
“1 am ;_rlmi to find my L:l“lll[.': a Congress on the
frontiers gives satisfaction ; this was principally my
design, though I cannot sufficiently express my sur-
prise at those who have, either through malice or
ignorance, misconstrued my intentions, and suppo
sed me capable of setting the Indians on the peace
able inhabitants of this county. The interest our
family has in this county, and my own, 18 consider-
able, and the 'y have been its best benefactors ; any
malicious charges, therefore, to their pre ]mlwc‘, are
Iughh injurious, and ought to be tot: 111‘, Hllj)l)l{“\*)l{l
“The officz 1 hold is greatly for the benefit ang
protection of this county, and on my frequent meet-
ings with the Indians depends their peace and secu-
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rity ; I therefore cannot but be astonished to find
the endeavours made use of to obstruct me in my
duties, and the weakness of some people in with-
holding many things from me, which are indisputa-
bly necessary for rendering the Indians contented:
and I am willing to hope that you, gentlemen, will
duly consider this, and discountenance the same.

“ You have been much misinformed as to the or-
igin of the reports which obliged me to fortify my
house and stand on my defence. I had it, gentle-
men, from undoubted authority from Albany, and
since confirmed by letters from one of the commit.
tee at Philadelphia, that a large body of men were
to make me prisoner. As the effect this must have
on the Indians might have been of dangerous con-
sequences to you (a circumstance not thought of),
[ was obliged, at great expense, to take these meas-
ures. DBut the many reports of my stopping travel-
lers were false in every particular, and the only in-
stance of detaining anybody was in the case of twe
New-England men, which T explained fully to those
of your body who brought your letter, and wherein
[ acted strictly agreeable to law, and as a magis-
trate should have done.

“I am very sorry that such idle and injurious re-
ports meet with any encouragement. 1 rely on you,
gentlemen, to exert yourselves in discountenancing
them; and T am happy in this opportunity of assu-
ring the people of a county I regard, that they have
nothing to apprehend from my endeavours, but that

[ shall always be glad to promote their true in-

tl-am: ;:a;*m.i(*ixlr':u, your humble servant,
* (. Jounson.”

Guy Johnson did not remam long at Cosby’s
Manor, nor did he hold the Indian council there
which had been notified, but departed immediately
farther west. His removal from Thompson’s was
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‘hus announced to the Committee of Palatine by Mr
Wall. on the 8th of June: “ Our people are greatly
larmed at Colonel Johnson’s motions, and cannot
understand his reasons for the same. We dare say
that before now you have been [made] acquainted
that he has removed with his retinue from Mr.
Thompson's to Fort Stanwix, and there are rumours
that he intends to move yet farther. We leave you
to conjecture what may be his reasons.”

These :151;nre_'-l1r-11:~‘it_mra were certainly not unreason
able. Tor although Colonel Johnson's letters were
plausible, and apparently frank and sincere, when
the people saw him setting his face thus to the west,
and moving up through the valley, not only with
his own family, but accompanied by a large retinue
of his dependants and the great body of the Mohawk
Indians—who left their own delightful country at
this time, never more peaceably to return—it 1s not
strange that suspicions as to his ulterior designs
were excited.

The affair of Lexington had, of course, been the
sienal for war throughout the colonies. The forts,
magazines, and arsenals were everywhere seized.
f'roops were raised, nd money for their support;
and it was not many weeks before an army of thir-
ty thousand men appeared in the environs of Bos-
ton. under the command of General Putnam—a vet-
eran of the old French war, in whom the people had
sreat confidence. BEarly in May, Colonel Ethan

\llen, a hardy leader of the settlers upon the New-
lampshire grants (now Vermont), concerted an ex-

I
|
pedition against Ticonderoga and Crown Point.

About forty volunteers from Connecticut were of
the expedition, which, with the forces collected for
the object at Castleton, made up the number of two
hundred and thirty. Allen was unexpectedly join-
ed by Colonel Benedict Arnold, who had planned
the same enterprise. They readily agreed to act in
concert; and so admirablv was the project carriad
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mto execution, that the Americans actually entered
the fortress by the covered way just at daylight
formed upon the parade ground within, and awoke
the sleeping garrison by their huzzas. A slight
skirmish ensued, and the commander, De la Place
surrendered to the novel summons of Allen, “T de-
mand a surrender in the name of the great Jehoval
and the Continental Congress.” Colonel Seth War-
ner was sent thence to Crown Point, which was
easily taken, the garrison consisting of only a doz-
en men, commanded by a sergeant. Arnold pro-
ceeded northward to St. Johns, and succeeded in
capturing a sloop-of-war by surprise ; while, at the
same time, the pass of Skenesborough, at the south
end of Champlain, was taken possession of, Colonel
Skene and a small number of troops being made
prisoners, and several pieces of cannon taken,
Thus, by a sudden blow, and without the loss of a
man, was the command of Lakes George and Cham

plain obtained.

The next act in the grand drama then unfolding
was the battle of Bunker Hill. Towards the close
of May re-enforcements of troops from England had
arrived at Boston, with Generals Howe. Burgoyne,
and Clinton, all of whom were officers of reputa-
tion. The Provincial Congress of Massachusetts
had, early in that month, renounced General Gage
a8 governor of the colony, declared him an enemy
of the country, and forbidden obedience to his or-
ders. On the other hand, General Gage had issued
his proclamation, promising a gracious pardon to all
who would lay down their arins and return to the
duties of peaceable subjects, excepting only Sam-
uel Adams and John Hancock, whose offences were
leclared to be of “ too flagitious a nature to admit
of any other consideration than that of condign pun-
ishment.” By the same instrument Massachusetts
was declared to be under martial law. General
(iage was also preparing, in other respects, for more
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energetic action ; but every measure he took, and
every moment that passed, served only to unite and
:mbolden the Whigs, and increase the audacity with
which they now, in action, if not in words, contemned
the royal authority. The provincial troops began to
assemble in force around B oston, and were throw-
ing up defences, when the battle of Bunker Hill, at
once and forever, severed the tie that bound the col-
onies to the parent country. The fighting on this
occasion was of such a determined character as to
show the enemy that it was no pastime upon which
they had entered. One of the British officers, in
writing home to a friend, de leul that “ the rebels
,Hf_ﬂll more like devils t}mn men.” The loss of the
lirii'ish. in killed and wounded, was 1054. That of
the provincials, 139 killed and 314 wounded. The
great calamity of the day was the fall of the brave
and accomplished Warren, who was shot through
the head early in the action.
[t is not to be supposed that, with the evidence be-
fore them of Colonel Johnson’s exertions to excite
he Indians against the provincial cause,the friends of
the latter were by any me=ans inactive. On the con-
trary, they left no fair and honourable means untried
so far to win upon their favour as, at least, to secure
their neutrality in the contest; nor were they whol-
lv unsuccessful, although the majority of the Six
Nations ultimately threw themselves into the oppo-
site scale. Disappointed in not meeting a fuller and
more general council at Guy Park in May, a confer-
ence was arranged with the Oneidas and Tuscaro-
ras, through the agency of their friend, the Rev.
Mr. Im'ﬁlaml which took place at the German
l-‘htia on the 28th of June. The Indians were mvt
by the inhabitants of that district, and also by :
deputation ‘rom Albany. The minutes of that mqu-
ing were not preserved at large among the papers
of the Tryon County Committee. The result of
the council, however, was to obtain a pledge of neu-
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trality from the greater portion of the Indians as.
sembled. The efforts of Mr. Kirkland had uniform-
ly been directed to the same humane design.

Colonel Guy Johnson, as we have already seen,
h.1rI previously left the lower district of the Mohawk

Valley. He was a man of too much discernment,
holding the opinions he did, to remain at Johnstown
an 1nactive spectator of events, the inevitable ten-
dency of which could only be very soon to rouse
the whole thirteen colonies to arms against the
British power, and he had prudently anticipated
the battle of Bunker Hill in his departure. But his
move :m nts had thus far hu N pacifie, or, rather, not
openly belligerant; and it is probable that an exci-
ted and jealous people may not have treated him,
during his hegira, with all their wonted respect.

Making a very brief sojourn at Fort Stanwix, Guy
Johnson hastened as far west as Ontario, there to
hold a grand council with the Indians, remote from
the white settlements; and where, as he alleged,
their action might be independent, and unembar-
rassed by the interference of the colonists. It was
at Ontario that he received a letter from the Pro-
vincial Congress of New-York, written at the soli-
citation of the Congress of Massachusetts, and com-
plaining of his alleged endeavours to fill the minds
of the Indian tribes with sentiments injurious to the
colonies. He replied to it, on the 8th of July, in a
letter glowing with loyalty, and ¢ omplaining bitter-
ly of the malecontents, and those in opposition te
regular governments, who, he again repeated, were
exciting the Indians against him,

Colonel Johnson was accompanied in his depar
ture by Joseph Brant, or Thayendane gea, his secre
tary, mnl by ( olonel John Butler and his son Wal-
ter, and they succeeded in conve ning a very largu
council at Ontario. The greater porticn of the In-
dians attending, however, were probably Cayugas
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and Senecas. These were now far the most nu-
merous of the Six Nations, although the Mohawks

ot stood in rank at the head of the confederacy.
lmmmh the last-mentioned tribe had been the
nost numerous and powerful of the cantons; but
at an early day after the planting of the colony of
New-York, the French had succeeded in seduc ing a
luu section of the Mohawks to return to Canada,
whence they originally came, after breaking the vas-
salare in which they had been held by the Algon-
qmw Their proximity to the whites, moreover,
had been attended by the effect, invariable and seem-
ingly inevitable, in regard to their race, of diminish-
ing their numbers. Added to all which, their war-
like character, and their daring ferocity, exposing
them to more frequent perils than were encountered
by their associated cantons, had contributed still
farther to this unequal diminution.”

[t is not known that any record of this council
was preserved, although the speeches interchanged
were doubtless written, since that was the universal
practice in the conduct of Indian intercourse. But
no doubt exists as to the fact that the superintend-
ent nliutukui in still farther alienating the affec-
tions of the great mi ajority of the Indians from the
Americans, they did not immediately join the
ranks of !lw im-':ula-'r:s. Nor, when all the circum-
stances of their case and position are dispassion-
ately considered, is it surprising that their inclina-
tions were favourable to the ecrown. On the con-
trary, the wonder is that Colonel Johnson did nect

* Ami ,|.u the manuscripts of Sir Willinm Johnson, I have found a cen-
wus of the Northern and Western Imllnh, rom the Hudson River to the
great lakes and the Mississippi, tuken in 1763. The Mohawk warriors
were then only 160 ; the Ouneidas, 95() : Tuscaroras, 140 ; Onondagas,
150 ; Cayugus, 200 ; Senecas, 1050 : total, 1450, According to the cal
culation ||' a British agent, severnl of '.!'.-- tribes must have increased
between the close of the French war and the beginning of the American
Revolution, as it was computed that, during T‘u latter contest, the Eng-
lish had in service 300 M --| vwks, 150 Ul.u_]\|.!‘- 200 Tuscars rig, 30U
Onondagas, 230 C rag, and 400 Senecas —Aulhor

5—06
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succeed in carrying with him the Oneidas and Tus
caroras also; and he probably would have done sg
but for the salutary, though indirect influence of Mr
Kirkland, and their noble chief, the sagacious Schen-
andoah, always the warm and unwavering friend
of the colonists. With regard to these Indians, it
must be considered that they had then been in 1lli-
ance with Great Britain during a period of more
than one hundred years. In all their wars with
their implacable enemies the Algonquins, acting in
alliance with the French, the Six Nations had been
assisted by the English, or fighting side by side with
them. For a long series of years Sir William
Johnson had been their counsellor and friend. His
family was, to a certain extent, allied with the head
canton of the confederacy, and he was consulted by
them in all affairs of business, or of high emergen-
€y, as an oracle. They had drawn their supplies
through him and his agents, and it was natural that,
upon his decease, their affection for him should be
transferred to his successor in office, who was also
his son-in-law. Miss Molly, moreover, was a woman
of vigorous understanding and of able management,
And, as we have already seen, she and Colonel Guy
himself were sustained by the powerful aid of Thay-
endanegea, who united the advantages of education
with the native sagacity of his race. Added to all
which, the cause was considered, if not desperate,
at least of doubtful issue; while the unenlightened
Indians had been taught to hear the name of the
King with great reverence, and to believe him all-
powerful. They considered the officers of the erown
their best friends ; and it was but natural that they
should hold on upon the great chain which they had
s0 long laboured to keep bright between them.

It has already been remarked, that, thus far, Col-
onel Guy Johnson had committed no act of actual
hostility. 'While this council was holding in Onta-
rio, however, the whole valley of the Mohawk was
filled with alarm. by reports that he was preparine an
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{npmhunn to, retura upon them, and lay the lumlln

wasce Dy nre and sword.  On the 11th of |!1f‘| ol-
one: heiximer ‘num- lmm Canajoharie to the I .1.!,1-
tine Commuitee, that he haad ree eived credible intelli-

gence that morning, ln..‘ Guy Johnson was ready to
march back upon them with a body of eight or nine
hundred Indians, and that the attack uuull be com-
menced from the woods below the Little Ifalls, on the
northern side of the river. He therelore proposed
sending to Albany immediately for a corresponding
number of men. An urgent letter was forthwith de-
spatched by the commitiee to Schenectady and Al-
bany for the amount of assistance 111(11111)11:3(1 “to
prevent these barbarous enterprises,” and to enable
them * to resist their inhuman enemies with good
success—that they might not be slaughtered, like
innocent and defenceless shee p before rav dgilt;-_[
wolves.”

From the positive character of the intelligence,
and the mysterious movements of Guy Johnson and
his followers, the inhabitants had good cause of
alarm; more especially as Sir John Johnson* re-
mained at the Hall in Johnstown, having at his beck
a large body of Loyalists, making his castle (for the
Hall was now fortified) their he .uhiu wrters, who, in
the event of such a movement by his brother-in-law
from the west, would doubtless be prepared to join
the Indians in the enterprise, and, between them
both, be able to whelm the settlements in destruc-
tion at a single blow. Every possible preparation

was therefore made for their defence, but the alarm
proved to be without foundation; and after Guy
Johnson had completed his business at Ontario, he
returned to Uswego, where he very soon afterward
convened another council and held a treaty, at which
he succeeded in still farther estranging the Indians
from the colonies.t

* Bir John Johnson held 2 commission as brigadier-general of militin.
t The following passage fron Ramsuav’s History of the Revolution
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From Oswego Guy Johnson crossed into Canada,
and thence descended the St. Lawrence to Mon.
treal, accompanied by a large number of the chiefs
and warriors of the Six Nations, who were invited
to an interview with Sir Guy Carleton and Sir Fred.
eric Haldimand—both those distinguished officers
being in that city at the time—and were induced by
them to emb: 11|\ in the cause of the king.

[t has often been asserted, t..‘:-ljl_(_l‘l“} 'y British
historians, that Sir Guy Carleton was opposed to
the employment of the Indians in the contest, from
principles of humanity. Such, however, was not
the fact. Brant repeatedly asserted in after life, in
speeches delivered by him, copies of which are yet
extant, that on their first arrival in Montreal, Gen-
eral Carleton proposed to them to enter the service,

Strict historical accuracy is often of slow at-
tainment ; but, after all deductions from the merits
of General Carleton, afterward Lord Dorchester,
enough that is truly excellent and great will remain
to leave ]m 1 a reputation of which most public men
might well be proud.

HAPTER V.

Tue second Continental Congress, composed of
delegates, assembled at Philadelphia on the 10th of

seems Lo refer to this Indian convoeation at Oswego  There was no other
meeting during that year o w '.4- '| thi1s notice |J' |‘ 1msny 1||-J|'|I n‘l':'-[_
“ Colonel Johnson had r--ill':ll--:! conferences w ith the Indinns, and endeay

sured to influence them to take up the hatchet, but the xy stendily refused.
In order to gain their co-operntion, he :n'.lra--l them to o :'l':l.ﬂ on a Bos-
tonian, and to drink his blood. This. in the Indian style, meant no moke
than to partake of a roasted ox ands wi]u of wine at a public entertain-
ment, which was given on design to influence them to co- -uperate with
the British troops.  The colonial patriots affected to understand it in its
literal sense. i1 furnishe -". in ,'Iu-.Ll'nu-uh- of explication, & convenient han
dle for operating on the passions of the people.”

i
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May. Hostilities having actually commenced, and
it being well understood that large re-enforcements
of the British army were on their way from Eng-
land, no time was lost in preparing for the public de-
fence. Protesting that they * wished for a restora-
tion of the harmony formerly subsisting between
the mother-country and the colonies,” they resolv-
ed again to present * a humble and dutiful petition
to his majesty ;” prepared addresses to the people
of Great Britain, to those of Canada, and to the
Assembly of Jamaica; voted for the immediate
equipment of 20,000 men ; voted to raise three mill-
ions on bills of eredit for the prosecution of the
war ; and, on the nomination of John Adams, com-
missioned Georee WasHiNeTON, Of Virginia, as com-
mander-in-chief. On the 4th of July, Congress de-
nounced the two acts of Parliament of the prece-
ding session, restraining the trade and commerce
of the colonies, as “ unconstitutional, oppressive, and
cruel ;” and on the 6th they agreed to a manifesto,
“setting forth the causes and necessity of their
taking up arms.” After a spirited but temperate
preamble, presenting an historical view of the or-
igin, progress, and conduct of the colonies, and of
the measures of the British government since the
peace of 1763 ; and after an eloquent recapitula-
tion of the grievances which had produced the col-
lision, and proclaiming their confidence of obtaining
toreign aid if necessary, and of ultimate success ;
disavowing, moreover, any intention to dissolve the
connexion between the parent country and the eolo-
nies, the declaration proceeded, “ We most solemn-
ly,before God and the world, pecLARE, that, exerting
the utmost energy of those powers which our benefi-
cent Creator hath bestowed upon us, the arms we
have been compelled by our enemies to assume, we
will,in defiance of every hazard, with unabating firm-
ness and perseverance, employ for the preservation
of our liberties, being with one mind resolved to
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die rreemeN rather than live snaves.” They pro-
tested that they would lay down their arms when
hostilities should cease on the part of the aggres-
sors, and not before. Reposing their confidence in
the mercy of the Impartial Judge and Ruler of the
Universe, and imploring his goodness to pmmt
and carry them fhmwrh the conflict, they appointed
the 20th of July to be observed as a day of public
humiliation, f tutmg‘, and prayer with that view. It
was generally observed, and was the first national
fast ever |mn I iimed in the New World.

But amid all the arduous duties demanding the
attention of (".nn_g'r(-s.L:, the importance of keeping a
watchful eye upon the Indians was universally con-
ceded. The position of the Six Nations, as well as
their power to do mischief, could not but strike the
observation of all. They had served as a useful
barrier between the English settlements and the
French in Canada in former wars, and were often
actively engaged as auxiliaries. Their position
and their utility would be now ]'.rvr-imei_',‘ the same
between the Americans and the English in Canada.
It was, therefore, deemed of the first consequence,
if possible, to prevent them from taking sides with
the English ; not, however, with a view to their em-
p]uvnwul in arms by ourselves; since, notwith-
standing the disposition manifested by the Congress
of Massachusetts to employ the Indians, and the ac-
tual engagement of the Stockbridge Indians as aux-
iliaries, it was, nevertheless, the anxious desire of
the Congress to keep them in a position of neutral
ity as between England and the colonies, and
peace among themselves and with all. For the
purpose of closer observation and more efficient ac-
tion in respect to the Indian relations of the coun-
try, therefore, an Indian Department, with three sub-
divisions, Northern, Middle, and Southern, was es-
tablished on the 12th of July, and commissioners
were appointed for each, * with power to treat with
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the Indians in their respective departments, to pre-
serve peace and friendship, and to prevent their ta-
king any part in the present commotions.” The
commissioners of the Northern Department were,
Major-general Philip Schuyler, Major Joseph Hiw-
ley, Mr. Turbot IFrancis, Mr. Oliver Wolcott. and
\r. Volkert P. Douw. The form of an address to
the several tribes of Indians, in all the departments,
was agreed upon, to be altered as occasion might
require for local adaptation. 'This address was {ra-
med after the manner of Indian speeches, and con-
tained a summary history of the colonies, and of
the rise and progress of the difficulties between
them and the parent country. In the course of the
address, the Indians were informed of the nature
and objects of the contest then begun, and were
strongly advised to the preservation of neutrality.

No time was lost by the commissioners of the
Northern Department in the adoption of measures
pursuant to its wise spirit and policy. For this
purpose, a treaty was appointed to be held with the
Six Nations at Albany, in the month of August, and
the tribes were all invited to attend. Previous to
the day of meeting, two of the commissioners, Mr.
Douw and Colonel Francis, met a number of the
chiefs and warriors in a preliminary council at the
(rerman Flatts, which was not well attended. This
conference was holden on the 15th and 16th days
of August. Observing that the council was thinly
attended, Colonel Francis urged them, in his speech,
to send a general invitation to all the Six Nations
to appear at Albany; and he proposed that they
should also send belts of invitation to the Caughna-
wiagas in the neighbourhood of Montreal, together
with the Indians of the Seven Nations on the St.
Lawrence.

The council having adjourned over to the 16th,
Tiahogwando, an Oneida sachem, made the follow-
ing reply to the speech of the commissioners :




88 BORDER WARS OF THE

“ BrorrER SoLinoany,* and our Albany Brothers
attend! We are now assembled at the German
Flatts, at which place you kindled up a council fire,
and yesterday called us together, and acquainted us
from whence you came, and by whose authority—

i

namely, by that of the T'welve United Colonies—
and you opened your business to us.

“ BroraErs—We thank you for this invitation,
It meets with our entire approbation. Here we are,
of every tribe in the Six Nations. It shall be done
as you have said.

* BrorHers—You have desired that all our con.
federates should receive this invitation. This can.
not be done short of one year, as we extend very
far, and could not possibly call the extremities of
our confederacy to this intended meeting. But pos-
sess your minds in peace. When this congress is
over, and the council fire is raked up, we shall ac-
quaint all our allies with what has passed. This is
the answer of all the Six Nations, who are now here
represented from every tribe.

“ Broruers, arresp!  Yesterday you said you
were sensible our confederacy extended to Caugh-
nawaga, and you desired our assistance to forward
this your belt of invitation to the Caughnawagas and
the seven tribes in that quarter.

“ Broraers—Possess your minds in peace. We,
the Six Nations, are put to difficulty to grant this
request. We are much embarrassed, for this rea-
son. The man is now there who will vex your
minds, and never consent to their coming down, and
will draw hard upon their minds another way.i He
18 of your own blood.

* Broruers—Possess your minds in peace. We
of the Six Nations, have the minds of the Caughna-
wagas and the seven tribes in that quarter. At our
central council-house, when this took place, they

* The name bestowed npon Colonel Francis by the Indians.
T Guy Johnson was doubtless the man referred to
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addressed us of the Six Nations in the following
manner : ¢ You are better capable of maintaining
peace than we are; therefore we deliver up our
minds to you.” For these reasons we advise you
to reconsider your petition to us, seeing we are so
embarrassed we cannot grant it. Perhaps you will
say 1o us, when your mtended council fire shall be
over, * Brothers, do you of the Six Nations acquaint
all your confederates and allies of what has passed
at this council fire of peace ;' and this we shall do
with great care and exactness. Now, brothers, you
see how we are embarrassed, and therefore give
you this advice.” Belt returned.

The Board of Commissioners for the Northern
Department met at Albany on the 23d of August
(with the exception of Major Hawley, who had de-
clined his appointment in consequence of ill health),
and made the necessary arrangements for holding
the treaty. An invitation was given to the civil au-
thorities of Albany, to pay the sachems and war-
riors a complimentary visit, in company with the
commissioners, which was accepted. A committee
of the principal gentlemen of Albany was likewise
appointed to join in the complimentary visit on the
24th.

In the course of this interview, the sachems inti-
mated a desire to have a consultation with the mu-
nicipal officers of the city of Albany before they
met the commissioners in formal council. It ap-
pears that there had been some diplomatic passages
between the Oneida Indians and the Albanians, and
an interchange of messengers, and the chiefs were
now desirous of having a conference with them.
The commissioners, anxious to humour the Indians,
assented to the request; and the Albanians appoint-
ed a committee, consisting of Walter Livingston,
Jeremiah Van Rensselaer, and Samuel Stringer, te
make the arrangements. The interview took place
he same evening, when Seaghnagerat, an Oneida

Vor I.—H
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chief, opened the proceedings with a speech of very
unusual length for an Indian. He commenced by
an expression of his gratification that, on opening
the ashes to rekindle the old council fire, they had
found some of the sparks remaining. He next re.
ferred to the proceedings of a previous consultation
at the German Flatts, touching the conduct of Guy
Johnson in removing their missionaries, and other
matters. The meeting referred to seems to have
been a partial council, to which the Albanians had
sent a deputation, the object of which was, by the
exhibition of some ancient belts, to remind the I
dians of a former covenant of peace with Quedar,
and to dissuade them from engaging in the existing
quarrel. What had been said by the Albany depu-
ties at the conference referred to, but of which no
record seems to have been preserved, was now re-
peated in substance by the Oneida chief, after the
Indian manner of conducting their councils. He
then proceeded to reply seriatim ; from which eir-
cumstance it is probable that the former council
fire had been raked up before its proceedings were
brought to a close. The chief admitted that * evil
birds” had been busy in circulating unpleasant ru-
mours, and that efforts had been made to make them
swerve from their neutrality by Guy Johnson or his
agents—at least, such was the inference from the
speech ; but he over and over again protested the
determination of the Six Nations to avoid interfe-
ring with the controversy, and only exhorted the
colonists to keep the path into their country open,
so that they could pass and repass without molesta.
tion. Inregard to the removal of their missiona-
ry, the chiefs said Guy Johnson had done it pursu-
ant to “a belt”* received from Governor Gage. He
expressed the greatest respect for Mr. Kirkland:
but, at the same time, under the circumstances of
the case, suggested whether it would not, on the

£ An order.
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whole, be better for Mr. K. to leave then: for the
present, until the storm should be over and gone.

The speech having been ended, the Albanian Com-
mittee thanked them for it, and promised a reply
after the grand council with the Commissioners of
the T'welve Colonies should be terminated.

That council commenced its sittings on the day
following, August 25th. The Oneida speaker of
the preceding evening opened the council very ap-
propriately, after which the commissioners, before
proceeding formally to business, proposed that they
should all sit down and smoke the pipe of peace to-
gether. The suggestion was acceded to, and the
calumet passed round. This ceremony having been
ended, the commissioners opened their mission by
a very appropriate and effective speech, reminding
the Indians of some ancient covenants of friendship
with the colonists, and repeating to them a portion
of the speech of Cannassateego, an old and popular
sachem of the Six Nations, whose name and char-
acter were held in great reverence by them, deliv-
ered thirty years before at a great council held in
Lancaster.* The exhortation was, to union dmong
themselves, and peace and friendship with the col-
ohists.

The council was then adjourned to the 26th, when
the commissioners presented the address from the
Congress, of which particular mention has been
made on a preceding page. The deliberations of
Indian councils are slow procedures. Their lan-
guage 1s composed of long and intricate compounds,
and the necessity of deliberate and thorough inter-
pretations, so that the matter spoken and explained
be fastened upon the memories of the Indians, who
possess not the advantage of written language, ren-
ders the process tedious. The entire sittings of two
days were therefore required for the delivery and

* A brother of Cannassateego was present on this occasion, ard well

remembered his words.
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interpretation, by Mr. Kirkland, of the congressional
“talk” with which the commissioners were charged,
At the close, one of the chiefs declared that the ad-
dress contained “nothing but what was pleasant
and good.” But, as the matters proposed were of
high importance, they requested the next day for
separate deliberation among themselves, promising
on the succeeding day, August 27th, to make their
reply. It was not, however, until the 31st of Ay
gust that the Indians were ready to make known
the results of their own secret councils. Their an-
swer was delivered by ZLattle Abraham, the Mohawk
sachem of the Lower Castle. It was an able
speech, thoroughly pacific. But there was one dec.
laration which it is difficult to reconcile with the
admitted veracity of the Indians, since it was incon.
sistent with the well-known course of Guy Johnson,
and the covenant which had then already been made
by Brant and his followers with Sir Guy Carleton
and General Haldimand at Montreal. We allude to
the declaration of Little Abraham, that Johnson had
advised them to assume and preserve a neutral po-
sition at the recent Oswego council. The proceed-
ings of Brant and Guy Johnson at Montreal had not
then probably transpired in the Mokawk Valley.
Still Guy Johnson must have dissembled, or spoken
with a “ forked tongue,” to those Indians whom he
supposed friendly to the colonies, or so great a mis-
take could not have been made by Little Abraham.
In the course of their Speech, the chiefs express-
ed a strong attachment for Sir John Johnson as the
son of their old friend, Sir William, who was born
among them, and of Dutch extraction by his moth-
er* They desired, whatever might be the cause of
the war, Sir John might be left unmolested. T'he
sdine request was also interposed in behalf of their
missionary, the Rev. Mr. Stewart, who, they said,

* The mother of Sir John was & German lady, but in the Mohaw}
Yalley tl e Germuns are usually ealled Duteh to this day.
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had been sent tn them by the king; and also be-
eause he never “meddled with civil affairs,” but
was intent only on * instructing them in the way to
heaven.”

In the conclusion of his speech, Abraham took
occasion to refer to some domestic matters between
themselves and the people of Albany. He charged
them with having taken two pieces of land from the
Mohawks, without paying therefor so much even as
apipe. These lands the Indians desired the Twelve
Colonies to restore, and put them into peaceable
possession again. “I1f you refuse to do this,” said
he, *“we shall look upon the prospect as bad ; for it'
you conquer, you will take us by the arm and pull
us all of.” In thus saying, he spoke with the Spirit
of prophecy!

When Little Abraham had ended, Tiahogwando,
an Oneida, made a short speech on the subject of
the then pending bloodv and bitter controyersy be-
tween Connecticut and Pennsylvania respecting
the territory of Wyoming, of which a full account
will follow 1n its proper place. The Indians avow-
ed that the land had been conveyed by them to Penn
as a free gift, the Great Spirit not allowing them
to sell that country. In the course of their speech-
es, the chiefs requested that the Indian trade might
be reopened with them, both at Albany and Sche-
nectady, and that somebody might be appointed to
guard the tree of peace at Albany, and keep the con-
cil fire burning.

On the 1st of September the commissioners made
their reply, conciliatory in its character, and ac-
cediny to the principal requests of the Indians. They
also minl:nvul the chiefs that they had appointed
General "w{hll:, ler and Mr. Douw to keep the fire
burning. Thus ended the council with the agents
of the colonies. The “unfinished business” with
the Albanians was resumed on the next day, Sep-
tember 2d, for which purpose a council was iulmmi
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in the Presbyterian church. The Commissioners
of the United Colonies were likewise in attendance
After the preliminaries of form had been gone
through with, the Indians were addressed at lengtl
by the Albany Committee. In the course of their
speech, they adverted particularly to the council at
Oswego, and the proceedings of Guy Johnson g
that place, respecting which, they said, they had re.
ceived no certain advice, and of ‘which they wishe
to be fully and explicitly informed. In regard to
the land-question interposed by the Indians, the
committee said they presumed reference was had
to the lands at Ticonderoga. That was a question
between the Indians and the corporation of Albany,
whereas they were a committee from the people,
and could not entertain the question. They remind-
ed the Indians, however, that the question had been
agitated before, and settled by the Colonial Assem-
bly. They also gave them to understand that the
Indians were not the party having cause of com.
plaint in that matter.

The reply of the Indians was delivered by Little
Abraham. Waiving the land-question, he proceed-
ed to answer the questions put to them concerning
the Oswego council. “ We look upon it,” said he,
“that God will punish us should we conceal any-
thing from you.” The following passage is quoted
from the reply of Abraham :

" Broruers—The transactions of that treaty were
very public. The Shawanese were there, and some
from Detroit. Mr. Johnson told us that the fire
kindled there was a fire of peace ; that all the white
people were the king’s subjects, and thal it seemed
they were intoxicated. He said the white people
were all got drank, and that God's judgment hung
over them, but he did not know on which side it
would fall. Mr. Johnson farther told us that the
present council fire was kindled on account of the
preseut dispute, and desired us not to interfere, as
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21§ they were brothers ; and begged us to sit still and
6, maintain peace. T'his i1s what Colonel Johnson told
e us at that council fire. He also said he had his eye
th on Mr. Kirkland : that he was gone to Philadelphia,
eIr and along the seacoast : that he was become a great
at | soldier and a leader. *Is this your minister 2’ Says
at | he; ‘do you think your minister minds your souls!
€- No. By the time he comes to Philadelphia, he will
di be a great warrior, and when he returns, he will be
to | the chief of all the Five Nations.’

1€ The report of the proceedings of Guy Johnson at
1l Uswego was certainly unexpected, and entirely at
d variance with the tenour of his conduct previous to
his departure from the Mohawk Valley, and during
St his progress to the West. It is barely possible that
5 | he had not fully made up his mind as to the course
L, he might ultimately pursue, and that his purpose

meeting with Carleton and Haldimand at Montreal :
and 1t is abundantly certain that his notions of Indian
neutrality, even had he entertained them, were VEry

1- ‘ was not definitively determined upon until after his

e | speedily abandoned
-] With the delivery of Abraham’s speech, however,
g the council was closed ; and although Schuyler and

Douw had been appointed to keep the council fire
burning, the ashes were soon raked up—never to be
! opened again at Albany, for that was the last grand
Indian council ever held in that city.

The 1esult was highly satisfactory to the com-
missioners, and apparently so to the Indians, who
had been well provided for during the three weeks oc-
cupied at the German I'latts and Albany. On their
departure, moreover, they were handsomely supplied
with presents, and they took their leave with mani-
festations of great good-will.

Most unfortunately, soon after their return rrom
Albany, an epidemic disorder appeared among them,
m the form of a highly malignant fever. It was a
disease which they had never seen, and by it great
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numbers were swept away. The Schoharie canton
of the Mohawks, in particular, suffered VEery severe.
ly; indeed, they were almost exte rminated. The
small number who survived, imbibed the Impression
that the Great Spirit had sent the pestilence upon
them in anger for not h: mhu taken sides with the
];ia;_-,_. They therefore followed their brethren fron
the Mohawk Valley, who had escaped to Canady
with Guy Johnson. In the subse quent ivasions of
uu lnml county settlements, these Schoharie In.
dians, who thus deserted by an impulse of supersti.
tion, were among the most forw: mJ and cruel. Tt
should also be borne in mind that, after all. the
council comnprised but an inadequate and partial rep-
resentation of the Six Nations, with the exce ption
of the Oneidas and the lower clan of the Moh:aw!
The great body of the Mohawk warriors. lu-,u]m! I.'.'
Thayendanegea, had left the country ; and the most
influential of the Onondagas, C ayugas, and Senecas
had also accompanied Brant and Guy Johnson to
Montreal ; and events, at no very distant day, proved
that the Albany treaty had been held to 1[!\ little
purpose. It is not consistent with the nature or
habits of Indians to remain inactive in the midst of
War.

Still, for a time, those proceedings were not with-
out benefit to the cause of the couitry. The pe r:|n|r
of Tryon county w ere re lieved, by the stipulations
of peace and neutrality, from apprehe nwum of im-
mediate danger from W 1rhru11 and the Committee
of Safety was consequent] ly enabled to direet its at-
ten tion, not only to the more efficient o rganization
of the settlements for defence, but to the civil gov
ernment of the country.

But, notwithstanding the fine spirit manifested
thius far by a majority of the pe ﬂ[:i in the interior,
and that, too, under all the th- advantages we have
been contemplating ; notwithstan: ling the de {.:sina
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sions of the crown, it was not yet exactly certain
that the colony of New-York would range itself
against the royal authority., Governor Tryon, who
was popular in the colony, had recently been recall-
ed from North Carolina, and again appointed govern-
or of New-York: and he was exerting his utmost
powers to detatch her from the cause of the Union,
seconded by the Asia man-of-war, then lying in the
harbour, and commanding the city of New-York by
her guns. The captain of the Asia had threatened
to' destroy the town should General L.ee, who was
then approaching with an army from the east. bo
allowed to enter it; and such were the prevalence
of terror and the power of intrigue, that disaffection
to the cause of the Union began to exhibit itself
openly in the Provinecial Congress. Indeed. avow-
als of a design to place themselves under the royal
standard were unequivocally uttered. These un-
toward appearances were rendered the more threat.
ening by the discovery of a secret correspondence,
from which it was ascertained that the parent gov-
ernment was preparing to send a fleet into the Hud-
son, and to occupy both New-York and A Ibany with
its armies.  Of these designs Sir John Johnson was
probably well aware, and the hope of their accom-
plishment may have induced him to linger behind,
watching the signs of the times, after the departure
of his brother-in-law and Azs army of followers. Sir
John had also a numerous tenantry, who were mostly
Loyalists ; and the Scotch colonists, settled in large
numbers in Johnstown and its neighbourhood, of
whom mention has formerly been made, being Loy-
lists likewise, constituted for him = respectable
force upon which he could rely in a case of emer-
geley,

The Duteh and German population of the valley,
however, were chiefly Whigs ; as also, by this time,
were a decided majority of the entire white popu-

Iiﬂ”llll. 1ol f_l'-‘.,_'n, ”1. 1_J'||- _\.i”h;;l.l";\ 1"””[.:\-‘ h:” “‘i' H',h[]_
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harie, Cherry Valley, and the other settlements in
the southern part of that widely-extended county,
The General Committee executed their functions
with equal di lwnuu: and vigour., The inhabitants
were enrolled and msr,nnnwl into militia ; the com-
mittee deposed the sheriff, Alexander Whil(’. and
caused Colonel John Frey to be appointed in his
place ; and, in one word, they took upon themselves
both the civil and illllI:.lI‘.' ||.[]l‘-:\f11[ tion of the large
section of country over which they had provision-
ally assumed the government. White had rendered
himself I]:I.I'ljtlllrlll‘f’ odious to the Whigs from the
first. Under some trifling pretext, he had arrested
a Whig named John Fonda, and committed him to
prison. His friends, m the number of fifty men,
under t]w conduct of Sampson Sammons, went to
the jail at night and released him by force. From
the prison they proceeded to the lodgings of the
sheriff, and demanded his surrender. White looked
out from the second story window, and probably rec-
pgnising the leader ul the crowd, inquired, “Is that
you, Sammons !’ ‘ Yes,” was the pu)mpl reply;

upon which White discharged a pistol at the sturdy
Whig, but happily without injury. The ball whizzed
past “his head, and struck in the sill of the door
T'his was the first shot fired in the war of the Rev
olution west of the Hudson. It was immediately
returned by the discharge of some forty or fifty
muskets at the sheriff, but the only effect was a
slight wound in the breast, just sufficient to draw
blood. The doors of the house were broken, and
White would have been taken, but at that moment
a gun was fired at the hall by Sir John. This was
known to be a signal for his retainers and Scotch
partisans to rally in arms ; and as they would muster
a force of five hundred men in a very short time, th
Whigs thought it most prudent to ril‘h[]{‘l‘%{ They
collected again at Caughnawaga, however, and sent
a deputation to Sir John, demanding that White
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should be given up to them. This demand, of
course, was not complied with.

After his dismissal, as already mentioned, by an
act of the people “in their sovereign capacity,”
White was recommissioned by Governor Tryon ;
but the County Committee would not suffer him to
re-enter upon the duties of the office. On the con-
trary, so high was the popular indignation against
him that he was obliged to fly, setting his face to-
wards Canada, accompanied by a white man named
Peter Bone, and two or three Indians. He was pur-
sued to Jessup’s Landing on the Hudson River,
where the house in which he lodged was surround-
ed, and the fugitive sheriff taken prisoner; from
thence he was taken to Albany and imprisoned.
Shortly afterward he was released on his parole, and
left the country.

The exigencies of the times required prompt and
vigorous action, and the committee seems to have
been composed of exactly the right description of
men. They arrested suspicious persons, tried them,
fined some, imprisoned more, and executed others.
Their duties also involved the preservation of the
peace in a critical period, among a mixed population
of border-men, ever more or less disposed to impa-
tience under legal restraint, and, of course, requi-
ring the controlling power of a strong arm. And
yet these high duties were generally discharged
with great satisfaction to the public—the Loyalists
excepted, of course—and their resolutions and de-
crees were submitted to by their constituents with
alacrity. Their influence was likewise successfully
exerted in winning friends to the popular cause, by
deciding the wavering and confirming the irresolute.

Added to these multifarious duties was the ne.

cessity of keeping a v \gilant watch over the motions
of Sir John Johnson, whose position and conduct

were alike equivocal, and the numerous Loyalists
27 whom he was surrounded. By these people ev-
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ery possible obstacle was thrown in the way of tle
committee, and no method of annoying and embar-
rassing them left untried. They laboured to destroy
the confidence of the people in the committee; call.
ed public meetings themselves, and chose counter-
committees ; now attempted to cover the Whig com.
mittees with ridicule, and now again charged then
with illegal and tyrannical conduct. The conse.
quence was mutual exasperation—sometimes be.
tween near neighbours, and the reciprocal engen.
dering of hostile feelings between friends, who ran.
red themselves under opposing banners. These in.
cipient neighbourhood quarrels occasioned, in the
progress of the contest that ensued, some of the
most bitter and bloody personal conflicts that ever
marked the annals of a civil war. Several mem.
bers of the committee subsequently acted a distin.
guished part in the field ; many of them sacrificed
their estates, and some of them fell. CHRISTOPHE
P. Yares, the first chairman, accompanied Generl
Montgomery as a volunteer to Ticonderoga and Can
.!(Ll, and afterward raised and commanded a corps
of rangers. 'The fate of Nicholas Herkimer is well
known, though his death will be invested with new
and additional interest in the progress of this narra-
tive.

[n regard to Sir John, matters were now fast ap
proaching to a crisis. On the 7th of September the
committee wrote to the Provincial Congress in
New-York, denouncing his conduct and that of his
associates, particularly the Highlanders, who, to the

number of two hundred, were said to be gathered |

about him, and by whom the W higs “were daily
scandalized, |umnlwd, and threatened.” They ad
ded, “ We have great suspicions, and are almost as
sured, that Sir John has a continual correspondenc:
with Colonel Guy Johnson and his party.”*

* It was afterward ascertained that such a correspondence wis car
ried on through the Indians, who conveved letters in the heads of thei
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No sooner had the Congress of Tae TweLve Uni-
rep Covonies agreed to the Declaration, or manifes-
to, mentioned in the beginning of the present chap-
ter, proclaiming to the world the causes, and the ne-
eessity of their appeal to arms, than it was felt, on
all hands, even by the timid and hesitating, that
FEngland and the colonies now stood, not in the re-
lation of parent and children, but in the attitude of
two nations legally at war. Hence the patriots of
Tryon county began to look more closely, and with
greater assurance, to the deportment of Sir John,
of whose designs, as has been seen, they had from
the first entertained strong suspicions. The move-
ments of Sir Guy Carleton, moreover, Governor-
general of Canada, who had been commissioned to
muster and arm all persons within that province,
and to wage war by land and sea against ** all ene-
mies, pirates, or rebels, either in or out of the proy-
mee,” to “take them and put them to death, or pre-

serve them alive, at his discretion,” were now cre-
ating great uneasiness on the northern frontier. from
which quarter they were apprehending a formidable
mvasion, The management of the northern depart-
ment having been committed to Generals Schuyler
and Montgomery, who were now directing a forece
upon Montreal and Quebee, the Tryon County Com-
mittee determined to probe the intentions of Sir Johts
Johnson at once and to the bottom. For this pur-

pose, on the 26th of October, they addressed him
e following letter :

*Tryon County Committee Chumber, Oct. 26, 1775
“HoNouraBLE Sig,

" As we find particular reason to be convinced of
your opinion in the questions hereafter expressed,
We require you that youw’ll please to oblige us with
your sentiments thereupon in a few lines by our

Wmghawks and in the ornaments worn about their persons. The In

tians also brought powder across from Canadn.—( ‘nmpbell's Annals
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messengers, the bearers hereof, Messrs. Ebenez,
Cox, James M‘Master, and John James Klock, mer.
bers of our committee.

“ We want to know whether you will allow thal
the inhabitants of Johnstown and Kingsborough may
form themselves into companies, according to the
regulations of our Continental Congress, for the de-
fence of our country’s cause ; and whether your hon.
our would be ready himself to give his personal as.
sistance to the same purpose !

“ Also, whether you pretend a prerogative to ou
zounty courthouse and jail, and would hinder or in-
terrupt the committee to make use of the same pub-
lic houses to our want and service 1n the common
cause !

“« We don't doubt you will comply with our rea-
sonable requests, and thereby oblige,

¢ Honourable Sir,
¢« Your obedient and humble servants.

“ By order of the committee,

“ Nicuoras Herxkimer, Chairman

%Tgo the Hon. Sir John Johnson, Johuson Hall.”

The deputation named in the letter waited upox
Sir John in person to receive his answer, the sub-
stance of which they reported to the committee ver-
bally as follows, viz. :

«1. By perusing our letter, Sir John replied that
he thinks our requests very unreasonable, as he nev
er had denied the use either of the courthouse ol
jail to anybody, nor would yet deny it, for the use
which these houses have been built for ; but he looks
upon it that the courthouse and jail are his property
till he is paid £700, the amount of which being out
of his pocket for the building of the same.

9 In regard of imbodying his tenants into com-
panies, he never did forbid them, neither should do
it, as they may use their pleasure; but we might
save ourselves the trhuble, he being sure that they
would not.
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“3. Concerning himself, he said, that before he
would sign any association, or would lift his hand
up against his King, he would rather suffer that his
head shall be cut off.

“ Farther, he replied, that if we should make any
unlawful use of the jail, he would oppose it, and also
he mentions that there have many unfair means
been used for increasing the association and unitine
the people ; for he was informed by credible gentle-
men in New-York that they were obliged to unite,
otherwise they could not live there ; and that he was
informed by good authority that likewise two thirds
of the Canajoharie and German Flatts people have
been forced to sign the articles; and in his opinion
the Boston people are open rebels, and the other
colonies have joined them.”

Immnediately on receiving this report, the com-
mittee determined to bring the question of the oc-
eupancy of the jail to an issue. They therefore di-
rected that two of their prisoners, named Lewis
Clement and Peter Bowen, who had been sentenced
to certain periods of confinement for political offen-
ces, should be forthwith conveyed to the prison, un
der a guard commanded by Captain Jacos Seesen.
with instructions that, should the jailer refuse to re-
ceive them into close confinement for the time spe-
cified, or should they be opposed by Sir John, then
Captain Seeber was to bring themn to the house of
“our voted and elected new high-sheriff, John Frey,
lisq., who shall immediately inform thereof our
chairman for farther directions.”

Sir John did not allow the committee to take pOS-
session of the jail, and they were oblized to fit up a
private house as a temporary prison: while some
of their prisoners were sent to Albany, and others
as far as Hartford, for safe keeping.

The first act of positive hostility on the part of
the Indians, during this bitter and bloody contest,
Was committed in the autumn of the present year.
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General Schuyler having been obliged temporaryy
to leave the northern army in consequence of il
health, the command devolved upon General Mont.
gomery, who had advanced a second time upon S,
John’s and captured the fortress, Sir Guy Carletoy
having been repulsed by Colonel Warner, at Lon.
guell, 1n his attempt to cross the St. Lawrence ap
advance to its succour. It appears that, either iy
the first or second attack upon St. John’s, or in both,
the Americans had been opposed by some of the
Mohawk Indians—those, doubtless. who had accom
panied Guy Johnson to Canada. Hence,on the 27
of October, the Tryon County Committee * unanj
mously resolved that a letter should be sent to the
sachems of the Canajoharie Castle, in regard to the
return and present abiding of some Indians in thepr
castle from Canada, who have acted imitaizall
against us, and fought against our united forces nea
the Fort St. John, not to give shelter to such re:
enemies among them.”

No copy of the letter written pursuant to $his res
olution has been preserved. It is noted among thr
papers of the committee, however, that the sacheme
and warriors of Canajoharie Castle appeared before
them in person, and made a pacific answer to thei
letter of remonstrance, from which, and other cir
cumstances, the presumption is reasonable that the
Mohawks remaining about their ancient castles hai
not yet determined to swerve from their engage.
ment of neutrality.

Such was the progress of the Revolution in the
county of Tryon down to the close of 1775. A
rapid glance at contemporaneous events not already
noted, occurring elsewhere, will close the history
of the year. ‘T'he battle of Bunker Hill had roused
all New-England to arms; and by the time of Gen-
eral Washington's arrival to assume the command,
during the first week in July, the British forces were
so effectually shut up in Boston as to be obliged to
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send out smal. vessels to a distance for supplies.
To cut up this species of coastwise commerce, the
eolonies of Massachusetts, Rhode Island, and Con-
pecticut each fitted out two small cruisers, before
Congress had made a suggestion respecting a naval
armament. The first avowal of offensive hostility
against the mother-country was contained in the act
of the Massachusett’s Congress for fitting out a na-
val armament ; and among the first fruits was the
eapture, by Captain Manly, of Marblehead, of a large
British ordnance brig, laden with several brass pie-
ecs of artillery, a large supply of small arms, tools,
and utensils of all warlike descriptions, &c. Three
days afterward Captain Manly captured three more
British ships laden with military stores. South
Carolina was at the same time making vigorous
preparations for war, but had not exceeding 3000 Ibs

of gunpowder within the province. By fitting out a
fast-sailing vessel, however, they were enabled to
intercept a supply vessel off St. Augustine, and ob-
tain a large and timely addition to their stores—
15,000 pounds of gunpowder alone. Meantime, the
affairs of the colonies continued to form the leading
and most exciting topic of debate in the British
Parliament. Lord North, who, it is now known,
acted throughout this great struggle more in obedi-
ence to the positive requisitions of the king than in
accordance with his own private wishes, insisted
upon the strongest measures of compulsion. Gen-
eral Conway, Colonel Lutterell, Mr. James Gren-
ville, the Duke of Grafton, and Lord Lyttleton, spoke
m favour of concession, and argued in favour of re-

pealing every enactment respecting the matters in

tispute with the colonies subsequent to the year

1763. The ministers contended that they might as

well acknowledge the independence of the colonies

di once. Mr. Burke, during this season, made his

great speech on American affairs. and introduced his

lO!l('ili:nr_n‘y bill, proposing “a renunciation of the

Vor. T.—I
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exercise of taxation, without at all interfering with
the question of right. 1t preserved the power of
m},ix:;_ duties for the regulation of commerce, byt
the money so raised was to be at the disposal of the
several general assemblies. The tea-duty was to
be mpculivri and a general amnesty ;::mlltud 2 This
proposition, Illt')ll"h regarded with more favour than
the others, was IL.‘.](JLE.L.t_I, and the administration
was sustained in the policy of sending a large sey
and land force against the colonies, with offers of
mercy upon a proper submission. The Continental
Congress, however, still continued its efforts to pre-
vent a final separation ; and another address to the
king was adopted, beseeching the interposition of
his royval authority to afford relief from their afilict-
ing fears and jealousies, and restore harmony by
the adoption of such measures as would effect a
permanent reconciliation. This petition, signed by
John Hancock, was presented in Parliament on the
7th of December, and gave rise to several motions
tor pacification, all of which were rejected.

The military operations of the autumn were chief-
Iy confined to the expedition against Canada. Lord
Dunmore, it 1s true, had given several additional im-
pulses to the re umnmm:n' spirit in Virginia by the
manner of his opposition, and the enemy had still
farther exasperated the people of New-England by
burning the town of Falmouth, in the northeastem
part of Massachusetts. Having timely notice, the
people fled from the town, which was itilltillh'.“f
bombarded, and 139 dwelling-houses and 278 ware-
houses were burned. The invasion of Canada by
Generals Schuyler and Montgomery has already
been incidentally mentioned. General Sc huyler had
issued a suitable proclamation to the inhabitants of
Can: 1115 on entering that territory, but he was obli
ged by ill health to relinquish the command to Gen-
eral n]UHi"flIll( ry. St. John’s surrendered on the 3d
of November; but, while the siege was pending,
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Colonel Ethan Allen, with thirty-eight of hi» Green
Mountain Boys, was captured, and sent to England
in irons. Allen deserved his fate, however, for his
rashness and disobedience of orders. Still, he was
very near capturing Montreal with the small party
he had led in advance, as was subsequently admitted
by one of the British officers.

The fort at Chamblée fell into the hands of Mont-
romery, together with a large quantity of military
stores, which were of great use; among them were
three tons of powder. Montreal was next taken by
¢he provincials, General Carleton escaping in a boat
with muffled oars to Three Rivers. whence he hast-
ened to Quebec. Montgomery, with his little army,
was swilt to follow him thither, where his arrival
had been anticipated by Colonel Arnold, with up-
ward of 700 New-kEngland infantry and riflemen,
with whom he had periormed the incredible service
of traversing the unexplored forest from the Ken-
nebec to the mouth of the Chaudiere. Uniting the
forces of Arnold with his own, Montgomery laid
siege 1o Quebec on the 1st of De (..Clll}JL‘ His artil
lery, however, was too light to make any impres-
sion upon its walls, and it was at length determined,
if possible, to carry the town by a combined assaul
from two directions, one division to be led by Mont-
gomery, and the other by Arnold. The enterprise
was undertaken on the 31st of December , and the
year closed by the repulse of both divisions and the
fall of \I{Jiltunuwn

The success which had marked the American
arms in the early part of the Canadian campaign,
made a strong impression upon the Caughnawaga
Indians. The C: anadians, generally, were exceed-
ingly averse to engaging in the unnatural contest,
and were strongly inclined to favour the cause of
the colonies ; and, notwithstanding the descent of
Brant and the Mohawks to Montreal, and the solici-
tations of Governor Carleton, the Caughnawagas
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sent a deputation to General Washington, at Cam.
bridge, as early as the month of Aurrust, avowing
their readiness to assist the Americans in the event
of an expedition into Canada. This assurance was
fulfilled. In a letter from Sir Guy Carleton to Gen.
eral Gage, written in August, which was intercept-
ed, the Canadian governor said, * Many of the In.
dians have gone over to them (the Americans), and
]nu(* numbers of the Canadians are with them.”

g6 Ilcl(l hopes of holding out for this year, though |
seem abandoned by all the world, had the savages
remained firm. I cannot blame these poor people
for securing themselves, as they see multitudes of
the enemy at hand, and no succour from any par,
Illl)ll[{h it 1s now four months since their operations
against us first began.” The subsequent reverses
of the Americans, however, changed the masters
of those Indians, and they were, ere long, found war-
ring in the ranks of the crown.

But all the Indians did not join the British stand-
ard. Notwithstanding that the Delawares had been
engaged in the Cresap war the year before, they
refused the solicitations of the British emissaries
and the Senecas to take up the hatchet with them
in this contest. A meeting of Indians was held in
Pittsburg to deliberate upon the question, at which
a seleet deputation of the Senecas attended. Cap-
rain White Eyes, a sensible and spirited warrior of
the Lenape, boldly declared that he would not em-
bark in a war to destroy a people born on the same
soil with himself. The Americans, he said, were
his friends and brothers, and no nation should dic-
tate th) him or his tribe the course they should pur-
sliC.

[11
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CHAPTER VI

Tue dawn of the New Year was lighted up by the
conflagration of Norfolk, by order of Lord Dunmore,
the royal governor of Virginia. His lordship had
mevmuJ\ retired with his adherents to the fleet ;
and this act of Vandalism was directed by way of
retaliating upon lh{' Whigs of that Emllmtr}l for hav-
ing refused supplies to the Liverpool man-of-war.
l'h{‘ people themselves destroyed the buildings near-
est the water, in order to deprive the ships even of
those sources of supply. After cruising for a time
on the coast of Virginia, and being everywhere re-
pulsed—some of his ships having been driven on
shore, and their crews captured and imprisoned by
the colonists—his lordship was obliged to destroy
those of his vessels which were not seaworthy, and
seek refuge himself in Florida and the West Indies.
Another incident adverse to the royal arms was the
defeat, by the provincials under General Moore, of
General M*Donald (commissioned by Governor Mar-
tin), in his attempts to bring North Carolina to obe
dience. The battle resulting in this defeat was gal-
lantly fought at Moore’s Creek Bridge by Colonels
Caswell and Lillington, commanding about 1000
minute-men and militia. A large quantity of arms
well into the hands of the provincials, and the defeat
equally unexpected and decisive, greatly depressec
the spirits of the Loyalists in that qu: LIIﬁI

Resuming the |11-»1u1‘|. of the Mohawk Valley : al
though the autumn of the preceding year had passed
limt'lh away 1n that region, no small degree of
uneasiness was created, mlh in the winter, by the
suspicious conduct of Sir John Johnson ; heightened,
as will appear in the sequel, by false representations
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sent forth by @ man who, in the end, proved to he
an impostor. Such were the spirit of the times
moreover, and the jealousies mutually entertained,
that it is more than probable the measures of Sir
John were concerted in consequence of apprehen.
sions honestly indulged, and in all likelihood awa.
kened by the same or a kindred imposture. At a]|
events, Sir John was actively engaged in defensive
preparations, with a view, as it was believed. of
throwing up fortifications around the baronial hall
His adherents, as we have seen, were numerous,
particularly among the Scotch Highlanders, by sev.
eral hundreds of whom he was surrounded: and re-
ports became rife, that, in addition to these, the works
he was erecting were to be garrisoned by three hup-
dred Indians, to be let loose upon the settlements
as opportunities might occur.

It was undoubtedly true that the Tories of that
region were preparing actively to espouse the royal
cause, and enlistments for the king’s service, it is
very likely, were secretly making. Information to
this effect was laid before Congress in December.
[t was also declared, by a man named Connell, that
a considerable quantity of arms and ammunition,
and other warlike articles, had been collected and
concealed by the Tories at Johnstown, to be used
when the proper moment for action arrived. The
facts disclosed by Connell were supported by his
deposition ; whereupon a resolution was adopted by
Congress, directing General Schuyler to be informe
of these circumstances, and requesting him to adopt
the most speedy and effectual measures for securing
the said arms and military stores ; for disarming the
Loyalists, apprehending their leaders, and taking
such measures in general as might be judged neces-
sary to ensure the tranquillity of the frontier.* This

" The sum of forty dollars was apprupriated by Congress for this obr
jeet, and the special committee having the subject in charge were

directed to count the gold and silver in the treasury, and forward the
same to General Schuvler under a guard !
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resolution was received by Gen_{;ml Schuyler at Al-
bany early In J:mn:u'y, and no time was lost in con-
certing measures for its execution. General Schuy-
ler at first supposed that a force of three hundred
men, with the assistance they would be certain to
receive from the Whigs of Tryon county, would be
amply sufficient. It was determined, however, in
order to produce a deeper effect upon the Loyalists
against whom they were proceeding, to march with
a force of seven hundred men.

Nevertheless, in order to preserve the good-will
of the Indians of the Lower Mohawk Castle,® and
guard against taking them by surprise or giving
them nm'm_-u:;.um:\_.' alarm, Mr. Bleecker, the Indian
interpreter, residing at Albany, was despatched to
the castle on the 15th, charged with a belt and 2
(riendly message to the Indians.

General Schuyler, however, did not wait for the
return of his messenger from the Indians, but pro-
ceeded to Schenectady on the 16th, at the head of a
strong division of militia, and accompanied by Gen-
eral Ten Broeck, Colonel Varick. and several other
officers. The militia turned out with great alaerity,
notwithstanding the severity of the weather and the
badness of the roads. On the evening of his arrival
at Schenectady, General Schuyler was met by a
deputation of the Mohawks, headed by Little Abra-
nam, who, in a very haughty tone, addressed him as
{ollows :

“ Broruers—You lately sent to our place four
men, who arrived to us last Sunday morning. They
told us they were sent up to us by you to inform us
of those military preparations which were making
down in this quarter. By them you let us know
that you thought it not prudent to send armed men
among us without previously notifying us. Like-
wise, brothers, your messengers informed us of the
* The Mohawks of the Lower Custle,

with Little Abraham, had not
eeen drawn away by Thayendanegea and

Guy Johnson
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reasons of your coming in this manner. Yoy ip.
formed us that you had heard that there were 4
number of men imbodied at Sir John’s about Johns.
town. You told us likewise, that, as soon as they
had completed their body, they intended to destroy
the settlements up and down the river., 3

*“ Brorrers—You told us that you came to Inquire
into the truth of the report, which might be done by
four or six without any danger in making the inquiry,
We proposed your sending up six persons to inquire
into the truth of this matter, as it would be a shame
to interrupt them. as no person would be so mean
to give them any obstruction. As for sending your
belt forward, we thought to retain it until we had
heard whether our proposal had been accepted or no,
And we desire that you would consider of this mat
ter, and keep your troops at home, and let us know
your mind; and if, after considering of our proposals,
you do not agree to them, that you will then let s
know what you intend to do.

“ Broruers—We expected an answer to our pro-
posals, but none arrived until we were informed by
4@ woman who returned from Albany that those
preparations were actually making, and that troops
were actually marching in the country. We come,
brothers, to beg of you that you take good care and
prudence of what you are going about. We beg of
you, brothers, to remember the engagement which
was made with the T'welve United Colonies at our
interview last summer, as we then engaged to open
the path of peace, and to keep it undefiled from blood.
At the same time, something of a different nature
made its appearance. You assured us, brothers,
that if any were found in our neighbourhood inimi-
cal to us, you would treat them as enemies. The
Six Nations then supposed that the son of Sir Will-
1am was pointed at by that expression. We then
desired particularly that he might not be imjured, as

it was not in his power to injure the cause, and that,

hi
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n- | therefore, he might not be molested. The Six Na-
a B tions then said they would not concern themselves
S. with your operations in other parts, but particularly
v | desired that this path might be free from blood.
vy A And now, brothers, we repeat it again: we beg of
= you to take good care and not (o spill any blood in
e this path; and the more especially, brothers, as it is
¥ but of this day that the Six Nations had so agreeable
] an mnterview with the colonies; and our chiefs are
e now hunting in the woods, and not dreaming that
e there 1s any prospect that this path is or will be de-
n filed with blood.

T “ Broruers, arTeNp! It was your request, and a
i | matter agreed upon by the twelve United Colonies.
. that we should mind nothing but peace ; therefore,
,_ brothers, as we mean to observe that agreement, we
v have expressed ourselves as above, and as brothers:
. we mind nothing but peace. We look upon our-
s i selves as mediators between the two parties ; there-

fore, brothers, as your messengers declared that you
; would not be the aggressors, we informed Sir John

: of this, and earnestly begged of him not to be the
2 aggressor, or the means of spilling blood ; and at the
3 same time assured him, that if we found that he
: should be the aggressor, we would not pay any far-
[ ther attention to him ; and likewise told him, that if

our brothers of the United Colonies were the aggres-
1 sors, we should treat them in the same manner.
This is what we told Sir John, as we look upon our-
k selves to be the mediators between both parties, and,
a8 we have said before, desired him not to be the
aggressor. 'T'o which Sir John replied, that we knew
his disposition very well, and that he had no mind
lo be the aggressor. He assured us that he would
not be the aggressor, but if the people came up to
take away his life, he would do as well as he could,
as the law of nature justified every person to stand
in his own defence.

“According to the news we have heard, it is as
20—y
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though Sir John would shut up the path of peace i
that quarter ; but it is impossible he should do it, as
he had but a mere handful of friends ; but, brothers,
if this company, who are now passing by, should go
up, and anything bad should happen, we shall look
on you as shutting up the path.

‘It has been represented to you, brothers, that it
seems that Sir John is making military prepara.
tions, and that he is making a fort around his house ,
but, brothers, as we live so near him, we should cer-
tainly know it if anything of that nature should be
done, especially as we go there so frequently on ac-
count of our father, the minister, who sometimes
verforms divine service at that place. We have
never seen any hostile preparations made there ;
there is no cannon, or anything of that kind, and all
things remain in the same situation it was in the
lifetime of Sir William.

“ We have declared to you, brothers, that we
would not deceive, and that we mean to declare our
minds to you ope nly and freely. We, the sachems,
have all alnuu‘ inculcated to the warriors sentiments
of peace, and they have hitherto been obedient to
us, though there have been frequent rumours that
they should be disturbed; yet we have, hitherto,
been able to calm their minds. But now, brothers,
S0 large a party coming alarms the minds of our
warriors. They are determined, brothers, to go
and be present at your interview with Sir John, and
dete immu! to see and hear everything that should
be there transacted ; and, if it shall then appear that
this party shall ;urah matters to extremes, we then
cannot be accountable for anything that may hap-
pen. But as for us, brothers, the Lmin\(llma are
i'llllj.-' determined ever to persevere in the path of
peace,

BroTHERS, ATTEND ! Though I have finished what
I had purposed to say, yet I will add one thing more.
When the news >f vour approach arrived wut out
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town, it caused great confusion: some were ready
to take to their arms, observing that those reports
respecting the unfriendly (Ihpummn of the colonies
were now verified. I be goed of them, brothers, to
possess their minds in peace for a few days. I told
them that I myself would go to Albany, and inquire
into the truth of the matter : I was so conscious of
my own innocency, that no hostile appearance could
deter me, however formidable. I therefore desired
them to sit still until my return, which might be in
two days, if I went to Albany. This, brothers, is
the present situation of our people. They are wait-
:[|fl’ to see what news 1 bring.

“ Broruers—When I made this request to the
warriors, that they should sit still till my return,
they told me Lil.l[ they would, which they are now
in expectation of, and 'will do nothing till I get back.
But, brothers, after my return 1 w ill re pmt to them
the speech you will now make to me; and if any of
our people should still persist to be present at your
interview with Sir John, we hope, brethren, you will
not think hard of us as counsellors, as it 18 not in
our power to rule them as we please. If they should
g0, and anylhing evil should happen, we beg to know,
hmn’u;\, what trealment we may expect who remain at
home in peace.

“ Brorrers—This is all we have to say. This is
the business which has brought us down, and we
now expect an answer to carry home to our people.”

General Schuyler made a reply, as long as the
speech of Little Abraham, touching on all the points
adverted to by the latter, explaining and enforcing
the necessity of the movement in progress, reitera-
ting assurances of none but friendly purposes to-
wards the Indians, assenting to their presence at
the desired interview with Sir John Johnson, ex-
horting them to peace, but warning them ag: 1inst
the consequences of a violation, hj, any of their
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warriors, of the agreement to remain neutral whicl,
had been entered into at Albany.

Little Abraham responded briefly, expressing his
satisfaction, and that of his people, at what they had
heard, and promising the best efforts of the Indians
to maintain peace uninterrupted.

General Schuyler assured them again of his pa-
cifie intentions, and that nothing unpleasant should
happen to them. He also informed them, that if
they desired to attend the expedition to Johnstown,
or to be present at the intended interview with Siy
John as mediators, they should be protected in tha
character. With this understanding, they took their
de parture the same night. A letter, of which the
following is a copy, was at the same time despatck.-
ed to Sir John Johnson :

GENERAL ScHUYLER To Sir Jous Jornsox.
¢ Schenectady, January 16, 1776
‘OSIR,

“ Information having been received that designs
of the most dangerous tendency to the rights, liber-
ties, property, and even lives of those of his majes-
ty’s faithful subjects in America who are opposed
to the unconstitutional measures of his ministry,
have been formed in a part of the county of lr}nn.
I am ordered to march a body of men into that coun-
ty to carry into execution certain resolutions of my
superiors, and to contravene those dangerous de-
SIEMNS.

“Influenced, sir, by motives of humanity, I wish to
{m]lplv with my orders in a manner the most peace-
able, that no blood may be shed. I therefore re-
quest that you will please to meet me to-morrow,
at any place on my way to Johnstown, to which |
propose then to march. For which purpose, I do
hereby give you my word of honour, that you, and
such persons as you may choose should attend you,
shall pass safe and unmolested to the place wlere
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you may meet me, and from thence back to the
,1.1LL of your abode.

l{utrrm-, Bleecker and Henry Glen, Esqrs., are
the bearers hereof, gentlemen who are entitled to
your best atte ntion, which, I dare say, they will ex-
perience, and by whom [ expect you will favour me
with an answer to this letter.

“You will please to assure Lady Johnson, that
whatever may be the result of what 1s now in :iglt 1-
tion, she may rest perfectly satisfied that no indig-
nity will be offered her.

“T am, sir, your humble servant,
** PH. SCHUYLER.

i To Sir Juhn Johnson, Baronet,”

General Schuyler resumed his march on the
"rurllillu‘ of the 1:1]1, his forces Lllll'-\TciIllh Increas-
ing, until, before nightfall, they numbered upward
of three thousand. H: wving proceeded about sixteen
miles from Schenectady, the expedition was met by
Sir John, attended by several of his leading friends
among the Scotchmen, and two or three others.
The result of the interview was the proffer, by Gen-
eral Schuyler, of the following terms to Sir John
and his retainers :

“That Sir John should give up all eannon, arms,
and military stores within his possession or con-
trol, whether belonging to the crown, or private
property ; that he should remain quietly on his pa-
role of honour, at such place of residence as should
be assigned to him by the Continental Congress ;
that the Scotch inhabitants of the county almnld
give up their arms, and promise not to take any
part in the approaching contest, giving hostages for
the fulfilment of such promise ; that such other in-
habitants of the county as had avowed themselves
hostile to the measures of the United Colonies should
lo the same ; and, finally, that all articles belonging
to the erown, and intended as presents to the In
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dians, should be given up for distribution, under the
direction of General Schuyler.”

On these conditions, the general promised that
Sir John Johnson and his adherents should not be
molested, but protected in the quiet enjoyment of
their property ; and that, at the close of the contest,
the surrendered arms, &ec., being private property,
should be restored or paid for.

In the course of the interview, Sir John assured
General Schuyler that the Indians would support
him, and that numbers of them were already at
Johnson Hall for that purpose. He was assured, in
return, that if the proffered terms were not acceded
to, force would be opposed to force, without distine.
tion of persons, and that the consequences of resist-
ance would be of the most serious deseription. [
conclusion, Sir John begged until the evening of the
following day to consider of the propositions, whic|
request was granted, and the baronet took his leave

In about an hour after his departure, Abraham
and another of the Mohawks, made their appearanc
at General Schuyler’s quarters. On being informe
of what Sir John had said respecting the Indians be
Ing in arms at the Hall for his defence, Abrahan
pronounced the story untrue, and repeated his assu
rances that the Mohawks would interfere in no oth.
€ way than as mediators. The general replied,
that he hoped they would not; but he at the sam
time assured them, with emphasis, that if they

shouid do so, he should not hesitate a moment in
destroying every one who opposed him in arms.
On the following day (the I8th), General Schuy-
ler moved forward to Caughnawaga, four miles from
Johnstown, where he was Joined by Colonel Herki-
mer and the Tryon county militia. At about 6
o’clock in the afternoon, Sir John’s answer to the
terms proposed to him was received, as follows :
“ That Sir John Johnson and the rest of the gentle
€N expect that all such arms, of every kind, as are
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;,_ ir own property, may remain in their possession -

! the other arms sh ill be delivered up to such per-
SOn 01 persons as may be u.ppmntul for that [ur-
pose ; as to military stores belonging to the crown,
Sir John has not any.

“ Sir John expects that he will not be confined to
any certain county, but be at liberty to go where he
pleases, ; )

“The Scotch inhabitants will deliver up their
arms, of what kind soever they may be ; and they
will each solemnly promise that they will not, at
any time hereafter, during the continuance of this
|£:1§1;1;:]1_~,* contest, take up arms without the permis-
sion of the Continental Congress, or of their gener-
| officers. Hostages they are not in a capacity to

rive, N0 one man hia ving command over another,

I power sufficient to deliver such. There fore, this
mLEL of the article to be passed over, or the whole
meluded—women and children to be ret imn d, being
a requisition so inhuman as, we hope, the ge.m_,l.tl
will dispense with.

“Sir John has not any blankets, strouds, or othezx
presents intended for the Indians.”

These propositions were rejected by General
Schuyler as altogether unsatisfactory, and four
hours were given by him for reconsideration; at
the expiration of which, he wrote to Sir John, no
proposals would be received, and he should go on
to obey his orders.

Immediately after the latter had been despatched
to the Hall, the sachems of the Lower Castle, with
all their warriors and several from the Upper Cas-
tle, called upon General Schuyler, having come to
his quarters rmt* tly from the residence of the bar-
onet. They informed the general that Sir John had
related to them the substance of the terms of sur-
render that had been proposed. Sir John, they said,
had declared to them that all he desired was “ro-
ection for his family and friends from insult and
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the outrages of riotous people, and protested tha,
he had no unfriendly intentions against the country,
The Indians, therefore, begged the general to accept
the terms offered by Sir John. “The general told
the chiefs that he could not aceept of those te s,
and pointed out the objections. He likewise in-
formed them of the tenour of the letter he had just
transmitted to the Hall. The Indians were appi-
rently contented with those reasons and with th
course ddnlztul but begged that, should the answer
of Sir John be still unsatisfactory, the general
would gi\'(: him until four o'cloek in :ht: morning, that
they might have Eilm- to go and “ shake his head”
as they expressed it, * and bring him to his senses,”
They likewise be g:m d, as an additional favour, that
General Scl yler w ould not remove Sir lnhrl ol
of the country. They apologized for the threats of
their own warriors, alle eging that they were attribu-
table to the circumstance of their not being presen
at the treaty of Albany, and repeated the assurance
that they would never ;1Iw arms against the colo-
nies. In reply, General Schuyler complimented
the Indians for their pacific inte mmm, and inform-
ed them that he should accede to their request, al-
though the (nn-lmt nl "nr John had been so censu-
rable that he should be justified in holding him &
close prisoner. His reason for granting the request,
the general told them. were twofold : I‘ll‘at to show
the love and affection of the Americans for the In
dians, and to convince them that they could ob-
tain, by asking as a favour, that which they could
not obtain by demanding as a right Se condly, that
ln leaving Sir John among them, the y nnp:hi by
their {\mnp]v and adviee, induce him to alter his
Ulmiuu
The extension of time solicited by the Indians
proved to be unnecessary, the answer of Sir John,
acceding to the terms proposed, with soime modifi-
cations, being received at the hovr o ainally desig-
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% nated ; and these modifications, somewhat limited,
being assented to by General Schuyler, the latter

)t on the same day marched to Johnstown, having pre-
| viously detailed several detachments of his troops
5, to scour the country, and bring in the disaffected not
- comprehended in the arrangements with the baron-

et. On the same afternoon Sir John delivered up
- the arms and ammunition in his possession, the quan-
' tity of both being much smaller than was expected.
T On Saturday, the 20th, General Schuyler paraded his
troops at noon, to receive the surrender of the High-

5 landers, who, to the number of between two and three
i undred, marched to the front and grounded their

arms. These having been secured, the Scotchmen
| were dismissed with an exhortation to remain peacea-
{ ble, and with an assurance of protection if they did so.
1

. The general’s attention was next directed to the
liscovery and capture of the secret depét of arms
and ammunition, of which information had been giv-
en by Connell. Two of the persons named in his af-
fidavit were taken, but they denied, most unequivo-
2 cally, all knowledge upon the subject. Connell was
< produced to confront them ; but they still persisted
s in maintaining their innocence, and denounced him
as a perjured villain. He was then sent with a
e number of officers to !}i}illi out the Spol \‘{}lt‘!'l". a5

g he alleged, the arms were concealed. He conduct-
y ed them to a pond of water, containing a small isl-

and or mound in the middle, within which he de-
; clared the arms were buried. The snow and ice

were forthwith removed, and the mound dug down.
.' Connell had particularly described the manner in
Y which the arms had been deposited under ground,
5 but it was soon discovered that the earth had not

recently been disturbed, if ever; and in the end if
S was ascertained, to the satisfaction of all, that the
s | |

lellow was a base impostor. General Schuyler re-
turned to Caughnawaga that evening.  On the two
(ollowing days upward of a hundred Tories were
Voo, L—XK
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brought in from different parts of the country. (o).
onel Herkimer was left to complete the disarming
of the disaffected and receive the hostages, and the
general, with his miscellaneous army, marched byck
to Albany. In his letters to Congress, and also 1
General Washington, he spoke of the anxiety an
trouble he had experienced in preventing so large g
body of men, collected on the sudden, without djs-
cipline, and, withal, greatly exasperated, from run.
ning into excesses. In these efforts. however, he
succeeded much better than, under the circumstan.
ces, was reasonably to have been anticipated. Be-
fore his return, Mr. Dean, the Indian Interpreter,
was despatched by the general with a belt and a
talk to the Six Nations, which has not been pre-
served. Thus ended the expedition to Johnstown.

General Schuyler transmitted a full report of his
proceedings to Congress, by whom a special reso-
lution was passed thanking him for the fidelity,
prudence, and expedition with which he had per
formed such a meritorious service. A second res
olution was also adopted, so curiously constructed,
and containing such an imgeniously-inserted hint to
the officers and militia-men accompanying Generil
Schuyler on this expedition, as to render jt worthy
of preservation. It was in the words following :

* Resolved, That the cheerful and ready assistance
of those who accompanied General Schuyler in his
march to the county of Tryon, and their useful ser-
vices in that expedition, discovered suel a patriotic
spirit, that it is hoped none of them will allow their
counirymen to entertain a suspicion that any 1gno-
ble motive actuated them, by requiring a pecuniary
reward, especially when they were employed in sup-
pressing a mischief in their own neighbourhood.”

The resolutions were enclosed to General Schuy
ler in a flattering letter from President Hancock,
m which, among other things, he says: * It 1s with
great pleasure 1 inform you that the prudence, zeal,
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and temper manifested in your late expedition, met
with the warmest approbation of Congress.”

For some unexplained reason, Sir John Johnson
did not observe the compact of neutrality, nor the
obligations of his parole. Or, if he kept himself
within the letter, his conduct was such as to rea-
waken the suspicions of the people, and was con-
sidered by General Schuyler a virtual violation of
the spirit of the parole he had given, to take no part
apainst the colonies. In faet, the information re-
ceived by General Schuyler convinced him that Sir
John was secretly instigating the Indians to hostili-
ties, and was thus likely to produce much mischief
on the frontiers. To prevent such a calamity, it
was thought advisable by Schuyler to secure the
person of Sir John, and once move to quell the ri-
sing spirit of disaffection in the neighbourhood of
Johnstown, especially among the Highlanders. For
this purpose, in the month of May following the
events already narrated, Colonel Dayton, with a
part of his regiment then on its way to Canada,
was despatched by General Schuyler to prosecute
this enterprise. There were, however, large num-
bers of Loyalists in Albany, with whom Sir John
was then and subsequently in close correspondence.
[t is therefore not surprising that he received time-
ly notice of these preparations for his second arrest,
In anticipation of Dayton’s arrival. Such was the
fact; and, hastily collecting a large number of his
tenants and others, disaffected towards the cause of
the colonists, the baronet was prepared for instant
flight on the approach of the Continentals. This
purpose was successfully executed. Colonel Day-
ton awirived at Johnstown in the evening, whereup-
on Sir John and his retainers immediately took to
the woods by the way of the Sacandaga.* Not
* There is some reason to suppose that an expedition, led by the Mo-

wwk Indians, was sent from Montreal on purpose to bring Sir John
away, or rescue him from the espionage of the Americans. In cae of
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knowing whether his royalist friends were in poa.
session of Lake Champlain or not, the fugitives
dared not venture upon that route to Montreal ; and
Sir John was, accordingly, obliged to strike deeper
into the forests between the head waters of the Hud.
son and the St. Lawrence. Having but a briefl pe.
riod of preparation for their ﬂm;ln the party was but
ill supplied for such a campaign. Their provisions
were soon exhausted ; their feet became sore from
travelling ; and several of their number were left,
from time to time, in the wilderness, to be picked up
and brought in afterward by the Indians sent out for
that purpose.

After nineteen days of severe hardship, the bar-
onet and his partisans arrived at "a[UI]lI('dl In a piti-
able condition, having encountered all of suffering
that it seemed possible for man to endure. Such
was the precipitation of his departure from the pa-
rental hall, and such his deficiency of the means of
transportation, that an iron chest, containing the
most valuable of his family papers, was hastily bu.
ried in the garden. The family Bible, containing
the only record of the marriage of his father aud
mother, and, of course, the uuly written evidence of
his own legitimacy, was also left behind.* Such
of the papers as were found were examined by Col-
Brant's speeches, delivered long afterward, when rehearsing the ex
ploits of the Mohawks in the Revolutionary war, the following passtge
oceurs: ““ We then went in a body to a town then in the possession of
the enemy, and rescue «d Sir John Johnson, bringing him fearlessly
throngh the streets.” Brant, at the time of this rescue, was himself is
England, as also was Guy Johnson,

* After the confiscation of the property of Sir John, the furnitore of
the hall was sold by auction at Fort Hunter. The late Lieutenant-gor-
ernor of New-York, John Taylor, purchased several articles of the furni
ture, and, among other things, the Bible mentioned in the text. Perceir
ing that it contained the fomily record, which might be of great valuo b
Sir John, Mr. '|':‘t_‘-‘1llr wrote a civil note tr Sir .]'ulm.illﬁ'rlii!g 1ts restors
tion. Some time afterward, 8 messenger from the baronet called for
the Bible, whose conduct was so rude ns to give offence. ** 1 have coms
for Sir William’s Bible,” said he, * and there are the four guineas whick
it cost.” The Bible was delivered, and the runner was asked what mes
sage Sir John had sent. The reply was, * Pay four guineas, und taks
the bouk '




]

h

]

14

AMERICAN REVOLUTION 128

onel Dayton, 11 |u|l|1|l1 imce with his orders ; * and
Lady Johnson was removed to Albany, where she
was retained as a kind of hostage for the peaceable
conduct of her husband. She wrote to {:cm_l.tf
Washington compl: iining of this dete ulum, and ask-
ing his interference for her release; but the com-
mander-in-chief left the matter w ith General Schuy-
ler and the Albany C :m*lmllu ' (Colonel Davton
was stationed several weeks at Johnstown w ith his
troops, and for the time secured the tranquillity of
the country.

Sir John was immediately commissioned a colonel
in the British service, and raised a command of two
battalions, composed of those who accompanied him
in his flight, and other American Loyalists who
subsequently followed their example. They were
called the Royal Greens. In the month of January
following he found his way into New-York, then in
possession of the British forces. From that period
he became not only one of the most active, but one
of the bitterest foes ol his own countrymen of any
who were engaged in that contest, and re peate t“V
the scourge of his own former neighbours. He was
unquestionably a Loyalist from lm-ulpl(' else he
would scarce !\ have hazarded, as he did, and ulti-
mately lost, domains larger and fairer than probably
ever belonged to a single proprietor i America,
William Penn only exc |~1:T-:r:l But the immediate
cause of his breaking his pledge of honour is not
known. Unexplaine ri as it ever has been, the act
has always been regarded as a stain upon the bar-
onet’s character. 1t was held as such by the Pro-
vincial Congress of New-York, as will be seen by
the annexed extract from a letter addressed by that
oody to General Washington imme diately after his
fight : “ We apprehend no doubt can exist whether
the affair of Sir John Johnson is within your imme-
diate cognizance. He held a commission as brig-
adier-gencral of the milita. and, 1t 1s said, ano ther
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commission as major-general. That he hath shame.
fully broken his parole is evident, but whether it
would be more proper to have him returned or ex.
changed, is entirely in your excellency’s prudence.”
Ilis estates were, of course, confiscated by thy
Provincial Congress of New-York, and in due timg
sold under the direction of the committee of tha
body having such matters in charge,

CHAPTER VIIL

Tue progress of events renders it necessary agan
to introduce the Indian hero of the war of the Rey-
olution more prominently upon the stage of action,
Thayendanegea had now been advanced to the sit-
uation of principal war-chief of the confederacy, an
officer, according to the ancient usages of the Six
Nations, uniformly taken from the Mohawks.

It has been seen, in a preceding chapter, that
Thayendanegea had accompanied Guy Johnson from
the Mohawk Valley, first, westwardly to Ontario,
thence back to Oswego, and thence to Montreal,
where his services, and those of his warriors, were
courted by Generals Carleton and Haldimand, and
an agreement was speedily made that they were to
take up the hatchet in the cause of the king. For
the prosecution of a border warfare the officers of
the crown could scarcely have engaged a more val-
uable auxiliary. Distinguished alike for his ad-
dress, his activity, and his courage—possessing, in
point of stature and symmetry of person, the ad-
vantage of most men even among his own well-
formed race—tall, erect, and majestic, with the air
and mien of one born to command—having, as it
were, been a man of war from his boyhecwod—his
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name was a tower of strength among the warriors
of the wilderness. Still more extensive was his in-
fluence rendered by the circumstance that he had
been much employed in the civil service of the In-
dian (hpntment. under Sir William Johnson, by
whom he was often deputed upon embassies among
the tribes of the confederacy, and to those yet more
distant, upon the great t lakes and rivers of the north-
west, by reason of which his knowledge of the
whole country and people was accurate and exten-
sive.

Whether, after the compact with Sir Guy Carle-
ton, the chief again visited the Indian country of
the Six Nations dum:fr the summer of 1775, is un-
known. Probably not ; since, in the autumn of that
year, or L‘ul) in the Inl]nunnr winter, he embarked
on his first visit to England. What was the precise
object of this visit does not appear. It is very prob-
able, however, that, lmf\\'iillr:t;indillg the agreement
so hastily formed at Montreal, the sagacious chief
tain may have judged it ]nurlvni to pause before
committing himself too far by overt acts of hostility
against the colonies. The Oneidas were evidently
inclining to espouse the colonial side of the contro-
versy, if any ; the River Indians had already ranged
themselves on the same side ; Captain White-Eyes,
of the Delawares, had determined upon neutrality ;
and the Caughnawagas, or, at least, some of their
leading chiefs, were in the camp u;ill Washington.
To all which may be added the fact, that at that
time the American arms were carrying everything
before them in Canada. These circumstances were
certainly enough to make the chieftain hesitate as
to the course dictated by true wisdom. His predi-
lections, doubtless, lmm the first, inclined him to
espouse the cause of the king. Nay, he maintained
through life, that the ancient covenants of his peo-
ple rendered it obligatory upon him so to do. In
addition to which were the strong ties of blood, of
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association, and of gratitude, by which he was
hound to the family and the interests of the Joh.
sons. Still, the brilliant successes with which tle
Americans had ope ned the campaign in Canada pre.
sented another view of the case, which was certai.
ly entitled to grave (mnmm-mium. Thus situated.
the chief may have found his position so embarrass.
ing as to induce him to visit the }: arent country, and
go himself into the presence of “ Tue Grear Kiyg'

as the British monarch was styled | )y the Indians, h.
fore he should finally determine whether actua ULy to
take the field or not. By making the voyage, he
would have the additional .ululllnm- of '-xtllrhlli'f he

resources and the power of the parent country, an
would thereby be the better able to determine :'..;
himself whether success was likely to crown his
majesty’s arms in the end, or whether, by an over
scrupulous observance of an ancient stipulation of
alliance, he should not, with his people, be rushing
upon certain destruction,.

Jut whether he thus reasoned or not, it is certain
that he sailed for England towards the close of the
year 1775, and reached London early in 1776, ac
companied by Captain Tice, an officer of English
extraction, born in America, who had resided in the
neighbourhood of the Mohawk nation.

Only a very brief m-f-num of this, his first visit to
Fingland, has been found. It has always been said,
however, that he was not {}Illk well received, bul
that his society was courted by gentlemen of rank
and station—statesmen, scholars, and divines. He
had little of the savage ferocity of his people in his
countenance ; and when, as he ordinarily did, he
wore the European dress, there was nothing besides
his colour to mark wherein he differed {rom other
men. Upon his first arrival in the 1;|j[i sh ;_-H]].iml_,
he was ¢ oI lucted to the 1inn called * 7%e Swan with
{wo Necks.” Other lodgings were soon provided for
him more suitable to his rank as an Indian king ; buf
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lie said the people of the inn had treated him with
so much kindness and civility, that he preferred re-
maining there during his stay in London: and he
accordingly did so.

.-'\lthll-g[rt he was dressed in the European habit,
he was not unprovided with a splendid costume af-
ter the manner of his own nation, in which he ap-
peared at court, and upon visits of state and cere-
mony. James Boswell was at that time in his glo-
ry, and an intimacy appears to have been contracted
between him and the Mohawk chief, since the latter
sat for his picture at the request of this most inter-
esting of egotists. He also sat, during the same
visit, to Romney, one of the most distinguished art-
ists of his day, for the Earl of Warwick. He was.
of course, painted in his native dress, and the pic-
ture was greatly prized. The tomahawk worn by
him In London was a very beautiful article, pol-
ished to the highest degree; upon which was en-
graved the first letter of his Christian name with
s Mohawk appellation, thus: “.J. Thayendanegea.”

He did not remain in Kingland many months, but,
i company with Captain Tice, sailed on his return
towards the close of March or early in April, and
arrived on the coast near the harbour of New-York,
after a very short passage. Having fully deter-
mined to fulfil his stipulations with General Carle-
ton, and take up the hatchet in the cause of the
crown, he was cautiously and privately landed some-
where in the neighbourhood of New-York, whence
he performed a very hazardous journey to Canada,
having, of course, to steal his way through a hostile
population, until he could hide himself in the forests
beyond Albany. He had taken the precaution, how-
ever, in England, to provide evidence of the identity
of his body in case of disaster, or of his fall in any
of the battles he anticipated, by procuring a gold fin-
gerring, with his name engraven thereon at length.*

I'lis ring he wore until his denth. It was Kepl ns a precious relic
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What were the particular arguments addressed to
the Mohawk in the British capital, or by what pro-
cess he became impressed with the idea that the
arms of the king would, in the end, be victorious in
the colonies, is not known. It is certain, however,
that whatever doubts he might have entertained,
were most effectually dispelled: since, on taking
leave. it was understood that he pledged himself
heartily to embrace the royal cause, and promised
to take the field with three thousand warriors of his
race.”

[t is no more than justice, however, to allow Cap-
tain Brant to speak for himself in regard to the
principle by which he was governed in his decision.
In a letter written by him to Sir Evan Nepean, the
under-secretary of state, when in England after the
yeace of 1783, he said: *“ When [ joined the Eng-
lish in the beginning of the war, it was purely on
account of my forefathers’ engagements with the
king. I always looked upon these engagements, or
covenants between the king and the Indian nations,
as a sacred thing: therefore, | was not to be fright-
ened by the threats of the rebels at that time; I as-
sure you 1 had no other view in it, and this was my
real case from the beginning.”

by his widow for four years, when 1t was lost, Strange as it may seem,
however, during the last summer (1836), the identical ring was found by
a little girl in a plonghed field near Wellington Square, while the ven-
erable Indinnqueen was ou a visit to her daughter, the accomplished lndy
of Colonel Kerr. The aged widow of the old chief was overjoyed at once
more possessing the memento, after it had been lost six-and-twenty years,

* It appears that Colonel Guy Johuson must have visited England at
the sanie time,or nearly the same time, with Brant, Perhaps they went
torether, although Johnson did not return so soon, Genernl Washing-
ton announced his arrival at Staten Island, from England, on the fith
of Aurust, 1776, in a letter written to the President of Congress on the
§th. In Dunlup's History of the American Stage, Guy Johnson's name
is given, in 1778, as oue of the managers of the old Theatre Royal, John-
street. 'I'he players were all amateurs, officers of the Briush army, and
the avails of their performances were appropriated for benevolent purpo-
ges.  The unfortunate Major Andre was one of the actors, and the scens
painter. A drop-curtain, painted by him, was used many years nfter
his death
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By * threats,” in this letter to the under-secretary,
Brant probably meant no more than the efforts made
by the Americans to prevent his joining the royai
gtandard, and to preserve the neutrality of the In-
dians. In connexion with these efforts, there is a
scrap of unwritten history, which, whether true or
not, is characteristic of the shrewdness, and dry,
sarcastic humour of the chief. It is related, that
during the early part of the year 1775, while it was
yet considered doubtful which side the Mohawks
would espouse, and when it was, of course, very de-
sirable to ascertain the views of Brant upon the
subject, President Wheelock was applied to as a
medium of communication with his former pupil.
The doctor, according to the tradition, wrote him a
long epistle upon the aspect of the tiiaes, and urged
upon Brant those considerations which appeared
most likely to win him over, or, rather, to secure
his neutrality, if not his friendship, to the colonists.
Brant replied very ingeniously. Among other things
he referred to his former residence with the doctor,
recalled the happy hours he had passed under his
roof, and referred especially to his prayers and the
family devotions to which he had listened. He said
he could never forget those prayers ; and one pas-
sage, I particular, was so often repeated, that it
could never be effaced from his mind. It was,
among other of his good preceptor’s petitions, * that
they might be able to live as good subjects—to fear
God and HoNuUR THE KING.”

If doubt had existed among the colonists before,
as to the direction of the channel in which ran his
mclinations, there was surely none after the perusal
of this letter. But scenes of a more stirring char
acter now demand the attention.

Towards the close of the memorable Canadian
campaign—so brilliantly commenced, so success-
fully prosecuted for many months, and yet so disas-
trously terminated—while the shattered remains of
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the American forces were retiring before the troops
of Sir Guy Carleton, the former experienced a sid
disaster at ““the Cedars,” a point of land extending
far into the St. Lawrence, about forty miles above
Montreal, which was occupied by Colonel Bedell
with three hundred and ninety provincial troops and
two fieldpieces.  General Carleton directed a de.
scent upon this post from the British station at Os-
wegatchie, under the command of Captain Forster,
at the head of one company of regular troops and a
pody of Indians numbering nearly six hundred. The
latter were led by Thayendanegea. On the appear-
ance of the enemy before the American works, Col-
onel Bedell repaired immediately to Montreal for
assistance, leaving the Cedars in charge of Major
Butterfield. Colonel (afterward general) Arnold,
who was then in command of Montreal—not yel
evacuated by the Americans—forthwith detached
Major Sherburne with one hundred men, to proceed
to the Cedars, and prepared to follow himself with
much larger force. Meantime, however, Major But-
terfield, who, it was believed, might have easily de-
fended the position, was intimidated by a threal
from the enemy, that, should the siege continue and
any of the Indians be slain, in the event of an event-
nal surrender it would be impossible for the British
commander to prevent a general massacre, and
consented to a capitulation, by which the whole gar-
rison became prisoners of war. Major Sherburne
approached on the day following, without having
received any information of the change of circun-
stances until within four miles of the post, where,
on the 20th of May, he was attacked by the Indians,
and, after a sharp conflict, compelled to surrender al
discretion. No sooner had Arnold received infor-
mation of these events, than he marched against the
foe, then at Vaudreuil, at the head of seven hundred
men, with a view of chastising the enemy and re-
covering the prisoners, * When preparing for ai
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engagement, he received a flag accompanied by Ma-
_]UF Sherburne, giving him the most positive assu-
rances that if he persisted in his design it would be
entirely out of the power of Capthin Forster to pre-
vent his savages from pursuing their horrid customs,
and disencumbering themselves of their prisoners
by putting every man to death. This massacre
was already threatened, and Major Sherburne con-
firmed the information. Under the influence of this
threat, Arnold desisted from his purpose, and con-
sented to a cartel, by which the prisoners were de-
livered up to him ; he agreeing, among other things,
not only to deliver as many British soldiers in ex-
change for them, but also that they should imme-
diately return to their homes.”

This disaster, or, perhaps, more correcily speak
ing, the conduct of the officers to whose cowardice
it was imputed, was a source of deep mortification
to General Washington, and he gave utterance to
his vexation in several letters written soon after-
ward. Nor was Butterfield alone blamed, Colonel
Bedell being placed in the same category of con-
demnation. The commander-in-chief was likewise
incensed at the conduct of Captain Forster, in re-
sorting to deceptive and very unjustifiable means to
procure hostages for ratifying a treaty of exchange.

The name of Captain Brant is not mentioned in
any of the books in connexion with these transac-
tions at the Cedars. There is positive evidence,
however, that he was not only there, but that he
exerted himself efliciently, after the surrender of
Major Sherburne, to control the Indians and pre-
vent the massacre of the prisoners. Among these
latter was Captain John M*‘Kinstry, who command-
ed a company on that occasion. From his account
of the battle, Major Sherburne fell into an ambus-
cade, and the fighting was severe. Captain M‘Kins
try’s command was engaged sharply with a body
of Indians, before whom his troops were several
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times compelled to retire. Rallying, however, with
spirit, the Indians were repeatedly driven back in
turn; and the respective parties were thus succes-
sively driven by each other, back and forth, accord-
ing to the doubtful and vurying fortunes of the hour,
until the Americans were overpowered by numbers,
and compelled to surrender; Captain M‘Kinstry
being wounded, fell by the side of a tree, and was
there taken. He subsequently ascertained that he
had been marked as a victim by the Indians, who
had actually made the usual preparations for putting
him to death by the torture of fire; and that he was
rescued by the personal exertions of Captain Brant,
who, in connexion with some humane English offi-
cers, made up a purse and purchased an ox, which
the Indians roasted for their carousal instead of the
gallant prisoner. Captain M‘Kinstry was treated
with kindness while a prisoner, and contracted an
intimacy with Brant, which continued until the chief-
tain’s death. Brant never visited the Hudson after
the Revolution without spending a few days with
Colonel M*Kinstry at the Manor ; and at the time
of his last visit, about the year 1805, in company
with his friend, who, like himself, was a member of
the brotherhood, he attended the Freemason’s Lodge
in the city of Hudson, where his presence attracted
great attention.

But to return. The conduct of Major Butterfield
at the Cedars was likewise severely denounced in
Congress, and his capitulation pronounce d, by reso-
lution, * a shameful surrender.” Due (:1{=nlll was at
the same time awarded to Major Sherburne for the
bravery displayed by himself and his troops, whu
only “surrendered at last on absolute necessity.”
Notw ithstanding, moreover, the interposition of
Captain Brant to prevent a massacre, and the res-
cue of Captain M*Kinstry, such outrages were re-
ported to Congress as to call forth a series of indig-
nant resolutions upon the subject. In the preamble
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to these resolutions, it was stated that, immediately
after the surrender, the prisoners were delivered
over to the Indians; their baggage plundered, their
clothes taken from them, and several of their num-
ber killed; and one of them, who had only been
wounded, roasted alive. From the circumstance
that Captain M‘Kinstry had been wounded, and
designated for the torture, though rescued, as we
have already seen, by Captain Brant, it is quite
probable that Congress was misinformed as to the
actual consummation of such a purpose in the per-
son of any prisoner. Assuming the fact, however,
the enemy’s conduct was denounced in the strongest
terms : Congress asserting the right of demanding
indemnification for the wrongs inflicted upon the
prisoners in their persons and property ; and in re-
gard to the murder of prisoners by the Indians, re-
quiring that the authors of those murders be deliv-
ered into their hands for condign punishment, as a
condition precedent to an exchange of prisoners.
In regard to the torturing of prisoners, a resolution
was also adopted, denouncing, * as the sole means
of stopping the progress of human butchery,” a re-
taliation of punishment, of the same kind and degree,
to be inflicted upon a like number of prisoners of
the enemy, in every case of outrage thereafter to
occur.

These resolutions were, in effect, a refusal to
confirm the treaty for the exchange of prisoners
entered into by General Arnold, and were so con-
sidered by the commanding officers in Canada. The
eonsequence was, the induigence of much crimina-
tion and recrimination on the part both of the Ameti-
ean and British commanders. Indeed, complaints
of the cruel treatment of the prisoners falling into
their hands had been preferred against the enemy
several months before, particularly in the case of
Colonel Ethan Allen and his fellow-captives. Allen
kad been captured by General Prescott, by whom,
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in addition to other indignities, he had been heavily
ironed, and sent like a common felon to England,
Prescott was afterward taken by the Americans
and treated with considerable rigour, in retaliation
for the ill usage of Allen. This produced a remon-
strance from General Howe, who, on being remind-
ed of the case of Allen, disclaimed any responsibil-
ity in regard to that transaction, inasmuch as it was
an occurrence in a district beyond the boundaries
of his particular command. The affair of the Ce-
dars excited the strongest feelings of indignation,
not only in Congress and among the people, but in
the army. Soon afterward the account was in part
balanced, by a diabolical outrage committed by an
American scouting party in the neighbourhood of St,
John's. It was the deliberate assassination, by the
lieutenant at the head of the party, of Brigadier-
reneral Gordon of the British army. General Gor-
don was riding alone, and i full uniform, from La-
prairie to St. John’s. The lieutenant and his party

were in ambush within the British lines; and, as ,

the general passed, the former wantonly and bar-
barously shot him through the body. Although the
wound was mortal, the general rode on, and speed-
ly reached St. John’s, where he expired. This
painful incident aroused as warm a burst of indig-
nation among the British officers as the affair of the
Cedars had done among the Americans. General
Carleton availed himself of the occurrence to 1ssue
a violent, though artful proclamation, which was
pronounced by Washington, in a letter to the Presi-
dent of Congress, to be *highly unbecoming the
character of a soldier and gentleman.” Although
the prisoners were not exchanged, under the arrange-
ment made with Arnold, yet Carleton set the Ameri-
can captives at liberty, on condition of their returi-
ing to their own homes, there to remain as prisoners.
Fach of the prisoners was furnished with a copy
of his insidious proclamation.
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[t was not supposed that any considerable num-
ners of the Indians of the S

in the 1

mnd their kindred tribe, the

themselves.
stage of the contest,

r}ppu-,lurm to the LUIUI'Ill‘H

these occurrences, a

Six Nations participated

hattle of the Cedars, other than the Mohawks

Caughnawagas, or the
Seven Nations of Canada, as they chose to call

[ndeed, the Six Nations we re, at t that
far from lmm;; unanimous in

and at the very time of

deputation from four of the

nations was at Philadelphia, on a peaceable mission
to Congress.

On the 25th of May,

1776, the Congress resolved

“ that it was highly e xpedient to engage the Indians
in the service “of the United Colonies 22
empowered the commander-in-chief to employ, in

Canada

and they

and elsewhere, a number not excee dmu‘ two

thousand, offering them ““a reward of one hundred

dollars for every commissioned officer,

and thirty

dollars for every private soldier of the king’s troops,
that they should take prisoner in the Indian coun-

try, or

on the frontier

of

these

colonies.
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Congress also authorized General Washington to

employ the Indians of Penobscot,

St.

]uh:l s, and

Nova Scotia, who had proffered their services, and
were to receive the same pay as the Continental

soldiers.

Whether

actually
Known.

effect.
measure—

eng: |frm1

in the

any of those Eastern Indians were ever
American service,

is not

In regard to the employment of the North-
ern Indians, Washington forthwith entered into a
correspondence with General Schuyler upon the sub-
ject, and pressed him to carry the resolutions into

The

latter,
as much so as at the first.

however, was averse to

He disliked

the

lo employ such a force under any circumstances,
contending that they were too fickle and uncertain
to allow any well-founded reliance Lu be placed upon
them at the moment of emergency

At that partic-

ular conjuncture, especially, u]n n our troops, bro-
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ken and dispersed, were flying like fugitives from
Canada, he thought the chances of obtaining Indian
auxiliaries exceedingly slender; and as to the num-
ber prescribed (two thousand), the general intima.
ted, in one of his letters to the commander-in-chief
that it would have been well if Congress had conde.
scended to inform him where so many Indian war.
riors, not already m the service of the enemy, were
to be found. In short, General Schuyler’s opinion
was correct from the beginning, that the colonies
could expect no essential aid from the Indians ; and
whatever aid they might receive, would be sure to
cost more than it would come to. So the event
proved. But, although the British profited most by
the employment of the Indians, the 'y are not alone
to blame for using them. So far, tummlm as prin-
ciple and intention are concerned, the Americans
are equitably entitled to a due share of the censure,
In recurring to coincident events tri =n~»|unmr in
other parts of the country. it must be remarked, that
the commander-in-chief was often placed in cir-
cumstances not the most promising. On his arri-
val at the camp before Boston, the preceding year,
he had found only * the materials for a good (umy"
—not the organized army itself. The troops were
mostly I_llliil*:LI]Jlllll’[!. and having taken arms to
fight for liberty, it was no easy matter to bring
them into those habits of subordination which ne-
cessarily render a soldier a mere machine to be
moved at the will of his commander. ‘T'he first ob-
ject of General W ;i‘s}JH]U‘iHIi therefore, was to bring
the troops inte a state of discipline. = But another
difficulty presented itself in the fact that, owing to
the short periods of enlistment, the times of service
of the greater portion of the army were to expire in
November and December. To which was added the
embarrassing discovery that all the powder at his
command was barely sufficient to supply nine
rounds of cartridges per man. There was, more-
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over, a general want of camp equipage and clothing,
and, indeed, of everything necessary alike to the com-
fort and the efficiency of an army. But Heaven, in its
mercy, seemed to have devolved the command upon
the man of all others best calculated to meet the
emergency and overcome it. His destitution of
ammunition was artfully and effectually concealed
from the enemy ; and although, on the discharge of
those of his troops who would not re-enlist, at the
close of December (1775), he had no more than
9650 men left, he yet contrived to sustain himself
and keep the enemy beleaguered in Boston during
the whole winter. * Itis not in the pages of history,
perhaps,” he wrote to Congress, “to furnish a case
like ours. To maintain a post within musket-shot
of the enemy for six months together, without am-
mumiion, and at the same time to disband one army
and recruit another, within that distance of twenty
old British regiments, is more, probably, than was
ever attempted.”

The Continental Congress had been induced by
the influence of the commander-in-chief to resolve
upon the raising of an army of 75,000 men, to be
enlisted for the term of three years, or during the
war. It was not until January, however, that they
could be induced to offer bounties for enlistments,
and even then the ranks were not rapidly filled. At
the close of February, the whole effective force of
the Americans was no more than 14,000 men, ex-
clusive of 6000 of the Massachusetts militia. An
assault upon Boston had been meditated in Febru-
ary by General Washington ; but the opinion of his
Erinuipnl officers, expressed in a council of war,
eing strongly against such a movement, the enter-
prise was reluctantly abandoned. Wearied by inac-
tion, the next project of the American commander
was to take possession of Dorchester Heights, a
position commanding the town of Boston, the occu-
pation of which would compel General Howe either
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to, attempt its dispossession by the Americans, or to
evacuate the town. The enterprise was so well
planned, as to be executed by General Thomas with
complete and brilliant success. on the night of the
4th of March. Having diverted the attention of the
enemy by a bombardment of his lines in another
direction, the movement was unperceived. The
weather being mild, the American troops were en-
abled to labour with energy in throwing up defences,
which, on the following morning, struck the gener-
al of the British army with astonishment, from their
sudden appearance and their magnitude. A heavy
atmosphere contributed to magnify the height of
the works and increase the wonder of the foe.
Sir William Howe made immediate preparations to
drive the Americans from their new, and, to him,
dangerous position ; for which purpose two thousand
choice troops were embarked to cross over the
same evening ; but a severe tempest frustrated his
design. On the following morning General Howe
convened a council of war, at which it was resolved
to evacuate the town as soon as possible. This de-
termination was carried into execution on the 17tl,
by the embarcation of the whole British army, and
the sailing of the British fleet, first to Halifax, but
ultimately, as the event proved, for New-York. On
the same day General Washington entered Boston
in triumph, and was hailed, by the universal acclaim
of the people, as their deliverer. Thus was the
town which first raised the standard of rebellion the
first to rejoice at the retreat of its oppressors. Nor
was it the fortune of the invaders ever to set foot
there again.

In the North, the operations of the Provincial
army had been far less propitious. The conquest of
Canada was 2 favourite project with Congress, and
every possible effort within the slender means of
the colonies was made to that end. But the fall of
Monteomery had thrown a gloom over the enterprise
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which was never dissipated. Colonel, now General
arnold, had maintained himself before Quebu: du-
ring the winte r, and until late in the spring, with
put a handful of men, numbering, at one time, not
more than five hundred effectives. But the re-en-
forcements were slow in arriving ; the Canadians,
from a variety of causes—the principal of which,
beyond doubt, was bad treatment from an undisci-
plined soldie lv—bc ame less friendly to the Ameri-
{ s than at first, notwithstanding “the mission of
Messrs. Franklin, Chase, and (.:mull, accompanied
by a Catholic priest, to conciliate them ; and on the
arrival of General Wooster at his quarters, about
the 1st of April, Arnold obtained leave of absence,
and took the command at Montreal. General Thom-
as, who had been assigned to the command of the
army in Canada, after the exploit of Gloucester
Heights, arrived before Quebec on the 1st of May,
where he found an army of nineteen hundred men,
less than one thousand of whom were effective, and
three hundred of these, being entitled to their dis-
charge, refused to perform duty. They had but one
hundred and fifty barrels of powder, and six days’
I.mw-u}lh Well knowing that with the opening of
the navigation, Sir Guy Carleton’s expected re-en-
forcements would arrive, the circumstances in which
he was placed were altogether so unpromising, that
General Thomas, with the conecurrence of a council
of war, determined to raise the siege on the 5th of
May, and assume a more eligible position farther
up the river. It was the intention of the American
commander to remove the sick to the Three Rivers ;
but on the 6th, before the arrangements for retreat-
ing were all concerted, a British fleet, with re-en-
forcements, arrived. General Carleton immediately
made a sortie at the head of one thousand men, to
oppose whom General Thomas had not more than
three hundred available «roops. No other course
remained, therefore, but a precipitate retreat to all
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who could get away, leaving the sick and the mijli.
tary stores to the enemy. General Thomas led his
little band back to the mouth of the Sorcl, where he
was seized with the smallpox, and died. Large
re-enforcements joined the fugitive army at that
place under General Sullivan. Before General
Carleton moved from Quebee, an expedition was
undertaken from Sorel to the Three Rivers, against
General Frasier, under the direction of (:um-; al
Thompson and Colonel St. Clair. It was unsue-
cessful : from which time disaster followed disas-
ter, until, owing to the combined causes of defeat.
sickness, and insubordination, the Americans found
themselves, on the 18th of June, driven entirely out
of Canada ; the British army following so closely
upon their heels, as immediately to occupy the differ-
ent posts as they were successively evacuated.
The Americans, however, still retained the con.

trol of Lake Uhunpldln. and occupied the fortifica-
tions upon its shores, the command of which had
now been assigned by Congress to General Gates,
with great and manifest injustice towards General
Schuyler. Gates at first established his headquar-
ters at Crown Point, but soon afterward withdrew
his forces from that post, and fell back upon Ticon
deroga. 'This step was taken by the advice and
concurrence of a board of general officers, but con-
trary to the wishes of the field-officers. The com-
mander-in-chief was v\unlmfrI} dissatisfied with
this movement of Gates, believing that the relin.
quishment of that post, in its consequences, would
be equivalent to an abandonment of Lakes George
and Champlain, and all the advantages to be derived
therefrom. In reply to the concern that had been
expressed by Washington on the occasion, General
Gates contended that Crown Point was untenable
with the forces then under his command, nor could
it be successfully defended even with the aid of the
expected re-enforcements. These re-enforcements
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moreover, the general added, could not be allowed
to approach nearer to Crown Point than Skenes-
borough, since ‘it W ould be only heaping one hos-
pital upon another.”® The annals of disastrous
war scarce present a more deplorable picture than
that exhibited by the Americans escaping from
Canada. In addition to the smallpox, the army
had been afflicted by other diseases, generated In,
exposure, destitution, and laxity of Lll‘:LI]l]IllL Fleets
of boats came up the lake freighted with the sick
and dying, and even those reported from day to
day fit for duty presented but the appearance of :
haggard s skeleton of an army. * Everything =1|JU|.II
this c].llli\, ’ sald General Gates in the letter alre 2ady
cited, “ is infected with the pestilence ; the clothes
the blanke s, the air, and the ground I!lu, walk upon
To put this evil from us, a general hospital is estab
lished at Fort George,t where there are now between
two and three thousand sick, and where every in
tected person is lll!lll(cll.iltl‘. sent. But this care
and caution have not effectually destroyed the dis-
ease here ; it is, notwithstanding, continually break
ing out.”

n.m.h was the deplorable condition in which an
army, so recently victorious, had been driven back
from what was in fact a conquered country, lost
entirely through mismanagement, and the want of
an army uprnu the basis of permanent enlistment.
Added to which, was another l“hl{ ulty lying beneath
the surface. Many prisoners had fallen into the
hands of the enemy at Quebec, and during the sub-

The smallpnx, which had been so fatal to the troo ps in Canadn, had
now brokeu out at Crown Point and Ticonderoga, the pestilence having
heen purposely introduced by a villain calling himself Doctor Barker,

Thus fact is stuted in a letter from the Adjutunt- -general of the North
ern [ I| nrtment to Colonel Gi Llht‘.rmrl dated from Ticonderoga, July
24, “The villain,” says the letter, ** by private inoculations in the
army, has caused, in a gre at degree. the misery to which we are reduced
by that |||I ctious disorder.” Barker was arrested and sent to Aibany.—
NS, letter rl.f Colonel Trumbull to Colonel Gansevoort,

T .‘\-' he head of Luake Ge UIge.
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sequent retreat. Towards all these the conduct gl
Sir Guy Carleton had been most politic. They had
been treated with the greatest care and humanity,
and so much of the subtle poison of flattery, mingled
with kindness, had been poured into their ears, that
their return on parole, which was presently allowed
by the British commander, was regarded with ap-
prehension. On one occasion, a large number of
prisoners arriving at Crown Pomnt from St. John's
i a vessel pm\ui(:i by Sir Guy Carleton, were
visited, before landing, by Colonel John ‘I'rumbuil,
the ;uljutamt-g_rt]u*rul for the northern department.
From the feelings they manifested, and the tenour
of their conversation, Colonel Trumbull saw at once
that it would not be prudent to allow them to land,
or to hold the least intercourse with the suffering
troops of the garrison. He immediately reported
the fact to the general, and advised that the said
prisoners should be sent directly forward to Skenes-
borough, and despatched to their re spective homes,
without allowing them to mingle with the troops at
that place. The suggestion was adopted.

Nor were the difficulties enumerated, all which
the officers had to encounter. The spirit of disaf-
fection was far more extensive than those who are
left to contemplate the scenes through which tneir
fathers passed, and the discouragements against
which they were compelled to struggle, have been
wont to suppose. The burden of many of General
Schuyler’s letters, and also the letters of other offi-
cers, during the whole of this season, was the fre.
i]llt'ill‘j' of desertions to the ranks of the enemy.

Glancing for a moment at the situation of affairs
at the South, the gloom of the picture is somewhat
relieved. The expedition of General Clinton and
Sir Peter Parker, for the reduction of Charleston,
had signally failed. 'The defence of the fort bear-
ing his own name, by Colonel Moultrie, was one of
the most gallant exploits of the whole contest,
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served to lighten the despondency that had been
yroduced by the disasters we have been sketching
2t the North. 1t was at this place that the celebrated
Sergeant Jasper signalized himsell, when the flag-
stafi was shot away, by leaping from the parapet of
the fort upon the beach, seizing the flag, and, amid
ihe incessant firing of the fleet, mounting, and again
placing it on the rampart.

But the grand event of the year, the transactions
of which are now under review, was the DecLara-
rion 0f INDEPENDENCE, @ motion for which was sub-
mitted in Congress by Richard Henry Lee, of Vir-
ginia, on the 7th of June, and the declaration itself
solemnly adopted on the 4th of July. This measure
at once cut off all hope of reconciliation with the
parent country, and all prospect of a termination
of the war, unless by the complete triumph in arms
of one party or the other. Such a declaration was
an event not originally anticipated, even if desired
by the mass of the people ; aithough it had, unques
tionably, and from the first, entered into the calcu-
lations of the daring master spirits of the movement
1 Boston. It had furthermore been greatly accel-
erated by the conduct of the British government it-
self, during the preceding session of Parliament, by
.1t of which the Americans had been declared out
of the royal protection; so widely mistaken had
been the Congress of the preceding year, which
had adjourned with strong hopes that the differences
hetween the two countries would soon be adjusted
to their mutual satisfaction. At the same time, the
parent government was pultilig forth its energies to
erush the colonies at a blow. For this purpose
25.000 British troops were to be employed, in ad-
dition to 17,000 German mercenaries purchased from
the Landgrave of Hesse Cassel, the Duke of Bruns-
wick, and the Count of Hanau. These troops, with
the Canadian recruits, the American Loyalists, and
the Indians, it was intended should constitute an 1n-
H—10
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vading force of 55,000 men. With such prepara-
tions in prospect against them, it was no time for
inactivity on the part of the colonists: and having,
by the declaration, thrown away the scabbard of
the sword that had been drawn fifteen months be.
fore, there was no alternative but resistance to the
end.
Recurring, for a brief space, to the history proper
of the Mohawk Valley, it may be assumed, in be-
half of its patriotic population, that the new attitude
of the country was neither unexpected nor unwel-
come. On the contrary, having been among the
earliest to propose a separation, the great act of
the 4th of July was nowhere more cordially re-
ceived than by the Whigs of Tryon county. ~ Nor
did they falter in their purpose of sustaining the
cause in which the country had embarked, amid all
the disasters of the early part of the season or those
that followed. In their own section of country,
however, the flight of Sir John Johnson and his re-
tainers was the only important incident occurring
during that memorable year. Still there was no
relaxation of vigilance, or of preparation for the
worst, should the storm of war, so long muttering
i the distance, actually break upon those settlements,
The frontiers were at all times liable to the sudden
irruptions of savages, and it was necessary to keep
scouting parties continually upon the alert. Cherry
Valley being the principal settlement south of the
Mohawk, and lying directly in the line of communi-
cation between the Mohawk castles and the Indian
post at Oghkwaga,* was particulurly exposed. Karly
i the present summer, therefore, a company of
rangers was organized under the command of Cap-
ain Robert M‘ikean. The public service requiring
* As with most other Indian names, there is difficulty respecting tha
worrect orthography of this place. It is spelled Ogquaga, Oghyuaga, and
sometimes Uneaquaga, Brant and Juhn Norton, however, were wout to

spell it Oghkwaga. | have adopted the latter method, as suvportad by
the best authonties.—Author,
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the captain and his little corps elsewhere, the in-
habitants strongly remonstrated with the Committee
of Safety against the removal of that corps, but
without eflect. They next addressed themselves to
the Provincial Congress of New-York, and, by a for-
cible and eloquent appeal, obtained another compa-
ny of rangers to be stationed ::muug them, under
the command of Captain Winn.* These papers
were written with ability, and with the energy of
men in earnest. They had even then received,
through their missionaries, intimations that Sir .Iuhn
Johnson and Colonel John Butler were instigating
the Indians to make a descent upon them ; and al-
ready were the scattered settlers in other and new-
er Iumtmns coming in to Cherry Valley for protec-
tion. Apprehending, also, sudden irruptions of
scalping parties, the aged, and such as from other
causes were exempt from military service. now or-
ganized themselves into a company for the protec-
tion of the settlement.

In the course of the season, General S~huyler
was directed by Congress to cause Fort Stanwix to
be strengthened, and other fortifications to be erect-
ed, at proper places, along the Mchawk River. Col-
onels Van Schaick and Dayton had previously been
stationed in Tryon county with detachments of reg
ular troops—the former at Johnstown, and the latter
at German Flatts. Upon Colonel Dayton was im-
posed the duty of carrying forward the works at
Fort Stanwix, for which purpose the Tryon county
militia were ordered to his assistance. The site of
that military defence had early been improved, as
one of the most important inland posts of the col
onies. It was originally built early in 1758, during
the French war of 1755-61, by General Stanwix, for

* The names of the Cherry Valley Committee who took the lead in
these matters were, John Moore, Samuel Clyde, Samuel Campbell,
Sawiel Dunlop, James Scott, Robert Wells, Jumes Richey, and James
Moore
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the purpose of commanding the carrying-place be
tween the Mohawk River and Wood Creek, leading
into the Oneida Lake, and thence into Lake Ontario,
by the Oswego River. There were several other
fortifications at different points of the narrow strip
of land between the two streams already mention.
ed, such as Fort Bull and Fort Newport; the former
commanding the creek, about three miles distant.
These were strong redoubts ; but Fort Stanwix was
comparatively a formidable work, having its bomb-
proofs, its sally-port, and a covered way to the
spring brook. Altogether these works formed an
ample defence of the key from Upper Canada to the
Mohawk Valley, and were likewise of signal ser-
vice for the protection they afforded to the Indian
trade. But, although the principal fortress had been
erected at the great expense—enormous in those
times—of 266,400 dollars, the commencement of the
war of the Revolution found the whole in ruins.
Colonel Dayton appears to have made but little
progress in rebuilding the fort, since it will be
found that other officers had the works in charge
early in the following year, and they were far from
complete when subsequently invested by the motley
forces of General St. Leger. Colonel Dayton, how-
ever, thought proper to change its name in honour
of the general commanding the Northern depart-
ment, and it was subsequently known as Fort
Schuyler during the residue of the war.*

A rapid glance at the other warlike events of the
season will close the history of the year. Anticipa-
ting, on the evacuation of Boston by General Howe,
that his next point of attack would be New-York,
General Lee was detached by the commander-in-

* There was another Fort Schuyler built on the present site of Utica
during the old French war, and named thus in honour of Colonel Schuy-
ler, an uncle of General Philip Schuyler of the Revolution. The twa
are often confounded in history, and the change in the name of Fort
atanwix was alike unnecessary and nnwise.
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chief with a portion of the army to put Long Island
and the harbour of New-York in a posture of de-
fence. Washington followed soon afterward him-
self, and (,‘H[.ihlhll( d his headquarters in the city.
Having been joined by his brother, Lord Howe, as
commander of the fleet at Halifax, General, after-
ward Sir William Howe, with his re-enforcements,
arrived off Sandy Hook, the latter on the 25th of
June, and the former on the 12th of July. General
Clinton arriving at about the same time from the un-
successful enterprise against Charleston, with Ad-
miral Hotham, the LUIllh]Ili d forces of the enemy
now amounted to about 24,000 men, including the
Hessians.

Lord and Sir Willilam Howe were clothed with
powers, as commissioners, to treat with the colo-
nies for a reconciliation. Their pacific errand was
proclaimed before hostilities were recommenced,
and promises of pardon were proffered to all who
would avail themselves of the royal clemency, and
return to their allegiance and duty. Their proposals,
however, were tU!l.ldt red too L)«.U{fl}lil}llllbliﬂ, both
in matter and form, to receive the least attention.

On the 22d of August the British army was land-
ed upon Long Island, at Gravesend. The American
army, at this time mewlmg of 15,000 men, under
General Sullivan, was encamped 1 the ne whl:-ulll-
hood of Hiuu!\hn The battle of Long Island,
which was severely, though ineffectually, contested
by the American forces under Sullivan .uu‘l Lord
Stirling, was fought on the 27th of August. In this
.utluli, the loss ul the enemy was differently re-
ported at from 300 to 450. The loss of the Ameri-
cans was far more considerable. General Wash-
ington admitted it to be 1000, but is believed only to
have referred to the loss of the regular troops.
General Howe claimed 1097 prisoners, among whom
were Generals Sullivan, Stirling, and Woodhull.
Un the 30th, the Americans effected a masterly re-
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treat across the East River to New-York.* The en.
emy made immediate dispositions for attacking
New-York; and so prompt and skilful were his
movements, that, in a council of general officers, an
evacuation forthwith was deemed the only means
of saving the army. The British fleet was divided
mto two squadrons, one of which entered the East
and the other the North River. Under cover of the
former, Sir Henry Clinton crossed from Long Isl-
and, and landed at Kipp’s Bay, with such celerity
hat the Americans fled in disorder. Indeed, the
evacuation resembled rather a flight than a retreat
all the heavy artillery, military stores, baggage, and
provisions, [alling into the hands of the enemy. A
large portion of the American forces at that time
consisled of mulitia, the conduct of which was scan-
dalous beyond endurance. They deserted, not only
in small numbers, but in companies and squadrons,
whenever they could; and their conduct in the face
of the enemy, or, rather, when running from the faces
of the enemy, was most cowardly. So disorderly
was their demeanour, and so like poltroons did they
behave when flying from Sir Henry Clinton, that
even Washington himself lost his patience, and was
excited to a degree of hot exasperation. In wri-
ting from Harlaem Heights to a friend, Generul
Greene said that two brigades of militia ran away
from about fifty men. leaving the commander-in-
chief on the ground within eighty yards of the ene-
my, so vexed with the conduct of his troops that he
sought death rather than life. Hisattempts to stop
them were fruitless. He drew his sword, and threat-

* During the operations upon Long Island and New-York, Captaix
Brant eontnived to pass from Canada and join the king’s forces. He was
with Goveruor Tryon at Flatbush. The late Mr. John Watts. a brother
in-law of Sir Juhn Johnson, used to speak of taking & walk with Govern-
or Tryon, Colonel Asgill, and Brant, through an orchard in that vil-
lags. During their stroll, Brant plucked a crude crab-apple from o tree,
which, on tasting it, he threw away, screwing his face, and exclaime
g, ** It is us bitter as a Presbyterian !”
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ened to run them through, and cocked and snapped
his pistols. But all his exertions were to no pur-
pose. In a letter upon the subject of this infamous
conduct of the militia to the President of Congress,
the commander-in-chief declared that, were he call-
ed to give his opinion upon oath, he should say that
the militia did more injury to the service than good.

General Greene had strongly urged the destruc-
tion of the city by fire—a measure afterward so ef-
fectively adopted by Count Rostopchin, governor of
the ancient capital of Muscovy, to arrest the career
of Napoleon—that the enemy might be deprived of
he advantage of establishing their winter-quarters
therein. His reasons for this measure were sound,
and it ought, doubtless, to have been adopted.
Washington was believed to be of the same opin-
ion, especially as two thirds of the property which
it was proposed to destroy belonged to undisguised
Loyalists. But Congress would not allow the sacri-
fice ; and on the 15th of September the city was in
full possession of the enemy, General Washington
having retired with the army to King’s Bridge. A
succession of movements, manceuvres, and engage-
ments followed in Westchester, terminating, for the
moment, in the drawn battle of White Plains on the
18th of October.* Washington then divided his ar-
my, and crossed into New-Jersey with a portion,
feaving 7500 troops at North Castle, under General
Lee. The next disaster to the American arms was
the fall of Fort Washington, on the 16th of Novem-
ber, after a brave defence by Colonel Magaw, not-
withstanding the refusal of a portion of his troops Lo
man the lines. That fortress was attacked with
great gallantry at four points, led by General Knyp-
hausen, Matthews, Cornwallis, and Lord Percy.
The regiment of Colonel Rawlings, on that occa-
sion, behaved with great spirit ; nor would Colonel

* The Stockbridge Indians were engaged with the Americans in this
battle, They fought bravely, and suffered severely.
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Magaw have given up the post but for the conduct
of the disaffected. After the fall of Fort Washing-
ton, Lord Cornwallis crossed into New-Jersey with
6000 men for the purpose of attacking Fort Lee, of
which General Lee was then in command. But the
means of this skilful officer were not adequate to the
defence of the post against a force of such unequal
strength ; the people of New-Jersey were at that
time intent rather to make terms with the enemy
than to afford efficient assistance,* and the garrison
was saved by an evacuation. General Washington
had taken post at Newark; but the fall of Forts
Washington and Lee, together with the diminution
of his own strength by the expiration of the term ol
service of his men, obliged him to retreat rapidly
across New-Jersey to the other side of the Dela-
ware. followed so closely by Lord Cornwallis, that
the van of the pursuers was often engaged with the
rear of the pursued.

In addition to this succession of disasters, Sir
Guy Carleton had appeared upon Lake Champlam
with a flotilla superior to that of the Americans un-
der General Arnold, and which seemed to have been
called into existence as if by enchantment. Two
naval engagements followed, on the 11th and 13th
of October, contested with undaunted bravery, but
resulting in the defeat of Arnold, the annihilation
of his flotilla, and the possession of the lake and
Crown Point by the foe. Early in December Rhade
Island also fell into his hands. The forces of the
commander-in-chief, at the same time, numbered
only from two to three thousand men, and scarcely a

* «The conduct of the Jerseys has been most infamous. Iustead of
turning out to defend their country, and affording aid to our army, they
are making submissions as fast as they can, If the Jerseys had given
us any support, we might have made a stand at Hackensael, and after
that at Brunswick : but the few militin that were in arms disbanded
themselves, and left the poor remains of an army to make the best we
could of it."—Letter of Washington to his brother, John Augusini
Washington, Nov. 18, 1776.
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new recruit supplied the place of those whose terms
of service were expiring. And even those recruits
that were furnished were so badly supplied with offi-
cers as almost to extinguish the hupc of forming an
army from which any eflicient services were to be
expected.

Worse than all, a spirit of disaffection was rife in
the States of New-York and New-Jersey, which not
only thwarted the purposes of the mmm.uulu HE
chief, but threatened the most lamentable conse-
quences to the cause. Although there were many
stanch Whigs in Albany and its vicinity, there were
many vigilant Loy alists in that region, ulm continu-
ed to keep in correspondence with the enemy during
nearly the whole contest. In the summer of this
'.(Ltr. General Schuyler had detected a dangerous
plot in the neighbourhood of Albany, and apprehend-
ul some of the ringleaders. JJuuurr the operations

{ the army In the autumn, in New-York and its
ne 1trhhuw}1um1 it was only \nlh the utmost difficulty
that large portions of the fluctuating army could be
kept in the line of duty, while other l(uurv portions
either went off in masses, or proved unfaithful while
they remained. The (.ulltill[,l of the militia at Fort
Washington has been noted. General Greene worte
on 1 ie 5th of November, that the New-York militia,
under Colonel Hawkes Hay, actually refused to do
duty. They said General Howe had promised them
peace, liberty, and safety ; and that was all they
wanted.

These are but few of the discouragements under
which the commander-in-chief was ].Lhmumg. To
borrow his own expressive language in the private
letter to his brother cited in a preceding note, * You

can form no idea of the perplexity of my situation,
No man, I believe, ever had a greater choice of dif-
ficulties, and less means to extricate himself from
them.” Nevertheless, the last sun of that year did
not sink behind so deep a cloud of gloom as had
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been anticipated. 1In the North, General Carleton,
who had occupied Crown Point after the defeat of
Arnold’s flotilla, had returned to Canada without at-
tempting anything farther; and before the close of
the year, the commander-in-chief had the satisfac-
tion to announce that, instead of imitating the bad
example of others, the Continental regiments from
the Eastern States had agreed to remain six weeks
beyond the term of their enlistment. In addition to
which, were the bold return of Washington upon
Trenton, and his brilliant victory over the Hessian
forces at that place on the morning of the 26th of
December. * This well-judged and successful en-
terprise revived the depressed spirits of the colo-
nists, and produced an immediate and happy effect in
recruiting the American army.”

CHAPTER VIII.

Havine secured his prisoners on the Pennsylvania
side of the Delaware, General Washington estab-
lished himself at Trenton. But he was not long
permitted its undisturbed possession. Collecting
his forces, Cornwallis advanced rapidly on the capi-
tal of New-Jersey, where he arrived on the 2d of
January. Some skirmishing ensued towards even-
ing, but both armies encamped for the night without
coming to a general engagement—being separated
only by Assumpinck Creek—and appuarently both
expecting a battle in the morning. The force of the
enemy, however, was t0o great to render it safe
for the American commander-in-chief to hazard an
action. )y an adroit and masterly movement,
therefore, leaving his fires burning, General Wash-
ington succeeded in getting away unperceived, and
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throwing himself into the enemy’s rear. The Lattle
and victory of Princeton followed, and the Amer-
ican army moved to Morristown, while Cornwal.
lis hastened buack to New-Brunswick, and theuce
to New-York, the different detachments of British
troops, which had been scattered through New-Jer-
sey, being at all points discomfited.

Returming from this digression to the Indian rela-
tions of New-York, there is one event to be noted,
the character of which cannot be explained. Among
the manuscripts preserved in the family of the hero
of Oriskany,*® is a speech from the Oneida chiefs to
Colonel Elmore, the officer who, at the commence-
ment of the present yedr, was in the command ot
Fort Schuyler, announcing the final extinguishment
of the great council fire of the Six Nations at Onon-
daga. As the-central nation of the confederacy,
their general councils, time immemorial, had been
holden at the Onondaga Castle, at which, in their
own figurative language, their council fire was evel
kept burning. 'These councils assembled annually
to discuss the exterior relations, and all matters ot
national concernment. ‘I'hey were composed of
chiefs delegaled from each member of the federa-
tive republic, and sometimes numbered as many as
eighty sachems in the assembly. By what means
the event had been accomplished—whether the ca-
lamity was the result of pestilence or war—the
speech of the Oneidas does not inform us ; although
it announces the lall of a large number of the Onon-
duga warriors, in connexion with the catastrophe.
Sull, the transaction is veiled in darkness so thick
as t baflle investigation. The following is the
specch:

“ SpeecH oF THE ONewpA Cuiers 1o Con. ELmore.
: “ Fort Schuyler, Jan. 19th, 1777,
“ Broruer—We are sent here by the Oneida

* Colonsl, afterward General Herkimar.
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chiefs, in conjunction with the Onondagas. They
arrived at our '.1‘I.11:t; yesterday. They gave us the
melancholy news that the grand council fire at
Onondaga was extinguished. We have lost out of
their town by death ninety, among whom are three
principal sachems. We, the remaining part of the
Onondagas, do now inform our brethren that there
is no longer a council fire at the capital of the Six
Nations. However, we are determined to use our
feeble endeavours to support peace through the con-
federate nations. But let this be kept in mind, that
the council fire is extinguished. It 1s of impor-
tance to our well-being That this be imme diately
communicated to General Sc huyler, and likewise to
our brothers the Mohawks. In order to effect this.
we dvpuxjtv this belt with T'ekeyanedonhotte, Colo-
nel Elmore, commander at Fort Schuyler, who is
sent here by General Schuyler to transact .{ll mat-
ters relative to peace. We therefore request him
to forward this intelligence, in the first place, to Gen-
eral Herkimer, desiring him to communicate it to
the Mohawk Castle near to him, and then to Major
Fonda, reque ‘lel‘_f him to imme lelvh communicate
it to the Lower Castle of Mohawks. Let the belt
then be forwarded to General Schuyler, that he
may know that our council fire is extinguished, and
can no longer burn.”

This singular document is worthy of preservation,
not only as the authentic, but as the only account
of the occurrence recorded. It contains a mystery,
however, which cannot now be solved. Still, as no
belligerant events are known to have been enacted
in the Onond iga country during that winter, the
most plausible conjecture would attribute the mor-
tality indicated in the speech to some pestilential
disorder, which might have swept over them, as
with the Schoharie canton eighteen months before.
In the county of Tryon, which now demands our
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chief attention, great uneasiness was again awaken-
ed among the inhabitants towards the close of the
winter, especially in the remoter settlements south
of the Mohawk, by the reported gathering of the
Indians at Oghkwaga. The fact that their numbers
were increasing at that point having been satisfacto-
rily ascertained, Colonel John Harper, of Harpers-
field, was despatched thither by the Provincial Con-
gress of New-York to ascertain their intentions.
Taking every necessary measure of precaution to
guard against surprise, and to be ready for any emer-
gency, by having the officers of his militia regiment
on the alert, Colonel Harper departed upon his mis-
sion, accompanied only by a single white man and
one Indian. He arrived on the 27th of February,
and was well received by the Indians, who manifest-
ed a perfectly friendly disposition towards himself,
and also towards tlhe settlements. So far from ex-
hibiting any belligerant intentions, they expressed
their sorrow for the troubles of the country, and de-
clared their determination to take no part in the
controversy. Satisfied as to tune sincerity of their
professions, although subsequent events proved that
they must have been dissembling, Colonel Harper
supplied the means of a festival, and presented them
with an ox, which was roasted for the occasion.
Colonel John Harper was one of four brothers,
William, John, Alexander, and Joseph Harper, who,
with eighteen others, planted themselves upon a
tract of country, in 1768, which was subsequently
aamed Harpersfield. After his return from this
a1ssion, he was for a time in command of one of
ihe little forts in Schoharie. On one occasion, in
March or April of this year, he took a circuit alone
‘rom Schoharie through the woods to Harpersfield,
and thence, when returning, struck farther to the
westward, towards the head waters of the Susque-
hanna. While ascending a hill, he suddenly saw a
company ol Indians approaching. As tkey 1.ad dis-
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covered him, any attempt to fly would have been ip
vain. They would have shot him down. Having
d greatcoat over his military dress, he made no at
tempt to avoid a meeting, and, in passing, the culo-
nel and the Indians exchanged salutations. In one
of the Indians he recognised Peter, a Mohawk whom
he had formerly seen at Oghkwaga. They did not
recognise him, however, but from his manner of
speech supposed him to be a Loyalist, and, under
that impression, communicated to him the fact that
their destination was to cut off * the Johnstone set.
tlement,” a small Scotch colony on the eastern
shore of the Susquehanna, near Unadilla, or A naqua-
qua, as that place was sometimes called. Having
obtained this information, he changed his course,
and, hurrying back to Harpersfield, collected fifteen
resolute men, with whom he gave chase to the ma-
rauders. In addition to their arms, the colonel
caused each man of his little band to provide him-
self with two days’ provisions and a rope. 1n the
course of the following night, in descending the val-
ley of the Charlotte Liver, they descried the fire
where the Indians were encamped. Halting for a
while to refresh and prepare lor the contest, the
colonel and his men now stole upon the foe with
the utmost caution. It was almost daylight, and
the Indians were in a profound slumber, their arms
being stacked in the middle of their little encamp-
ment. These were carefully removed by Harper
and his party, as a measure of precaution. ‘T'he
moment. for action having arrived, the cords were
made ready, and every Indian, ere he was well
awake, found himself bound and in the grasp of a
foe. When it became light in the morning, Peter
discovered his captor. * Ugh!” he exclaimed :
“ Lolonel Harper! why did | not know you yes-
terday ! The gallant colonel proceeded to Albany
with his prisoners, and surrendered them to the
commanding officer of the station. It was a bold
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and well-execuied achievement, and all the better
that it was bloodless.

Although, as we have seen, Colonel Harper had

arted from the Indians at Oghkwaga upon the most
amicable terms, yet indications of a different temper
were soon afterward manifested by this fickle peo-
ple, of which the movement of Peter, so opportunely
dls{uvuui and intercepted, was the first outbreak
Thayendanegea, likewise, .1|:]wdw:l among them in
the course of the spring, having separated {rom Guy
Johnson, between whom and Illtu:,LlI some tilillLl]iE-)
had occurred. Intelligence of the chieftain’s depar-
ture from Canada, and march across the country to
O:rhlm iga with a large body of warriors, was re-
ceived by the Tryon i ounty Committee early in
M: 1y from Fort HL]IH\I( r, and communicate |I to the
Provincial Congress by its chairman, Isaac Paris.
Not a little additional uneasiness was also occasion-
ed, at the same time, by the spirit discernible among
the Tories. Many of those Loyalists who had ta-
ken their departure the preceding year with Sir
John Johnson had, nevertheless, left their wives and
ehildren in the remote settlements, with whom they
were evidently in communication; while scouting
parties, both of Tories and Indians, were hovering
en the northern outskirts of the county.

The presence of the crafty chieftain at Oghkwaga
did uul improve the pacific disposition of the natives,
as will appear in the sequel, although Brant himself
had |1ut thus far, committed any act ufllm!t.m with-
m the province of New-York. The fact of his hav-
ing borne a part in the battle of the Ceduars seems,
moreover, not to have been known in the Mohawk
Valley, since they were yet uncertain whether it
was his intention to raise the hatchet in the contest
or not.

But these uncertainties were not of long duration.
In the month of June, 1777, the chief of the Mohawks
ascended the b‘unqudl inna from Oghkwaga to Una-
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dilla, attended by seventy or eighty of his warriors,
and requested an interview with the Rev. Mr. John.
stone and the officers of the militia of the neigh-
bourhood. He stated that the object of his visit
was to procure provisions, of which his people were
greatly in want. And such were their necessities,
that, if peaceable means would not answer, the In-
dians must obtain them by force.

Advantage was taken of the interview to sound
the chief as to his future intentions—whether he
was for peace or for war; and his answers were far
less difficult of solution than the riddle of the
Sphinx. He complained of the ill-treatment which,
as he alleged, some of the Mohawks, who had re-
mained behind on the flight of the majority of the
nation, had received at the hands of the Whigs,
The Mohawks, he said, were as free as the air they
breathed, and were determined to remain so: and
they could not brook it that any of their brethren
should be seized and imprisoned, as had been the
case at the Castle.* These, he demanded, should
be set at liberty, and suffered to remove from the
country. In regard to the question of peace or war,
he said the Mohawks were always warriors ; that
their agreement with the king was very strong, and
they were not such villains as to break their cove-
nant.

The visit continued two days, during which time
the Indians were well supplied with provisions, and
on their departure permitted to take away some live
cattle and sheep. The inhabitants, however, scat-
tered and few, and quite remote from any consider
able settlement, no longer feeling themselves safe
in their houses, sought protection in places of great-
er “Hllll‘-,——plllltl]m“‘, in Cherry Valley, the plfur
of their first location, whence they had removed, a
few years before, into the vale of the Susquehanna.
' Probably on suspicion of maintaining correspondence with the ent
]
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Some of the scattered settlers in the Unadilla region
fled to the German Flatts, and others, probably, to
the older towns upon the Hudson.

The Indian forces of Captain Brant continning to
merease at Oghkwaga, and the anxiety of the people
becoming greater with every report from that quar-
ter, General Herkimer determined to repair thither
and obtain an interview. For this purpose the gen-
eral despatched a messenger to that place, and in-
vited the chief to meet him at Unadilla; moving for-
ward himself, at the same time, at the head of about
three hundred of the local militia, from the regi-
ments of Colonels Cox, Klock, and Isenlord, well
armed and provided. The precise object of the gen-
eral in seeking this interview with Brant remains
to this day more a matter of conjecture than of cer-
tainty. The few scattered fragments of Herkimer’s
correspondence which have fallen into the hands of
the writer show that it was no sudden movement ;
but, on the contrary, that General Schuyler, Colonel
Van Schaick, Colonel Harper, and others, were con-
sulted upon the subject. On the application of Her-
kimer, Colonel Van Schaick was detached to his as-
sistance, on the 15th of June, with one hundred and
fifty men, with which force he repaired to Cherry
Valley, but could proceed no farther, for want of
provisions. General Schuyler was also to repair
thither in person, in the event of his presence being
deemed necessary. Ostensibly, the expedition was
one of peace; but the extent of the preparations,
and the physical strength of the expedition, impart-
ed an equivocal character to the movement; not
more so, however, than was the conduct of Brant
luring the whole spring, since his proceedings were
such as to keep the minds of the people in a state of
everish excitement and uncertainty. Thus, on the
l0th of June, Colonel Harper wrote urgently to
weneral Herkimer for a supply of ammunition, in
he expectation of an immediate hostile irruption o*
o—11
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Brant into the valley of the Schoharie Kill. On the
13th, the Cherry Valley Committee wrote to the
general a still more alarming letter. Brant, accord-
ing to this statement, in connexion with some of
the Loyalists of Unadilla, had marked a path direct-
ly through the forest to Asopus, by which route the
Tories of Ulster and Orange couniies were to join
his forces at Oghkwaga; at which place the chief
had vaunted that shortly he would not fear the ap-
proach of three thousand men. On the other hand,
Major Fonda wrote,on the 19th of June, that an em-
bassy of chiefs and sachems of the Cayuga and Sen-
eca nations, having repaired to Oghkwaga to re-
monstrate with Thayendanegea against farther hos-
tilities, the latter had determined to listen to their
councils, and withdraw into the Cayuga country. In
pursuance of this policy, it was added, on what was
esteemed good authority, that the Mohawk chief
had released a prisoner with his own hands, telling
the captors that they had acted wrong.

Such was the uncertain condition of things when
the expedition under consideration was commenced.
Brant and Herkimer had been near neighbours and
personal friends before the troubles came on, and it
18 possible the general still cherished a belief that
he might yet detach the dusky warrior from the
cause he had embraced, but, nevertheless, might not
be disinclined to relinquish. Perhaps he designed
nothing more than to drive him from his equivocal
position. Perhaps, also, should opportunity be pre-
sented, it was his intention to seize his person.
But be these suppositions as they may, it will be
seen that there was at least one moment in which
he contemplated a more decisive course.

It was a full week after the arrival of General
Herkimer at Unadilla before Captain Brant made
his appearance. He came to the neighbourhood of
the general’'s encampment, accompanied by five
hundred warriors. Having halted, he despatched &
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runner to General Hetkimer with a message, desi-
ring to be informed of Jie object of his visit. Gen-
eral Herkimer replied tnat he had merely come to
gee and converse with ins brother, Captain Brant.
The quick-witted messeuvger inquired if all those
men wished to talk to his ¢hief too. However, he
said to the general that he would carry his talk back
to his chief: but he charg.=d him that he must not
cross the field upon the margin of which they were
standing, and departed. But an arrangement was
soon made, through the agency of messengers, by
which a meeting was effected. The scene exhibit-
ed at this interview, as related by those who were
present at it, was novel and imposing. The hostile
parties were now encamped within the distance of
two miles from each other. About midway between
their encampments a temporary shed was erected,
sufficiently extensive to allow some two hundred
persons to be seated. By mutual stipulation, their
arms were to be left in their respective encamp-
ments. Soon after the adjustment of the prelimina-
ries and the completion of the fixtures above men-
tioned, the chief of the Mohawks appeared in the
edge of the distant forest and approached the place
designated, already in the occupation of Herkimer,
somewhat warily, accompanied by Captain Bull (a
Tory), William Johnson (son of Sir William, by
Brant's sister Mary), a subordinate chief of the Mo-
hawks, an Indian woman, and about forty warriors.
After some little parleying, a circle was formed by
General Herkimer, into which Brant and the gener-
al entered, together with the other Indian chief and
two of Herkimer's officers. After the interchange
of a few remarks, the chieftain, keeping an eagle
eye upon his visiter, inquired the reason of his be-
ing thus honoured. General Herkimer replied as
he had done to the avant-courier, that he had come
to see him on a friendly visit. “ And all these have
come on a friendly visit too!” replied the chief.
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« A]l want to see the poor Indians, it is very kind,"
he added, with a sarcastic curl of the lip. General
Herkimer expressed a desire to go forward to the
village, but the chief told him he was quite ner
enough, and that he must not proceed any farther,

The general next endeavoured to enter Into a con-
versation with the Mohawk touching the difficulties
with England, in order to ascertain his feelings and
intentions. The conference now became earnest
and animated, although the chief at first gave Her-
kimer evasive answers. To a question, however,
put to him directly, he finally replied, “ That the In-
dians were in concert with the king, as their fa-
thers had been ; that the king’s belts were yet lodg-
ed with them, and they could not violate their
pledge ; that General Herkimer and his followers
had joined the Boston people against their sovereign;
that, although the Boston people were resolute, the
king would humble them; that General Schuyler
was very smart on the Indians at the treaty of Ger-
man Flatts, but, at the same time, was not able to af-
ford the smallest article of clothing ; and, finally,
that the Indians had formerly made war on the
white people when they were all united; and, as
they were now divided, the Indians were not fright-
ened.”

Colonel Cox, who was in the suite of General
Herkimer, then made a few remarks, the substance
of which was, that if such was the fixed determina-
tion of the Indians, nothing farther need be said.
But his manner, or some of the expressions uttered
oy the colonel, which have not been prese rved, gave
offence to the chief. He was exceedingly irritated;
ind, by a signal to the warriors attending him at a
short distance, they ran back to their encampment,
and soon afterward appeared again with their rifles,
several of which were discharged, while the shrill

war-whoop rang through the forest. Meantime
however, by explanatious or otherwise, the chief
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was soothed and his warriors were kept at a proper
distance, although the demand of General Herkimer
for the surrender of sundry Tories was peremptorily
refused. The conference ended by an agreement
between the parties to meet again at 9 o'clock the
following morning. General Herkimer and his
forces, forbidden to advance any farther, encamped
as before.

The next morning General Herkimer called one
of his most trusty men aside, Joseph Waggoner by
name, for the purpose of communicating to him a
matter of great importance, respeeting which the
most profound secrecy was enjoined. He then in-
formed Waggoner that he had selected him and
three others to perform a high and important duty,
requiring promptness, courage, and decision. His
design, the general said, was to take the lives of
Brant and his three attendants on the renewal of
their visit that morning. For this purpose, he should
rely upon Waggoner and his three associates, on
the arrival of the chief and his friends within the
circle as on the preceding day, each to select his
man, and, at a concerted signal, shoot them down
upon the spot. There is something so revolting—
so rank and foul—in this project of meditated treach-
ery, that it is difficult to reconcile it with the known
character of General Herkimer. And yet it is giv-
en on the written authority of Waggoner himself,
whose character was equally respectable. The pa-
triotic veteran, in devising such a scheme, had
probably reasoned himself into the belief that the
intended victims were only Indians, and that in the
emergency of the country it would be justifiable to
do evil that good might come. It was, however, a
most reprehensible scheme. Indian that he was,
Jere is no known act of perfidy chargeable upon
Brant; and he had met Herkimer on his own invi-
tation. A betrayal of his confidence, under those
circumstances, would have brought a stain upon the
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character of the Provincials, which all the waters
of the Mohawk could not have washed away.

Fortunately, however, the design was not carried
into execution. Whether the wary chieftain enter-
tained any suspicions of foul play, is not known,
But certain it is, that his precaution and his bearing,
when he arrived at Herkimer’s quarters, were such
as to frustrate the purpose. As he eutered the
circle, attended as before, he drew himself up with
dignity, and addressed General Herkimer as fol-
lows: *I have five hundred warriors with me,
armed and ready for battle. Youare in my power;
but as we have been friends and neighbours, I will
not take the advantage of you.” At asignal, a host
of his armed warriors darted forth from the con-
tiguous forest, all painted and ready for the on
slaught, as the well-known war-whoop but too
clearly proclaimed. The chief continued the dis-
course by advising the general to go back to his
own home ; thanked him for his civility in coming
thus far to see him, and told him that perhaps he
might one day return the compliment. Meantime,
he said he would go back to his village, and for the
present, the general might rest assured that no hos-
tilities should be committed by the Indians. He
then requested that the Rev. Mr. Stuart, the English
missionary at Fort Hunter, might be permitted to
retire into Canada, as also the wife of Colonel But-
ler. To these requests General Herkimer assented,
although the latter was not complied with. He
then presented the Indians with ten or a dozen
heads of cattle, which they fell upon and slaughter-
ed incontinently. Brant himsell turned proudly
away, and buried himself in the forest; while Gen-
eral Herkimer struck his tents, and retraced his
steps to the valley of the Mohawk.

This was the last conference held with the hos-
tile Mohawks. Their chief very soon afterward
drew off his warriors from the Susquehanna, and
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anited them to the forces of Sir John Johnson and
Colonel John Butler, who were concentrating the
Tories and refugees at Oswego. It was at about
the same period that the officers of the British In
dian department had summoned a general council
of the Six Nations, to be held at that place; and it
is probable that Brant arrived at the post with his
warriors for that occasion. According to Ramsay,
the invitations to this council were sent forth by
Guy Johnson, the Indians being requested (o as-
semble “ to eat the flesh and drink the blood of a
Bostonian.” This language was understood figura-
tively, however—the roasting of an ox and a ban-
quet being intended.

The discussions were protracted, nor were the
entreaties of the commissioners of any avail against
the resolution of the Indians to maintain their good
faith, until they addressed their avarice, * by telling
them that the people of the colonies were few i1
number, and would be easily subdued ; and that, on
account of their disobedience to the king, they
justly merited all the punishment that it was pos-
sible for white men and Indians to inflict upon them.
The king,” they said, ** was rich and powerful, both
in money and subjects. His rum was as plenty as
the water in Lake Ontario, and his men as numer-
ous as the sands upon its shore; and the Indians
were assured that, if they would assist in the war,
and persevere in their friendship for the king until
its close, they should never want for goods or mon-
ey.” Overcome by their persevering importuni-
ties, and by more direct and palpable appeals to
their senses, 1n a rich display of tawdry articles
calculated to please their fancies, the Indians proved
recreant to their plighted faith to the colonies, and
concluded a treaty of alliance with Great Britain,
binding themselves to take up the hatchet against
the rebels, and continue in his majesty’s service un-
til they were subdued
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At the close of the treaty, each Indian was pre.
sented with a suit of clothes, a brass kettle, a gun,
a tomahawk and scalping-knife, a quantity of am.
munition, a piece of gold, and the promise of a
bounty upon every scalp they should bring in,
“ Thus richly clad and equipped, the Indians return.
ed to their respective homes, after an absence of
about two weeks, full of the fire of war, 2nd anxious
to encounter their (new-made) enemies.”

From that day Thayendanegea was the acknowl
edged chief of the Six Nations, and soon became
one of the master-spirits of the motley forces em-
ployed by Great Britain in her attempts t0 recover
the Mohawk Valley, and to annoy the other settle-
ments of what then constituted the Northwestern
frontier. Whether in the conduct of a campaigu
or of a scouting-party, in the pitched battle or the
foray, this crafty and dauntless chieftain was sure
to be one of the most efficient—as he was one of
the bravest—of those who were engaged. Com-
bining with the native hardihood and sagacity of his
race the advantages of education and of civilized
life—in acquiring which, he had lost nothing of his
activity or his power of endurance—he became the
most formidable border foe with whom the Provin-
cials had to contend, and his name was a terror to
the land. His movements were at once S0 Secrel
and so rapid, that he seemed almost to be clothed
with the power of ubiquity.

The first of his hostile demonstrations within the
colony of New-York is believed to have been made
i1 the month of May preceding the interview with
(veneral Herkimer ; although, from the semi-pacific
intercourse maintained with him for several weeks
longer, the fact was not then certainly known. The
settlement of Cherry Valley was commenced in
1739 ; and, in consequence of some threatened In-
dian troubles, a detachment of troops had been
stationed there as early as 1763. But no military
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works were erected, and the breaking out of the
war of the Revolution found the place defenceless.
While Brant was collecting his warriors at Ogh
kwaga, however, the inhabitants bethought them-
selves of the necessity of defences. But not hav-
ing the means to undertake the erection of any
formidable work, the house of Colonel Samuel
Campbell was selected as the largest, strongest, and
most eligibly situated for military purposes. A
rude embankment of logs and earth was thrown up
around this building, so extended in its dimensions
as likewise to include two large barns. These
buildings were all strengthened, and provided with
doors and window-shutters bullet-proof. Small block
houses were also erected within the enclosure ; and
to this place, in moments of peril and alarm, the in-
habitants fled for protection. Martial law was pro-
claimed, and no persons were allowed either to
enter or leave the settlement without permission.
Towards the close of May, and soon after these
precautionary measures had been executed, Brant
conceived the idea of making a descent upon the
settlement, for the purpose of either killing or ma-
king captive the principal inhabitants, especially the
vigilant members of the committee. It has been
stated in a former page that, among the precaution-
ary measures adopted the preceding year, the ex-
empts from military duty had organized themselves
into a vowunteer company. The martial fever, of
course, descended from sire to son ; and as the popu-
lation had been considerably augmented by the ar-
rival of distant settlers for safety, a goodly number
of boys were collected, who formed a corps of ca-
dets, with no better armour than wooden swords and
guns. These juvenile soldiers happened to be pa-
rading upon the esplanade in front of Colonel Camp-
bell’s house at the very hour, one bright sunny
morning, when Braut and his party of warriors, who
had secretly arrived from Oghkwaga, were recon-
VorL. [.—0
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noitring the post under shelter of a tangled thickat
skirting the brow of a hill about a mile distant. His
vision being somewhat obstructed by the intercept-
ing shrubbery, the chief mistook the lads for bona
fide soldiers. Observing the semblance of a forti-
fication before described, Captain Brant moved his
party to a convenient lurking-place near the road
leading to the Mohawk River, and there lay in am-
bush for the purpose of obtaining such imformation
as might chance to come in his way. A short dis-
tance from where the chief lay ensconced behind a
large rock, *the road wound along near the edge
of a cliff, overhanging a rocky glen of one hundred
and fifty feet deep. ‘I'his chasm was shaded by
evergreens, and the whole scene was shadowy, and
almost dark, even at midday. The wildness of the
place was increased by the dashing of a mountain
torrent into the gloomy abyss, called by the Indians
the Falls of Tekaharawa.”

It chanced that, on the morning of that day, Lieu-
tenant Wormwood, a promising young officer from
Palatine, of an opulent family, had been despatched
to Cherry Valley, with information to the authori-
ties that a detachment from Colonel Klock’s regi-
ment of militia was to march to their defence on
the following day. It was towards evening that
Lieutenant Wormwood started on his return to the
Mohawk, accompanied by the bearer of some de-
spatches,named Peter Sitz. As he mounted his horse
in the village, he threw down his portmanteau, re-
marking that he need not to take it, as he should re-
turn on the next morning with his company. He
was well mounted, and richly dressed “in a suit of
ash-coloured velvet, which attracted much attention
during his stay;” and many persons remained al
the door, looking at the noble bearing of the young
yatriot, until he disappeared behind the crest of the
ﬁill in the direction of the Tekaharawa. Scarcely,
however, had the clattering of hoofs died away
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upon their ears, before a discharge of musketry re-
sounded from the glen, the qtanhng report bemg
speedily followed by the soldier’s horse returning
at full speed, the saddle crimsoned with blood.
Suspicions of the most painful description at once
flashed upon the minds of the people, and a party
was immediately despatched to investigate the cir-
cumstances. They returned without success that
mghl, but on the ('c:lluwmg morning the body of
Wormwood was found behind the rock heretofore
described, scalped and lifeless. It afterward ap-
peared that, as Wormwood and Sitz approached the
rock, they were hailed, but instead of answering,
they put spurs to their horses and endeavoured to
pass. Being fired upon, Lieutenant Wormwood
fell wounded, as did the horse of Sitz. The Indians
rushed forth from their ambuscade, and Sitz was
made prisoner, while the gallant officer was scalped
by Brant’s own hand. The chief is said to have
lamented the death of this young man. They were
not only acquaintances, but friends; and he had
been fired upon under the supposition that he was
an officer of the Continental army. The despatches
carried by Sitz were double, and it was fortunate
that he had sufficient presence of mind to destroy
the genuine, and deliver the delusive papers to his
savage captors. Deceived thereby as to the real
strength at Cherry Valley, Brant retired without
commitiing .m} farther act of hostility. Colonel
Klock arrived at Cherry Valley on the following
:mumug, aunmpamul by the .l]“l{,lt;‘ father of the

slaughtered officer, who was mourned and wept by
d” who knew him.

Another coincident event, forming an appropriate
conclusion to the present chapter, was the tragic
death of the great Shawanese chief, Cornstock, with
his gallant son, Ellimipsico; both of whom will be
remembered as among the brave Indian leaders at
the battle of the Kanhawa, the last action of the
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Cresap war, in 1774 ; and both of whom were now
as basely murdered by white men as were the family
of Logan. Cornstock, after the defeat of his war-
riors at Point Pleasant, and his subsequent treaty of
peace with Lord Dunmore, had become sincerely
and truly the friend of tne colonies ; and while the
Indians of the Northwest, generally, were preparing
to take up arms with the English, he exerted himself
to the utmost to prevent his own nation from any par-
ticipation in the contest. But the influence of the
British agents, and the example of the surrounding
Indian nations, were so powerful upon the minds of
the Shawanese, that Cornstock perceived his pacific
efforts were likely to prove futile. Thus circum-
stanced, he repaired to the fort which had been
erected at Point Pleasant after the battle of the
Kanhawa, to lay the matter before the officer in
command—Captain Arbuckle—and take his advice.
He was accompanied on this mission by a young
Delaware chief named Redhawk, who had also fought
by his side in the Cresap war. Having made a full
development of the state of Indian affairs i the
Northwest, and frankly admitted that, from the
causes already indicated, he should be unable to pre-
vent the Shawanese from taking up the hatchet in
the cause of the crown, the commander of the fort
deemed it expedient to detain the old chief, with his
Delaware companion, as hostages for the good con-
duct of their people. Nor did they remain unwill-
ingly, little anticipating the fate that awaited them,
and giving all the information respecting the In-
dians and their country, that could be desired by the
Americans.

Uneasy at the protracted absence of his father,
Ellinipsico, his son, went in pursuit, and traced him
to the fort, where they had an affectionate meeting.
Unfortunately, the day after the arrival of the young
warrior at Point Pleasant, two white men having
crossed the Kanhawa on a hunting expedition, were
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fred upon by some straggling Indians, and one of
them, whose name was Gilmore, was Killed. 'I_‘]‘w
other escaped. No sooner was the event of Gil-
more’s death known, than the cry of revenge was
raised, and a party of ruffians assembled, under the
command of a Captain Hall, not to pursue and punisl:
the perpetrators of the murder, but to fall upon !,]lr
friendly and peaceable Indians in the fort. Arming
themselves, and cocking their rifles, they proceeded
directly to the little garrison, menacing death to any
or all who should oppose their nefarious designs.
Some friend of the hostage-chiefs attempted to ap-
prize them in advance of the approaching danger;
but the savage mob were probably too close upon
the heels of the messenger to allow of their escape.
At the sound of the clamour without, Ellinipsico is
said to have been somewhat agitated. Not so the
veteran Cornstock. He had too often grappled with
death on the war-path to fear his approaches now.
Perceiving the emotion of his son, he calmly ob-
served, *“ My son, the Great Spirit has seen fit that we
should die together, and has sent you to that end. It
is his will, and let us submit.” 'The infuriated mob
had now gained the apartment of the victims ; Corn-
stock fell, perforated with seven bullets, and died
without a struggle. The son, after the exhortation
of his father, met his fate with composure, and was
shot on the seat upon which he was sitting. Red-
hawk, the young Delaware, died with less fortitude.
He hid himself away, but was discovered and slain.
Another friendly Indian,in the fort at the time, was
likewise killed, and his body mangled by the barba-
rians in @ manner that would have disgraced savages
of any other complexion.

It argues a sad deficiency of military discipline,
that such a foul transaction could occur at any reg-
ularly-established post. The command of Arhuckle,
however, must have been small, inasmuch as he was
not only opposed te the commission of the outrage,
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but sallied forth, in company with another captain,
named Stuart, for the purpose of intercepting the
ruffians, and preventing the execution of their pur.
pose. Butall remonstrance was vain. The enraged
assailants, pale, and quivering with fury, presented
their rifles to the breasts of those officers, threaten-
ing them with instant death if they stood in their way,

The Indian biography of our country supplies but
few additional facts concerning the life of this brave
and just man. He had a son, known among the
whites as The Wolf, whose name was somewhat
conspicuously associated with the earlier events of
the Revolution. The Wolf, with three others, was
a hostage at Williamsburg, Virginia, at the time of
Lord Dunmore’s embarcation on board of the British
fleet. After the escape of his lordship, he solicited
and obtained an interview with The Wolf and his as-
sociates on board of his ship; during which he ex-
plained to them the causes of his flight, and urged
them to flee also, as the only means of escaping the
fury of the revolutionists. Adopting this council,
they took to the woods on returning to the shore.
The night following came on excessively dark. One
of The Woll’s companions separated from his fel-
lows and was lost. The others soon after returned
to Williamsburg, where they were well received by
the inhabitants. What farther befell The Woll, or
the house of Cornstock, is not known.

CHAPTER IX.

Havine failed in their efforts to extinguish the re-
bellion during the preceding year, the government
of the parent country resolved to put forth still
greater vnergies during the present. For this pur-
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pose, a powerful force was organized in Canada, the
command of which was transferred from Sir Guy
Carleton—the ablest British general, by-the-way, at
that time or subsequently in America—and con-
ferred upon General Burgoyne, an officer, also, of
unquestioned merit, whose spirit of enterprise and
thirst for military glory could not be exceeded. It
was the aim of this Northern army to opén a com-
munication between Canada and New-York, thus
cutting off New-England. which the ministry justly
considered the hotbed of the Revolution, from ali
communication with the Middle States; while Si
William Howe, with an army of 16,000 men, was t
withdraw from New-Jersey, and move round simul
taneously to the Chesapeake, and take possessiol

of the Middle States; and thus, as it was hoped

compel the whole to return to their allegiance.

Doubts, however, for several months hung over
the intentions of the enemy, whose designs were so
skilfully veiled as for a long time almost to para-
lyze the exertions of the Americans. The retreat
of Carleton from Lake Champlain, the preceding
autumn, even after the lake was in his power and
Crown Point in his possession, suggested a doubt
whether a serious invasion was meditated from that
quarter. On the contrary, the impression was gen-
eral that the expedition of Burgoyne was destined
against Boston ; and that Sir William Howe, whose
movements in New-Jersey were enigmatical to per-
plexity, was to co-operate in an effort to resubjugate
New-England. The British government itself, as it
is believed, contributed to the distractions of Con-
gress and the American commander, by causing re-
ports to be circulated that Boston was to be the next
point of attack. Arthur Lee, being then in France,
was thus confidentially advised, and lost no time in
communicating such supposed intention to the Se-
cret Committee of Congress, who, in turn, gave the
ilke information to the commander-in-chief, and alsc
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0 the Legislature of Massachusetts. The conse-
quence of these distractions was unfortunate for the
Americans. Less attention was paid to preparations
for the defence of the North than otherwise would
have been given; while Massachusetts, apprehend-
ing that all her strength would be required for her
own defence, set about raising troops for her own
protection, at the expense of the main army, from
which its quota of recruits was withheld.

Before the close of June, however, the designs of
the enemy in regard to the North became obvious,
A person from Canada, arrested as a spy, and brought
before General Schuyler, stated, on his examination,
¢ that the British forces were approaching St. John's,
and were to advance through Lake Champlain under
General Burgoyne; and also that a detachment of
British troops, Canadians, and Indians, was to pene-
trate the country by the way of Oswego and the Val-
ley of the Mohawk. He added many particulars re-
specting the strength and arrangements of the British
army, which turned out in the end to be nearly ac-
curate, but of which no intelligence had before been
obtained, or by many anticipated.”

The movements of General Howe were still equiv-
ocal, even after Burgoyne had commenced his de
scent upon the North, thus adding to the embarrass.
ments of Washington. And in order the more cer-
tainly to mislead the American commander as to his
real intentions, General Howe wrote a feigned de-
spatch to Burgoyne on the subject of ascending the
Hudson to join him, the bearer of which fell pur-
posely into the hands of the Americans, while pre-
tending to be on his way to Canada, Unable, there-
fore, to determine whether such might not be his
lesign (although the intercepted despatch was re-
garded with strong suspicion), or whether, on the
other hand, it might not be the purpose of Howe to
pass round to the Chesapeake and thence strike at
Philadelphia, the American general was compelled
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\0 remain inactively watching his motions, strength-
ening, in the mean time, to the utmost of 11'15_; power,
his positions in the Highlands, without being able
to detach any large number of troops to the assist-
ance of General Schuyler, then commanding the
Northern department, And even after General
Howe had embarked his troops and dropped down
to Sandy Hook—having evacuated New-Jersey on
the 3oth of June—Washington was still in doubt
whether it might not yet be his intention to return
with the tide, and pass up the river in the night.
Such, however, was no part of the plan of the British
commander. His destination, on leaving the har-
bour of New-York, was the Chesapeake and Phila-
delphia; and the latter branch of the campaign, in-
dicated in the opening of the present chapter, was
<o far successful, that, after a series of victories over
the forces of General Washington, commencing at
Brandywine and ending at Germantowi, General
Howe took possession of, and established himself
in, the capital of Pennsylvania.

But a far different fortune attended the arms of
3urgoyne. The regular troops of his command.
inglish and German, amounted to above seven
housand men, added to which were large numbers
o American and Canadian Loyalists, together with
many hundred Indians: a species of force which, 1t
has been held by British historians, Sir Guy Carleton
wis reluctant to employ, while General Burgoyne
it has been alleged, entertained no such scruples.

Never, probably, at the time, had there been an ar-
my of equal numbers better appointed than that of
Burgoyne. The train of brass artillery, in particu-
lar, was perhaps the finest that had ever been allot-
ted to an army not far exceeding the present in -
merical strength, and for a time victory seemed to
perch upon his ensigns.

General Carleton, it will be remembered, had
made himself master of Lake Champlain, and the
o—12
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fortifications at Crown Point, the autumn before,
The first object for attack presenting itself to Gen.
eral Burgoyne, therefore, was Ticonderoga, situated
in the mountain gap through which the waters of
Lake George fall into Lake Champlain. This for-
tress was then in command of General St. Clair
and was supposed by the Americans to be a post of
great security. The principal fortress, the ruins of
which are yet standing in frowning and ruggec
strength, was situated on an angle of land surround
ed on three sides by water filled with rocks. A grea
part of the south side was covered by a deep mo
rass ; and where that failed, in the northwest quar
ter, the old French lines served as a defence.
These lines had been strengthened by additional
works and a blockhouse. The Americans had
other defences and blockhouses in the direction of
Lake George, together with two new blockhouses
and some other works, to the right of the French
lines. Still greater pains had been taken in fortify-
ing the high circular hill on the eastern shore of
the inlet opposite, known as Mount Independence,
On the summit of this mountain, which is table
land, the Americans had erected a star-fort, encle
sing a large square of barracks, well fortified, and
supplied with artillery. The foot of the mountai,
on the west side projecting into the water, was
strongly intrenched to its edge, and the intrench-
ment lined with heavy artillery. These lower
works were sustained and covered by a battery
about half way up the side of the mountain, and
were connected by a bridge across the inlet, which
had been constructed at great labour and expense.
These, and other works of defence, had been judged
sufficient to render the post secure. The command-
er-in-chief himself, although, indeed, the works had
not fallen under his own inspection, had formed a
very erroneous opinion of their strength, or per-
haps, to speak more correctly, of the natural advan-
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tages of the position, and of the defensibility of the
works. Such, in fact, was his confidence in the
post, that the idea of its loss seems, from his corre-
spondence, scarce to have entered his mind.

But in all their labours the American engineers
had overlooked the high peak or mountain called
Sugar Hill, situated south of the bridge, on the
point of land at the confluence of the waters of
Lakes George and Champlain. Originally it had
been supposed and taken for granted that the crest
of Sugar Hill was not only inaccessible, but too dis-
tant to be of any avail in covering the main fortress.
This opinion was an error, to which the attention
of the officers had been called the preceding year
by Colonel John Trumbull, then adjutant-general for
the Northern department. When Colonel Trum-
bull made the suggestion, he was laughed at by the
mess ; but he soon proved the greater accuracy of
his own vision by throwing a cannon-shot to the
summit ; and subsequently clambered up to the top,
daccompanied by Colonels Wayne and Arnold. It
was a criminal neglect on the part of the Americans
that the oversight was not at once corrected by the
construction of a work upon that point, which would
lave commanded the whole post.

General Burgoyne arrived at Crown Point on the
21st of June ; and after meeting and feasting the In-
dians, and attempting to instruct them in the rules
and principles of civilized war, and making other
necessary preparations—not forgetting to send forth
a manifesto which he supposed would spread terror
through the Northern colonies—he advanced with
great caution to the investment of Ticonderoga
where he arrived on the 2d of July. Most unac
countably, the Americans immediately abandoned
all their works in the direction of Lake George,
setting fire to the blockhouses and sawmills; and,
without sally or other interruption, permitted the
enemy, under Major-general Philips, to take pos-
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session of the very advantageous post of Mount
Hope, which, besides commanding their lines in a
dangerous degree, totally cut off their communica-
tion with Lake George. The onl} excuse for such
an early abandonment of this important point, wa
found in the fact that General St. Clair had not
force enough to man all his defences.

One of the first objects that attracted the atten-
tion of the British commander was the unoccupied
point of Sugar Hill. It was forthwith examined,
and its advantages were found to be so great, that
immediate dispositions were made for its occupa-
tion. A winding road was cut to its summit, a bat-
tery commenced, and cannon to serve it transport-
ed thither. Under these circumstances, finding
himself invested on all sides, and batteries ready to
be opened upon him not only from around, but
above ; and having, moreover, not half troops enough
to man his works, St. Clair hastily convened a coun-
cil of war on the 5th of July, and an evacuation was
unanimously decided upon as the only alternative
for the emergency.

Following up such a promising advantage, the
British commander pushed forward upon the reti-
ring army with such a degree of vigour, that the re-
treat became almost a rout. The Americans, how-
ever, made a stand between Skenesborough and
Fort Anne in a well-contested battle, but, after
much hard fighting, were again compell led to retreat.
Another engagement ensued at Fort Anne with a
like result; and the victorious Briton entered the
valley of the Hudson, and took possession of Fort
Edward, which, weak and unprovided, had likewise
been uv(mu.m.d on his approach by General Schuy-
ler.

These movements by the British commander had
been made with equal vigour and celerity ; and
such was the confusion of the Americans in thei:
flight, that no advices of the disaster were forward-




AMERICAN REVOLUTION 181

ed by express to General Schuyler to prepare him
for the approach of the victors. Indeed, that offi-
cer was suffered to remain several days without in-
telligence from St. Clair of any description, except-
ing some vague flying rumours of the evacuation.
During this suspense, General Schuyler wrote to
the commander-in-chief upon the subject, who, in
turn, expressed his amazement at the mystery which
seemed to hang over the affairs of the fortress. At
one moment Washington was led to believe that
St. Clair and the whole garrison had been made
prisoners, and at another that the rumour of the
evacuation was wholly untrue ; and that the silence,
for which it baffled conjecture to account, arose from
the circumstance that the Americans were shut up
in their works.  But this doubt did not continue long.
Notwithstanding that the advance of the enemy was
repulsed at Fort Anne, Colonel Long, who was in
command of that post, immediately evacuated it,
contrary to the express orders of General Schuyler ;
and Schuyler himself, at the head of only fifteen
hundred men at Fort Edward, * without provision,
with little ammunition, not above five rounds to a
man, having neither balls nor lead to make any, and
the country in the deepest consternation,” was
obliged also to fall back in the direction of Albany.
The blow was a severe one, but the commander-in-
chiefl possessed a soul equal to every crisis. No
undue elevation of spirit followed his successes ; nei-
ther did the clouds of adverse fortune, so frequently
darkening the prospect of the American arms, sink
him into despondency. Indeed, each succeeding
calamity was but another test of his moral great-
ness, for he rose above them all.

Nothing, however, could exceed the terror which
these events diffused among the inhabitants, not
only of Northern New-York, but of the New-Eng-
land States. The consternation WAS, IMOreover, in-
creased by the reported murders and the cruelties of
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the savages, since all the efforts of General Bur-
goyne to dissuade them from the perpetration of
their eruel enormities were ineffectual. Restrain
them he could not; and it was admitted by the Brit-
ish writers of that day, that the friends of the roy-
al cause, as well as its enemies, were equally vic-
tims to their indiscriminate rage. It was even as-
certained that the British officers were deceived by
their treacherous allies into the purchase of the
scalps of their own comrades.

Among other instances of cruelty, the weli-
known murder of Miss Jane M‘Crea, which happen-
ed in the early part of the campaign, filled the pub-
lic mind with horror. Every circumstance of this
unnatural and bloody transaction—around which
there lingers a melancholy interest to this day—
served to heighten alike its interest and its enormi-
ty. Many have been the versions of this bloody tale.
General Gates, who had at this juncture been direct-
ed to supersede General Schuyler in the command
of the Northern department, assailed General Bur-
goyne in the newspapers with great virulence upon
the subject of these outrages. After charging the
British commander with encouraging the murder of
prisoners, and the massacre of women and children,
by paying the Indians a stipulated price for scalps,
Gates, in a letter addressed to General Burgoyne,
thus spoke of the case now specially under consider-
ation : “*Miss M'Crea, a young lady lovely to the
sight, of virtuous character and amiable disposition,
engaged to an officer of your army, was, with other
women and children, taken out of a house near
Fort Kdward, carried into the woods, and there
scalped and mangled in the most horrid manner.
Two parents, with their six children, were treated
with the same inhumanity, while quietly resting 11
their own happy and peaceful dwelling. The miser:
able fate of Miss M‘Crea was particularly aggrava-
ted by being dressed to receive her promised hus-
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band, but met her murderer, employed by you. Up-
ward of one hundred men, women, and children
have perished bv the hands of the ruffians to whom,
it is asserted, you have paid the price of blood.”
General Burgoyne replied, and repelled with in-
dignation the charge of encouraging, in any respect,
the outrages of the Indians. He asserted that from
the first he had refused to pay for scalps, and had so
informed the Indians at their council. The only re-
wards he gave them were for prisoners hrought in,
and by the adoption of this course he hoped to en-
courage a more humane mode of warfare on their
part. In this letter Burgoyne said, “I would not
be conscious of the acts you presume to impute to
me for the whole Continent of America, though the
wealth of worlds were in its bowels, and a paradise
upon its surface.” In regard to the hapless fate of
Miss M‘Crea, General Burgoyne remarked, “ Her
fall wanted not the tragic display you have laboured
to give 1t to make it as sincerely abhorred and la-
mented by me as it can be by the tenderest of her
friends. The act was no premeditated barbarity.
On the contrary, two chiefs, who had brought her
off for the purpose of security, not of violence to
her person, disputed which should be her guard, and
in a fit of savage passion in one, from whose hands
she was snatched, the unhappy woman became the
victim. Upon the first intelligence of this event, I
obliged the Indians to deliver the murderer into my
hands ; and though to, have punished him by our
laws, or principles of justice, would have been per-
haps unprecedented, he certainly should have suf-
fered an ignominious death, had I not been convin-
ced, from my circumstances and observations, be-
yond the possibility of a doubt, that a pardon under
the terms which T presented and they accepted,
would be more efficacious than an execution, to pre-
ventsimilar mischiefs. The above instance except-
cd, your intelligence respecting the cruelty of the
Indians is false ™
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The British commander doubtless laboured to
make the best of his case, and in respect to Miss
M*‘Crea, his staternent was much nearer to the truth
than that of General Gates. The actual circum-
stances of the case, stripped of its romance, were
these : Miss M‘Crea belonged to a family of Loyal-
ists, and had engaged her hand in marriage to a
young refugee named Jones, a subordinate officer in
the British service, who was advancing with Bur-
goyne. Anxious to possess himself of his bride, he
despatched a small party of Indians to bring her to
the British camp. Her family and friends were
strongly opposed to her going with such an escort;
but her affection overcame her prudence, and she
determined upon the hazardous adventure. She set
forward with her dusky attendants on horseback.
The family resided at the village of Fort Edward,
whence they had not proceeded more than half a
mile before her conductors stopped to drink at a
spring. Meantime, the impatient lover, who desery-
ed not her embrace for confiding her protection to
such hands, instead of going himself, had despatch-
ed a second party of Indians upon the same errand.
The Indians met at the spring ; and before the march
was resumed, they were attacked by a party of the
Provincials. At the close of the skirmish, the body
of Miss M‘Crea was found among the slain, toma-
hawked, scalped, and tied to a pine-tree, yet stand-
ing by the side of the spring, as a monument of the
bloody transaction. The name of the young lady is
inscribed on the tree, the trunk of which is thickly
scarred with the bullets it received in the skir-
mish. It also bears the date 1777. * Tradition
reports that the Indians divided the scalp, and tha
each party carried half of it to the agonized lover.”
The ascertained cause of the murder was this: The

romised reward for bringing her in safety to her

etrothed was a barrel of rum. The chiefs of the
two parties sent for her by Mr. Jones quarrelled
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respecting the anticipated compensation. Each
claimed it, and, in 2 moment of passion, to end the
controversy, one of them struck her down with his
hatchet.

As the invader advanced, the inhabitants fled in the
wildest consternation. The horrors of war, howev-
er mitigated by the laws and usages of civilization,
are at all times sufficiently terrific; but when to
these the fierce cruelties of a cloud of savages are
superadded, those only who have been familiar with
an American border warfare can form an adequate
opinion of its atrocities. Among the fugitives driv-
en from their peaceful abodes on the present occa-
sion was Mrs. Ann Eliza Bleecker, a lady who has
been somewhat celebrated as one of the early poets
of our country. She was the daughter of Mr.
Brandt Schuyler, of the city of New-York, and the
wife of John J. Bleecker, Esq., of New-Rochelle,
whose enterprise, together with his lady’s love for
the wild scenery of the forest, had induced him to
exchange a residence among the busy haunts of
men for a solitary plantation in the vale of the
Tomhanie, a mountain stream flowing into the
Hoosic River, about twenty miles from Albany. Mr.
Bleecker’s residence lay directly in the march of
jurgoyne, on whose approach he hastened to Alba-
y to provide accommodations for his family. But
a few hours after his departure, Mrs. Bleecker, as
she sat at-the table, received intelligence that the
enemy, with tomahawk and brand, was within two
miles of her residence. Instant flight was the only
alternative. Taking one of her children in her
arms, and seizing the other by the hand, she started
off on foot, attended only by a young mulatto girl,
and leaving her house and all its contents a prey to
the Indians, The roads were encumbered by car-
riages, loaded with women and children, each intent
upon his or her own safety ; so that no assistance
could be obtained, and her only recourse was to

Vou. [.—P
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mingle in the fugitive throng, and participate in the
common panic and common distress. Having tray-
elled about five miles on foot, however, she suc-
ceeded in obtaining a seat for the childrenin a wag-
on, which served to facilitate her march. On the
following morning she was met by her husband,
who conducted her to Albany, and thence down the
Hudson as far as Red Hook, one of her children dy-
ing by the way.

Amid this scene of desolation and affright, there
was yet one woman whose proud spirit was un-
daunted. It was the lady of General Schuyler. The
general’s country-seat was upon his estate In Sard-
toga, standing upon the margin of the river. On the
approach of Burgoyne, Mrs. Schuyler went up to
Saratoga, in order to remove their furniture. Her
carriage was attended by only a single armed man
on horseback. When within two miles of her
house, she encountered a crowd of panic-stricken
people, who recited to her the tragic fate of Miss
M‘Crea, and, representing to her the danger of pro-
ceeding farther in the face of the enemy, urged her
to return. She had yet to pass through a dense for-
est, within which even then some of the savage
troops might be lurking for prey. But to these pru-
dential counsels she would not listen. “The gen-
eral’s wife,” she exclaimed, “ must not be afraid "
And, pushing forward, she accomplished her pur-
puse. ‘

Before the mansion was evacuated, however, the
general himself had a narrow escape from ASSASS!-
nation by the hand of a savage, who had insinuated
himself into the house for that purpose. It was al
the hour of bedtime in the evening, and while the
general was preparing to retire for the night, that 3
female servant, in coming in from the hall, saw a
gleam of light reflected from the blade of a knife, In
the hand of some person whose dark outline she
discerned behind the door. The servant was a
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vlack slave, who had sufficient presence of mind
not to appear to have made the discovery. Passing
directly through the door into the apartment where
the general was yet standing near the fireplace,
with an air of unconcern she pretended to arrange
such articles as were disposed upon the mantel-
piece, while in an under-tone she informed her mas-
ter of her discovery, and said, aloud, “1 will call
the guard.” The general instantly seized his arms,
while the faithful servant hurried out by another
door into a long hall, upon the floor of which lay a
loose board which creaked beneath the tread. By
the noise she made in tramping rapidly upon the
board, the Indian—for such he proved—was led to
suppose that the Philistines were upon him in num-
bers, sprang from his concealment and fled. He
was pursued, however, by the guard and a few
[riendly Indians attached to the person of General
Schuyler, overtaken, and made prisoner. Exas-
perated at s treachery, the friendly Indians were
resolved to put him to death, and it was with much
lifficulty that they were diverted from their purpose
)y the general.

The effect of the incidents we have been detail-
g, and other recitals of savage cruelties, not all,
18 General Burgoyne represented, without founda-
lon, was extensive and powerful. The cry of ven-
geance was universal, and a spirit was aroused
which proved of speedy and great advantage to the
American arms.

CHAPTER X.

ContenporaNeousLy with the descent of Burgoyne
pon Northern New-York, Colonel Barry St. Leger
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had been despatched from Montreal, by the way of
the St. Lawrence and Lake Ontario, to Oswego,
there to form a junction with the Indians and Loy.
alists under Sir John Johnson and Captain Brant,
From Oswego, St. Leger was to penetrate by the
way of Oneida Lake and Wood Creek to the Mo-
hawk River, with a view of forming a junction with
Burgoyne, on his arrival in Albany. The alarm
everywhere felt on the approach of Burgoyne from
the North was greatly increased in Tryon county
on receiving intelligence of the contemplated inva-
sion by the Indians and Loyalists from the West,
The news of this movement was first brought to the
inhabitants by an Oneida half-breed sachem named
Thomas Spencer, who came therewith direct from
Canada, whither he had gone as a secret emissary
to obtain information. Spencer stated that he had
been present at a council held at the Indian castle
of Cassassenny, at which Colonel Claus presided.*
According to Thomas’s relation, Colonel Claus
strongly urged the Indians to join the expedition
into the Mohawk Valley, by the western approach;
boasting of the strength of the army under Bur-
goyne, which had gone against Ticonderoga, and
the number of Indians with them, before who he
assured them Ticonderoga would fall. The Oneida
sachem farther informed the people that Sir John
Johnson and Colonel Claus were then at Oswego
with their families, with seven hundred Indians and
four hundred regular troops. There were also 8IX
hundred Tories on one of the islands above Oswe-
gatchie preparing to join them ; and Colonel Butler
was to arrive at Oswego on the 14th of July from
Niagara, to hold a council with the Six Nations, to
all of whom he would offer the hatchet to join them
and strike the Americans. Thomas thereupon coi-

+ Colonel Daniel Claus, a brother-in-law of Sir John Johuson, hud
cither superseded Guy Johnson as Indian superintendent in Canads, of

been appointed a deputy.
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cluded his communication by urging an immediate
march to the assistance of Fort Schuyler, represent-
ing, among other things, that the successful advance
of the enemy would compel the friendly Indians
either to fly or to join the ranks of the invaders.

The counsel of the faithful Oneida was neither
early enough, nor was it seconded with sufficient
promptitude on the part of the inhabitants. Indeed,
it must be confessed that, as the storm of war rolled
onward, gathering at once from different directions,
and threatening daily to break upon them with in-
creasing fury, many of the yeomen who had hith-
erto born themselves nobly began to falter. A
spirit of disaffection had also been more widely dif-
fused among the settlements than could have been
supposed from the previous patriotic conduct of the
people, while treason lurked in many places where
least suspected.

As early as the 10th of April, Colonel Robert Van
Rensselaer wrote to a friend that the chairman of
the County Committee had applied to him for the
assistance of his militia to quell an insurrection of
the Loyalists in Ballston ; but such was the condition
of his own regiment, that he was obliged to decline
the request. The spirit of disaffection had become
so prevalent among his men, that numbers of them
had taken the oath of secrecy and allegiance to
Great Britain. However, he added that seventeen
of the villains had been arrested by the vigilance of
the officers, and were then in confinement: and a
hope was indulged of being able to detect the whole.
Barly in the following month the residue of the
Roman Catholic Scotch settlers in the neighbour-
hood of Johnstown ran off to Canada, together with
some of the loyalist Germans, all headed by two
men named M‘Donald, who had been permitted by
General Schuyler to visit their families. The fact
that the wives and families of the absconding Loy-
alists were holding communication with them, and
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admiristering to their subsistence on the outskirts
of the settlements, had suggested their arrest, and
removal to a place of safety, to the number of four
hundred—a measure that was approved by General
Herkimer and his officers. Alarming reports of
various descriptions were continually in circulation,
and the inhabitants were harassed beyond measure
by the necessity of performing frequent tours of
military duty, acting as scouts and reconnoitring
parties, and standing, some of them as sentinels,
around their fields, while others did the labour. No
neighbourhood felt secure, and all were apprehen-
sive that the whole country would be ravaged by
the Indians; while parties of the disaffected were
continually stealing away to augment the ranks of
the enemy. Thus circumstanced, and at the very
moment when they were called upon to re-enforce
Fort Schuyler, the committees both of Palatine and
Schoharie, feeling that they were not strong enough
even for self-defence, were calling upon the Coun-
cil of Safety at Albany to send additional forces for
their protection. On the 18th of July, General
Schuyler wrote to the Hon. Pierre Van Courtlandt,
from Saratoga, and again on the 21st from Fort
Edward, to the same effect. “I am exceedingly
chagrined,” he says, “at the pusillanimous spirit
which prevails in the county of Tryon. I appre-
hend much of it is to be attributed to the infidelity
of the leading persons of that quarter. If I had one
thousand regular troops, in addition to those now
above and on the march, I should venture to keep
only every third man of the mulitia, and would send
them down.”

The complaints of General Schuyler were not
without just foundation, as the reader has already
seen. Indeed, both regulars and militia in Tryon
county seemed, for the moment, to have lost all the
high qualities of soldiers or citizens. Of two hun-
dred militiamen ordered to muster and join the gar-
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rison of Fort Schuyler, only a part obeyed ; while
two companies of regular troops, receiving the like
orders, entered upon the service with great reluc-
tance, and not without urging various excuses,
complaining that service in scouting parties had un--
fitted them for garrison duty. Under circumstan—
ces of such discouragement, it was a time of pecu-
aar trial to the officers and committees of safety.
Tryon county had early espoused the cause of
freedom, and apparently with greater unanimity

than any other county in the state : and the exten-

sive defection, or eriminal apathy, which we have
just been contemplating, was altogether unexpected.
But a crisis was approaching which necessity soon
obliged them to meet. Accordingly, on the 17th of
July, General Herkimer issued z patriotic procla-
mation to the inhabitants of the county, announcing
the gathering of the enemy at Oswego, * Christians
and savages,” to the number of two thousand
strong, with the intention of invading the frontier,
and calling upon the people, en masse. to be ready at
4 moment’s warning to repair to the field, with
arms and accoutrements, on the approach of the
enemy. Those in health, from 16 to 60 years of
age, were designated for actual service ; while those
above 60 years of age, or invalids, were directed to
arm for the defence of the women and children at
whatever place they might be gathered in for safety.
Concerning the disaffected, and those who might
refuse to obey the orders, it was directed in the
proclamation that they should be arrested, their
drms secured, and themselyves placed under guard
to join the main body. All the members of the
committee, and all those who, by reason of having
formerly held commissions, had become exempts
from service, were invited to repair to the rendez-
vous, and aid in repulsing the foe: “not doubting
that the Almighty Power, upon our humble prayers
aud sincere trust in Him, will then graciously suc-
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cour our arms in battle for our just cause, and vic.
tory cannot fail on our side.”

The Oneida Indians, who were sincerely disposed
1o favour the cause of the United States, but who,
pursuant to the humane policy of Congress, and
the advice of General Schuyler, had determined to
preserve their neutrality, beheld the approaching
invasion from Oswego with no small degree of ap.
prehension. The course they had marked out for
themselves, as they were well aware, was viewed
with displeasure by their Mohawk brethren, while
the other members of their confederacy were ob-
viously inclined to side with their * Uncle.”® Liy-
ing, moreover, in the immediate neighbourhood of
Fort Schuyler, where St. Leger’s first blow must
be struck, they were not a little troubled in the pros-
pect of what might happen to themselves.

The certainty that the invaders were approach-
ing, the earnestness of the appeals of the commit-
tee to the patriotism of the people, the influence of
the proclamation of the German general, who was
a much better man than officer, save only in the
single attribute of courage ; and, above all, the posi-
tive existence of a common danger from which
there was no escape, were circumstances, together,
not without their effect. And although the eleventh
hour had arrived, the militia, and all upon whom
the call to arms had been made, now began to move
with a degree of alacrity, and an exhibition of spirit
that went far to atone for the unpatriotic, if not
craven, symptoms already noticed.

Meantime, having completed his organization at
Oswego, General St. Leger commenced his march
upon Fort Schuyler, moving by the route already
indicated, though with great circumspection. The
name of this place of rendezvous has already re-
curred more than once or twice in the preceding

* In the Six Nations, the Mohawks—the head tribe—were called
& Unecle ® The Oneidns were the ** elder brother,” &e.
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pages. Its position was important, and it had been
a place of renown in the earlier wars of the colony.
The river bearing the same name, which here pours
northwardly into Lake Ontario, is the outlet both
of the Oneida and Seneca Rivers, through which,
and their tributary streams, it is connected with the
chain of small lakes bearing the names of Oneida,
Cazenovia, Skaneateles, Owasco, Cayuga, Seneca,
and Canandaigua. Its estuary, of course, forms
the natural opening into the rich district of country
surrounding those lakes, which, down to the period
of the present history, contained the principal towns
of four of the Five Nations of Indians. During the
wars between the French and Five Nations, Oswego
was repeatedly occupied by the armies of the former.
It was here that Count Frontenac landed on his in-
vasion of the Onondaga country in 1692 ; at which
lime, or subsequently, a considerable military work
was erected on the western side of the river. During
the war with France, which was closed in America
by the conquest of Canada, it was in the occupancy
of the Provincials and English. The expedition,
destined to descend the St. Lawrence upon Mon-
treal, was assembled at this point in 1759, after the
[all of Niagara, under General Shirley and Sir Will-
iam Johnson. The army was encamped here sev-
eral weeks, and finally broke up without attempting
its main object, owing, as Sir William Johnson in-
timates in his private diary, to a want of energy on
the part of Shirley. After the fall of Quebec and
Montreal into the hands of the English, a battalion
of the 55th regiment was stationed at Oswego, un-
der Major Duncan, a brother of the naval hero of
Camperdown. A new and far more formidable
work was constructed upon the eastern, or north-
castern promontory, formed by the embouchure of
the river into the lake. The new position was far
better chosen for a fortress than the old ; and, ulti-
mately, before the Britns were dispossessed of it
0—13
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by the Americans, it became a work of somewhal
formidable strength and dimensions. The situation
is one of the most beautiful that can be imagined ;
and, during the two or three years in which Major
Duncan was in command, by the cultivation of a
large garden, the laying out and improving of a
bowling-green, and other pleasure grounds, it was
rendered a little paradise in the wilderness.

All told, the army of St. Leger consisted of seven-
teen hundred men, Indians included. These latter
were led by Thayendanegea. The advance of the
main body was formed of Indians, marching in five
Indian columns—that is, in single files, at large dis-
tances from each other, and four hundred and sixty
paces in front of the line. From these columns of
Indians, files were stretched at a distance of ten
paces from each other, forming a line of communi-
cation with the advanced guard of the line, which
was one hundred paces in front of the column. The
right and left flanks were covered by Indians at one
hundred paces, forming, likewise, lines of communi-
cation with the main body. The king’s regiment
moved from the left by Indian file, while the 34th
moved in the same order from the right. The rear-
guard was formed of regular troops; while the ad-
vance guard, composed of sixty marksmen, detach-
ed from Sir John Johnson’s regiment of Royal
Greens, was led by Sir John’s brother-in-law, Cap-
tain Watts. Bach corps was likewise directed to
have ten chosen marksmen in different parts of its
line, in case of attack, to be pushed forward to any
given point, as circumstances might require.

From these extraordinary precautions, it may
well be inferred that General St. Leger, who prob-
ably acted much under the advice of Sir John
Johnson and the refugee Provincials, who must
have been best acquainted with the country and the
character of the enemy they were going to encoun-
ter, was not a little apprehensive of an attack by
surprise while on his march.
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In addition to the arrangements already indicated,
a detachment from the 8th regiment, with a few
Indians, was sent a day or more in advance, under
the command of Lieutenant Bird. This officer
pushed forward with spirit, but was somewhat an-
noyed by the insubordination and independent action
of his allies.

On the 2d of August, Bird wrote back to his gen-
eral that no savages would advance with him except
Henriques, a Mohawk, and one other of the Six
Nations, an old acquaintance of his. The letter con-
tinues : *“ Those two, sir, I hope to have the honour
to present to you. A savage, who goes by the
name of Commodore Bradley, was the chief cause
of their not advancing to-day. Twelve Messe-
S4UgUES came up two or three hours after my de-
parture. Those, with the scout of fifteen I had the
honour to mention to you in my last, are sufficient
to invest Fort Stanwix, if you favour me so far as
not to order to the contrary.”

The investment of the fort was made by Lieu-
tenant Bird forthwith, Brant arriving to his assist-
ance at the same time. But the result of the siege
that followed proved that the British commander
had grievously miscalculated the spirit of the gar-
rison of Fort Stanwix in his anticipations of a speedy
capitulation.  Still, his prudential order, the object
of which was to prevent an unnecessary sacrifice
of life at the hands of his Indian allies, calculating,
of course, upon an easy victory, was not the less
commendable on that account.

The situation of Fort Stanwix itself—or, rather,
Fort Schuyler, as it must now be called—next de-
mands attention. At the beginning of the year, as
we have already seen, the post was commanded by
Colonel Elmore, of the state service. The term
of that officer expiring in April, Colonel Peter Ganse-
voort, also of the state lroops, was designated as
Colonel Elmore’s successor, by an order from Gen-
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eral Gates, dated the 26th of that month. Notwith.
standing the labours of Colonel Drayton in repairing
the works the preceding year, Colonel Gansevoort
found them in such a state of dilapidation, that they
were not only indefensible, but untenable. A brisk
correspondence ensued between that officer and
General Schuyler upon the subject, from which it
is manifest that, to say nothing of the miserable
condition of his defences, with the prospect of anin.
vasion from the west before him, his situation was
in other respects sufficiently deplorable. He had but
a small number of men, and many of those were
sick by reason of destitution. Added to all which,
was the responsibility of the Indian relations con-
fided to him by special order of General Schuyler
on the 9th of June.

Colonel Marinus Willett was soon afterward di-
rected to join the garrison at Fort Schuyler with his
regiment, and most fortunate was the selection of
such an officer as Willett to co-operate with such
another as Gansevoort ; since all the skill, and en-
ergy, and courage of both were necessary for the
situation. The work itself was originally a square
fort, with four bastions, surrounded by a ditch of
considerable width and depth, with a covert way
and glacis around three of its angles; the other be-
ing sufficiently secured by low, marshy ground.
In front of the gate there had been a drawbridge.
covered by a salient angle raised in front of it on
the glacis. In the centre of the ditch a row of per-
pendicular pickets had been erected, with rows of
horizontal pickets fixed around the ramparts under
the embrasures. But, since the conclusion of the
French war, the fort had fallen into decay ; the
ditch was filled up, and the pickets had rotted and
fallen down;* nor had any suitable progress been
made in its reparation. Immediate exertions, ener-

* Willett's Narrative.
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getic and unremitting, were necessary to repair, or,
rather, to renew and reconstruct, the works, and
place them in a posture of defence, should the long-
anticipated invasion ensue from that quarter. A
more correct idea of the wretched condition of the
post, even down to the beginning of July, may be
formed from the annexed letter :*

CoroNer GANSEVOORT To GENERAL SCHUYLER.

“ Fort Schuyler, July 4th, 1777
ol S[R,

“ Having taken an accurate review of the state
of the garrison, I think it is incumbent on me to in-
form your excellency by express of our present cir-
cumstances. KEvery possible assistance is given to
Captain Marquizee to enable him to carry on such
works as are deemed absolutely necessary for the
defence of the garrison. The soldiers are constant.-
ly at work; even such of them as come off guard
are immediately turned out to fatigue. But I can-
not conceal from your excellency the impossibility
of attending fully to all the great objects pointed
out in the orders issued to the commanding officer
on the station, without farther assistance. Sending
out sufficient parties of observation, felling the tim-
ber into Wood Creek, clearing the road from Fort
Dayton, which is so embarrassed in many parts as
fo be impassable, and prosecuting, at the same time,
the internal business of the garrison, are objects of
the greatest importance, which should, if possible,
be immediately considered. But while no exertions
compatible with the circumstances we are in, and
necessary to give your excellency satisfaction with
respect to all these interesting matters, shall be
omitted, I am very sensible it is not in our power to
get over some capital obstructions without a re-en-
forcement. The enclosed return, and the difficul-

* MS. copy, preserved amon - General Gansevoort’s papars,
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ties arising from the increasing number of hostile
Indians, will show to your excellency the grounds
of my opinion. One hundred and fifty men would
be needed speedily and effectually to obstruct Wood
Creek ; an equal number will be necessary to guard
the men at work in felling and hauling of timber,
Such a deduction from our number, together with
smaller deductions for scouting parties, would
scarcely leave a man in the garrison, which might
therefore be easily surprised by a contemptible par-
ty of the enemy. ‘The number of inimical Indians
increases. On the affair of last week only two
made their appearance. Yesterday a party of at
least forty, supposed to be Butler’s emissaries, at-
tacked Ensign Sporr with sixteen privates, who
were out on fatigue, cutting turf about three quar-
ters of a mile from the fort. One soldier was brought
in dead and inhumanly mangled ; two were brought
in wounded, one of them slightly, and the other
mortally. Six privates and Mr. Sporr are missing.
Two parties were immediately sent to pursue the
enemy, but they returned without being able to
come up with them. This success will, no doubt,
encourage them to send out a greater number; and
the intelligence they may possibly acquire will
probably hasten the main body destined to act
against us in these parts. Our provision is greatly
diminished by reason of the spoiling of the beef, and
the quantities that must be given from time to time
to the Indians. It will not hold out above six
weeks. Your excellency will perceive, in looking
over Captain Savage’s return of the state of the ar-
tillery, that some essential articles are very scarce.
As a great number of the gun-bullets do not suit the
firclocks, some bullet-moulds of different sizes for
casting others would be of great advantage to Us.
Our stock of powder is absolutely too little; a ton,
in addition to what we have, is wanted, as the low-
est proportion for the shot we have on hand. We
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will, notwithstanding every difficulty, exert our-
selves to the utmost of our power; and if your ex-
cellency will be pleased to order a speedy re-en-
forcement, with a sufficient supply of provision and
smmunition to enable us to hold out a siege, we
will, I hope, by the blessing of God, be able to give
# good account of any force that will probably come
rgainst us.”

The picture is gloomy enough ; and was rendered

| the more so from the mistakes of the engineer, a
, Frenchman, who had been employed by General
: Schuyler, and whom it was ultimately found neces.
J : sary to arrest and send back to headquarters. Col-

i onel Willett had, from the first, doubted the capaci
t ty of Marquizee, and after his dismissal the work
{ pruceede(?, for the most part, under his own immedi-
] ate direction. :
: The garrison had likewise other difficulties to en-
: counter. With the gathering of St. Leger’s motley
; forces at Oswego, preparatory to his descent upon
the Mohawk, the Indians, as has already been seen
1 by Gansevoort’s letter, began to appear in scouting
1 parties in the circumjacent forests. The utmost
t caution was, therefore, necessary on leaving the fort
. even for a short distance. It was during this criti-
d cal period that the familiar incident of Captain

e Gregg and his faithful dog occurred.

X According to the narrative of President Dwight,
g it appears that Gregg and his companion had been
% seduced into a fatal disobedience of orders by the
), clouds of pigeons appearing in the adjoining woods.
o Immediately upon their fall the Indians rushed upon
T them for their scalps, which they took, giving each
. a simultaneous cut upon the head with their toma-
I, hawks. The corporal had been killed by the shot,
e but Captain Gregg was only wounded.* Feigning
8

* It has been asserted in history that S¢ Lege encouraged these iso-
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death, however, he had the presence of mind, and
the fortitude, to submit to the subsequent torture,
without betraying himself by a groan or the quiver.
ing of a muscle. The Indians departing immedi-
ately, Captain Gregg crawled to his lifeless com-
panion, and pillowed his head upon his body ; while
his faithful dog ran to a place at no great distance
thence, where two men were engaged in fishing,
and, by his imploring looks and significant actions,
induced them to follow him to the spot where lay
his wounded master. Hastening to the fort, the
fisherman reported what they had seen, and a par-
ty of soldiers being forthwith despatched to the
place, the bodies of the wounded and the dead were
speedily brought into the garrison, as we have seen
from the colonel’s official account.

Captain Gregg recovered and resumed his duties,
and having served to the end of the war, lived many
years afterward.

Another tragic incident occurred at nearly the
same time. About noon, on the third of July, the
day being perfectly clear, Colonel Willett was start.
led from his siesta by the report of musketry. Hast-
ening to the parapet of the glacis, he saw a little
girl running with a basket in her hand, while the
blood was trickling down her bosom. On investi-
gating the facts, it appeared that the girl, with two
others, was picking berries, not two hundred yards
from the fort, when they were fired upon by a party
of Indians, and two of the number killed. ~Happily,
she who only was left to tell the tale was but
slightly wounded. One of the girls killed was the
daughter of an invalid who had served many years
in the British artillery. He was entitled to a situ-

lated murders by large bounties for scalps, Twenty dollars is said tc
have been the price he paid; but his despatch to Lieutenant Bird, be-
fore cited, does not corroborate the charge of such inhumanity. That
despatch was a private document, moreover, not written for the light, or
{or effect, and must therefore be received as true. It was found among
Colonel Gansevoort's papers
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ation in Chelsea Hospital, but had preferred rather
to remain in the cultivation of a small piece of
ground at Fort Stanwix, than again to cross the
ocean.

By the middle of July, the Indians hovering about
the fort became so numerous and so bold as to oec-
casion great annoyance. Large parties of soldiers
only could venture abroad on the most pressing
emergencies ; and even one of these was attacked,
several of its numbers being killed and wounded,
and the officer in command taken prisoner. The
force of the garrison, at this time, consisted of
about five hundred and fifty men ; ill supplied, as we
have already seen, both with provisions and muni-
tions of war. Fortunately, however, on the 2d of
August, the very day of the investiture of the fort
by the advance of St. Leger’s army under Thayen-
danegea and Bird, Lieutenant-colonel Mellon, of
Colonel Weston's regiment, arrived with two hun-
dred men, and two batteaux of provisions and mili-
tary stores. Not a moment was lost in conveying
these opportune supplies into the fort. Delay
would, indeed, have been dangerous ; for at the in-
stant the last loads arrived at the fort, the enemy
appeared on the skirt of the forest, so near to the
boats, that the captain who commanded them be-
came their prisoner.

The command of Colonel Gansevoort now con-
sisted of seven hundred and fifty men, all told ; and
upon examination it was ascertained that they had
provisions for six weeks, with fixed ammunition
enough for the small arms. But for the cannon they
were lamentably deficient, having barely enough for
nine rounds per diem during the period specified. A
besieging army was before the fort, and its garrison
was without a flag! But as necessity is the mother
of invention, they were not long thus destitute.
Stripes of white were cut from ammunition shirts ;
blue from a camblet cloak captured from the ene-
VoL. .—Q
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my ; while the red was supplied from such odds and
ends of clothes of that hue as were at hand.

Such was the condition of Fort Schuyler at the
commencement of the memorable siege of 1777 : an
event, with its attending circumstances, forming an
important feature in the Northern border warfare
of the Revolution. Colonel St. Leger himself ar-
rived before the fort on the 3d of August, with his
whole force, a motley collection of British regulars,
Hessian auxiliaries, New-York Loyalists, usually
denominated ** Johnson’s Greens,” together with
numbers of the Canadians, and the Indians under
Thayendanegea. Sir John Johnson, and Colonels
Claus and Butler, were also engaged with him in
the expedition. A flag was sent into the fort on the
morning of that day, with a copy of a rather pom
pous proclamation from St. Leger, which, it was
probably supposed, from its vaunting threats and
lavish promises, might produce a strong impression
upon the garrison. The object of his address was
to hold forth security, and not depredation ; he offer-
ed employment to those who would join his stand-
ard ; security to the infirm and industrious ; and pay-
ment in coin for all the supplies the people would
bring to his camp.

This manifesto, however, produced no effect, then
or afterward. The siege had been anticipated, and
the brave garrison, officers and men, had counted
the cost, and determined to defend the fortress to the
last. Accordingly, hostilities commenced actively
on the morning of the following day. The Indians,
concealing themselves behind clumps of shrubbery
and stumps of trees, annoyed the men who were
employed in raising the parapets not a little with
their rifles. Several were wounded ; and it was found
necessary immediately to station sharp-shooters at
suitable points, to watch opportunities, and fire i
return.  The 5th was spent in much the same man-
ner, with the addition of the throwing of a few
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ghells by the enemy, several of which fell within the
fort, and some in the barracks. On the evening of
this day, soon after it was dark, the Indians, who
were at least one thousand in number, spread them-
selves through the woods, completely encircling the
fort, and commenced a terrible yelling, which was
continued at intervals the greater part of the night.

Having thus commenced his operations, Colonel
St. Leger found means of conveying the intelligence
to General Burgoyne, not for a moment anticipa-
ting the distressing circumstances in which the
Northern commander-in-chief already found him-
self involved, though but midway in the career of
victory. Harassed incessantly by the foes he had
vanquished ; unable to obtain supplies, except by
sending back for them to Fort George, in which ser-
vice his troops were already greatly fatigued ; not
one third of his horses arrived from Canada; the
roads excessively bad, and rendered all but impas-
sable by a deluge of rain; with only four days’ pro-
visions on hand, the vaunting general, who had
boasted in the British capital that with ten thousand
men he could march through the whole rebel coun-
try at pleasure, already found himself in an unen-
viable situation. But on learning the advance of
General St. Leger, he instantly and justly consider-
ed that a rapid movement forward, at this critical
juncture, would be of the utmost importance. If the
retreating Americans should proceed up the Mo-
hawk with a view of relieving Fort Schuyler, in the
event of St. Leger’s success against that place they
would place themselves between two fires ; or per-
haps Burgoyne supposed that, were such a move-
ment to be made on the part of the Americans, he
might yet throw his army between them and Al-
bany, and thus compel them either to stand a gen-
eral engagement or to strike off to the right, and, by
recrossing the Hudson higher up, secure a retreat
into New-England. 1f, on the other hand, the Amer-
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icans should abandon Fort Schuyler to its fate and
themselves fall back upon Albany, he argued that
the Mohawk country would, of course, be enti ely
laid open to him, his junction with St. Leger estab.
lished, and the combined army be at liberty to select
its future line of operation. But his supplies were
inadequate to such an extensive operation, and his
army was too weak to allow him to keep up such a
chain of posts as would enable him to bring them
up daily from the depit at Lake George. With a
view, therefore, of obtaining immediate relief, and
of opening a new source of supply, especially of
cattle, from the upper settlements of New-England,
the expedition to Bennington, the place of deposite
of provisions for the Provincial forces, was planned,
and committed to a detachment of the Hessian
troops, under Colonel Bavm, for execution. The
signal failure of this expedition was calculated still
farther both to embarrass and depress the invaders
while the brilliant success of the militia under Gen
eral Starke on that occasion, proving, as it had done
that neither English nor German troops were in-
vincible, revived the drooping spirits of the dis-
heartened, reinspired the people with confidence of
ultimate success, and was the source of universal
exultation.

The progress of events brings us back to the
lower Valley of the Mohawk. No sooner was the
advance of St. Leger upon Fort Schuyler known to
the committee and officers of Tryon county, than
General Herkimer, in conformity with the procla-
mation heretofore cited, summoned the militia of
his command to the field, for the purpose of march-
ing to the succour of the garrison. Notwithstanding
the despondency that had prevailed in the early part
of the summer, the call was nobly responded to, not
only by the militia, but by the gentlemen of the
county, and most of the members of the committee,
who entered the field either as officers or private
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volunteers. The fears so generally and so recent-
ly indulged seemed all to have vanished with the
arrival of the invader, and the general soon found
himself at the head of between eight hundred and a
thousand men, all eager for action and impatient of
delay. Their place of rendezvous was Fort Day-
ton (German Flatts), in the upper section of the
Mohawk Valley, and the most beautiful. The regi-
ments were those of Colonels Klock, Visscher, Cox,
and one or two others, augmented by volunteers
and volunteer officers, who were pushing forward
as though determined at all hazards to redeem the
character of the county. Indeed, their proceedings
were by far too impetnous, since they hurried for-
ward in their march without order or precaution,
without adequate flanking parties, and without re.
connoitring the ground over which they were to
pass. They moved from Fort Dayton on the 4th,
and on the 5th reached the neighbourhood of Oris-
kany,* where they encamped. From this point an
express was sent forward by General Herkimer to
apprize Colonel Gansevoort of his approach, and to
concert measures of co-operation. The arrival of
the express at the fort was to be announced by
three successive discharges of cannon, the report of
which, it was supposed, would be distinctly heard at
Oriskany, only eight miles distant. Delays, how-
ever, intervened, so that the messengers did not
reach the fort until ten or eleven o’clock on the fol-
lowing morning ; previous to which, the camp of the
enemy being uncommonly silent, a portion of their
troops had been observed by the garrison to be
moving along the edge of the woods down the river,
in the direction of the Oriskany Creek. The con-
certed signals were immediately firec.; and as the
proposition of Herkimer was to force a passage to

* Probubly the site of Whitestown. One of the MS. narratives in the

author's possessior. says they crossed the river at old Fort Schuyler {(now
Utica). i
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the fort, arrangements were immediateyy made by
Colonel Gansevoort to effect a diversion of the ene-
my’s attention, by making a sally from the fort upon
the hostile camp; for which purpose two hundred
men were detailed, consisting one half of Ganse.
voort’s and one half of the Massachusetts troops,
and one fieldpiece, an iron three-pounder. The ex-
ecution of the enterprise was intrusted to Colonel
Willett.

[t appears that on the morning of that day, which
was the 6th of August, General Herkimer had mis-
givings as to the propriety of advancimg any farther
without first receiving re- enforcements. His offi-
cers, however, were eager'to press forward. A
consultation was held, in which some of the officers
manifested much impatience at any delay, while the
general still urged them to remain where they were
until re-enforcements could come up, or at least un-
til the signal of a sortie should be received from the
fort. High words ensued, during which Colonels
Cox and Paris, and many others, denounced their
commander to his face as a Tory and a coward.
The brave old man calmly replied that he consider-
ed himself placed over them as a father, and that it
was not his wish to lead them to any difficulty from
which he could not extricate them. Burning, as 1!1(\
now seemed, to meet the enemy, he told them round-
ly that they would run at his first appearance. But his
remonstrances were unavailing. Their clamour in-
creased, and their reproaches were repeated, until,
stung by imputations of cowardice and a want of
fidelity to the cause, and somewhat irritated, withal,
the general immediately gave the order, & March
on! The words were no sooner heard than the
troops gave a shout, and moved, or, rather, rushed
forward. They marched forward in files of two
deep, preceded by an advanced guard and keeping
flanks upon each side.

Having, by 10 o’clock, proceeded rapidly forward
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to the distance of only two or three miles, the
guards, both front and flanks, were suddenly shot
down, the forest rang with the war-whoops of a sav-
age foe, and in an instant the greater part of the di-
vision found itself in the midst of a formidable am-
buscade. Colonel St. Leger, it appeared, having
heard of the advance of General Herkimer, in order
to prevent an attack in his intrenchments, had de-
tached a division of Sir John Johnson's regiment
of Greens, under Sir John’s brother-in-law, Major
Watts, Colonel Butler with his rangers, and Joseph
Brant with a strong body of Indians, to intercept his
approach.®* With true Indian sagacity, Thayenda-
negea had selected a position admirably fitted for
his purpose, which was to draw the Americans,
whom he well knew to be approaching in no very
good military array, into an ambuscade. 'The lo-
cality favoured his design. There was adeep ravine
crossing the path which Herkimer, with his undis-
ciplined array, was traversing, *‘ sweeping towards
the east in a semicircular form, and bearing a
northern and southern direction. The bottom of
this ravine was marshy, and the road crossed it by
means of a causeway. The ground, thus partly en-
closed by the ravine, was elevated and level. The
ambuscade was laid upon the high ground west of
the ravine.”

The enemy had disposed himself adroitly, in a
circle, leaving only a narrow segment open for the
admission of the ill-starred Provincials on their ap-
proach. The stratagem was successful. Uncon-
scious of the presence of the foe, Herkimer, with
his whole army excepting the rear-guard, composed
of Colonel Visscher’s regiment, found himself en-

* In every account of this battle which has fallen under the author's
ohservation, excepting that of Colonel Willett, Sir John Johnson is made
the British commander at this battle. He was not in it at all, as will ap-
pear a lew pages forward. Even the cautious and inguisitive President
Dwight falls into the error, and carries it through his whole account,
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compassed at the first fire, the enemy closing up
the gap at the instant of making himself known,
By thus early completing the circle, the baggage
and ammunition wagons, which had just descended
into the ravine, were cut off and separated from the
main body, as also was the regiment of Colonel
Visscher, yet on the eastern side of the ravine;
which, as their general had predicted, instantly and
ingloriously fled, leaving their companions to thei
fate. They were pursued, however, by a portion ol
the Indians, and suffered more severely, probably
than they would have done had they stood by their
fellows in the hour of need, either to conquer or to
fall.

Being thrown into irretrievable disorder by the
suddenness of the surprise and the destructiveness
of the fire, which was close and brisk from every
side, the division was for a time threatened with an-
nihilation. At every opportunity, the savages, con-
cealed behind the trunks of trees, darted forward
with knife and tomahawk to ensure the destruction
of those who fell ; and many and fierce were the
conflicts that ensued hand to hand. The veteran
Herkimer fell, wounded, in the early part of the ac-
tion, a musket ball having passed through and killed
his horse, and shattered his own leg just below the
knee. The general was placed upon his saddle,
however, against the trunk of a tree for his support,
and thus continued to order the battle. Colonel Cox,
and Captains Davis and Van Sluyck, were severally
killed near the commencement of the engagement;
and the slaughter of their broken ranks, from the
rifles of the Tories and the spears and tomahawks
of the Indians, was dreadful. But even in this de-
plorable situation, the wounded general, his men
dropping like leaves around him, and the forest re-
sounding with the horrid yells of the savages, ringing
high and wild over the din of battle, behaved with
the most perfect firmness and composure. The
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action had lasted about forty-five minutes, in great
disorder, before the Provincials formed themselves
into circles in order to repel the attacks of the en-
emy, who were concentrating, and closing in upon
them from all sides. From this moment the re-
sistance of the Provincials was more effective, and
the enemy attempted to charge with the bayonet.
The firing ceased for a time, excepting the scatter-
ing discharges of musketry from the Indians; and
as the bayonets crossed, the contest became a death
siruggle, hand to hand and foot to foot. Never,
however, did brave men stand a charge with more
dauntless courage, and the enemy for the moment
seemed to recoil—just at the instant when the work
of death was arrested by a heavy shower of rain,
which suddenly broke upon the combatants witk
great fury. The storm raged for upward of an hour
during which time the enemy sought such shelter
as might be found among the trees at a respectful
distance ; for they had already suffered severely,
notwithstanding the advantages in their favour.
During this suspension of the battle, both parties
had time to look about, and make such new dispo-
sitions as they pleased for attack and defence, on
renewing the murderous conflict. The Provincials,
under the direction of their general, were so fortu:
nate as to take possession of an advantageous piece
of ground, upon which his men formed themselves
into a circle, and, as the shower broke away, awaited
the movements of the enemy. In the early part ol
the hattle, the Indians, whenever they saw a gun
fired by a militiaman from behind a tree, rushed
upon and tomahawked him before he could reload
In oraer to counteract this mode of warfare, two men
were stationed behind a single tree, one only to fire
at a time, the other reserving his fire until the In-
dians ran up as before. The fight was presently re-
newed, and by the new arrangement, and the cool
execution done by the fire of the militia forming
5—14
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the main circle, the Indians were made to suflg
severely; so much so, that they began to giIve
way, when Major Watts came up with a re-enforco.
ment, consisting of another detachment of Johnson’s
Greens. These men were mostly Loyalists, who
had fled from Tryon county, now returned in arms
against their former neighbours. Asno quarrels are
80 bitter as those of families, so no wars are so cruel
and passionate as those called civil. Many of the
Provincials and Greens were known to each other;
and as they advanced so near as to afford opportu-
nities of mutual recognition, the contest became, if
possible, more of a death struggle than before, My.
tual resentments, and feelings of hate and revenge,
raged in their bosoms. The Provincials fired upon
them as they advanced, and then springing like
chafed tigers from their covers, attacked them with
their bayonets and the butts of their muskets, or both
parties, in closer contact, throttled each other and
drew their knives ; stabbing, and sometimes literally
dying in one another’s embrace.

At length a firing was heard in the distance from
the fort, a sound as welcome to the Provincials as
it was astounding to the enemy. Availing them.
selves of the hint, however, 1 ruse-de-guerre was at-
tempted by Colonel Butler, which had wellnigh
proved fatal. It was the sending, suddenly, from
the direction of the fort, 4 detachment of the Greens
disguised as A merican Ltroops, in the expectation that
they might be received as a timely re-enforcement
from the garrison. Lieutenant Jacob SAmmons was
the first to descry their approach, in the direction of
a body of men commanded by Captain Jacob Gar-
denier, an officer who, during that memorable day,
performed prodigies of valour. Perceiving that
their hats were American, Sammons informed Cap-
tain Gardenier that succours from the fort were coms-
ing up. The quick eye of the captain detected the
rasez, and he replied.  Not so : they are enemies-
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don’t you see their green coats!” They continued
to advance until hailed by Gardenier; at which
moment one of his own soldiers, observing an ac-
quaintance, and supposing him a friend, ran to meet
him, and presented his hand. It was grasped, but
with no friendly gripe, as the credulous fellow was
dragged into the opposing line, and informed that
he was a prisoner. He did not yield without a
struggle ; during which Gardenier, watching the ac-
tion and the result, sprang forward, and with a blow
from his spear levelled the captor to the dust and
liberated his man. Others of the foe instantly set
upon him, of whom he slew the second and wounded
' ! a third. Three of the disguised Greens now sprang
l ] upon him, and one of his spurs becoming entan-
| gled in their clothes, he was thrown to the ground.
Still contending, however, with almost superhuman
strength, both of his thighs were transfixed to the
earth by the bayonets of two of his assailants, while
| the third presented a bayonet to his breast, as if to
: thrust him through. Seizing this bayonet with his
left hand, by a sudden wrench he brought its owner
down upon himself, where he held him as a shield
against the arms of the others, until one of his
own men, Adam Miller, observing the struggle,
flew to his rescue. As the assailants turned upon
their new adversary, Gardenier rose upon his seat;
and although his hand was severely lacerated by
grasping the bayonet which had been drawn through
it, seized his spear lying by his side, and, quick as
lightning, planted it to the barb in the side of the as-
sailant with whom he had been clinched. The man
fell and expired, proving to be Lieutenant M‘Don-
ald, one of the Loyalist officers from T'ryon county.
All this occurred in far less time than 1s necessarily
vccupied by the relation. While engaged in the
struggle, some of his own men called out to Garde-
nier, ** For God’s sake, captain, you are killing your
own men!” He replied, **T'hey are not our men—
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they are the enemy—fire away!” A deadly fire
from the Provincials ensued, during which about
thirty of the Greens fell slain, and many Indian war-
riors. The parties once more rushed upon each
other with bayonet and spear, grappling and fighting
with terrible fury ; while the shattering of shafts and
the clashing of steel mingled with every dread sound
of war and death, and the savage yells, more hideoys
than all, presented a scene which can be more easily
imagined than described. The unparalleled fort;-
tude and bravery of Captain Gardenier infused fresh
spirits into his men, some of whom enacted wonders
of valour likewise. It happened during the mélée, in
which the contending parties were mingled in great
confusion, that three of Johnson's Greens rushed
within the circle of the Provincials, and attempted
to make prisoner of a Captain Dillenback. This
officer had declared he never would be taken alive,
and he was not. One of his three assailants seized
his gun, but he suddenly wrenched it from him, and
felled him with the butt. He shot the second dead,
and thrust the third through with his bayonet. But
in the moment of his triumph at an exploit of which
even the mighty Hector, or either of the sons of
Zeruiah might have been proud, a ball laid this brave
man low in the dust.

Such a conflict as this could not be continued
long ; and the Indians, perceiving with what ardour
the Provincials maintained the fight, and finding
their own numbers sadly diminished, now raised the
retreating cry of “ Oonah !” and fled in every direc-
tion, under the shouts and hurrahs of the surviving
Provincials, and a shower of bullets.  Finding,
moreover, from the firing at the fort, that their pres-
cnce was necessary elsewhere, the Greens and Ran-
gers now retreated precipitately, leaving the victo-
rious militia of Tryon county masters of the field.*

* It is an extranrdinary fact, that every historian who has wriiten of
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Thus ended one of the severest, and, for the num-
bers engaged, one of the most bloody battles of the
Revolutionary war. Though victorious, the loss of
the Provincials was very heavy ; and Tryon coun-
ty long had reason to mourn that day. Colonel Par-
is was taken prisoner by the enemy, and afterward
murdered by the Indians. Several other prisoners
were also killed by the savages, after they had been
brought into Colonel Butler's quarters, and, as it
was said, by the colonel’s own tacit consent, if not
permission in terms. But the general character of
that officer forbids the imputation.* Major John
Frey, of Colonel Klock’s regiment, was likewise
wounded and taken; and, to show the more than
savage fury burning in the bosoms of the men
brought into conflict on this occasion, the disgrace-
ful fact may be added, that his own brother, who
was in the British service, attempted to take his life
after he had arrived in Butler’s camp. The major
saw his brother approaching in a menacing manner,
and called out, “ Brother, do not kill me! do you
not know me " But the infuriated brother rushed
forward, and the major was only saved by the inter-
position of others. The whole number of the Pro-
vincial militia killed was two hundred, exclusive of
wounded and lost as prisoners. Such, at least,
was the American report. The British statements
the battle of Oriskany has recorded it as a defeat of the Provincials,
from Marshall and Ramsay down, to say nothing of the British chroni-
clers. Such was also the author's impression until he undertook the
present’ investigation, Captain Brant himself, in conversation with
Samuel Woodruff, Esq., admitted that they were the victors : and all the
written statements which the author has been able to procure from the
survivers of that battle bear the same testimony.

* The late Doctor Moses Younglove, of Hudson, Columbia county,
was the surgeon of General Herkimer's brigade. He was taken prison-
er in this battle by a sergeant of Sir John Johnson's regiment. After
his release, he made a deposition setting forth many grievous barbarities
committed, both by the Indians and Tories, upon the prisoners who fell
into their hands that day. They were cruelly tortured, several of them

murdered ; and, as the doctor had reason to believe, some of them wers

luh:equeutlﬁotakan to an island in Lake Ontario, and eaten. This is
scarcely to be believed.




214 BORDER WARS OF THE

claimed that four hundred of the Americans werse
killed, and two hundred taken prisoners.

Retaining possession of the field, the survivers
immediately set themselves at work in construct.
ing rude litters, upon which to bear off the wounded,
Between forty and fifty of these, among whom was
the commanding general, were removed In this
manner. The brave old man, notwithstanding the
imprudence of the meaning—imprudence in allow-
ing a premature movement at the dictation of his
subordinates—had nobly vindicated his character
for courage during the day. Though wounded, as
we have seen, in the onset, he had borne himself
during the six hours of conflict, under the most try-
ing circumstances, with a degree of fortitude and
composure worthy of all admiration. Nor was his
example without effect in sustaining his troops amid
the perils by which they were environed. At one
time during the battle, while sitting upon his sad-
dle raised upon a little hillock, being advised to se-
lect a less exposed situation, he replied, “I will
face the enemy.” Thus, “surrounded by a few
men, he continued to issue his orders with firmness,
In this situation, and in the heat of the onslaught,
he deliberately took his tinder-box from his pocket,
lit his pipe, and smoked with great composure.”
At the moment the soldiers were placing him on the
litter, while adjusting the blankets to the poles, three
Indians approached, and were instantly shot down
by the unerring rifles of three of the inilitia. These
were the last shots fired in that battle.

The loss of the enemy in this engagement was
equally, if not more severe, than that of the Ameri-
cans. The Greens and Rangers of Sir John John-
son and Colonel Butler must have suffered badly,
although no returns were given in the contempora-
neous accounts. Major Watts was severely wound-
ed, and left on the field, as was supposed, among the
slain. His death was reported by Colonel Willett,
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in his letter to Governor Trumbull, and by other au-
thorities. But such was not the fact. Reviving
from faintress produced by loss of blood, some
hours after the action, he succeeded in crawling to

hrouk where, by slaking his thirst, he was pre-
~,m ed from speedy death, and in the course of two
or three days was found by some Indian scouts, and
brought into St. Leger’s camp.* But the Indians
were the most roughly handled, having lost nearly
one hundred warriors, several of whom were sa-
chems in great favour. Frederic Sammons, who
had been detached upon a distant scout previous to
the battle, returning some days after, crossed the
battle-field, where, he says, “1 beheld the most
shocking sight 1 had ever witnessed. The Indians
and white men were mingled with one another, just
as they had been left when death had first comple-
ted his work. Many bodies had also been torn to
pieces by wild beasts.”

It has been affirmed that the Indians were per-
suaded to join in this battle only with great difficul-
ty, and not until they had been induced to sacrifice
their reason to their appetites. It was very mani-
fest that during the action many of them were in-
toxicated. The consequence was, that they suffered
more severely than ever before. According to the

* This statement respecting Major Watts was derived from the late
Mr. John Watts, of New-York, his brother. As mentioned in the text,
St. Leger, in his official report, did not state the number of his own kill
ed and wounded. Colonel Butler, however, wrote to Sir Guy C arleton,
4 Of the New-Yorkers, Captain M*Donald was killed, Captain Watta
dangerously wounded, and one subaltern. Of the Rangers, Captains
Wilson and Hare killed, and one private wounded. The Indians suffer-
#d much, having thirty-three killed and twenty-nine wouanded ; the Sen-
scas lost seventeen, among whom were several of their LIIILI WARITIOLS,
and had sixteen wounded. During the whole action, the Indians show-
ed the greatest zeal for his majesty’s cause ; and had they not been o Jite
tle T.uu precipitate, scarcely a re ybel of the party would have escaped
Most of the leading rebels are cut off in the action, w that any farther at-
tempts from that quarter are not to be expected.  Caplain W atts, of the
Royal New-Yorkers, whose many amiasbly gus alities deserved a better
fate, lay, wounded in three places, upon the ‘ield two days before he was
found.”- - Parliamentary Regaster.
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narrative of Mary Jemison, the Indians (at least the
Senecas) were deceived into the campaign. They
were sent for to see the British whip the rebels,
They were told that they were not wanted to fight,
but merely to sit down, smoke their pipes, and logk
on. The Senecas went to a man; but, contrary to
their expectation, instead of smoking and looking
on, they were obliged to fight for their lives ; and in
the end of the battle were completely beaten, with
a great loss of killed and wounded.”

'I'he whole Indian force was led by Thayendanegea
in person, “ the great captain of the Six Nations,” as
he was then called; and as the Cayugas had now
likewise joined the Mohawks in alliance with the
arms of England—the Onondagas adopting a doubt-
ful policy, but always, in fact, acting against the Pro-
vincials—he must have had a large force in the field.
Of the Senecas alone, thirty-six were killed and a
great number wounded. Captain Brant was accus-
tomed, long years afterward, to speak of the suffer-
ings of his “ poor Mohawks” in that battle. Indeed,
the severity with which they were handled on that
occasion rendered them morose and intractable du-
ring the remainder of the campaign ; and the unhap-
py prisoners were the first to minister with their
blood to their resentment. * Our town,” says Mary
Jemison, * exhibited a scene of real sorrow and dis-
tress when our warriors returned and recounted their
reverses, and stated the real loss they had sustained
in the engagement. The mourning was excessive,
and was expressed by the most doleful yells, shrieke,
and howlings, and by inimitable gesticulations.”

It was unfortunate that General Herkimer form-
ed his line of march with so little judgment that,
when attacked, his men were in no situation to sup-
port each other; and more unfortunate still, that he
marched at all, so long before he could expect to
hear the concerted signal for the diversion to be
made in his favour by the sortie of Colonel Willett.
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The heavy rainstorm, moreover, which caused a
suspension of the battle, had likewise the effect of
delaying the sally for nearly an hour. It was made,
however, as soon as it was practicable, and was not
only completely successful, but was conducted with
such ability and spirit by the gallant officer to whom
it was confided, as to win for him the applause of
the foe himself. In addition to the two hundred
men detailed for this service, under Colonel Wil-
lett’s command, as before stated, fifty more were
added to guard the light iron three-pounder already
mentioned.

With these troops, and this his only piece of
mounted ordnance, Colonel Willett lost not a mo-
ment, after the cessation of the rain, in making the
sally. The enemy’s sentinels being directly in
sight of the fort, the most rapid movements were
necessary. 'The sentinels were driven in, and his
advanced guard attacked, before he had time to form
his troops.  Sir John Johnson, whose regiment was
not more than two hundred yards distant from the
advanced guard, it being very warm, was in his
tent, divested of his coat at the moment, and had
not time to put it on before his camp was assailed.
Such, moreover, were the celerity of Willett’s move-
ment and the impetuosity of the attack, that Sir
John could not bring his troops into order, and their
only resource was in flight. The Indian encamp-
ment was next to that of Sir John, and, in turn, was
carried with equal rapidity. The larger portion of
the Indians, and a detachment from the regiment of

. Sir John, were, at the very moment of this unex-

pected assault upon their quarters, engaged in the
battle of Oriskany. Those who were left behind
now betook themselves—Sir John and his men to
the river, and the Indians to their natural shelter,
the woods, the troops of Colonel Willett firing
briskly upon them in their flight. The amount of
spoil found in the enemy’s camp was so great, that
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Willett was obliged to send hastily to the fort for
wagons to convey it away. Seven of these vehi-
cles were three times loaded and discharged in the
fort, while the brave little Provincial band held pos-
session of the encampments. Among the spoile
thus captured, consisting of camp equipage, cloth.
ing, blankets, stores, &c., were five British stand-
ards, the baggage of Sir John Johnson, with all his
papers, the baggage of a number of other officers,
with memoranda, journals, and orderly-books, con-
taining all the information desirable on the part of
the besieged. While Colonel Willett was returning
to the fort, Colonel St. Leger, who was on the op-
posite bufc of the river, ¢|quptct1 a movement to
mtercept him. Willett’s position, however, enabled
him to form his troops so as to give the enemy a
full fire in front, while at the same time he was en-
filaded by the fire of a small fie 1(lp|uu: The dis-
tance wus not more than sixty yards between them;
and although St. Leger was not backward in return-
ing the fire, his aim was, nevertheless, so wild as to
be entirely without effect. The assailants returned
into the fortress in triumph, without having lost a
man ; the British flags were hoisted on the fl wgstaff
undu the American; and the men, ascending the
parapets, gave three as hearty cheers as were ever
shouted by the same number of voices. Among the
prisoners brought off by the victors was Lieutenant
Singleton, of Sir John Johnson’s regiment. Several
Indians were found dead in their camp, and others
were Kkilled in crossing the river. The loss to the
enemy, particularly in stores and baggage, was
great ; while the affair itself was of still more im-
portance, from the new spirit of patriotic enthusi-
asm with which it inspired the little garrison. For
this chivalrous exploit, Congress passed a resolution
of thanks, and directed the commissary-general of
military stores to procure an elegant sword, and
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resent the same to Colonel Willett in the name of
the United States,

General Herkimer did not long survive the battle.
He was conveyed to his own house near the Mo-
hawk River, a few miles below the Little Falls,
where his leg, which had been shattered five or six
inches below the knee, was ampurated about ten
days after the battle, by a young French surgeon in
the army of General Arnold, and contrary to the
advice of the general’s own medical adviser, the
late Doctor Petrie. But the operation was unskil-
fully performed, and it was found impossible by his
attendants to stanch the blood. Colonel Willett

called to see the general soon after the operation.
He was sitting up in his bed, with a pipe in his
mouth, bmukmg, and talking in excellent spirits.
He died the night following that visit. His friend,
Colonel John l{uﬂ was present at the clll][JULdLl{)Il,
and affirmed that h-; bore the operation with uncom-
mon fortitude. He was likewise with him at the
time of his death. The blood continuing to flow—
there being no physician in immediate attendance

—and being himself satisfied that the time of his
departure was nigh, the veteran directed the Holy
Bible to be brought to him. He then opened it and
read, in the presence of those who surrounded his
bed, with all the composure which it was possible
for any man to exhibit, the thirty-eighth Psalm,
applying it to his own situation. "He soon after-
ward expired ; and it may well be questioned
whether the annals of man furnish a more striking
example of Christian heroism-—calm, deliberate,
and firm in the hour of death—than is presented in
this remarkable instance. Of the early history of
General Herkimer but little is known. It has been
already stated that his family was one of the first
of the Germans who planted themselves in the Mo-
hawk Valley ; and the massive stone mansion, yet
standing at German Flatts, bespeaks its early opu-
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lence. He was an uneducated man, with, if pos.
sible, less skill in letters even than General Put.
nam, which is saying much. But he was, neverthe.
less, a man of strong and vigorous understanding
destitute of some of the essential requisites of gen.
eralship, but of the most cool and dauntless cour-
age. These traits were all strikingly disclosed in
the brief and bloody expedition to Oriskany. But
he must have been well acquainted with that most
important of all books—rne BisrLe. Nor could the
most learned biblical scholar, lay or clerical, have
selected a portion of the sacred Secriptures more
exactly appropriate to the situation of the dying
soldier than that to which he himself spontane-
ously turned. If Socrates died like a philosopher,
and Rousseau like an unbelieving sentimentalist,
General Herkimer died like a Caristiaxy Hero. Con-
gress passed a resolution requesting the Governor
and Council of New-York to erect a monument, at
the expense of the United States, to the memory of
this brave man, of the value of five hundred dollars
This resolution was transmitted to the Governor of
New-York, George Clinton, in a letter, from which
the following passage is quoted: “ Every mark of
distinction shown to the memory of such illustrious
men as offer up their lives for the liberty and hap-
piness of their country, reflects real honour on
those who pay the tribute ; and, by holding up to
others the prospect of fame and immortality, will
animate them to tread in the same path.” Govern-
or Clinton thus wrote to the committee of Tryon
county on the occasion: “ Enclosed you have a let-
ter and resolves of Congress for erecting a monument
to the memory of your late gallant general. While
with you I lament the cause, I am impressed with a
due sense of the great and justly merited-honour
the continent has, in this instance, paid to the mem-
ory of that brave man.” Such were the feelings of
respect for the services and memory of the deceas-
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ed entertained by the great men of that day. Sixty
vears have since rolled away, and the journal of
Congress is the only monument, and the resolution
itself the only inscription, which as yet testify the
gratitude of the Republic to Gexerar Nicuoras Her-
KIMER.

CHAPTER XI.

TuoveH in fact defeated at Oriskany, the enemy
claimed, as we have seen, a victory. In one sense,
it is true, the achievement was theirs. They had
prevented the advance of the Americans to the suc-
cour of the fort, and on their retreat the Americans
were unable to pursue. Still the field was won,
and retained by them. Availing himself of his
questionable success, however, and well knowing
that days must probably elapse before the garrison
could become apprized of the whole circumstances
of the engagement and its issue, St. Leger lost no
time in endeavouring, by false representations, to
press the besieged to a capitulation. On the same
night of the battle, therefore, at nine o’clock, Col-
onel Bellinger and Major Frey, being in St. Leger’s
camp as prisoners, were compelled to address a
note to Colonel Gansevoort, greatly exaggerating
the disasters of the day, and strongly urging a sur-
render. In this letter they spoke of the defeat at
Oriskany, of the impossibility of receiving any far-
ther succour from below, of the formidable force of
St. Leger, together with his train of artillery, an-
nounced the probable fact that Burgoyne and his
army were then before Albany, and stated that
longer resistance would only result in *“inevitable
ruin and destruction.” The letter was transmitted
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to Colonel Gansevoort by St. Leger's adjutant-
general, Colonel Butler, who, in delivering it, made
a verbal demand of surrender. Colonel Gansevoort
replied that he would give no answer to a verbal
summons, unless delivered by Colonel St. Leger
himself, but at the mouth of his cannon.

On the following day a white flag approached the
garrison, with a request that Colonel Butler, and
two other officers, might be admitted into the fort
as bearers of a message to the commanding officer,
Permission being granted, those officers were con-
ducted blindfolded into the fort, and received by
Colonel Gansevoort in his dining-room. The win-
dows of the room were shut, and candles lighted ;
a table was also spread, upon which were placed
some slight refreshments. Colonels Willett and
Mellen were present at the interview, together with
as many of the American officers as could be ac-
commodated in the quarters of their commander.
After the officers were seated and the wine had
been passed around, Major Ancrom, one of the mes-
sengers, addressed Colonel Gansevoort in substance
as follows :

“1 am directed by Colonel St. Leger, the officer
commanding the army now investing this fort, to in
form the commandant that the colonel has, with
much difficulty, prevailed on the Indians to agree
that if the fort, without farther resistance, shall be
delivered up, with the public stores belonging to 1,
to the investing army, the officers and soldiers shall
have all their baggage and private property secured
to them. And in order that the garrison may have
a sufficient pledge to this effect, Colonel Butler ac-
companies me, to assure them that not a hair of the
head of any one of them shall be hurt.” (Here
turning to Colonel Butler, he said, *“ That, [ think,
was the expression they made use of, was it not!”
to which the colonel answered, *“ Yes.”) *1 am
likewise directed to remind the commandant thai
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the defeat of General Herkimer must deprive the
garrison of all hopes of relief, especially as General
Burgoyne is now in Albany; so that, sooner or
Jater, the fort must fall into our hands. Colonel
St. Leger, from an earnest desire to prevent farther
bloodshed, llilpf_”« these terms will not be refused,
as in this case it will be out ol his power to make
them again. It was with great difficulty the Indians
mmwmed to the present arrangement, as it will de-
prive them of that plunder which they .1Iw,1},5 cal-
culate upon on similar occasions. Should, then, the
present terms be rejected, it will be out of the pPoOW-
er of the colonel to restrain the Indians, who are
very numerous, and much e\%pv rated, not only
from pluudeung the property, but (]Lbuoylu;_{ the
lives, [Jl()i}db} of the greater part of the garrison.
I:uluv the Indians are so exceedingly punul-.vd
and mortified by the losses they have sustained in
the late actions, having had several of their favourite
chiefs killed, that they threaten—and the colonel, if
the present arrangements should not be entered into,
will not be able to prevent them from elemmng
their threats—to march down the country, and de-
stroy the settlement, with its inhabitants. In this
case, not only men, but women and children, will ex-
perience the sad effects of their vengeance. These
considerations, it is ardently hoped, will produce a
proper effect, and induce the commandant, by com-
plying with the terms now offered, to save himself
from future regret, when it will be too late.”

This singular oration was of course delivered ex-
temporaneously, as also was the following reply, by
Colonel Willett, with the approbation of Colonel
Gansevoort :

“Do I understand you, sir? I think you say that
you come from a British colonel, who is command-
er of the army that invests this fort; and, by your
uniform, you appear to be an officer in the British
service. You have made a long speech on the oc-
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casion of your visit, which, stripped of all its super.
fluities, amounts to this : that you come from a Brit.
ish colonel to the commandant of this garrison, to
tell him that, if he does not deliver up the fort into
the hands of your colonel, he will send his Indians
to murder our women and children. You will please
to reflect, sir, that their blood will be on your
head, not on ours. We are doing our duty; this
fort is committed to our charge, and we will take
care of it. After you get out of it, you may turn
round and look at its outside, but never expect to
come in again, unless you come a prisoner. I con-
sider the message you have brought a degrading one
for a British officer to send, and by no means repu-

table for a British officer to carry. For my own
part, I declare, before I would consent to deliver
this fort to such a murdering set as your army, by
your own account, consists of, I would suffer my
body to be filled with splinters and set on fire, as
you know has at times been practised by such
hordes of women and children killers as belong to
your army.”

Colonel Willett observes, in his narrative, whence
these facts are drawn, that in the delivery he looked
the British major full in the face ; and that he spoke
with emphasis is not doubted. The sentiments con-
tained in this reply were received with universal ap-
plause by the Provincial officers, who, far from be-
ing intimidated by the threats of the messengers,
were at once impressed with the idea that such
pressing efforts to induce a capitulation could only
be the effect of doubt, on the part of the enemy him
self, of his ability either to sustain the siege or car-

ry the works by assault. Before the interview was
closed, Major Ancrom requested that an English
surgeon who was with him might be permitted to
visit the British wounded 1n the fort, which request
was granted. Major Ancrom also propoc;ed an ar-
mistice for tiree days, which was likewise agreed
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to by Colonel Gansevoort—the 1111:.-1(, readily, pl'ub-
ably, because of his scanty supply of ammunition.
On the 9th of August, Colonel {uunmumt having
refused to recognise any verbal messages from E}IU
British commander, Colonel St. I .eger transmitted
the substance of Major Ancrom'’s speech in the form
of a letter, protesting that no indignity was intend-
ed |=‘, the tiLJ:‘-ll‘. of such a IMessiare—a 1Mess age
that had been insisted upon cate L’Ill]l_:l”‘, by the [11-
w-»—.m:l formally renewing the summons of
surrender ; adding, that the Indians were ]:m_:muiug
2 '-:n]II'J[\. impatient, and if the proposition should
jecte d, the refusal would be attended with very
fatal consequences, not only to the garrison, but to
the whole country of the Mohawk River.
The n-l':ly of Colonel Gansevoort was written
with soldierly brevity, in the following words :

Cor. GasNevoorT To Con. S1. LEGER.
‘# Fort Schuyler, Aug. Oth, 1777
* SIR,

‘Your letter of this day’s date I have received,
in answer to which I say, that it is my determined
resolution, with the forces under my command, to
defend this fort to the last extremity, in behalf of the
United American States, who have placed me here
to defe ml it against all their enemies,

“ 1 have the honour to be, sir,
“Your most ob’t humble serv't,
‘Perer GaNsevoort,
I'. ‘ol. commanding Fort Schuyler.
“Gen. Barry St. Leg

FFailing in these attempts to induce a surrender,
the besiegers, four days afterward, had recourse te
another expedient. Tt was the issuing of an .ppeal to
the inhabitants of Tryon county, signed by Sir John
Johnson, Colonel Claus, and Colonel John Butler,

similar in its tenour to the verbal and w ritten messa-

ges of St. Leger to Colonel Gansevoort. Messen-
5—1b
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gers were despatched with this document into Try.
on county, but to no good purpose; while, as will
soon appear, some of those messengers were in-
volved in serious difficulty by their errand.

But if Colonel Willett’s success in the brilliant
execution of the sortie on the 6th entitled him, as it
unquestionably did, to the commendations he re-
ceived, a still more perilous enterprise, undertaken
by him a few days afterward, was thought, alike by
friends and foes, to entitle him to still greater ap-
plause. The artillery of the besiegers was not suf-
ficiently heavy to make any impression upon the
works, and there was every probability that the gar-
rison might hold out until succours should be ob-
tained, could their situation be made known. Col-
onel Willett was not only well acquainted, but ex-
ceedingly popular, in Tryon county ; and it was sup-
posed that, should he show himself personally among
the militia of that district, notwithstanding the ex-
tent of their suffering in the late expedition, he might
yet rally a force sufficient to raise the siege. The
hold project was therefore conceived by him of
passing at night, in company with another officer,
through the enemy’s works, and, regardless of the
danger from the prowling savages, making his way
through some forty or fifty miles of sunken morass
es and pathless woods, in order to raise the county
and bring relief. Selecting Major Stockwell for his
companion, Colonel Willett undertook the expedi-
tion on the 10th, and left the fort at ten o’clock that
night, each armed with nothing but a spear, and pro-
vided only with a small supply of crackers and
cheese, a small canteen of spirits, and in all other
respects unencumbered, even by a blanket. Having
emerged from the sally-port, they crept upon their
hands and knees along the edge of a morass to the
river, which they crossed by crawling over upon a
log, and succeeded in getting off unperceived by the
gentinels of the enemy although passing very neir
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to them. Their first advance was into a deep-tan-
rled forest, in which, enveloped in thick darkness,
they lost their direction, and found it impossible to
proceed. While in this state of uncertainty, the
barking of a dog added little to their comfort, inas-
much as it apprized them that they were not far
from a new Indian encampment, formed subsequent
to the sortie a few days before. They were there-
fore compelled to staud perfectly still for several
hours, and until the morning star appeared to guide
their way. Striking first in a northern direction for
several miles, and then eastwardly, they traced a
zigzag course, occasionally adopting the Indian
method of concealing their trail by walking in the
channels ol streams, and by stepping on stones
along the river’s edge. In this way they travelled
the whole of the ensuing day, without making a sin-
gle halt.  On the approach of night they dared not
to strike a light, but lay down to sleep interlocked
in each other’s arms. Pursuing their journey on
the 12th, their little stock of provisions being ex-
hausted, they fed upon raspberries and blackberries,
of which they found abundance in an opening occa-
sioned by a windfall. Thus refreshed, they pushed
forward with renewed vigour, and at an accelerated
pace, and arrived at Fort Dayton at three o’clock in
the afternoon.*

The colonel and his friend received a hearty wel-
come from Colonel Weston, whose regiment was
then in charge of Fort Dayton, and from whom he
obtained the agreeable intelligence that, on learning
the news of General Herkimer's disaster, General
Schuyler had ordered Generals Arnold and Larned,
with the Massachusetts brigade, to march to the re-
lief of Colonel Gansevoort. Colonel Willett there-
upon took horse immediately for Albany to meet

* ' So successful was Colonel Willett 1n all his movements, that the
Indians, believing him to be possessed of supernatural power, gave to
him the name of the Devil."—Campbell.
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General Arnold, who was to command the exped.
tion ; and in four days afterward accompanied Arnolg
back to Fort Dayton, w lwu the troops were assem-
bling. The first New-York regciment had been add.
ed to the brigade of General Larned, who was yet
in the rear h|1nlr|1urn|:- the heavy baggage and stores,
During Willett’s brief absence to ‘Hi:m_\, an in-
cident occurred in the neighbourhood of Fort Day-
ton, showing that, if he had been active in his at-
tempts to bring succours to the fort, the enemy, on
the other hand, had not been idle. About two miles
above Fort Dayton resided a Mr. Shoemaker, a niI«'-
affected gentleman, who had been in his majesty’s
commission of the peace. Having heard of a clan-
destine meeting of Tories at the house of that gen-
tleman, Colonel Weston despatched a detachment
of troops thither, which came upon the assemblage
by surprise, and took them all prisoners. Among
them was Lieutenant Walter N. Butler, from St
Leger's army, who, with fourteen white soldiers
and the same number of Indians, had visited Ihl'
German Flatts secretly, with the appeal of §
John Johnson, Claus, and the elder Butler, wtc]l'-
to in a preceding page, for the purpose of m rsuading
the timid and disaffected inhabitants to abandon the
Provincial cause, and enrol themselves with the
king’s army before Fort Schuyler. Butler was in
the midst of his harangue to the meeting at the mo-
ment of the unwelcome surprise. General Arnold
ordered a court-martial, and caused him to be tried
as a spy. Of this tribunal Colonel Willett officia-
ted as judge-advocate. The lieutenant was con-
victed, and received sentence of death; but, at the
intercession of a number of officers who had known
him while a student at law in Albany, his life was
spared by a reprieve. He was, however, remoye(
to Albany, and closely 1|npt|-um|l until the spring
of the nlln»wnwr year. When Gene |.1l the Marquis
de Lafavette assumed the command of the Northers
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department, the friends of the Butler family, in con-
jequence, as i'L_ was ;1!!9;:-:-3.[!, of his ill health, inter-
:eded for a mitigated form of imprisonment. He
was then removed to a private house and kept un-
der guard, but shortly afterward effected his escape—
owing, it was reported, to treachery—and was sub-
sequently distinguished as one of the severest
scourges of the beautiful valley which had given
him birth.

The address of Johnson, Claus, and Butler hav-
ing been thus introduced among the people of the
county, Arnold issued a proclamation from Fort
Dayton for the purpose of counteracting its influ-
ence. It was couched in severe language in regard
to St. Leger and his heterogeneous army ; denoun-
ced those of the people who might be seduced by his
arts to enrol themselves under the banner of the
king ; but promised pardon to all, whether Ameri-
cans, savages, Germans, or Britons, who might re-
turn to their duty to the states.

Meantime, Colonel St. Leger was pushing his op-
erations before the fort with considerable vigour.
Every effort to intimidate the garrison having fail-
ed, and the commander exhibiting an unsubmitting
spirit, St. Leger commenced approaching by sap,
and had formed two parallels, the second of which
brought him near the edge of the glacis ; but the fire
of musketry from the covert way rendered his far-
ther progress very difficult. The fire of his ord.
hance producing no effect, his only means of annoy-
Ing the garrison was by throwing shells ; but these
proved of so little consequence as to afford a dis.
couraging prospect of success. Having advanced,
however, within one hundred and fifty yards, it is
not to be denied that some uneasiness began to be
manifested within the garrison. Ignorant of the
[ate of Colonel Willett and Major Stockwell, and en-
tirely cut off from all communication from without,
their provisions daily vxhausting. and having no cer
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tain prospect of relief, some of the officers con
menced speaking in w hlbp[,lb of the expediency of
saving the garrison from a re-enactment of the
Fort Willlam Henry tragedy, by acceding to St
Leger's proffered terms of capitulation. Not so the
commander. After weighing well the circumstan-
ces of the case, he came to Lhn deliberate resolve,
in the event of nbl 1ining no succour from \Hr.[IUilc,
when his provisions were about exhausted, to make
a sally at night, and cut his way Illtullqh the en-
t;l'l]ljlllull of the besiegers, or perish in the atte mpt.

Fortunately, the necessity of executing the bold
determination did not arrive. The siege had con-
tinued until the 22d of Xucruﬁ! when suddenly, with-
out any cause within the l\uouludqg of the garrison,
the besiegers broke up their encampment, and reti-
red in such haste and confusion as to leave their
tents, together with a great part of their artillery,
camp t[m;l age, and baggage behind. What was
the motive for this unexpected flight of a vaunting
and all but victorious foe, was a pmhlt m they were
unable to solve within the fort, although their joy
was not, on that account, the less at their deliver-
ance. It subsequently appeared that the panic
which produced this welcome and unexpected
change 1n the situation of the garrison was caused
by a ruse-de-guerre, practised upon the forces of St.
Leger by General Arnold, who had been waiting
at Fort Dayton several duys for the arrival of re-en-
forcements and supplies. But, having heard that
St. Leger had made his approaches to within a short
distance of the fort, Arnold. on the 22d of August,
determined, at all events, to push forward and haz-
ard a battle, rather than see the garrison fall a sac-
rifice. Wlth this view, on the morning of the 23d
he resumed his march for Fort Schuyler, and had
proceeded ten miles of the distance from [ort Day-
ton, when he was met by an express from Colone!
Gansevoort with the gratifying intelligence that the
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siege had been raised. The cause of this sudden
movement was yet as great a mystery to the colo
nel and his garrison as was the flight of the host of
Ben-hadad from before Samaria to the King of Isra-
el, when the Syrian monarch heard the supernatural
sound of chariots, and the noise of horses, in the
days of Elisha the prophet. Arnold was, of course,
less in the dark. The vircumstances were these :
Among the party of Tories and Indians captu-
red at Shoemaker’s, under Lieutenant Butler, was
a singular being named Hon-Yost ScauviLer. His
place of residence was near the Little Falls, where
his mother, and a brother named Nicholas, were
then residing. Hon-Yost Schuyler was one of the
coarest and most ignorant men in the valley, ap-
pearing scarce half removed from idiocy; and yet
there was no small share of shrewdness in his
character. Living upon the extreme border of civi-
lization, his associations had been more with the
[ndians than the whites; and tradition avers that
they regarded him with that mysterious reverence
and awe with which they are inspired by fools and
lunatics. 'T'hus situated, and thus constituted, Hon-
Yost had partially attached himself to the Royalist
cause, though probably, like the Cowboys of West
Chester, he really cared little which party he served
or plundered ; and had he been the captor of the
unfortunate Andre, would have balanced probabili-
ties as to the best way of turning the prize to ac-
count. DBe these things, however, as they may,
Hon-Yost was captured with Walter Butler, and,
like him, was tried for his life, adjudged guilty, and
condemned to death, His mother and brother hear-
ing of his situation, hastened to Fort Dayton, and
implored General Arnold to spare his life. The old
woman strongly resembled the gipsy in her char-
acter, and the eloquence and pathos with which she
pleaded for the life of her son were long remem-
hered in the unwritten history of the Mohawk Val-
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ley. Arnold was for a time ine \'nr-lhh'=. and the
woman became almost frantic with grief and pas-
sion on account of her wayward son. Nicholas,
likewise, exerted himself to the utmost in behalf
of his brother. At length General Arnold proposed
terms upon which his life should be spared. The
conditions were, that Hon-Yost should hasten to
Fort Schuyler, and so alarm the camp of St. Leger
as to induce him to raise the siege and fly. The
conviet-traitor gladly accepted the 'mr]nm[um and
his mother offered herself as a hostage for the faith-
ful performance of his commission. Arnold, how-
ever. declined receiving the woman as a hostage,
preferring, and insisting that Nicholas should be re-
tained for that purpose. To this the latter readily
assented, declaring that he was perfectly willing to
pledge his life that Hon-Yost would fulfil his en-
gagements to the utmost. Nicholas was therefore
placed in confinement, while Hon-Yost departed
for the camp of Colonel St. Leger, having made
an arrangement with one of the Oneida Indians,
friendly to the Americans, to aid him in the enter-
prise. Before his departure se veral shots were
fired through Schuyler’s clothes, that he might ap-
pear to have had a n: LITOW escape ; and the Oneida
[ndian, by taking a circuitous route 1o Fort Schuy-
ler, was to fall into the enemy’s camp from another
direction, and aid Hon-Yost in ecreating the panic
1llf:~;ii'<' }. The emissary first presented himself among

the Indians. who were in a very suitable state ut
Imil ] to be wrought upon by exactly such a person-
age. They r had been mmulx and dissatisfied evel

since the tqu: of Oriskany ; neither the ‘wll:{i‘h:
nor the plunder promised them had been won, and
they had previously received some vague and indefi-
nite inti le nce respecting the approach of Arnold.
They had likewise just been holding' a pow-wow,
or were actually convened in one, for the purpose
of consulting the Manitto touching the dubious en-
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terprise in which they were engaged when lon-
Yost arrived. Knowing their character well, he
u;tmuum('d ted his intelligence to them in the most
mysterious and imposing manner. Pointing to his
riddled garments, he proved to them how narrow
had been his l;‘*:(..iIJL‘ lJUm the approaching army of
the rebels. When asked the number of the troops
that Arnold was leading against them, he shook his
head mysteriously, and pointed upward to the leaves
of the trees. The Ilp!}ll‘: spread rapidly through
the camps, and, reaching the ears of the commander,
Hon-Yost was sent for to the tent of St. Leger
himself. Here he was interrogated, and gave infor-
mation that General Arnold, with two thousand
men, was so near that he would iu: upon them '.~.'11|1in
twenty-four hours. He gave St. Leger a pitiable
narrative of his captivity, t]'iul, ‘md condemnation
to the gallows. It was while on his way to execu-
tion, as he alleged, that, finding himself not very
closely guarded, he took an opportunity to effect his
escape, thinking, at the worst, that he could only
die, and it would be as well to be shot as hanged.
A shower of bullets had, indeed, been let fly at him,
but fortunately had only w ounded his clothes, as the
general III!;:;|LL see. Meantime, the Oneida messen-
ger arrived with a belt, and confirmed to the Indians
all that Schuyler had said ; adding, that the Ameri-
cans had no desire to m.]mu the Indians, and were
intent only upon attacking the British troops and
rangers. While making his way to the camp of
the besiegers, the ingenious Oneida had fallen in
with some two or three straggling Indians of his
acquaintance, to whom he communicated his busi-
ness, and whose assistance in furthering the design
he elungul. These sagacious fellows dropped intn
the Indian camp at different points, and threw out
alarming suggestions, shaking their heads mysteri-
ously, and insinu: iing that a bird bad brought them
intelligence of great moment. They spoke of war
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riors in great numbers advancing rapidly upon them
and used every indirect method of infusing a panic
into the minds of the listeners who gathered aroungd
them. The Indians presently began to give signg
of decamping, and St. Leger assayed in vain to re.
assure them. He convened a council of their chiefs,
hoping that, by the influence of Sir John Johnson
and Colonels Claus and Butler, he should still be
able to retain them, Other reports of a yet more
terrifying tendency getting afloat, not only among
the I'ndians, but in the other camp, the former de-
clared that * the pow-wow said they must go ;" and
a portion ef them took their departure before the
council hrcke up. The result was a general and
precipitate flisht. It has been stated that in the
commencement of the retreat, the Indiane made
themselves merry at the expense of their white
allies, by raising a shout that the Americans were
upon them, and then laughing at the groundless ter-
ror thus created. Accerding to the account derived
by Gordon from the Rev. Mr. Kirkland, an alterca-
tion took place between Colonel St. Leger and Sir
John Johnson, the former reproaching the latter
with the defection of the Indians, while the baronet
charged his commander with but an indifferent pros-
ecution of the siege. It was in the gray of twilight
when a couple of sachems, standing upon a little
eminence not far in the rear, and overhearing the
interchange of sharp words between them, put a
end to the unpleasant colloquy by raising the shout
“They are coming ! they are coming ! Both St. Lege.
and Sir John commenced their retreat with all pes
sible expedition upon hearing such an alarm. Thes
troops were equally nimble of foot on the occasion
throwing away their knapsacks and arms, and dis
encumbering themselves of every hinderance to the
quick-step; while the Indians, enjoying the panic
and confusion, repeated the joke by the way until
thev arrived at the Oneida Lake. It is belioved,
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however, that it was not the Americans alone of
whom St. Leger began to stand in fear, being quite
as apprehensive of danger from his own dusky al-
lies as he was of the approaching army of Arnold.
There is British authority for stating that the In-
dians actually plundered several of the boats belong-
ing to their own army, robbing the officers of whatso-
ever they liked. W ithin a few miles of the camp they
first &Ill[lp{‘d off the arms, and afterward murdered,
with their own bayonets, all those British, German,
and American soldiers who were separated from
the main body.* Thus were lhe threats of savage
vengeance sent by Colonel St. Leger to the garri-
son in some degree wreaked upon his own army.
Hon-Yost Schuyler accompanied the flying host to
the estuary of Wood Creek, where he deserted.
thridding his way back to Fort Schuyler the same
evening, imparting to Colonel Gansevoort his first
information of the advance of Arnold, From Fort
Schuyler Hon-Yost proceeded back to the German
Flatts. On presenting himself at Fort Dayton, his
brother was discharged, to the inexpressible joy of
his mother and their relatives. But he proved a
Tory in grain, and embraced the first opportunity
auhwquvm y presented, which was in October, of
running away to the enemy, with several of his
neighbours, and attaching himself to the forces of
Sir John Johnson.

Immediately on the receipt of Colonel Ganse-
voort’s despatch announcing St. Leger’s retreat,
General Arnold push forwar {a detachment of nine
hundred men, with directions, if possible, to over-

* 5t. Leger's report of this disastrous retreat, addressed to General
Burgoyne from Oswego, on the 27th of August, corresponds very
closely with the American accounts whence the present nuarrative has
been drawn. [Ile states that the Indinns fell treacherously upon their
friends, and became more formidable than the enemy they had to ex-
pect. Ile leaves no room, however, to suppose that there was any diffi-
culty between Sir John Johnson aud himself, calling him ** his gallant

coadjutor," d&e , and commending his exertions to induce the Indians
again to meet the enemy, as also those of Colonele Claus and Butler
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take the tuzitives, and render their flight still more
disastrous. On the day following, Arnold himself
arrived at the fort, where he was received with 3
salute of artillery and the cheers Ui the brave gar-
rison. He, of course, found that Gansevoort had
anticipate d his de sign of harassing the rear of the
flying enemy, and h: ad brought in several prisoners,
together with large quantities of spoil. So great
was their panic, and such the pre cipitancy of their
flight, that they left their tents standing, their pro-
visions, artillery, ammunition, their entire camp
equipage, and large quantities of other articles en-
hancing the value of the booty.*

Thus ended the siege of Fort Schuyler, or Fort
Stanwix, as the public have always preferred calling
it. St. Leger hastened with his scattered forces back
to Oswego, and thence to Montreal. From that post
he ]'n-cwm;-f!ed to Lake Champlain, passing up the
same to Ticonderoga, for II:( purpose of joining
the army of lmiLmlw Finding that the enemy
had evacuated the country between the fort and
Lake Ontario, and that the post could be in no im-
mediate danger from that direction, Colonel Ganse-
voort took the opportunity of visiting his friends at
Albany, and at the seat of the state government,
then just mgmuul at Kingston.

As an evidence of the value placed upon the ser-
vices of the colonel in the defence of Fort Schuy-
ler, he was shortly afterward promoted in the state
line to the rank of brigadier-general, while his gal-
lantry was farther rewarded by a colonel’s ecommis-
sion from Congress in the army of *the United
States.t (n leaving his regiment, its officers pre-

* Among other articles was the escritoire of St, Leger himsalf, con
taining his private papers, several of which have been used by the
author in writing this and the preceding chapters.

t There seems to have been something peculiar and special in this
commission. In a letter which Colonel Gansevoort wrote jomtly to
William Duer and Gouverneur Morris, a copy of which is preserved
among his papers, he observes: ** Congress have done me the honour of
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sented him with an affectionate letter of congratu-
lation on his promotion, mingled with an expression
of their regret at the loss to the regiment of *
worthy a patron.” To which the colonel returned
an appropriate letter of thanks. The people of
Tryon county were, of course, ll?,_jljlf‘l d that the blow,
directed, as the ene my supposed, with unerring cer-
tainty against them, had been averted. Ilu:_‘, had
suffered severely in the campaign, but there were
enough of her sons yet left to swell the ranks of
General Gates not a little ; and t!lw pressed ardently
to join his standard, although circumstances did not
then require them long to remain in the field.

In October h;—llm‘.mg. when Sir Henry Clinton
was ascending the Hudson for the purpose either ot
succouring or of co-operating with Burgoyne, Colo-
nel Gansevoort was orde red to Albany b} =L*|1L1.11
Gates, to take command of the large force then con-
centrating at that place. Happily, as will appear in
the succeeding chapters, there was no occasion to
test his prowess in his new and temporary com-
mand.

CHAPTER XII.

Tue temporary pacification of the western part
of the st: m- resulting from the events of which we
have just closed the narrative, affords an opportunity
for recurring to the invasion of Burgoyne, who was

appointing me colonel commandant of Fort Schuyler. [ should esteem il
as a favour if you would inform me whether 1 am to receive any pay for
that commission other than as colonel of the third regiment of New-
Yorkers; and if not, | should be glad if you would endeavour to get
something allowed me, as my present pay will not reimburse my table
liquors, which you may well conceive to be something considerable as
commanding officer. 1 am not solicitous to make money by my com
mission ; but I could wish not to sink by it, as I am obliged to do now
The commission which Congress has sent me as commandant of For
wchuyler ,-;u1'||Je,»(;Ls me as much to the command of my superior ofhicers as
any former one. If that was the intentio n of Congress, the oy J]mil;illmnl
«+ nugatory. Ifmnot, I wish Congress to alter the commission ’

e
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left in the mid career of victory, checked, it is true, hy

unexpected and increasing difficulties umxl bmuth
to a stand by the serious affair of Be nmngtml hereto-
fore incidentally disposed of. On shifting the scene,
however, from the head waters of the Mohawk to
the upper districts of the Hudson. General Gates is
:lgnin found in command of the Northern department,
General Schuyler, to whose wise measures and
indefatigable exertions the couniry was mainly in-
debted for arresting the progress of Burgoyne, and
during whose command the victory of Bennington
had been won by General Stark, having been most
unjustly superseded by express resolution of Con-
gress. There had, during the present year, been a
very unwise, unworthy, and capricious interference,
on the part of Congress, with the command of this
department. On the 25th []lf“(l.l( h, without a reason
assigned, General Gates had wpelsoded General
Schuyler, his superior officer, by order of Congress,
and on the 22d of May, without any C.‘\I]IC“:SC'd. mo-
tive, General Schuyler was restored to the command
of that department. Again, on the 1st of August, if
was resolved by Congress that General Schuyler
should repair to headquarters, while the commander-
in-chief was, by the same resolution, directed to
order such general officer as he should think proper to
assume the command in Schuyler’s place. The day
after the passage of that resolution, General Wash-
ington rec eived a letter from the New-E ngland del-
egation in Congress, suggesting the name of Genera
Gates as the officer who would be most likely to
restore harmony, order, and discipline, and to re-
lieve our affairs in that quarter.* We have, in a
former chapter, referred to the prejudices existing
against General Schuyler, and the causes of them.
These had now become so strong, and the Eastern

The original of this letter to Washington is in the handwriting of
Samuel Adams, and is signed by the following names, in the order in
which they here stand, viz.; John Adams, Nathaniel Folsom; Samuel
Adams, Henry Marchant, Elbridge Gerry, Eliphalet Dyer, William
Williams
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States, in particular, were so hostile to his longer
continuance in the command, that even his friends
acquiesced in the expediency, though not m the
justice, of his removal.* General Schuyler himsellf,
however, felt acutely the discredit of being recalled
at the most critical and interesting period of the
campaign ; when the labour and activity of making
preparations to repair the disasters of it had been
expended by him, and when an opportunity was
offered, as he observed, for that resistance and re-
taliation which might bring glory upon our arms.
The commander-in-chief paid no heed to the ad-
visory epistle from the New-England delegates, but
in a respectful letter to the President of Congress,
declined the honour of making the selection. Had
he not thus excused himself, it is not presumption
to intimate, that, influenced by the peculiar attitude
which Gates had even then begun to assume, and
acting, as Washington ever did, under the stern be-
hests of conscience, he would have made a different
selection from that proposed to him by the Eastern
representatives, and which ultimately prevailed.
General Gates, however, did not join the Northern
army until the 19th of August; and as the time was
not specified within which he was required to re-
port himself at headquarters, General Schuyler was
allowed to remain at the North, with the approba-
tion both of Congress and the commander-in-ch:ef,
until after the campaign had been closed by the sur-

* The calumnies directed against St. Clair and Schuyler, in regard to
the fall of Ticonderoga, were so gross as to exceed belief in their propa-
rution. 'These officers were denounced as traitors to the country, acting
in concert with the enemy ; und the ignorant and credulous were led to
believe that they had received an immense treasure in silver balls, fired
by Burgoyne into St, Clair's camp, and by his order picked up, and trans-
mitted to Schuyler at Fort George. Wilkinson, who was Gates's adjutant-
general, avers that respectable people questicned him with much gravity
as to the fact! These slandeis were, for factious purposes, counte-
nanced by respectable men, aud the consequence was general defection
and desertion, in the early part of the summer ; so that, at one time, the
Northern army was reduced to less than three thousand, and the militia
w0 less thau thirteen hundred, and these subject to no effectual restraint
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render of the British commander and his army
Nor were his exertions the less active, or his coun-
sels the less freely proffered, in the cause of his
country, because of the injustice by which his pride
had been wounded.

After the evacuation of Fort Edward,* as men-
tioned in a former chapter, General Schuyler fell
down the river to Stillwater, on the 3d of August,
and began to intrench his camp there on the 4th.
Burgoyne's ill-conceived expedition to Bennington,
under Colonel Baum, deprived him of one sixth of
his effective force on the 16th. It was not until
near a month afterward, during which time the
American army had been greatly strengthened at
Stillwater, that Burgoyne was again prepared to
advance. Having at length, by dint of almost in-
credible labour, brought up from Fort George a sup-
ply of provisions for thirty days, and thrown a
bridge of boats over the Hudson, the British com-
mander, with his army, crossed on the 13th and
14th of September, and encamped on the heights
and plains of Saratoga. On the night of the 17th,
Burgoyne encamped within four miles of the Amer-
ican army, and about noon on the 19th advanced
in full force against it, the latter having, in the
mean time, advanced towards the enemy three miles
above Stillwater. Burgoyne commanded his right
wing in person, covered by General Frazer and Col-
onel Breyman, with the grenadiers and light infantry,
who were posted along some high grounds on the
right. The front and flanks were covered by Iu-
dians, Provincials, and Canadians. The enemy’s
left wing and artillery were commanded by Gen-
erals Phillips and Riedesel, who proceeded along the

* It was during a skirmish before Fort Edward, when the Americans
were flying from a party of thirty or forty Indians, that the late Gen
eral Matthew Clarkson, of New-York—then Major Clarkson, and aid te
General Arnold—was wounded by a ball which passed through the mus
cular integnments of the throat. The wound was supposed to be fatas
at the time, but he soon recovered.
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great road. Colonel Morgan, who was detached to
observe their motions, and to harass them as they
advanced, soon fell in with their pickets in advance
of their right wing, attacked them sharply, and
drove them in. A strong corps was immediately
detached by the enemy against Morgan, who, after
a brisk engagement, was in turn compelled to give
way. A regiment being ordered to the assistance
of Morgan, whose riflemen had been sadly scatter-
ed by the vigour of the attack, the battle was re-
newed at about one o’clock, and was maintained
with spirit, though with occasional pauses, for three
hours, the commanders on both sides supporting
and re-enforcing their respective parties. By four
o'clock the battle became general, Arnold, with nine
Continental regiments and Morgan’s corps, having
completely engaged the whole right wing of the
enemy.* The contest, accidentally commenced in
the first instance, now assumed the most obstinate
and determined character. It was maintained four
hours longer, the soldiers being often engaged hand
to hand. The approach of night terminated the bat-
tle, the Americans retreating to their encampment,
but not from other necessity than the darkness.
The enemy were provided with artillery, but the
ground occupied by the Americans would not allow
the use of fieldpieces. The fluctuations of the bat-
tle were frequent during the day, and although the
British artillery fell into the hands of the Americans

* Holmes, who follows Stedman. General Wilkinson denies that
Amold shared much in this battle. He says, * Not a single general
officer was on the field of battle on the 19th, until evening, when Gen-
eral Larned was ordered out, Abont the same time Generals Gates and

) Arnold were in front of the centre of the camp, listening to the peal of
gmall arms, when Colonel Morgan Lewis, deputy quartermaster-general,
: returned from the field, and being questioned by the general, he reported
the undecisive progress of the action ; at which Arnold exclaimed, ¢ By
: G—d, I will put an end o it,’ and clapping spurs to his horse, galloped off

at full speed. Colonel Lewis immediately observed to General Gates,
¢ You had better order him back: the action is going well, and he may
by some rash act do mischief.’ I was instantly despatched, overtook.
»ad remanded Arnold to camp.”— Memoirs, vol. 1, chap. vi.

o—16
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at every alternate charge, the latter could neithe,
turn them upon tim enemy nor bring them off. The
wood prevented the last, and the want of a match
the first, as the lint-stock was invariably carried
away, fm& the |.1;:1[l|l\ of the transitions did not al-
low the Americans time to provide one.

Both armies remained in the same ;msmons until
the beginning of October, each intre nching itself
within lines and redoubts, ulllL,h, in the most eligi-
ble positions, were strengthened with batteries.
The engineer having the direction of the American
works at Behmus’s Heights was the celebrated
Polish patriot, Thaddeus Koseciusko, who had also
served in the same capacity at Ticonderoga.

The action of the 19th of September had again
essentially diminished the strength of Bmlrm,n(‘
added to which were the great and increasing diffi-
culties of obtaining 51111;;11(‘;5, and the perpetual an-
noyances to which he was subjected by the Amer-
ican scouts, and still larger detachments, who were
attacking his pickets, Iumfrm'r upon his flanks, and
cutting off his for: iging parties. By the 4th of Oc-
tober his supplies were so far reduced that the sol-
diers were placed upon short allowance; and his
pOH‘iIiUll was in other respects becoming so critical,

hat, hearing nothing from Sir Henry L‘lmlon for
whuse co-operation from New-York he had been
waiting since the battle of the 19th, the idea of ad-
rancing was relinquished, and instead thereof, dis-
cussions were held respecting the practicability of a
retreat. 'T'his could only be done by first dislodging
the Americans, whose forces, disciplined and undis-
ciplined, now far outnumbered his own, from their
posts on the heights. On the 4th of October, Bur-
goyne sent for Generals Phillips, Riedesel, and
Frazer, to consult with them on the best measures
to be taken. His project was to attack and attempt
to turn the left wing of the Americans at once ; but
the other generals judged that it would be dang.r-
ous to leave their stores under so feeble a protec-
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tion as eight hundred men, according to the propo-
sition of their commander. A second consultation
was held on the 5th, at which General Riedesel
positively declared that the situation of the army
had become so eritical, that they must either attack
and force the intrenchments of Gates, and thus
bring about a favourable change of affairs, or re-
cross the Hudson, and retreat upon Fort George.
Frazer approved of the latter suggestion, and Phil-
lips declined giving an opinion. General Burgoyne,
to whom the idea of retreating was most unwel-
come, declared that he would make, on the 7th, a re-
connoissance as near as possible to the left wing of
the Americans, with a view of ascertaining whether
it could be attacked with any prospect of success.
He would afterward either attack the army of Gates,
or retreat by the route in the rear of Battenkill
This was his final determination, and dispositions
were made accordingly.

Barly in the afternoon of the 7th, General Bur-
goyne drew out fifteen hundred men for the purpose
of making his proposed reconnoissance, which he
headed himself, attended by Generals Phillips, Rie-
desel, and Frazer. They advanced in three col-
umns towards the left wing of the American posi-
tions, entered a wheat-field, deployed into line, and
then began cutting up the wheat for forage. The
movement having been seasonably discovered, the
centre advanced guard of the Americans beal 1o
arms ; the alarm was repeated throughout the line,
and the troops repaired to the alarm posts. Colonel
Wilkinson being at headquarters at the momeut,
was despatched to ascertain the cause of the alarm.
He proceeded to within sixty or seventy rods of the
cnemy, ascertained their position, and returned, in-
forming General Gates that they were [oraging; at-
tempting also to reconnoitre the American left, and
likewise, in his opinion, offering battle. After a
brief consultation, Gates said he would indulge them;
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and Colonel Morgan, whose rifle corps was fornied
in front of the centre, was directed *to begin the
game.”* At his own suggestion, however, “'.lm'gdn
was allowed to gain the enemy’s right by a circui-

tous course, while Poor’s hllu.uh, should attack his
left. The movement was .unmml.al_\ executed : the
New- \'ur( and New- [i;:m;‘mhin; troops attacked the
enemy’s front and left wing with great nnpullmm |
while, true to his purpose, \]mtmn, just at the criti-
cal moment, poured down like a torrent from the
hill, and attacked the enemy’s right in front and
flank. The attack was soon extended along the
whole front of the enemy with great determination.
Major Ackland, at the head of the grenadiers, sus-
tained the attack of Poor with great firmness. But
on his right the light infantry, in attempting to
change front, being pressed with ardour by Colonel
De: Lshmll were lulu d to retire under a close fire,
and in great disorder. They were re-formed by ﬂle
Earl of Balcarras behind a fence in the rear of their
first position; but, being again attacked with great
audacity in front :l]ll[ flanks by superior numbers,
resistance became vain, and the whole line, com-
manded by Burgoyne in person, gave way, and made
a precipitate and disorderly retreat to his camp.

The right of Burgoyne had given way first, the re-
treat of which was covered by the light infantry and
a part of the 24th regiment. The left w Ing, in its

retreat, would inevitabl y have been cut to pieces but
for the intervention of the same troops, performing
in its behalf the same service that, a few moments
before, they had done for the right. 'T'his retreat
took place in exactly fifty-two minutes after the first
shot was fired : the enemy leaving two twelve and
six six-pounders on the field, with the loss of more

* General Burgoyne afterward stated to Wilkinson, in conversation,
that his purpose on that day was only to reconnoitre and obtain forage,
and that in half an hour, had his motives not been penetrated by Wilkin-
son and he not been LLI weked, he should have finished his observations
and returned to his camp.




AMERICAN REVOLUTION 245

than four hundred officers and men, killed, wounded,
and captured, and among them the flower of his of-
ficers, viz., General Frazer, Major Ackland,* Sir
Francis Cook, and many others.

The British troops had scarcely entered their
lines, when the Americans, led by General Arnold,
pressed forward, and, under a tremendous fire of
grapeshot and musketry, assaulted their works
throughout their whole extent from right to lefl.
Towards the close of the day, the enemy’s intrench-
ments were forced by the left of the Americans, led
by Arnold in person, who, with a few of his men,
actually entered the works; but, his horse being
killed, and the general himsell badly wounded in the
leg, they were {orced to retire, and the approach of

¢ General Wilkinson gives an interesting incident respecting Major
Ackland. While pursuing the flying enemy, passing over killed and
1y --|,'.|".-'L'., EI.:‘ heard a voice l,'.‘C:_';.:lIlll, « Protect me, s wrainst Lhis oy 1
Turning his head, he saw a lad, thirteen or fourte
liberately aiming at a wounded officer, lying in the angle ol a worm-
fence. 'The purpose of the boy was arrested : the officer proved to be
ihe brave Ackland, who had commanded the grenadiers, and was wound-
ed in both legs. He was immediately sent to headquarters. The story
of Major Ackland has been rendered familiar to all, even before escaping
the nursery, by the interesting narrative of Lady Harriet, his wife, who
was with the army, and who, two days after the battle, came to the
American camp, under a flag, to join her husband. The incident, from
the embellishments it received, was touching and romantic. When di-
vested of its poetry, however, and reduced to the plain matter of fact,
according to the statement of the late General Dearborn, which he au-
thorized Wilkinson to publish in his memoirs, the affiiir was not so very
extraordinary that it might not have been enacted by any other pretty
pan, under the same circumstances, who loved her husband. Major
land had already been sent down to Albany, when Lady Harriet ar-
rived at the camp of General Gates. She was treated with all possible
ourtesy, and permitted to follow and join him. Major Ackland was a
gallant officer and a generous foe While in New-York, on his parole,
ne did all in hig power to favour the treatment of distinguished Amer
can prisoners. After his return to England, he sacrificed his life in de
fence of American honour. Having procured a regiment, at a dinner of
military men, the courage of the Americans was questioned. He repell-
ed the imputation with decision. High words ensued, in the course of
which Ackland gave the lie direct to a subordinate officer named Lloyd
A meeting was the consequence, 11 which he was shot through the head
'..1-I_'. Hurriet lost her senses, and continued lltri'altlf_zl.'li LwWo yeurs ; aften
which she married a gentleman named Brudenell, who had accompanied
1er from the camp of Burgoyne. at Saratoga, to that of Gates, 11 search
if her wounded husband.

en years vl uge, de-
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darkness induced them to desist from the attack.
Meantime, on the left of Arnold’s detachment, the
Massachusetts troops, under Colonel Brooks, had
been still more successful, having turned the ene-
my’s right, and carried by storm the works occupied
by the German reserve. Colonel Breyman, their
commander, was killed, and his corps, reduced to
two hundred men, and hotly pressed on all sides,
was obliged to give way. This advantage was re-
tained by the Americans, and darkness put an end
to an action equally brilliant and important to the
Continental arms. Great numbers of the enemy
were killed, and two hundred prisoners taken. The
loss of the Americans was inconsiderable.

On the morning of the 8th, before daybreak, the
enemy left his position, and defiled into the plain.
where his provisions were ; but was obliged to hall
until the evening, because his hospital could not be
sooner removed.* The Americans immediately
moved forward, and took possession of the aban-
doned camp. Burgoyne having condensed his force
upon some heights which were strong by nature,
and covered in front by a ravine running parallel
with the intrenchment of his late camp, a random
fire of artillery and small arms was kept up through
the day: particularly on the part of the enemy’s
sharp-shooters and Provincials, who were stationed
in coverts of the ravine, which rendered their fire
annoying to every person crossing their line of vis-
ion. It was by a shot from one of these lurking par-
ties that General Lincoln, late in the day, received a
severe wound in the leg, while riding near the line.

*» Memoirs of the Baroness de Riedesel. = Of this lady General Wilkix-
son says, ** I have more than once seen her charming blue eyes bedewed
with tears at the recital of her sufferings. With two infant children,
she accompanied her husband, Major-general the Baron de Riedesel,
from Germany to England, from England to Canada, and from the last
place to the termination of General Burgoyne's cnmpaign, in which she
sufered more than the horrors of the grave in their most frightful as-
pect.” Her Memoirs were published in Berlin, in 1800. They are full
of mterest.
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The gallant Frazer, who had been mortally
wounded the day I]UIUIL died at 8 o L]Ll(]\ on the
morning of the 8th. Un the evening of his fall,
when it was rendered certain that he could not re-
cover, he sent for General Burgoyne, and requested
that he might be buried at 6 o’clock the following
evening, on the crest of a hill upon which a breast-
work had been constructed. It was a subject of
complaint against Burgoyne, that, in order to com-
ply with this request, he tl(lfivvd his retreat, and
thus contributed to the misfortunes of his army.
Be that as it may, the dying soldier’s request was
observed to the letter. At the hour appointed, the
body was borne to the hill that had been indicated,
attended | by the gene rals and their retinues; the fu-
neral service was read by the chaplain, and the
corpse interred, while the balls of the American
cannon were flying around and above the assembled
mourners.™

It was evident, from the movements in the ene-
my’s camp, that he was p1(+pnmtr to retreat; but
the American troops having, in the delirium of joy
consequent upon ther victory, neglected to draw and
eat their rations, b-..uur, withal, not a little fatigued
with the two days’ exertions, fell back to their camp,
which had been left standing in the morning. Re-
treat was, indeed, the only alternative remaining to
the British commander, since it was now quite cer-

he Baroness Riedesel, from whose spirited Memoirs the circum-
iances of this funeral are drawn, states that General Gates protested
uterward that, had he known what was going ou, he would have stopped
the fire immediately. It must have been a solemn spectacle, and Gener-
il Burgoyne himself described it with his usual eloquence and felicity
ol expression: ** The incessant cannonade during the solemnity; the
uly attitude nnd unaltered voice with which the chaplain officiated,

thongh frequently covered with dust, which the shot threw up on all
ildes of him ; the mute, but expressive mixture of sensibility and indig-

nation upon every countenance —these objects will remain to the last of

ife upon the mind of every man who was present. The ETOWINE duski-

ness added to the scenery, and the whole marked a character of that june
ture: that would make one of the finest h'lﬁiFJI'l!'l.‘; for the |}fzt|('tll of a mns-

that the field ever exhibited "— State of the Ezxpedition from Canada,

§c., ., p. 169.
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tain that he could not cut his way through the Amer-
ican army, and his supplies were reduced to a short
allowance for five days. He accordingly commen-
ced his retreat that night, but lingered by the way;
so that on the 10th he was yet near Saratoga, where
he took up a position. During this retreat he or-
dered the farmhouses to be burned by the way,
among which was the elegant mansion of General
Schuyler, with its mills and out-buildings. This
conduct on the part of the British commander was
viewed as alike disreputable and unnecessary.”
Well knowing that a farther retreat, with a view,
if possible, of reaching his depit at Fort George, and
escaping through the lakes, was now the only move-
ment to which Burgoyne could have recourse 1o
save the shattered remains of his army, Gates lost
no time in throwing several strong detachments of
troops into his rear. A division of fourteen hun-
dred was stationed on the heights opposite the ford
at Saratoga ; two thousand in his rear, to prevent his
retreat upon Fort Edward ; and fifteen hundred at
a ford yet higher up. Apprehensive that he should
be entirely penned up, Burgoyne sent forward a
corps of artificers to repair the bridges ; but these,
though strongly guarded, were driven precipitately
back. His thoughts were next directed to the open-
ing of a passage by the way of Fort Edward ; but
the Americans had already repossessed themselves
of that work. and were well provided with artillery.
Thus environed with difficulties, which were in-
creasing every hour, his effective force reduced to
less than three thousand five hundred men—the
American army increasing every moment, and now
forming an almost entire circle around him — har-

& & The cruelties which mark the retreat of your army, in burning the
gentlemen’s and farmers’ houses as it passed alung, are almost,
civilized nations, without precedent ; they suould nnt endenyour o Tl
those they could not conquer ; their conduct betrays more of the vindic-
tive malice of the monk than the generosity of a soldier’— Lellts of

Gates to Burgoyne, Oct. 12, 1777,

among

e e
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assed at all points, especially by the sharp-shoot-
ers who hovered about him—Burgoyne was driven
to the necessity of entering into a convention with
General Gates, which was done by the unanimous
consent of a general council of his officers. The
preliminaries were soon adjusted, and on the 17th
of October the royal army surrendered prisoners
of war. At the opening of the campaign the army
of Burgoyne numbered nine thousand two hundred
and thirteen men. The number that laid down their
arms was five thousand seven hundred and fifty-two.
His Indian allies had all, or nearly all, abandoned
him several days before.

On the same day that

were carried into effect,

the articles of capitulation
Burgoyne, with his general
officers, was received in the quarters of General
Gates, and entertained by him at dinner. They
were received with the utmost courtesy, and with
the consideration due to brave but unfortunate men.
The conversation was unrestrained, affable, and
free.* Indeed, the conduct of Gates throughout,
after the terms of the surrender had been adjusted,
was marked with equal delicacy and magnanimity,
as Burgoyne himself admitted in a letter to the Earl
of Derby. In that letter the captive general partic-
ularly mentioned one circumstance, which he said
exceeded all he had ever seen or read of on a like
occasion. It was the fact that, when the British
soldiers had marched out of their camp to the place
where they were to pile their arms, not a man of the
American troops was to be seen, General Gates hav-
ing ordered his whole army out of sight, that not

* The first meeting of Burgoyne with Gates is thus described by Wil-

kinson ; * General Gates, ndvised of Burgoyvue's aj h, met him at
" aridi e
and rates 1n o

the ||":='1 "]. .|LIH CLAINp, “l'.!'__-'_\'.H: 1 i l':l":"l roval unifo

frock , when they had approached nearly within sword’s
y reined up and halted. 1 then named the gentlemnen, and

| Burgoyne, raising his hat most grucefully, said, * The fortune of

ieneral Gates, has made me your prisoner;’ to which the conquer-
ar, retirming a courtly salute, promptly replied, I shall always be
ready to bear testimony that it has not been throngh any fault of yow

excellency.?”

Vor. I.-
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one of them should be a spectator of the humiliation
of the British troops, nor offer the smallest insult to
the vanquished. This was a refinement of delica-
cy, and of military generosity and politeness, re-
flecting the hlgll("wt credit upon the conqueror ; and
was spoken of by the officers of Burgoyne in the
strongest terms of approbation.

Flushed with his fortuitous success, or, rather,
with the success attending his fortuitous position,
Gates did not wear his honours with any remarka-
ble meekness. On the contrary, his bearing, even
towards the commander-in-chiefl, was far from re-
spectful. He did not even write to Washington on
the occasion until after a considerable time had
elapsed. In the first instance, Wilkinson was sent
as the bearer of despatches to Congress, but did not
reach the seat of that body until fifteen days after
the articles of capitulation had been signed; and
three days more were occupied in arranging his pa-
pers before they were presented.* The first men-
tion which W (I*-sllill"'l(}ll makes of the defeat of Bur-
goyne is contained in a letter written to his brother
on the 18th of October, the news having been com-
municated to him by Governor Clinton. He spoke
of the event again on the 19th, in a letter addressed
to General Putnam. On the 25th, in a letter ad-
dressed to that officer, he acknowledges the receipt
of a copy of the articles of capitulation from him ; ad-
ding, that that was the first authentic intelligence he
had received of the affair, and that he had begun to
grow uneasy, and almost to suspect that the previ-
uvus accounts were premature. And it was not un-
til the 2d of November that Gates deigned to com-
municate to the commander-in-chief a word upon
the subject, and then only incidentally, as though it
were a matter of secondary importance.t

* & It was on this occasion that one of the members made a motion in
Congress that they should compliment Colonel Wilkinson with the gift
of a pair of spurs.”

t All that Gates said upon the subject in the letter referred to was
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General Schuyler was in the camp with Gates at
the time of the surrender, though without any per-
sonal command; and when Burgoyne, with his
general officers, arrived in Albany, they were the
guests of Schuyler, by whom they were treated
with great hospitality.  The Baroness de Riedesel
speaks with great feeling of the kindness she re-
ceived from General Schuyler on her first arrival in
the camp of General Gates, and afterward at the
hands of Mrs. Schuyler and her daughters in Alba-
ny. 'The urbanity of his manners, and the chivalric
magnanimity of his character, smarting as he was
under the extent and severity of his pecuniary loss-
es, are attested by General Burgoyne himself, in
his speech, in 1778, in the British House of Com-
mons. He there declared that, by his orders, 4
very good dwelling-house, exceeding large store-
houses, great sawmills, and other out-buildings, to
the value, altogether, perhaps of £10,000 sterling,”
belonging to General Schuyler, at Saratoga, were
destroyed by fire a few days before the surrender.
He said, farther, that one of the first persons he saw,
after the convention was signed, was General
Schuyler ; and when expressing to him his regret
at the event which had happened to his property,
(ieneral Schuyler desired him * to think no more of
it, and that the occasion justified it, according to the
comprised in these words: * Congress having been requested immedi
ately to transmit copies of all my desputches to them, I am confident
your excellency has long ago received all the good news from this

quarter.” Two days before this, in a letter directed to Gates, Wash-
ington had administered one of those mild and dignified rebukes so very
like himself. In this letter, written in reference to a special mission of
Colonel Hamilton to the North, the commander-in-chief said, ‘“ By this
apportumity I do myself the pleasure to congratulate you on the signal
success of the army under your command, in compelling General Bur-
goyne aud his whole force to surrender themselves prisoners of war.”
. " . " ‘* At the same time, I cannot but regret that a
matter of such magnitude, and so interesting to our general operations,
should have reached me by report only, or through the channel of letters
uot bearing that authenticity which the importance of it required, and

which it would have received by a line under your signature, stating the
umple facts.”
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principles and rules of war. He did more.” said
Burgoyne; “he sent an aid de-camp® to conduct
me to Albany, in order, as he expressed it, to pro-
cure better quarters than a stranger might be able
to find. That gentleman conducted me to a very
elegant house, and, to my great surprise, presented
me to Mrs. Schuyler and her family, In that house
| remained during my whole stay in Albany, with a
table of more than twenty covers for me and my
friends, and every other possible demonstration of
hospitahity.”

CHAPTER XIIIL.

Simes=aneavsLy with the events rapidly sketched
in the oreceding chapter, an expedition from New-
York to the Nerth was undertaken by Sir Henry
Clinton, to which an incidental reference has al-
ready been made. The obvious intention of Sir Hen-
ry was to relieve General Burgoyne : a fact admitted
by Sir Henry himself, who excused the delay by
stating that he could not attempt it sooaer without
leaving the defences of New-York too feebly guard-
ed. This expedition consisted of about three thou-
sand men, convoyed by a fleet under Commodore
Hotham, who proceeded up the Hudson River early
in October, and was destined, in the first instance,
against Forts Montgomery and Clinton, near the
southern boundary of the Highlands. These for-
tresses had been constructed chiefly for the pui-
pose of preventing the ships of the eremy from as-
cending the river, and were not defensible in the
rear. 'They were commanded by Governor CGlinton.
with the assistance of General James Clintou. lis
brother.

* The late Colonel Richard Varick, then the mililary sestsiuy o
General Schuyler.




AMERICAN REVOLUTION. 2h3

The troops of the enemy were landed at Stoney
Point, twelve miles below the forts. A small ad-
vanced party of the Americans was met and attack-
ed at about 10 o’clock in the morning of the 6th of
October, when within two and a half miles of the
fort. This party was, of course, driven in, having
returned the enemy’s fire. When arrived within a
mile of the forts, Sir Henry divided his troops into
two columns ; the one, consisting of nine hundred
men under Lieutenant-colonel Campbell, was destin
ed for the attack on Fort Montgomery ; the other,
under the immediate command of Sir Henry Clin-
ton, was to storm the stronger post of Fort Clinton.
Ascertaining that the enemy were advancing to the
west side of the mountain, to attack his rear, Gov-
ernor Clinton ordered a detachment of upward of
one hundred men under Colonel Lamb, together
with a brass fieldpiece and fifty men more, to take
a strong position in advance. They were soon
sharply engaged, and another detachment of an
equal number was sent to their assistance. They
kept their fieldpiece sharply playing upon the ene-
my’s advancing column, and were only compelled
to give way by the point of the bayonet, spiking
their fieldpiece before they relinquished it. In this
preliminary encounter the loss of Sir Henry was
Bevere.

Pressing rapidly onward, both forts were in a
few minutes attacked with vigour upon all sides.
The fire was incessant during the afternoon until
about five o’clock, when, a flag approaching, Lieuten-
ant-colonel Livingston was ordered to receive it.
The officer was the bearer of a peremptory sum-
mons to surrender, as he alleged, to prevent the ef-
[usion of blood. Nor would he treat, unless upon
the basis of a surrender of the garrison as prisoners
of war, in which case he was authorized to assure
them of good usage. The proposition being reject-
ed * with scorn,” in about ten minutes the attack
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was renewed, and kept up until after dark, when
the enemy forced the American lines and redoubts
at both forts, and the garrisons, determined not to
sucrender, undertook to fight their way out. The
last attack of the enemy was desperate ; but the
Americans, militia as well as regulars, resisted with
great spirit, and, favoured by the darkness, manv of
them escaped. Governor Clinton himself escaped
by leaping a precipice in the dark, and jumping into
a boat, in which he was conveyed away. His broth-
er was wounded and taken prisoner. Of the British
forces, Lieutenant-colonel Campbell and Count Gra-
bouski, a Polish nobleman, engaged as a volunteer
under Sir Henry, were slain. The loss of the
Americans. Killed, wounded, and missing, was stated
at two huadred and fifty. The British loss was stu-
ted at two nuadred, but was believed to have been
much more thanu that of the Americans.

On the 7th, a summons to surrender, signed joint-
ly by Sir Henry Ciinton and Commodore Hotham,
was sent to Fort Constitution ;* but the flag was
fired upon, and retmned. To avenge the insult, an
attack was immediately determined upon ; but on ar-
riving at the fort on the following day, there was
no enemy to assault, un evacuation having taken
place, so precipitate as to leave considerable booty
to the conqueror. Sir Henry Clinton proceeded no
farther, but a strong detaclunent of his army, under
General Vaughan, pursued the enterprise, with
Commodore Hotham, as far north as Aisopus,t de-
stroying several vessels by the way. At Asopus
Creek there were two small batteries and an arm-
ed galley, mounting, however, in all, but six or sev-

* Situated at West Point.

t The ancient Dutch name of Kingston, the present shire town of the
county of Ulster, New-York. It was u large and wealthy inland town,
built nlmost entirely of stone, upon a rich and beautiful plain about three
miles from the river. The naked walls of many of the houses destroyed
by Gemeral Vaughan were standing, unrepaired, until within five or
glx years
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en guns. These were easily silenced. General
Vaughan then effected a landing, marched to the
town, and laid it in ashes. Large quantities of
stores had been accumulated at this place, which
were, of course, destroyed. Disappointed, however,
by the disastrous termination of the campaign of
Burgoyne, Sir Henry Clinton made an expeditious
return to the city.

But the war was this year fruitful in military
events in other parts of the confederation, some of
the principal of which may appropriately be passed
in review at this stage of the present chapter. In
the month of March, after the return of the British
troops from their bootless expedition through the
Jerseys, to New-York, Colonel Bird was detached
against Peekskill, with five hundred men, for the
purpose of destroying the American stores deposit-
ed at that place. General M‘Dougall, commanding
a small guard at the depit, on the approach of a
force which he had not the power to resist, set fire
to the stores and retreated. A similar expedition,
for the same object, was directed against Danbury
towards the close of April, consisting of two thou-
sand men, under the conduct of Major-general Try-
on. Landing at Compo Creek, between Norwalk
and Fairfield, the march of Governor Tryon to the
point of his destination was almost unopposed. A
large quantity of provisions, beef, pork, and flour,
had been collected by the Americans at that place,
which were guarded only by about one hundred mi-
litia and Continental troops. Not being able to
oppose the enemy, Colonel Huntington retired to a
neighbouring height, and awaited re-enforcements.
The town of Danbury and the stores were burned on
the 26th of April.* During the afternoon and fol-
lowing night, Generals Wooster, Arnold, and Silli-

* The property destroyed consisted of eighteen houses; eight hun-
dred barrels of pork and beef ; eight hundred barrels of flour; two thou-
sand bushels of grain, and seventeen hundred tents.
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man collected such militia forces as they could, for
the purpose of harassing the retreat of the enemy
the next morning. With three hundred men, Woos-
ter gallantly attacked his rear at 11 o'clock on the
97th. while Arnold, with five hundred more, awaited
his arrival at Ridgeway. Wooster fell, mortally
wounded, and his troops were obliged to give way.
At Ridgeway, Arnold skirmished with the enemy
for about an hour, but could not make a stand, or
prevent them from remaining at that place over
night. On the 28th, the march of the enemy was
resumed, as also was the skirmishing by General
Arnold, which was continued until five o’clock in
the afternoon; when, as they approached their
ships, the Americans charged with intrepidity, but
were repulsed and broken. Embarking immediate-
ly, Governor Tryon returned to New-York, with a
loss of one hundred and seventy men. The loss of
the Americans was one hundred. 'T'hese predatory
excursions were retaliated by the Americans under
Colonel Meigs, who made a brilliant expedition
against Sag Harbour, where the enemy had collect-
ed a quantity of stores. The guard was taken by
surprise, the place carried by the bayonet, the stores
destroyed, including twelve transport vessels, and
Colonel Meigs recrossed the Sound to Guilford
without the loss of a man.

After the return of the British forces from New-
Jersey, Sir William Howe suffered them to remain
upon Staten Island until near midsummer, when, as
the reader has seen in a previous chapter, he em-
barked with sixteen thousand men, and sailed for
the Chesapeake Bay. On the 24th of August he
landed at Elkton, whence, after being joined by
Generals Grant and Knyphausen, he directed his
march upon Philadelphia. Anticipating the design
of the British commander, Washington threw him-
self, with his whole disposable force, between Sir
William and Philadelphia, for the purpose of mter
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ce |umu and bringing him to a general ¢ ngagement.
The disastrous ]I.lT.T'l of lmul[h wine was fought on
the 11th of September. The loss of the Americans
was three hundred killed, and six hundred wounded
and taken prisoners. That of the enemy was about
one hundred Kkilled and four hundred wounded.
While General Washington wirf the main army re-
treated across the Schuylkill, General Wayne was
left at the Paoli with fifteen hundred men, hu the
purpose of gaining and harassing the enemy’s rear.

But. Il.u\‘»IiJl*\I.IJHIHU the nulllul vigilance of this
officer, he was surprised in the course of the night,

and routed, by General Gray, u]m had been detach-
ed for that purpose with two regiments of the ene-
my’s line and a body of light troops. General
‘r'a'.;.\'m had atte m[mu! to conceal himself upon an
elevated piece of woodland, having an opening of a
few acres upon which his troops bivou: uJu d for the

Ji.i_;:ll 1 perfect security, as was supposed. The

roach of the enemy was so cautious as to take
=.!.-. ‘um ricans completely by surprise. Guided by
the light of their fires, the enemy succeeded in cut-

'..-::_t off their outposts and pickets without noise, and
then rushed upon the sleeping camp without firing a
gun, and depending alone upon the bayonet. Three

ndred were slain, many of whom were transfixed

| Irn'um ts as they lay sleeping in their tents.
But, though surprised, General W ayne was cool and
self-possessed ; and, as the enemy himself acknowl-
edged, ** by his prudent dispositions” in the moment
of alarm, succeeded in bringing off the remainder of
I1s troops.* :

e twenty years ago the citizen soldiers of the neichbourhood of

1 y collected the remains of such of the brave men who
lain on that occasion as conld be found, and interred them on the
f the massucre. A small mound was raised over them, which is
in, and surrounded by a plain marble monument, a square block,
h an urn at the top, bearing inscriptions upon each of the g:des, in
the {ollowine words :

FiR ** Sacred to the memory of the patriots who, on this spot, fell
o—17
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General Washington had taken post on the east.
ern bank of the Schuylkill, about sixteen miles from
Germantown. General Howe marched upon Ger-
mantown with his main army, where he arrived on
the 26th of September. On the 27th, Lord Cornwal-
lis took possession of Philadelphia without resis.
ance. On the 4th of October, the battle of German-
town was fought, in which it was claimed by the
enemy that the Americans were defeated, although
it was, in fact, a drawn battle. This action Wis
produced by an attempt of the commander-in-chief
to effect something by way of surprise. Having
ascertained the situation of the enemy, the Amer-
icans marched all night, and arrived at Germantown
at daylight. The enemy was attacked upon two
quarters, in both of which the Americans were suc-
cessful. Indeed, the enemy, as it was afterward
ascertained, were thrown into such a state of tumult
and disorder, and so panic-stricken, that a retreat to
Chester had been resolved upon. But the morning
was so excessively dark and foggy, that neither the
advantages gained by the Americans, nor the confu-
sion of the enemy, could be perceived. This cir-
cumstance, by concealing from the Americans the

a sacrifice to British barbarity, during the struggle for American inde-
pendence, during the night of the 20th of September, 1777.”

SEcoND : ‘¢ Here repose the remains of fifty-three American soldiers,
who were the victims of cold-blooded cruelty in the well-known massa-
cre of the Paoli, while under the command of Genersl Anthony Wayne,
an officer whose military conduct, bravery, and humanity were equally
conspicuons throughout the Revolutionary war.”

THIRD: “The atrocious massacre, which this stone commemorates,
was perpetrated by British troops under the immediate command of
Major-general Gray.”

FounTH: ** This memorial, in honour of Revolutionary patriotism, was
erected September 20, 1817, by the Republican Artillerists of Chester
county, aided by the contributions of their fellow-citizens."

An annual military parade is held upon this interesting field. The
name—The Paoli—is derived from a celebrated tavern, at two miles’ dis-
tance, on the great Lancaster road, which was established contempora-
neously with the Corsican struggle for independence, and named in
honour of the unfortunate chieftain of that enterprise. It bears the

sameo name still

P e e B o e e i S
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true situation of the enemy, obliged the commander-
in-chief to act with more caution and less expedi-
tion than he could have wished ; and, what was still
more unfortunate, it served to keep the different di-
visions of the Americans in ignorance of each other’s
movements, and preventing their acting in concert.
It also occasioned them to mistake one another for
the enemy. In this situation, it was considered un-
safe to push too far through a strong village, while
enveloped in a haze so thick as to border upon posi-
tive darkness. The consequence was a retreat by
the Americans at the very instant when victory was
declaring in their favour. The action lasted two
hours, and the fighting was severe, the loss of the
Americans being about one hundred men, killed,
wounded, and missing. Among the slain was the

brave General I\{ash,aof North Carolina. Severe,
however, as the action was, the enemy were ren-
dered nothing better by the event ; while the result
was regarded by Washington *“as rather unfortu-
nate than injurious.” *

But all the advantages thus gained by the enemy

* This brief account of the battle of Germantown is drawn from Wash-
ington's letters to the President of Congress, his brother, and Governor
Trumbull. General Washington attributed the successes of Sir Will-
ian Howe in Pennsylvania, and his own consequent disasters, to the
aputhy and disaffection of the people of that state. In one of his letters
tpon the subject, he says, ** The Northern army, before the surrender
of Generul Burguyne, was re-enforced by upward of twelve hundred mi-
litin, who shut the only door by which Burgoyne could retreat, and cut
off all his supplies. How different our case ! The disaffection of a great
part of the inhabitants of this state, the langour of others, and the inter-
nul distraction of the whole, have been among the great and insuperable
difficulties which [ have met with, and have contributed not a little to
my embarrassments this campaign.” Many other letters from the com-
mander-in-chief, written during the winter and spring of 1778, complain
of the conduct of the people of Pennsylvania in supplying the enemy in
Philwlelphia with provisions, particularly from Bucks county. In a let-
ter o Major-general Armstrong, of that state, dated at Valley Forge,
March 27th, he says, *The situation of matters in this state is melan-
choly and alarming., We have daily proof that a majority of the people
i this quarter are only restrained from supplying the enemy with horses,
and every kind of necessary, through fear of punishment ; and although
| have qul'li! a nuwmber of severs examples, | cannot put a stop to the in-
lurcourse,”




260 BORDER WARS OF THE

had been more than counterbalanced by the rever-
ses of St. Leger, and the nearly simultaneous cap-
ture of Burgoyne and his well-appointed army at
the North. Another circumstance, gratifying o the
friends of the American arms, was the repulse of
Count Donop, at Red Bank. The count, a brave
and experienced officer, fell, mortally wounded, and
about 400 hundred of his troops were killed. The
lJaureis won by Colonel Christopher Greene, the
American commander on that occasion, were 1ot
the less creditably worn because of the necessity
which compelled him subsequently to abandon the
post, on the approach of Cornwallis with a greatly
superior force.

But neither the fall of Burgoyne nor the flight of
St. Leger relieved the border settlements beyond
Albany from their apprehensions. Though in less
danger of a sweeping invasion, yet the scouts and
scalping parties of the Tories and Indians were con-
tinually hovering upon their outskirts ; and so crafty
were the foe, and so stealthy their movements, that
no neighbourhood, not even the most populous vil-
lages, felt themselves secure from those sudden and
bloody irruptions which mark the annals of Indian
warfare. Very soon after the capture of Burgoyne,
there was an occurrence in the neighbourhood of Al-
bany, of a highly painful description. Previous 10
the commencement of the war, a militia company
had been organized in the town of Berne, (:mu]n"f-
sing eighty-five men, commanded by Captain Ball
On the breaking out of hostilities, the captain, with
sixty-three of his men, went over 1o the enemy.
Thus deserted by their leader, the command of the
residue of the company devolved upon the ensign,
Peter Deitz. These all embraced the cause of the
country, and for the safety of their settlement threw
up a little picketed fort, at a place now called the Bea-
ver Dam. Deitz was soon afterward commissioned
a captain, and his brother, William Deitz, his lieu
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ienant, On the approach of Burgoyne they march-
ed to Saratoga, and joined the army of Gates. Here
the captain was killed by the accidental dischs irge
of the cun of one of his own men. William Deitz
immediately succeeded to the vacancy, and render-
ed such truml service in the campaign as specially
to ineur ilw vengeance of the Tories and Indians.
Availing themselves of an early opportunity to glut
their hate, a party of them stole into the settlement
of Berne, where they surprised and made prisonel
of the captain in his own house. They next brought
him forth into the court, bound him to the gate-post,
and then successively l}umrrht out his father and
mother, his wife and Lillll_hl"l],dlld deliberately mur-
dered them all before his eyes! The captain was
himself carried a prisoner to Niagara, where he ul-
timately fell a sacrifice to their cruelty. An in-
stance of more cool and fiendlike barbarity does
not occur in the annals of this extraordinary con-
test. It was only equalled by the conduct of the
Tories afterward at W yoming, and transcended by
the refinement of cruelty practised by a French offi-
cer, during one of the earlier wars of the Indians,
uplm an unhappy prisoner among the remote tribe
of the Dionondadies, as related by La Potherie.
Other incidents occurred at Albany and in its
neighbourhood, at about the same period, which are
deemed worthy of note. At the time of Sir John
Johnson’s flight from Johnstown, his lady had re-
mained behind, and was removed immediately, or
soon afterward, to Albany. It was in this year that
Mr. John Taylor, after having performed several
important confidential services under the direction
of General Schuyler, was appointed a member of the
Albany Council of Safety. He was a man of great
shrewdness and sagacity, deliberate in the forma-
tion of his purposes, and resolute in their execution
when matured. The Whigs of Albany were greatly
annoyed during the whole contest by the Loyalists
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resident among them; many of whom, it was dis.
covered from time to time, must have been in cor-
respondence with the enemy. The duties of the
Council of Safety were consequently the more ar-
duous, requiring sleepless vigilance and unwearied
activity, together with firmness and energy in some
cases, and great delicacy in others. A watchful
though general surveillance was necessarily enfor-
ced over the community at large, while an eye of
closer scrutiny was kept upon the character and
conduct of great numbers of individuals composing
that community. Mr. Taylor was in every respect
equal to the station, and was singularly fortunate
both in detecting and defeating the evil machina-
tions of the adherents of the crown.

Among his early discoveries was the important
circumstance that Lady Johnson was in active and
frequent correspondence with her husband, and that
the facilities derived from confidential agents and
her powerful connexions enabled her to keep the
enemy on either side—in New-York and Canada—
correctly advised, not only of the movements and
designs of each other, but likewise of the situation
of American affairs. Under these circumstances, Mr.
Taylor proposed a resolution to the council, directing
her removal forthwith from that part of the country.
The proposition was received with disfavour, and
encountered much opposition in the council. Somé
of the members seemed to lack the firmness neces-
sary to adopt such a resolution, anticipating the re-
sentment and probable vengeance of the baronet, on
Learing that his lady had been treated with anything
bordering upon harshness; while others, probably,
thought the precaution either would be useless, or
that it was scarce worth while thus to wage war
upon 2 woman. Convinced, however, of the dan-
ger of her longer presence in that section of the
country, Mr. Taylor urged her removal so strenu-
ously as at length to prevail, taking upon himsclf
the execution of the order.
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Sir John, greatly exasperated at the measure,
availed himself of a flag to admonish the mover of
the resolution that, should the chances of war
throw that gentleman into his possession, he should
be instantly delivered over to the fury of the sava-
ges. 'The reply of the councillor was characteristic
of the man: * If Mr. Taylor should be so fortunate
as to have Sir John Johnson in his power, he should
most assuredly be treated as a gentleman.” Sever-
al attempts were subsequently made by the enemy,
probably under the direction of Sir John, to make a
captive of that gentleman. It being his custom to
ride frequently on horseback for exercise, and often
on the road leading towards Schenectady, in compa-
ny, generally, with his intimate friend through life,
Major Popham, who was then in the military family
of General James Clinton, a small scout of Indians,
under the direction of Captain Brant, was on one
occasion planted in ambush upon that road, at a
point where it was supposed he would be sure to
pass. Providentially, however, and for reasons
never explained, and perhaps not known to them-
selves, on the morning referred to the friends short-
ened their ride, and wheeled about without passing
the ambuscade, though approaching it within stri-
king distance. One of the Indians, afterward taken
prisoner, stated that Mr. Taylor might easily have
been shot, but that their orders were to take him
alive.

Another, and a yet bolder scheme, was subsequent-
ly adopted to effect the capture of the sagacious
committee-man, for which purpose a party of the
enemy were actually introduced, not only into the
¢ity of Albany, but into the loft of Mr. Taylor’s own
stable, standing in the rear of his house, and upon
the margin of the river. In order, moreover, to fa-
cilitate their flight with the intended captive, a ca-
noe had been procured and moored at the water’s
edge. Their design was to enter the house in the nights
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and seize and bear him silently away. One of the
servants happening to step into the yard after the
family had retired to rest, the lurking foes thought
the time for a rush had arrived. But, in their ['J['{_l'jj-
arations to spring forward, they alarmed the ser-
vant too soon, and he was enabled to get back into
the house, bolt the door, and give timely warning,
1

]

‘he insidious purpose was, of course, frustrated. :
lor were these the only hostile attempts direct-
ed. at about the same period, against individuals at
Albany ; General Schuyler was again selected lora
victim even of assassination. Simarting under their
disappointment in the overthrow of Burgoyne, to
which discomfiture the CHergy and efforts of Schuy-
ler had so essentially contributed, a conspiracy Wis
formed either to capture or destroy him. For this
purpose the Tories corrupted a white man, who had
been patronised by the general, and who was even
then in his employment, to do the foul deed, and
also one of the friendly Indians, whose clan had for
years been in the habit of hutting upon his premises
in Saratoga, during the fishing season at Fish Creek,
which ran through his farm, and in which immense
quantities of fish were then taken, To effect their
object, the two assassins took their station undera
covert, in a valley about half a mile from the gen-
eral’s premises, by which they had previously ascer-
tained he was r~5.'n|'i1._\' to pass. They soon deseried
his approach on horseback. As he advanced, they
took deliberate aim; when, with a sudden move-
ment, the Indian struck up his associate's gun, with
the exclamation, ** I cannot kill kim : I have ealen his
bread too .:f';; n?

[tarly in the autumn, the inhabitants of Unadilla
and the contiguous settlements in that direction
were again imploring the commander of Fort Schuy-
ler for a detachment of troops to protect them from
another expedition, which, the Oneidas had inform-
ed them, Colonels Johnson and Butler were getting
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on foot at Oswego. The project, according to the
news obtained from the Oneidas, L‘tlllik‘-llli_ﬂil?mi a
simultaneous descent of the Tories and Indians
upon five different points, comprehending all the
[umtl[hll settlements west of Schenectady. These
unpleasant tidings were in some degree Lunlll:twd
by the discovery of alarge scouting party of the en-
emy on the Sac sond: 1ga, at the north of Johnstown.

The alarm was increased, towards the close of
October, by the arrival of an express at the Canajo-
harie Castle, announcing that within a few days Sir
John Johnson would return to Oswego, with six
hundred regular troops and a large body of Indians.
It was stated tnat Sir John had succeeded in raising
twenty-two Indian nations in arms against the colo-
nists. They were about sending a belt to the Onei-
dus, and, in the event of their refusal to take up the
hatchet with their brethren in behalf of the king,
they were themselves to be attacked, as the firs
measure of the invasion. These facts were unine-
diately communicated to General Schuyler by a let-
ter dated October 25th, announcing also the flight, to
the ranks of Sir John Johnson, of Hon-Yost Schuy-
ler, and twelve or fourteen of his neighbours at Fall
Hill and in that vicinity, as heretofore stated. The
letter contained a strong appeal for an additional
force to defend the valley, with an assurance that,
in the event of I‘t-L‘vi\'iuf no farther means of secu-
rity, the greater part of the inhabitants had become
so discouraged that they would probably lay down
their arms ; 1n other \\{llti‘-\ throw themselves upon
the protection of the king.

But, after all the .1Lu|u nothing very serious re-
sulted from these thre: 11L‘Illll=T indications during the
residue of the year 1777. Still the Congress was
anwilling that the year 5110[1'[’ close without making
one more effort to win back the Six Nations from
the British service, at least to a state of neutrality,
if nothing more. With this view. on the 3d of De-
Vor. 1.—X
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cember an eloquent and powerful address to the
Indians of those nations was reported by the com-
mittee on Indian affairs, and adopted.

But the appeal produced no effect. It was one of
the misfortunes incident to the poverty of the coun-
try at that crisis, that Congress was unable to con-
ciliate the friendship of the Indians by such a liberal
dispensation of presents as they had been in the
habit of receiving from the superintendents of the
crown, and as they were yet enabled to receive
from the British government at or by the way of
Montreal. Thayendanegea, carly in the preceding
year, had taunted General Herkimer, at Unadilla,
with the poverty of the Continental government,
which, he said, was not able to give the Indians a
blanket. The charge was but too true; and the
officers of the crown were not slow in availing
themselves of it, not only by appeals to their cupid-
ity, but by a more lavish bestowment of presents
than ever. And under these circumstances, with
the single exceptions of the Oneidas and the feeble
band of the Tuscaroras, all the efforts of Congress
to conciliate their friendship, or even to persuade
them to neutrality, proved unavailing.

Thus ended the military operations of the year
1777. At the close of the Pennsylvania campaign,
the British army went into winter-quarters in Phila-
delphia, and the American at Valley Forge. On the
15th day of November, what are now called the old
“ Articles of Confederation and Perpetual Union”
between the thirteen colonies were adopted by
Congress ; and on the 22d of the same month it
was resolved that all proposals for a treaty between
the United States and Great Britain inconsistent
with the independence of the former should be re-
jected. It was likewise farther resolved that no
conference should be held with any commissioners
on the part of Great Britain, unless, as a measure
preliminary, the fleets and armies of that power
were withdrawn.
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CHAPTER XIV.

Tue opening of the year 1778 was marked by an
event that diffused universal joy among the people.
It had been rightly judged by American statesmen,
that, smarting under the loss which France had ex-
perienced by the war ending in 1763, of her broad
North American possessions, the government of
that country would be nothing loth to aid in the
infliction of a like dismemberment of territory upon
Great Britain. With a view, therefore, of cultiva-
ting friendly relations with France, and deriving as-
sistance from her if possible, commissioners had
been despatched to the court of Versailles, in 1776,
with the plan of a treaty of amity and commerce to
be submitted to that government. Still, more than a
year had elapsed, during which the commissioners*
had been exerting themselves to the utmost to ob-
tain a recognition of the independence of the United
States, without success. It was evident that France
looked upon the revolt of the American colonies
with secret satisfaction ; but she had been so much
weakened by the former contest, that time was
needed for repose and recovery of her stirength.
Hence, from the arrival of the commissioners in the
French capital, in December, 1776, to the close of
1777, they had been living upon “hope deferred.”
It is true that the Americans received great assist-
ance from the French in supplies of arms and am-
munition ; and although not openly allowed, yet
means were found by the American privateers se-
cretly to dispose of their prizes in French ports.

* The commissioners were Benjamin Franklin, Silas Deane, and Ar-
thur Lee. Mr. Jefferson had been originally designated as one of the

commiss'oners ; but, declining the appointment, Mr. Lee was snlected
in his stead,
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Still, the government was lavish in its professions
of friendship for England, even though confiden-
tially giving the Americans strong assurances of
sympathy and ultimate assistance. The untoward
result of Burgoyne’s campaign, intelligence of whicl
was received in Paris early in December, was the
opportune means of ending this vascillating policy
on the part of the court of Versailles. The fuv!iu_l__{'s
of the French people towards England could no
longer be disguised, since the news occasioned as
much general joy as though the victory had been
achieved by their own arms. The consequence
was, that, on the 6th of February, the French goy-
ernment entered into treaties of amity, commerce,
and alliance with the United States, on principles
of the most perfect reciprocity and equality. The
French cabinet clearly foresaw that this measure
would soon produce a war between themselves and
England, and acted in the expectation of such a con-
sequence. Indeed, M. Girard, one of the French sec-
retaries of state, in his conferences with the Amer-
ican commissioners, had the frankness to avow that
they were not acting wholly for the sake of the
United States, but because they thought the mo-
ment a favourable one for humbling their haughty
rival, by aiding in the dismemberment of her em-
pire. Hence, the king had not only determined to
acknowledge the independence of the United States,
but to support it, without the expectation of compen-
sation.

The news of the treaty with France was not re-
ceived in the United States until late in the spring.*

* The event was commemorated in the American camp, on the Tthof
May, in u style corresponding with its importance, o general order for
the celebration having been issued by the commander-in-chief, [t be-
ran as follows : It having pleased the Almighty Ruler of the Universe
to defend the cause of the United American States, and finally to raise
us up & powerful friend among the princes of the earth to establish our
liberty and independence upon ulasting foundation, it becomes us t gl
apart a day for gratefully acknowledging the Divine goodness, and cele
brating the important event, which we owe to his divine interpositicn.”
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Meantime other circumstances occurred during the
winter, in the northern part of New-York, deserv-
ing of note in the present n: irrative.  First among

these was the notable project of General Gates im
a second descent, in mid-winter, upon Canada. In
November iullm'.mrr the defeat of Burgoyne, on the
reorganization of the Board of W ar, Gates, in the
first flush of his pu[m arity, was pl: I.L{‘{l at its head
as president. He had not been long at Yorktown,
where Congress was then in session, before he con-
ceived the project of directing an mupuun into
Canada across the ice upon Lake Ch 1amplain, for the
purpose ul e mtm\ ing the stores and shij pping of the
enemy at John’s, and, possibly, of striking a
sudden hl:m lll'nll Montreal. It was subsequently
but too well ascertained that the condition of the
Northern army, with which Gates certainly ought
to have been acquainted, was by no means such as
to warrant the undertaking of any offensive enter-
prise.  Still, the victorious commander of the North
had the address to obtain a vote of C longress direct-
ing the expedition, the conduct of which was in-
trusted to the Marquis de Lafayette. This gallant
young nobleman had been burning with a desire to
distinguish himself in a separate command, and this
project ope ned to him the prospect of realizing the

object dearest to his heart.

But neither in the inception nor in the maturing
of the enterprise had the commander-in-chief been
consulted ; and the first knowledge he possessed of
the project was derived from a letter from General
Gates, enclosing another to the marquis, informing
him of his appointment to the command. The dis-

The pageunt was strictly military, and is described by the letters of that
doy as exceedingly brilliant. The joy manifested was unfeigned and

uuqu-uk ible. ihL cominan cLl r-in-chief dined in public with all the offi-
cers of his army. * When his excellency took his leave, there was a
universal clap, w ;|1h loud huzzas, which continued until he had Lllllll!l.'

ed o quarter of o mile, during which time there were u thousand hats
tossed in the air. His excellency turned round with his retinue, and
huzzued severasl times.”” — Letter o”an officer.
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respect to the commander-in-chief, to whom the
youthful soldier was bound by the strongest ties of
friendship and respect, was so manifest, that the
marquis at first hesitated in accepting the command.
Nor was his reluctance lessened by the suspicious
circumstance that General Conway, the base instru-
ment of the Gates faction in the conspiracy against
Washington, had been assigned as his second in
command. Soaring above all selfish considerations,
however, Washington advised the m Luqms to accept
the trust confided to him by (onglesg Lafayette,
therefore, repaired from the camp at Valley Forge
to Yorktown, to be more particularly advised as to
the object gunl the details of the enterprise. The
plan of organizing a light but efficient force, to make
a sudden dash upon St. John’s, and tlcstl‘uy the flo-
tilla which gave the enemy the command of Lake
Champlain, and to inflict such farther injury as might
be effected in a rapid campaign, was fully unfolded
to him. Ample supplies of men and means were
promised by Gates; and, after securing the services
of the Baron de Kalb to the expedition—an officer
older in rank than Conway, who would necessarily
be his second in command—the marquis accepted
the appointment.

Full of high hopes, a brilliant enterprise before him,
and panting for an opportunity to signalize himself in
a separate ((ll]]l‘ﬂd[l(l the marquis pushed forward to
Albany, amid all the rigours of winter, to enter at
once upon the service, and apparently with as much
confidence as though he had achieved the exploit.
Sad, however, was his disappointment at the postura
of affairs on his arrival at Albany. Conway, who had
arrived there three days before him, at once assured
him that the expedition was quite impossible. Such,
likewise, was the opinion of Generals Schuyler
Lincoln, and Arnold, the latter two of whom were
detained at Albany by the unhealed wounds receiv
ed upon the fields of Saratoga. Indeed, he was no
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long 1n ascertaining, from the quartermastcer, com-
missary, and clothier-generals, that there was a
lamentable deficiency of almost every necessary of
which he had been led to expect an abundant sup-
ply. The number of troops was altogether inade-
quate. Three thousand effective men were believ-
ed to be the smallest force that would suffice, and
that number was promised. But scarcely twelve
hundred could be mustered fit for duty, and the
greater part of these were too naked even for a
summer campaign. Their pay was greatly in ar-
rear, and officers and men were alike indisposed to
the service.* Originally it had been intended to
confide the proposed expedition to General Stark,
whose prowess at the battle of Bennington had ren-
dered him exceedingly popular with the people ; and
it was supposed that he could at once bring into the
field a sufficient number of his mountaineers to strike
the blow with success. Stark was invited to Al-
bany, and James Duane was sent thither from Con-
gress to confer with him upon the subject. Butthe
inducement offered by Congress being in the form
of a bounty, contingent only upon success, was
thought not sufficient ; and when a representation
of the circumstances was made by Mr. Duane to
that body, the scheme was changed and enlarged, at
the suggestion of General Gates, according to the
plan which the marquis was to execute.

Having attentively examined the situation of af-
fiirs and the means within his control, and consult-

* On the 19th of February, James Duane wrote to Governor Clinton
respecting the impracticability of the enterprise, since the marquis could
find neither the troops nor the preparations. In the course of his letter,
Mr. Duane said of the marquis, ** His zeal for this country, of which
he has given marks even to enthusiasm, and his ardent desire of glory,
sl him to wish the expedition practicable ; but he is too considerate to
pursue it rashly, or without probable grounds of a successful issue. I
mmust mention to your excellency a circumstunce which shows the liber-
ality of his disposition. He determined, on his entering into Canada, to
supply his army through his own private bills on France to the amount

of five or six thousand guineas, and to present that sum to Congress as
4 proot of his love to America and the rights of human nature.”
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ed with the several able captains at Albany, the
young soldier saw with inexpressible chagrin that
the obstucles were insuperable. 1In the language of
another, amounting to a bitter satire, whether thus
intended or not, *the generals only were got in
readiness:” and the gallant marquis was compelled
to relinquish the enterprise, without even the poor
privilege of making an attempt. He certainly had
great reason, not only for vexation, but disgust : ad.
vised, as he had been, to announce to his court the
fll.‘gl‘t*i' of confidence [‘l"L'u::-wt!I!. in him ll_\' Congress,
in thus confiding to him a separate command of
such importance ; not, of course, suspecting, for a
moment, that General Gates could be so ignorant
of the actual situation of the department from which
he had been so recently transferred.

The true position of affairs at Albany having been
made known to Congress, it was resolved to mstruct
the marquis to suspend the expedition, and, at the
same time, to assure him ¢ that Congress entertained
a hich sense of his prudence, activity, and zeal : and
that they were fully persuaded nothing would have
been wanting on his own part, or on the part of the
officers who accompanied him, to give the expedi-
tion the utmost possible effect.”

But to return to the Indian affairs of the Mohawk
Valley. BEarlyin the year, various unpleasant symp-
toms were perceptible, indicating the design of a re-
newed and more extensive Indian war than had been
anticipated at any previous moment. Information
was received from the remote West of a general
[ii:-;]m_x_:iiil]u among the nations in the region of the
great lakes, and the Upper Mississippi, to join the Mo-
hawks, Cayugas, Onondagas, and Senecas, against
the United States. The master-spirit of those threat-
ened movements was Joseph Brant, whose winter-
quarters were at the central and convenient point of
Niagara. Nor were Sir John Johnson and his asso-
ciates, Claus and Butler, inactive; while the Brit-
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ish commander at Detroit, Colonel Hamilton, was
at the same time exercising a powerful influence
over the surrounding nations of the forest. On the
opening of the year, theretore, great fears were en-
tertained for the security of the frontiers from the
Mohawk to the Ohio. Still, with the Six. Nations
Congress resolved to make yet another effort of
conciliation—to secure their neutrality, if nothing
farther. Accordingly, on the 2d of February, reso-
lutions were passed directing a council to be held
with these nations at Johnstown, in the county of
Tryon. General Schuyler and Yolkert P. Douw
were ;,is]mm.m comimissioners for that purpose, and
Governor Clinton was requested to designate a spe-
clal LLF[llIlIE**"\Hl]HI to be present on the occasion.
In pursuance of f this solicitation, Jamnes Duane was
appointed for that duty. The resolutions of Con-
gress nstructed the commissioners “ to speak to the
lu lians in language becoming the representatives

[ free, sovereign, and independent states, and in
s-'m-h a tone as would convince them that they felt
themselves to be so.,” It was left to the discretion
of the commissioners to determine whether it would
be prudent to insist upon their taking up arms in be-
half of the States, or to content themselves with ef-
forts to secure their neutrality.

The directions were, that the council should
holden between the 156th and 20th of February; but
so slow or reluctant were the Indians in assem-
bling, that the proceedings were not commenced
until the 9th of March. Whether General Schuyler
aftended 1s not known. ‘T'he Marquis de Lafayette,
who was then temporarily in command of the North-
ern Department, accompanied Mr. Duane to Johns-
town, and was present at the council. More than
seven hundred Indians were collected at the treaty,
consisting of Oneidas, Tuscaroras, Onondagas, a
few Mohawks, and tllu e or four Cayugas; but not
a single Seneca, which was by far the most poOwWer-
o—18
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ful nation. On the contrary, they had the boldness
to send a message, affecting great surprise, “that
while our tomahawks were sticking in their heads,
their wounds bleeding, and their eyes streaming
with tears for the loss of their friends at German
Flatts, the unnrmwmnflm should think of inviting
them to a treaty !

The proceedings were opened by an address from
Congress, framed in accordance with the spirit of
the resolutions alre: idy cited, asserting the power
of the United States, and their magnanimous con-
duct towards the Six Nations ; and charging them
distinctly with the ingratitude, cruelty, and treach-
ery with which their pacific advances had been re-
yilt.e:L and for which reparation was demanded.
From this charge of treachery the Oneidas and Tus-
caroras were not only honourably excepted, but, on
the contrary, were applauded for their firmness and
integrity, and assured of friendship and protection.

An Onondaga chief spoke in behalf of the guilty
tribes. He (,\(,nl]:,nud himself and his brother sa-
chems, casting the blame on the young and head-
strong warriors, who, he said, would not listen to
pludun councils, illustrating their own internal dif-
ficulties by those occasion: 111'r existing among the
people of the States, which it was, at times, found
impossible to repress. He also spoke of the diffi-
culty they were obliged to encounter in withstand-
ing the influence of Butler and others in the service
of the erown, acquired by bribery and other kindred
artifices.

An Oneida chiefl answered for his own nation and
the Tuscaroras, with a spirit and dignity which
would not have disgraced a Roman senator. He
pathetically lamented the degeneracy of the un-
friendly tribes; predicted their fin: 1 destruction ;
and deelared the fixed and unalterable resolution of
the tribes which he ll‘pI’L“\UIIL("d, at every hazard, to
hold fast the covenant chain with the United States,
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and be buried with them in the same grave, or with
them to enjoy the fruits of victory and peace. He
fully evinced the sincerity of these professions, by
desiring that the United States would erect a for-
tress in their country, and station a small garrison
within it for their defence. A promise to this et
fect having been given, the Oneilda concluded with
a solemn assurance that the two nations for whom
he spoke would at all times be ready to co-operate
with the United States against all their enemies.

In a private interview afterward, the Oneidas
warned the commissioners against trusting to the
Onondagas, whom they considered as enemies to
the United States, notwithstanding their seeming
contrition for the past. 'The Oneidas declared that
they had not the least doubt that the Onondagas,
Cayugas, and Senecas would renew their hostili-
ties early in the spring ; that Colonel Butler would
again be in possession of Oswego, which he would
more strongly fortify ; and for these events they
entreated the commissioners to be prepared.

The inhabitants of T'ryon county, many of whon
were spectators at the council, were highly gratified
with the proceedings; and it was supposed that the
moral effect would be good, not only in regard to
the Oneidas, but also upon the Unulltl.!gtm, those
tribes being closely connected by intermarriages;
but the commissioners left the council under the full
persuasion that from the Senecas, Cayugas, and the
greater part of the Mohawks, uot}ung but revenge
for their lost friends and tarnished glory at Oriska-
ny and Fort Schuyler was to be anticipated ; more
especially since the enemy was so plentifully sup-
plied with the means of corruption, while it was not
i the power of the United States so much as to fur-
nish their best friends with the necessaries of life,
even in the course of trade. Still, in order, as far
as possible, to regain some of their lost ascendency
over the Indians, by means of traffic, the commis-
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sioners of that department were shortly afterward
authorized by Congress to open a Il.ullng' establish.
ment at Fort Schuyler. But the inadequacy of the
provision must be evident, from the fact that the
slender ¢<chequer of the government allowed an
appropriation of no greater sum for that important
object than ten thousand dollars.

While at Johnstown during this visit, the Marquis
de Lafayette was waited Hpml by Colonel Campbell
and others, for the purpose of calling his attention
to the exposed situation of Cherry Valley. The
consequence was an order for the erection of a fort
at that place. An engineer was detailed upon tha
duty, and detachments of troops were ordered both
to that place and Schoharie. ‘Three slight fortifica-
tions had been built in the valley of the Schoharie
Kill during the preceding year, called the Upper,
Middle, :md Lower Forts. These works were mere-
ly circumvallations of earth and wood, thrown up
around some strong dwelling-houses constructed of
stone, within which the women and children were
placed in moments of peculiar danger. The church
was the citadel of the Lower Fort, ;illd all were
manned by small companies of ‘:Dltl s, having
each a single brass fieldpiece. The 111,1|qui.‘~i like-
wise directed the erection of a fort in the Oneida
country, pursuant to the request of the Indians of
that nation.

It was but too evident, from the reports borne
upon every western breeze, that all these measures
of precaution in that direction were necessary. To
the Johnsons and their adhierents the recovery of
the Valley of the Mohawk was an object of the first
importance ; and they watched every opportunity
of moving in that quarter which promised even a
possible chance of success. BEven while the mar-
quis was present with the Indian commissioners at
Johnstown, no less a personage than a British colo-
nel, a2 nephew of Sir Guy Carleton, and bearing the
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same honourable name, was well understood to be
lurking in that vicinity as a spy. Every effort was
made for his arrest; and, as an inducement to the
militia and Indians to be on the alert, the marquis
offered a reward of fifty guineas from his own purse.

But the search was fruitless. Carleton was an
active and efficient partisan officer, and was never
taken. The marquis retained the L‘Umln;md at the
North only until the middle of April, when he was
ordered to headquarters, and Gates agaln assumed
the command of the department.

In the month of June, the Loyalists who had fled
to Canada with Sir John Johnson, to the number of
one hundred and upward, performed an exploit
equally bold and remarkable, which naturally sug-
gests the inquiry, Where were the Whigs of Il}Ull
county at thattime; and in what were they engaged ?
'The meident to which reference is had was the
return of those selfsame Loyalists for their fami-
lies, whom they \\'L‘l‘(-: permitted to collect together,
and with whom they were suffered to depart into
the country, and the active service of the enemy.
Nor was this all. Not only was no opposition made
to their proceedings, but on their way they actually
committed acts ol flagrant hostility, destroyed prop-
erty, and took several prisoners. Having coms-
pleted their arrangements, they moved uulllnmrd
from Fort Hunter, through Fonda’s Bush, making
four prisoners on their way thither, and at Fonda’s
Bush five others. From this place they proceeded
across the great marsh to Sir Willlam Johnson's
fish-house, on the Sacondaga, capturing a man
named Martin, and another named Harris, on the
way, and at the fish-house taking a brave fellow
named Solomon Woodworth, and four others. They
burned the house and out-buildings of Godirey Shew
at this place, and departed with their prisoners,
leaving the women and children houseless. Em-
blnl\mu on the Sacondaga in light canoes, previous-
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ly moored at that place for the purpose, they de-
scended twenty-five miles to the Hudson, and thence,
by the way of Lakes George and Champlain, pro-
ceeded to St. John's in safety. The day after his
capture, Woodworth succeeded in making his es-
cape. At St. John's, John Shew and four others
were given up to the Indians, by whom they were
taken to their village in Canada. They were nei-
ther considered nor treated exactly as prisoners of
war; and Shew, with three of his companions, soon
afterward escaped and returned home.* From St.
John’s the loyal party proceeded down the St. Law-
rence to Quebec, where the residue of the prison-
ers were kept in close confinement about four
months. Some of the number died, and the re-
mainder were sent to Halifax, and thence exchanged
by the way of Boston. This movement of the Tories
back in a body to their deserted homes, and its suc-
cess, form one of the most extraordinary incidents,
though in itself comparatively unimportant, which
transpired during the wars of the Mohawk country.

With the opening of the season for active opera-
tions—though he was himself never inactive—Thay-
endanegea had again returned to his former haunts
on the Susquehanna, Oghkwaga and Unadilla. He
soon proved himself an active and dreaded partisan.
No matter for the difficulties or the distance, wher-
ever a blow could be struck to any advantage, Jo-
seph Brant was sure to be there. IFrequent, more-
over, were the instances in which individuals, and
even whole families in the outskirts of the settle-
ments, disappeared, without any knowledge on the
part of those who were left that an enemy had
been near them. “The smoking ruins of their

* [n the autumn of 1780, young Shew was again captured by a scout-
ing party of Indians and Tories, in the woods in the neighbourhood of
Ballston, and, at the instigation of one of the latter, named John Parker,
was immediately murdered. Parker was himself soon afterward taken
as a spy by Caplain Bernett of the militin, carried to Albany, tried,
gonvicted, and executed.
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dwellings, the charred bones of the dead,” and the
slaughtered carcasses of the domestic animals, were
the only testimonials of the cause of the catastrophe,
until the return of a captive, or the disclosures of
some prisoner taken from the foe, furnished more
definite information. But there is no good evidence
that Brant was himself a participator in secret
murders, or attacks upon isolated individuals or
families ; and there is much reason to believe that
the bad feelings of many of the Loyalists induced
them to perpetrate greater enormities themselves,
and prompt the parties of Indians whom they often
led to commit greater barbarities than the savages
would have done had they been left to themselves.

In support of the foregoing opinion of Captain
Brant, the following incident, occurring in the sum-
mer of the present year, may be adduced. A lad
in Albany county, named William M‘Kown, while
engaged in raking hay alone in a meadow, happen-
ing to turn round, perceived an Indian Very near
him. Startled at his perilous situation, he raised
his rake for defence, but his fears were instantly
dissipated by the savage, who said, “Do not be
afraid, young man; I shall not hurt you.” He then
inquired of the youth for the residence of a Loyal-
ist named Foster. The lad gave him the proper
direction, and inquired of the Indian whether he
knew Mr. Foster. “I am partially acquainted with
him,” was the reply, * having once seen him at the
Half-way Creek.” The Indian then inquired the
lad’s name ; and having been informed, he added,
“You are a son of Captain M‘’Kown who lives in
the northeast part of the town, I suppose : I know
your father very well: he lives neighbour to Captain
M‘Kean: I know M‘Kean very well, and a very fine
fellow he is, too.” imboldened by the familiar
discourse of the India, the lad ventured to ask his
name in turn. Hesitating {or a moment, his rather
unwelcome visiter replied *“My name is Brant!”
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“ What! Captain Brant?" eagerly demanded the
youth., “No: I am a cousin of his,” was the re-
joinder; but accompanied by a smile and a look
that plainly disclosed the transparent deception. It
was none other than the terrible Thayendanegea
himself. 3

On the other hand, the following tragic circum-
stance sustitins the assertion that the Tories were
oftentimes more cruel than their savage associates,
While a party of hostiles were prowling about the
borders of Schoharie, the Indians killed and scalped
a mother, and a large family of children. * They
had just completed the work of death, when some
Loyalists of the party came up, and discovered an
infant breathing sweetly in its cradle. An Indian
warrior, noted for his barbarity, approached the
cradle with his uplifted hatchet. The babe looked
up in his face, and smiled; the feelings of nature
triumphed over the ferocity of the savage ; the hatch-
et fell with his arm, and he was about stooping
down to take the innocent in his arms, when one
of the Loyalists, cursing him for lis humanity, thrust
it through with his bayonet; and, thus transfixed,
held it up struggling in the agonies of death, as he
exclaimed, ¢ This, too, is a rebel I'”

To guard against these painful transactions, no-
thing short of the most exemplary watchfulness
would suffice. Not only their habitations, but those
who laboured in the fields, were guarded, being
themselves armed at their ploughs, like the labour-
ers of the prophet in rebuilding the walls of Jerusa-
lem. Nor was this vigilance confined to any par-
ticular location. 'The inhabitants around the whole
border, from Saratoga, north of Johnstown, and
west to the German Flatts, thence south stretching
down to Unadilla, and thence eastwardly crossing
the Susquehanna, along the Charlotte River to Har-
persfield, and thence back to Albany, were neces-

sarily an armed yeomanry, watching for themselves,
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and standing senunels for each other in turn; har-
assed daily by conflicting rumours; now admon-
ished of the approach of the foe in the night by the
glaring flames of a neighbour’s house ; or compelled
suddenly to escape from his approach, at a time
and in a direction the least expected. Such was
the tenure of human existence around the confines
of this whole district of country, from the spring
of 1777 to the end of the contest in 1782,

The first movement of Brant himself, this season
(1778), was upon the settlement of Springfield, a
small town at the head of Otsego Lake, lying di-
rectly west of Cherry Valley, about ten miles.
Those of the men who did not fly were taken pris-
oners. The chieftain then burned the entire settle-
ment, with the exception of a single house, into
which he collected all the women and children,
and left them uninjured.

[t was reported in the month of June that Brant,
whose [orces were increasing at Unadilla, was forti-
fying that post; and Captain M*Kean was despatch-
ed with a small patrol in that direction, by the peo-
ple of Cherry Valley, to make observation. Ar-
riving at a house about twenty-five miles from that
place, Captain M‘Kean was informed that Brant had
been there with fifty men that day, and would
probably return in the evening. M‘Kean was at
first disposed to take possession of the house, and
attempt its defence, his force consisting of but five
men, exclusive of himself. But, ultimately form-
ing a more prudent resolution, he withdrew “his
forces” before nightfall, and returned home without
having reconnoitred the chieftain’s position at Una-
dilla. In the course of his journey, he wrote a let-
ter to Brant, uptraiding him for the predatory sys-
tem of warfare in which he was engaged, and chal-
lenging him either to single combat, or to meet him
with an equal number of men and have a pitched
battle ; adding, that if he would come to Cherry

Vor. I.—YX
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Valley, they would change him from a Brant 0 a
“ ggose.” 'This chivalrous missive was fastened to
a stick, and placed in an Indian path. No modern
postoffice could have transmitted the letter with
greater speed or safety. The *contents” were
% noted” by Braut in a letter addressed to Mr. Par-
cifer Carr, a Loyalist living some fifteen or twenty
miles north, upon the Unadilla settlement, to whom
the chief wrote for provisions. He also solicited
Mr. Carr to allow two or three of his men to join
him, and likewise to send him a few guns, with
some ammunition; adding, “ 1 mean now to fight
the cruel rebels as well as I can.” In a postscript,
he intimated that the people of Cherry Valley,
though very bold in words, would find themselves
mistaken in calling him a * goose.” Whether the
challenge of Captain M‘Kean, and the pun upon the
chieftain’s name, had any influence upon his subse-
quent conduct in that section of the country, is not
known.

On the 2d of July a smart engagement took place,
on the upper branch of the Cobleskill, between a
party of regular troops and Schoharie militia under
Captain Christian Brown, and a large body of In-
dians. There were twenty-two militiamen and thirty
regulars, the latter under charge of a lieutenant
whose name has not been preserved. The Indians,
by their own account, were four hundred and fifty
strong. They were victorious, the Americans re-
treating with a loss of fourteen killed, eight wound-
ed, and two missing. The Indians burned several
houses, killed and destroyed all the horses and cat-
tle which they could not drive away, and took con-
siderable plunder besides. They remained in the
woods adjoining the battle-ground one day and two
nights, dressing the wounded, and packing up their
booty, with which they retired unmolested.

Thenceforward, until the close of the war, the
settlements of Schoharie were perpetually harassed




AMERICAN REVOLUTION. 253

by the strolling bands of the enemy, until at length
they were entirely laid waste by a formidable in-
vasion. The principal of these settlements was the
vale of the Schoharie Kill—doubly inviting from the
beauty of its scenery and the fertility of its soil—
which was even then thickly inhabited. But al-
though frequently doomed to suffer from the savage
tomahawk, justice, nevertheless, demands the ad-
mission, that the first blood was drawn in that val-
ley, and the first act of barbarity committed, by the
white man, upon the body of an Indian sachem.
The circumstances leading to the outrage were
these : At an early stage of the contest, the officers
of the crown made a very strenuous effort to control
the popular feeling, and preserve the loyalty of the
people of Schoharie. For this purpose, not only
the regular militia of the settlements, but all the
male population capable of bearing arms, were re-
quired to meet the king’s commissioners at the
house of Captain George Mann, a Loyalist of great
wealth and influence, to take the oath of allegiance.
They assembled in arms, and were kept on parade,
day after day, as they slowly gathered at the place
of rendezvous in obedience to the requisition.
Those who were Loyalists at heart readily took the
oath; but great reluctance was manifested on the
part of those whose predilections ran with the
Whigs. These, however, were threatened with the
pains and penalties of arrest, confiscation, and
death, in case of refusal ; so that for the most part
they complied with the demand of the commission-
ers, and took the oath of fidelity to the crown. Im-
mediately on taking the oath, the hat of the subject
was decorated with a piece of scarlet cloth; while
some of those most strongly desirous of manifesting
their loyalty wore scarlet caps. Prominent among
the latter class were Lodwig Snyder, of the Danes-
burg settlement, and a Mohawk sachem named
Peter Nickus, who gave offence to the Whigs by




284 BORDER WARS OF THE

brandishing his tomahawk and occasionally sound.
ing the war-whoop.

But there were a few bold spirits upon whom nei
ther the threats of his majesty’s officers nor tle
menaces of the Indians in their company had any
effect. They refused peremptorily to take the oath,
Chief among these were Nicholas Sternberg and
William Deitz, who left the parade on the evening
of the first or second day, and returned to their
homes, bitterly denounced as rebels and traitors by
the Royalists, and threatened with a visit of Tories
and Indians during the night. To avoid an arrest,
Sternberg took to the woods at evening, leaving his
family in great anxiety, although the slaves, of
whom he possessed a large number, volunteered to
defend their mistress and the children. DBut there
was no pursuit, and the recusants both returned to
the parade on the following day, determined, of
course, to render all proper obedience to the laws
yet in force, but equally determined not to take the
oath of allegiance; although Mrs, Sternberg be-
sought her husband, with tears, not to jeopard his
own safety, and the lives of his family, by longer
refusal. Nay, she went farther; and appealing to
the Bible, the good woman showed him the passage
in which all men are enjoined *to fear God and
honour the king.” But it was with Sternberg as
with the Puritans. He believed that ‘ opposition
to tyrants was obedience to God,” as implicitly as
did the regicides who engraved that immortal senti-
ment upon the New-Haven rock; and he was in-
flexible in his purpose.

Fortunately, however, in the course of the day
affairs took quite a different turn. It was at about the
middle of the afternoon that Captain Mann mustered
those who had taken the oath and received the red
badge. They numbered one hundred and upward,
and were paraded before the captain’s own house 1o
perform their martial exerc se, when their attention
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was arrested by the sound of steeds trampling in the
distance. A moment longer, and a cloud of horse-
men came Ed“[)]ml” Lhmtr the highway from the
direction of Albany, with drawn swords flashing
brightly in the sun. These unexpected visiters pro-
ved to be Captain Woodbake and two hundred cav-
alry, the object of whuse d}}pumth was to disperse
the royal gathering, and proclaim the government
of the I{C}]llh]l( ’l‘llflr arrival was exce edingly in-
opportune for Captain Mann, who was cut short in
the midst of a loyal oration, in which he was com-
mending his citizen-soldiers for their loyalty, and
threatening those who refused the Lmdge of their
sovereign with vengeance, swift and inevitable. As
the cav dln ;l[J})IUdLth] Captain Mann took to his
heels and fled ; while his loyal followers, m: any of
whom had assumed the before-mentioned insignia,
and signed the royal muster-roll on compulsion,
either followed his example, or threw away their
red caps, and tore off the scarlet patches from their
hats, with the utmost possible expedition. Orders
were immediately issued by Captain Woodbake
that Mann should be taken and brought to him,
alive, if possible, but if not—not. Numbers started
in pursuit, while those who remained upon the
ground were collected into line, and a proclamation
was read to them by Captain Woodbake, declaring
the royal authority at an end, pronouncing the acts
the king’s commissioners null and void, and ab-
solving the people from the oath of allegiance just
taken, upon the ground that, by the laws neither of
God nor man, are oaths binding which have been
taken upon compulsion. Commending those who
had refused to take the oath for their [mulousm he
informed them that a committee of safety must be
appointed, who would temporarily be invested with
the civil and military authority of the district, and
until, by elections and otherwise, the government
could be organized in a more rcglildr manner. Nich-
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olas Sternberg and William Deitz were thereupon
nominated by Woodbake to serve as said commit-
tee, and invested orally with all necessary power
for the government of the district : and the people
were enjoined to obedience.

The affairs of the government having thus been
settled, all hands were ordered in pursuit of Cap
tain Mann, and sentinels were posted at different
points of observation. Among these was Mr. Stern-
berg’s eldest son, Lambert, who was stationed by
the side of a wheat-stack, sheltered by a roof of
thatch upon four posts. The orders were strict,
that, if Mann would not surrender, he must be shot,
Towards evening, on the approach of a thunder-
gust, young Sternberg, who was a lad of only six-
teen years, climbed to the top of the wheat-stack
for shelter, where, to his great surprise, he stumbled
upon the loyal captain. The youth informed him at
once that he must surrender or be shot. ‘The cap-
tain implored for mercy, declaring that he dared not
to surrender himself to Woodbake, because his life
would be taken. The youth repeated that his orders
were explicit, and he must surrender or be shot.
But Mann had lived a neighbour to his father, had
ever been kind to him, and his heart failed at the
thought of taking his life. He then proposed to the
captain to fire his musket by way of alarm, that oth-
ers might come and take him. But this was object-
ed to by Mann with equal earnestness. It now
thundered and lightened fearfully, while the rain
descended in torrents. Watching his opportunity,
therefore, and availing himself of the conflict of the
elements, and that, also, which was working in the
bosom of his young neighbour, so suddenly placed
in hostile array against him, Mann contrived to
spring from his hiding-place, and, by sliding down
upon one of the barrack-posts, effected his escape
into a corn-field, and thence into the woods. The
stripling soldier fired, as in duty bound, but doubt-
less rejoiced that the shot was without effect.
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On the next day, information having been receiy-
ed that a body of Indians were lurking in the neigh-
bourhood of Middleburg, a few miles farther up lilo
valley, Captain Woodbake proceeded - thither with
his squadron of horse. The only Indian seen was
the before-mentioned sachem, Peter Nickus, who
was discovered 1n a thicket of hazel bushes, and
immediately brought to the ground by a shot that
broke his thigh. Several pistols were simultane
ously snapped at him, but without effect ; the troops
then dismounted, and, running upon the wounded 1n
dian, inhumanly hacked him to pieces with their
swords. Peter Nickus was therefore the first vie
tim of the Revolution in the Valley of the Scho-
harie Kill, nor does it appear that he had himself
been guilty of .mv act of positive hostility.

All search for Captain Mann was, for the time,
fruitless. He suLceuied in escaping to the mount-
ains, where he remained fifteen days; but at length
was induced to surrender through the intervention
of friends, on condition that he should receive no
personal injury. He was thereupon taken to Alba-
ny, and kept in confinement to the end of the war

CHAPTER XV,

Tae melancholy story of Wyoming stands next
in chronological order. It does not, indeed, apper-
tain directly to the history of the Mohawk Valley,
but it is, nevertheless, connected intimately with
that history, while it has ever been regarded as one
of the most prominent events in the border history
of the Revolutionary contest. Itsimportance, more-
over, as a section of the Iadian portion of that con-
test, 18 such as to warrant the episode, if such it
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must be called, Many were the battles during that
struggle, of far greater importance than the affair
of Wyoming, both in regard to their magnitude and
their results; and many were the scenes character-
ized by equal, if not greater atrocity. But, from a
variety of circumstances, as well antecedent as sub-
sequent to the battle, it has happened that no event
connected with the aboriginal wars of our country
stands out in bolder relief than that. Sixty years
have elapsed since the tragedy of Wyoming was en-
acted - the actors themselves are no more ; and yet
the very mention of the event sends a chill current
to every youthful heart, while the theatre of the ac-
tion itself has been rendered classic, as well as con-
secrated, by the undying numbers of one of the most
gifted bards of the age. So long as English poetry
exists, will the imaginary tale of GerTrupe oF Wy-
oming be read, admired, and wept; and thousands,
in every generation to come, will receive the beau-
tiful fiction for truth, while the details of fact by the
faithful historian, rejecting the exaggerations of
Ramsay and Gordon, and their associate writers
of the Revolutionary era, together with compilers
more modern, who have taken no pains to inquire
for the truth, may be regarded as too commaonplace
and unimportant for attention.

Wyoming is the name of a beautiful section of
the vale of the Susquehanna, situated in the north-
eastern part of the State of Pennsylvania. It 18
twenty-five miles in length by about three in breadth,
lying deep between two parallel ranges of mount-
ains, crested with oak and pine. The scenery
around is wild and picturesque, while the valley it-
self might be chosen for another paradise.

The possession of this valley has not been an ob-
ject of the white man’s ambition or cupidity alone.
[t has been the subject of controversy, and the fierce
battle-cround of various Indian tribes, within the
white man’s time, but before his possession; and
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from the remains of fortifications discovered there,
so ancient that the largest oaks and pines have
struck root upon the ramparts and in the intrench-
ments, it must once have been the seat of power,
and perhaps of a splendid court, thronged by chival-
ry, and taste, and beauty : of a race of men far dif-
ferent from the Indians, known to us since the dis-
covery of Columbus. It was here that the benevo-
lent Count Zinzendorf pitched his tent on commen-
cing his Christian labours among the Shawanese,
and where he was saved from assassination by the
providential intervention of a poisonous reptile.
The first movement towards the planting of a
white colony in the Wyoming Valley was made by
Connecticut in 1753. It was justly held that this
section of country belonged originally to the grant
of James 1., in 1620, to the old Plymouth Company.
The Earl of Warwick and his associates having pur-
chased the right of the Plymouth Company to the
territory of Connecticut and the lands beyond New-
Jersey, west, * from sea to sea,” within certain lim-
its, Connecticut claimed under that grant. But no
sooner was a company formed to plant a colony in
Wyoming, called the Susquehanna Company, than
Pennsylvania preferred a claim to the same territo-
ry, under a grant from Charles I1. to William Penn,
in 1681, covering the whole claim of Connecticut;
and a rival association, under a lease from Pennsyl-
vania, granted to Charles Stewart, Amos Ogden, and
John Jennings, was organized in like manner to set-
tle it. 'The strife of each, at first, was to circun-
vent the other in purchasing the Indian title, At
this time it was conceded that the aboriginal pro-
prietaries were the Six Nations; and, though beset
on all sides, King Hendric refused, for a time, to
dispose of the territory to either party. Ultimate-
ly, however, the Six Nations sold to the Susquehan-
na Company ; and in 1755 the Connecticut Colony
was commenced. But, by reason of the French and
6—19
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Indian wars, their settlers were compelled to re
turn to Connecticut, and the obstacles became so
numerous, that it was not until 1762 that they were
enabled to obtain a foothold.

The Pennsylvanians immediately prepared to op-
pose the settlers from Connecticut. A case was
made up and transmitted to England, on which Mr.
Pratt, the attorney-general (afterward Lord Cam-
den), gave an opinion in favour of the successors of
Penn. Connecticut likewise sent over a case, and
on her part obtained a like favourable opinion from
eminent counsel. In this position of the controver-
sy, a catastrophe befell the infant settlement which
put an end to the enterprise for several years.
Thus.far the relations between the colonists and
the Indians had been of the most pacific character.
The old Delaware chief, Tadeuskund, who had em-
braced the Christian religion, was, with his people,
their friend. But he had given offence to some of
the Six Nations in 1758, a party of whom came
among the Delawares, under the guise of friendship,
in April, 1763, and murdered the venerable chief by
setting fire to his dwelling, in which he was con-
sumed.* The murder was charged by the Indians
upon the adventurers from Connecticut. But the
emigrants, unconscious that a storm was rising
against them, remained in fancied security. They
had given no offence : and, in order to allay any sus-
picions that might otherwise be awakened among
the Indians, they had even neglected to provide
themselves with weapons for self-protection. The
consequence was the sudden destruction of their

* Tadenskund was a Delaware chief of note. Previous to the yea:
1750, he was known among the English by the name of Honest Joln.
fle was baptized by the Moravians, but was wavering and inconstant,
He was too fond of the war-path to become a consistent follower of the
pacific Moravians. When he saw opportunities of signalizing himself as
a warrior, therefore, he left his faith, to re-embrace it as might suit hie
policy. Hea inclined to the French in the war, but assisted in conclu-

ding a pence among several Indian nations in 1758, which gave um-
brage to the Six Nations,
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settlement by a party of Delaware Indians, on the
15th of October. The descent was made upon the
town while the men were at work in the fields.
About twenty persons were killed, and several were
taken prisoners. Those who could, men, women,
and children, fled to the woods and the mountains,
whence they were compelled to behold the sad
spectacle of their dwellings in flames, and the Indi-
ans making off with the remains of their little prop-
erty. Their flight through a trackless forest to the
Delaware, unprovided with food, and unprotected
by suitable clothing against the searching weather
of autumn, was very painful. But even then their
journey was not ended, as they had yet to proceed
back to Connecticut, destitute, and on foot.

In 1668 the Pennsylvania lessees, afterward most
commonly called the Ogden Land Company, took
advantage of a treaty holden at Fort Stanwix, and
purchased of the same Six Nations, who had sold to
the Connecticut Company, the same territory of
Wyoming. The Pennsylvanians entered upon im-
mediate possession ; and when, on the opening of
the ensuing spring, the Connecticut colonists re-
turned with recruits, they found others in the occu-
pancy of the lands, with a blockhouse erected, and
armed for defence, under the direction of Amos Og-
den and Charles Stewart. Here was a new and un-
expected state of things. Some of the leading men
of the Connecticut colony were decoyed into the
blockhouse, arrested, and sent off to a distant prison.
But recruits coming on from Connecticut, they, in
turn, built works of defence, and proceeded with
their colonial labours.

In the summer of 1769, the Governor of Pennsyl-
vania made preparations to dispossess the intruders,
as they considered the Connecticut people, by force ;
and a detachment of armed men, to the number of
two hundred, was sent into the territory. The col-
onists prepared for a siege ; but one of their leaders

rrialaei.
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having been taken prisoner and sent to jail in Phil.
adelphia, after a show of resistance, and having no
weapons of defence but small arms, they capitula-
ted, and agreed to leave the territory, with the ex-
ception of seventeen families, who were to remain
and secure the crops. But no sooner had the colo-
nists departed, than the Pennsylvanians, led by Og-
den, plundered the whole colony, destroying their
fields of grain, killing .heir cattle, and laying the
whole settlement in ruin; so that the seventeen
families were compelled to fly from starvation.

In the month of February, 1770, the Connecticut
colonists rallied, and marched upon Wyoming, un-
der a man named Lazarus Stewart. They took
Ogden’s house and his piece of artillery, during his
absence. But, on his return, he collected his friends,
and hostilities ensued between the two parties,
which were prosecuted with varying success for
several weeks. During this time, an engagement
occurred, in which several were killed and wounded
on both sides. Ogden’s house, which had been for-
tified, was besieged, and finally taken, after several
days’ cannonading, and the destruction of one of his
blockhouses, containing his supplies, by fire. In
the terms of capitulation, the Connecticut party al-
lowed Ogden to leave six men in charge of his re-
maining property. But the conduct of Ogden the
preceding year had not been forgotten, and the lez
talionis was rigidly and speedily executed.

In September following, a force of one hundred
and fifty men was sent against the Connecticut set-
tlers, under the command of Captain Ogden, as he
was now called. He took the settlement entirely
by surprise, while the labourers were in the fields
at work, and the women and children in the fort.
Many of the men, nevertheless, reached the fort,
and prepared to defend it; but it was carried by as-
sault in the night; the women and children were
barbarous!y trampled under foot, and the whole set-
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tlement plundered and destroyed the following day,
with more than Indian rapacity. 'T'he colonists
were made prisoners, and sent off to distant jails.
Thus was the settlement again broken up. But the
triumph of Ogden was brief. In December the fort
was again surprised and carried by Captain Stewart,
at the head of some Lancastrians united with the
late colonists. A few of the men fled naked to the
woods ; but the greater portion, together with the
women and children, residing for security in houses
built within the ramparts, were taken prisoners.
These, having been deprived of their property, were
driven from the valley.

The parties to these controversies, which could
not but engender all the bitterest passions in the
nature of man, rendering what might have been a
second Eden a theatre of strife, discord, and ** hell-
born hate,” fought, of course, as they pretended,
under the jurisdiction of the respective states to
which they assumed to belong. The civil authori-
ties of Pennsylvania frequently interposed; and
after the burning of Ogden’s blockhouse, attempts
were made to arrest several of the Connecticut
party for arson. Stewart was apprehended, but was
soon afterward rescued.

After the capture of the fort in December, the Su-
preme Court of Pennsylvania once more issued a
writ for his arrest, and the sheriff was sent with the
posse at his heels ; but the garrison would not admit
him. The fort was fired upon by the posse, under
the direction of the sheriff, and in returning the fire,
one of the Ogdens (Nathan) was killed. The sheriff
thereupon drew off his forces for the night. But it
was no sooner dark, than Stewart and forty of his
men withdrew from the fortress, leaving a garrison
of only twelve persons, who capitulated on the fol-
lowing morning. Three hundred pounds reward
was offered by the Governor of Pennsylvania for
the arrest of Stewart. The fort was left in charge
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of Amos Ogden, who induced most of his tormer as-
sociates to return with him.

In July following, this important post was again
doomed to change hands. The colony was invaded
by Captain Zebulon Butler, with upward of seventy
men. ‘These being joined by Lazarus Stewart and
his party, they immediately took possession of the
Jands, while Ogden with his people, to the number
of eighty-two, retired into the new fort of Wyoming,
which they had just built, and prepared for resist-
ance. The contest was now assuming greater im-
portance than ever. Butler and Stewart at once
invested the fortress, and, recruits arriving from
Connecticut, they were enabled to throw up re-
doubts, and open intrenchments for a regular siege.
This new fort was planted directly upon the bank
of the river. Perceiving himself thus completely
shut in, Ogden formed the bold design of leaving
his garrison in the night, and floating down the
river, past the works and the sentinels of the enemy,
in order to repair to Philadelphia for succours. For
the purpose of better securing his escape, by means
of a cord he caused a bundle to be floated along in
the river following him, which, being the most per-
ceptible object, would naturally attract the attention
and receive the fire of the enemy, if discovered.
The ruse was completely successful. The decep-
tive object did attract the attention of the besiegers,
and received their fire ; although Ogden himself was
in immediate peril, since his hat and clothes were
riddled with bullets. He nevertheless escaped to
Philadelphia, and is entitled to the credit of per-
forming one of the boldest and most difficult individ-
ual exploits on record.

In consequence of these tidings, the government
ordered a force of one hundred men to be sent to the
relief of Fort Wyoming, commanded by Colonel
Asher Clayton. These were to be separated into
two divisions, and marched to the fort from differ-
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ent directions. Captain Dick, with one division,
proceeded towards the fort with pack-horses of pro-
visions for one hundred men. When in its neigh-
bourhood, however, he was ambuscaded by the troops
of Butler and Stewart, and thrown into confusion by
the fire. Twenty-two of the party succeeded in get-
ting into the fort, and the remainder, with four pack-
horses of provisions, fell into the hands of Butler.
The siege continued, and was prosecuted with great
vigour until the 14th of August, when, his supplies
being exhausted, Colonel Clayton, the assailant, ca-
pitulated, stipulating that his troops, together with
Ogden and his party, should withdraw from Wyo-
ming. Ogden was wounded during the siege, and
a second shot killed another officer, named Wil-
llam Ridyard, upon whom the former was leaning,
being faint from loss of blood.

The president of the Pennsylvania proprietaries
complained of the conduct of the Connecticut peo-
ple in these hostilities, and Governor Trumbull dis-
claimed any connexion with the affairs of Wyo-
ming on the part of the state over which he presided.
But as the Connecticut people continued to pour
re-enforcements into the settlement, the Pennsylva-
nians withdrew their forces, and, for a season, made
no farther attempts upon the territory.

The settlers now claimed the protection of Con-
necticut, the government of which attempted a
mediation between the people of Wyoming and the
government of Pennsylvama, but without success.
Meantime, the people of the colony proceeded to
organize a government, and to exercise almost all
the attributes of sovereignty. The general laws of
Connecticut were declared to be in force; but for
their local legislation, they organized a pure democ-
racy ; the people of all their towns and settlements
meeting in a body, as in Athens of old, and making
:heir laws for themselves. The Legislature of Con-
necticut extended its broad =gis over them framed
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a new county, called Westmoreland, and attached
it to the county of Litchfield in the parent state,
Zebulon Butler and Nathan Denniston were ap-
pointed justices of the peace, and the people sent
one representative to the Legislature of Connecti-
cut. The governments of Connecticut and Penn-
sylvania kept up a war of proclamations and edicts
upon the subject, while the settlement advanced in
population and extent with unexampled rapidity.
Thus matters proceeded until the year 1775, when,
just after hostilities had been commenced between
the colonies and the British troops at Lexington, the
old feuds between the settlers of the rival compa-
nies suddenly broke forth again. A new settlement
of the one was attacked by the militia of the other,
one man was killed, several were wounded, and
others made prisoners, and carried off to a distant
jail. Other outrages were committed elsewhere,
and of course all the angry passions, all the bitter
feelings of hatred and revenge, between the rival
parties claiming the soil and the jurisdiction, broke
out afresh. The settlements of each had become
extended during the five years of peace, which, of
course, had multiplied the parties to the contest; so
that, as the men of Wyoming flew to arms, a moré
formidable civil war than ever was in prospect, at
the moment when every arm should have been
nerved in the common cause of the whole country.*
Congress being now in session, interposed its au-
thority by way of mediatorial resolutions; but to
no purpose. The interposition was repeated, and
again disregarded. Inthe meantime,the Pennsylva-
nians brought seven hundred men into the field, who
were marched against Wyoming under the direction

* At this time the settlements consisted of eight townships, viz.:
Lackawana, Exeter, Kingston, Wilksbarré, Piymouth, Nanticoke, Hunt
ington, and Salem, each containing five miles square. The six towp
ships were pretty full of inhabitanis ; the two upper ones had compars
tively few, thinly scattered
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of Colonel Plunkett. But in ascending the west
bank of the Susquehanna, on coming to a narrow
defile, naturally defended by a rocky buu;rebs their
march was suddenly arrested by a volley of mus-
ketry. An instant afterward the invaders discerned
that the rocky parapets were covered with men
bristling 1in arms, prepared for a Tyrolese defence
of tumbling rocks down upon the foe, should their
fire-arms prove insufficient to repel him. Taken
thus suddenly and effectively by surprise, Plunkett
retreated with his forces behind a point of rocks, for
consultation. He next attempted to cross the river,
and resume his march on the other side. But here,
too, the people of Wyoming had been too quick for
him. The invaders were so hotly received by a de-
tachment in ambuscade on the other side, that they
were constrained to retreat, nor did they dlLUlIlpt to
rally again.

Thus terminated the last military demonstration
of the provincial government of Pennsylvania
against the Valley of Wyoming, previous to the war
of the Revolution. Never, however, had a civil war

raged with more cordial hatred between the par-
ties, not even during the bloody conflicts between
the Guelphs and the Ghibellines, than was felt be-
tween the adherents of the respective land compa-
nies, in the collisions just passed under review.
Most unfortunate was it, therefore, that the quarrel
broke out afresh at the precise moment when the
services of all were alike wanted for the common
defence, especially on a border exposed to the daily
irruptions of the Indians.

Nor was this the only evil. There being a wide
difference of opinion between the people in almost
every section of the country on the great question
at issue between the parent country and the colo-
nies, it was natural to anticipate that such of these
contending parties as adhered to the Royalist cause,
would cherish a twofold enmity towards those Re-
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publicans who had been previously in arms against
them. These feelings of hostility were of course
mutual ; and, as many of the adherents of the Dela-
ware Company, and perhaps some from both fac-
tions, early escaped to the enemy, and enrolled
themselves under the banners of Sir John Johnson
and Colonel John Butler, there can be no difficulty
in accounting for the peculiar ferocity which marked
the conduct of such of the refugees as returned in
arms against their former belligerant neighbours.

The population of the Wyoming settlements, at
the commencement of the war, numbered five thou-
sand souls. Three companies of regular troops
were enlisted among them for the service of the
United States. Their militia, regularly enrolled,
amounted to eleven hundred men capable of bearing
arms, and of this force three hundred entered the
army ; so prolific was their soil, and so industrious
were the people, that they were enabled to furnish
large supplies of provisions for the army. Three
thousand bushels of grain were sent in the spring
of the present,year. The same plan of watchful-
ness against the scouts and scalping parties of the
enemy was adopted as in other frontier settlements,
and the utmost vigilance was observed ; while reg-
ular garrison duty was, in successive turns, per-
formed by the citizen soldiers in the several fortifi-
cations which defended their valley.

Some faint demonstrations were made by strag-
gling parties of Tories and Indians, who prowled
about the settlements during the summer of the
preceding year, while St. Leger was besieging Fort
Schuyler; but after a few skirmishes with the in-
habitants they dispersed, and the latter remained
undisturbed during the rest of the year. Still, an
impression that some of the Tories who had been
in arms against them, or who had been instrumental
in bringing the Indians upon them, were yet lurking
in the vicinity, and bert upon mischief, left the peo-

......
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ple not altogether at ease; and in the month of
January, 1778, twenty-seven suspected inhabitants
were arrested. Nine of these were discharged, on
examination, for want of sufficient evidence to war-
rant their detention ; while the remaining eighteen
were sent to Hartford in Connecticut, and im-
prisoned. The nine who were first discharged im-
mediately fled to the enemy, and were followed
thither by such of their suspected associates as
were subsequently set at liberty in Connecticut.
It was but natural that these proceedings still more
imbittered the feelings of these Loyalists against
the Whigs, and the effect was soon perceptible in
the behaviour of the Tories and Indians occasion-
ally patrolling their borders.

For a time, however, the apprehensions thus ex-
cited were allayed by several pacific messages from
the Indian nations deeper in the interior, who sent
parties of runners with assurances of a desire for
peace. But these assurances were deceptive. In-
stead of being messengers of peace, it was ascer-
tained in March, from one of them while in a state
of intoxication, that their business was to amuse
the people and allay their fears while preparations
were making to attack them. This Indian, with
his associate warriors, was immediately arrested
and placed in confinement, while the women of the
party were sent back with a flag. The alarm was
likewise given to the scattered and remote settlers,
some of them living thirty miles up the river, who
thereupon immediately sought for greater security
in the more populous towns. During the months
of April and May, the settlements began to be more
considerably annoyed by larger parties of Tories
and Indians, who hung upon their borders, and made
frequent incursions among them for purposes of
plunder, robbing the people, as opportunity afford-
ed, of live-stock, grain, and other articles of pro-
visions. Waxing yet more audacious in June, sev-
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eral murders were committed. Six of these victims
were a mother and her five children, who were
doubtless killed under a misapprehension as to her
character, since the woman was the wife of one
of the Tories who had been arrested in January.
The houses and plantations of the slain were, of
course, plundered of everything of value which the
marauders could carry away.

Towards the close of June, the British officers in
command at Niagara determined to strike a blow
upon these settlements; for which purpose about
three hundred white men, consisting in part of regu-
lar troops, but principally of refugee Loyalists, un-
der the command of Colonel John Butler, together
with about five hundred Indians, chiefly Senecas,
under a celebrated war chief named Gi-en-gwah-toh
(He-who-goes-in-the-smoke), marched in that direc-
tion. Arriving at Tioga Pcint, Butler and the In-
dian leaders procured floats and rafts, upon which
they embarked their forces; and, descending the
Susquehanna, landed at a place called the Three
Islands, whence they marched about twenty miles,
and, cerossing a wilderness, entered the Valley of
Wyoming through a gap of the mountain near its
northern extremity. They took possession of two
small forts, without opposition, on the 2d of July,
the first of which was called the Exeter Fort. It
was said the garrison consisted chiefly of Tories,
who treacherously surrendered it to the enemy.
The other was the fort of Lackawana, where the
enemy encountered some resistance. But it was
soon carried, a magistrate named Jenkins being
killed, together with his family, and several others,
mostly women and children, made prisoners. One
of these forts was burned. Inthe other, the proper
name of which was Fort Wintermoot, Colonel John
Butler established his headquarters.

The inhabitants, on receiving intelligence of the
approach of the invaders, assembled within a forti-
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fication four miles below, called Fort Forty, from
the circumstance of its having been occupied by
forty men at some period of the antecedent troubles
of the colony. Colonel Zebulon Butler, whose
name has occurred several times in the preceding
summary of the history of Wyoming, was in com-
mand of about sixty regular troops, and he now
made every exertion to muster the militia of the
settlements. But in his official despatch he com-
plained that, as the women and children had fled to
the several forts, of which there were seven within
the distance of ten miles along the valley, the men,
too many of them, would remain behind to take
care of them. Sitill, he succeeded in collecting
about three hundred of the militia, and commenced
his march to meet the enemy on the Ist of July, in
connexion with the regular troops before mentioned.
commanded by Captain Hewett. On their first ad-
vance, they fell in with a scout of Indians, of whom
they killed two. These savages had just murdered
nine men engaged at work in a corn-field. Not
being supplied with provisions, Colonel Zebulon
Butler was obliged to fall back upon Fort Forty,
while his militia procured supplies. They muster-
ed again on the 3d, and a council of war was con-
vened. Messengers having been despatched to the
headquarters of General Washington for assistance,
immediately after the enemy’s movements were
known at Wyoming, Colonel Z. Butler was desi-
rous of waiting for re-enforcements. But his offi-
cers and men were impatient for a trial of strength,
The messengers had already been gone so long,
that it was supposed they had been cut off, and,
consequently, that General Washington was igno-
rant of their situation. In that case no re-enforce-
ments could reach them in season to save their val-
ley from being ravaged ; and as the enemy’s forces
were daily increasing, it was held to be the part of
wisdom to attack him at once.
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While the question was under debate, five officers
arrived from the Continental army, who, on hearing
the tidings of the meditated invasion, had thrown up
their commissions and hastened home to protect their
families. They had heard nothing of the messengers,
and intimated that there was no prospect of speedy
assistance. The discussions were animated; but
the apprehension that, in the event of longer delay,
the enemy would become too powerful for them,
and thus be enabled to sweep through their valley
and destroy their harvest, was so strong, and the
militia were so sanguine of being able to meet and
vanquish the enemy, that Colonel Butler yielded,
and set forward at the head of nearly four hundred
men, Colonel Denniston, his former associate in
the commission of the peace, being his second in
command.

It was intended to make a quick movement, and
take the enemy by surprise. Having approach-
ed within two miles of Fort Wintermoot,* a small
reconnoitring party was sent forward for observa-
tion. They ascertained that the enemy were ca-
rousing in their huts in perfect security ; but on
their return they were so unfortunate as to fall in
with an Indian scout, who immediately fired and
gave the alarm. The Provincials pushed rapidly
forward ; but the British and Indians were prepared
to receive them, their line being formed a small
distance in front of their camp, in a plain thinly

* The fort was thus called after the proprietor of the land whereon it
was built, and the adjacent territory, a distinguished Tory named Win-
termoot. He was active in bringing destruction upon the valley ; and,
after doinz all the mischief he could to the settlement, removed to
Canada. During the war with England in 1812-15, while the British
were investing Fort Erie, a son of old Mr. Wintermoot, a lieutenant in
the enemy’s service, was killed by a volunteer from the neighbourhood of
Wyoming. Young Wintermoot was reconnoitring one of the American
pickets, when he was shot down by the said volunteer, who was engaged
In the same service against a picket of the enemy. The yolunteer re-
turned into the fort, bringing in the arms and commission of the officer
he had slain as a trophy.
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covered with pine, shrub-oaks, and undergrowth,
and extending from the river to a marsh at the foot
of the mountain. On coming in view of the enemy,
the Americans, who had previously marched in a
single column, instantly displayed into a line of
equal extent, and attacked from right to left at the
same time. The right of the Americans was com-
manded by Colonel Zebulon Butler, opposed to
Colonel John Butler, commanding the enemy’s left.
Colonel Denniston commanded the left of the Ameri-
cans, and was opposed by Indians forming the ene-
my’s right. The battle commenced at about forty
rods’ distance, without much execution at the onset,
as the brushwood interposed obstacles to the sight.
The militia stood the fire well for a short time, and
as they pressed forward there was some giving way
on the enemy’s right. Unluckily, just at this mo-
ment the appalling war-whoop of the Indians rang
in the rear of the American left, the Indian leader
having conducted a large party of his warriors
through the marsh, and succeeded in turning Den-
niston’s flank. A heavy and destructive fire was
simultaneously poured into the American ranks ;
and amid the confusion, Colonel Denniston directed
his men to * fall back,” to avoid being surrounded,
and to gain time to bring his men into order again.
This direction was mistaken for an order to *re-
treat,” whereupon the whole line broke, and every
effort of their officers to restore order was unavail-
ing. At this stage of the battle, and while thus
engaged, the American officers mostly fell. The
flight was general. The Indians, throwing away
their rifles, rushed forward with their tomahawks,
making dreadful havoc, answering the cries for
mercy with the hatchet, and adding to the univer-
sal consternation those terrific yells which invest
gavage warfare with tenfold horror. So alert was
the foe in this bloody pursuit, that less than sixty
of the Americans escaped either the rifle or the
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tomahawk. Of the militia officers, there fell one
lieutenant-colonel, one major, and ten captains, six
lieutenants, and two ensigns. Colonel Durkee and
Captains Hewett and Ransom were likewise killed.
Some of the fugitives escaped by swimming the
river, and others by flying to the mountains. As
the news of the defeat spread down the valley, the
greater part of the women and children, and those
who had remained behind to protect them, likewise
ran to the woods and the mountains ; while those
who could not escape thus, sought refuge in Fort
Wyoming. The Indians, apparently wearied with
pursuit and slaughter, desisted, and betook them-
selves to secure the spoils of the vanquished.

On the morning of the 4th, the day after the bat-
tle. Colonel John Butler, with the combined British
and Indian forces, appeared before Fort Wyoming,
and demanded its surrender. The inhabitants, both
within and without the fort, did not, on that emer-
gency, sustain a character for courage becoming
men of spirit in adversity. They were so intimida-
ted as to give up without fighting; great numbers
ran off; and those who remained all but betrayed
Colonel Zebulon Butler, their commander. The
British Colonel Butler sent several flags, requiring
an unconditional surrender of his opposing name-
sake and the few Continental troops yet remaining,
but offering to spare the inhabitants their property
and effects. But with the American colonel the
victor would not treat on any terms; and the peo-
ple thereupon compelled Colonel Denniston to com-
ply with conditions which his commander had refu-
sed. The consequence was, that Colonel Zebulon
Butler contrived to escape from the fort with the re-
mains of Captain Hewett’s company of regulars,
and Colonel Denniston entered into articles of capit-
ulation. By these it was stipulated that the settlers
should be disarmed, and their garrison demolished;
hat all the prisoners and public stores should be
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given up; that the property of “the people called
Tories” should be made good, and they be permit-
ted to remain peaceably upon their farms. In behalf
of the settlers, it was stipulated that their lives and
property should be preserved, and that they should
be left in the unmolested occupancy of their farms.

Unhappily, however, the British commander either
could not or would not enforce the terms of the ca-
pitulation, which were, to a great extent, disregard-
ed as well by the Tories as Indians. Instead of
finding protection, the valley was again laid waste ;
the houses and improvements were destroyed by
fire, and the country plundered. Families were bro-
ken up and dispersed, men and their wives separa-
ted, mothers torn from their children, and some of
them carried into captivity, while far the greater
number fled to the mountains, and wandered through
the wilderness to the older settlements. Some died
of their wounds, others from want and fatigue, while
others still were lost in the wilderness, or were
heard of no more. Several perished in a great
swamp in the neighbourhood, which, from that cir-
cumstance, acquired the name of * The Shades of
Death,” and retains it to this day.

These were painful scenes. But it does not ap-
pear that anything like a massacre followed the ca-
pitulation.* Nor, in the events of the preceding day,
is there good evidence of the perpetration of any
specific acts of cruelty, other than such as are usual
in the general rout of a battle-field, save only the
unexampled atrocities of the Tories, thirsting, prob-
ably, for revenge in regard to other questions than
that of allegiance to the king.

There seems, from the first, to have been an un-

* It will be seen, a few pages forward, by a letter from Walter Butler,
writing on behalf of his father, Colonel John Butler, that & solemn de
nial is made of any massacre whatever, save the killing of men in arme
in the open field. This letter, in vindication of the refugee Butlers,
would have been introduced here, but for its ponnexion with the affaw

of Cherry Valley.
5—20
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commonly large proportion of Loyalists in the Wyo.
ming settlements, whose notions of legal restraint,
from the previous collisions of the inhabitants, were
of course latitudinarian ; nor were their antecedent
asperities softened by the attempts of the Whigs to
keep them within proper control, after hostilities
had commenced. The greater number of these, as
we have already seen, together with those who were
arrested, had joined themselves to the enemy. But
these were not all the defections. After the arrival
of the enemy upon the confines of the settlement
and before the battle, a considerable number of the
inhabitants joined his ranks, and exhibited instances
of the most savage barbarity against their former
neighbours and friends. Nor has it ever been deni-
ed, in regard to the battle of Wyoming, that none
were more ferocious and cruel, more destitute of
the unstrained quality of mercy, than those same
Loyalists or Tories. An example of the spirit by
which they were actuated is found in the following
occurrence, which, on account of its Cainlike bar-
barity, is worthy of repetitiona Not far from the
battle-ground was an island in the Susquehanna,
called Monockonock, to which several of the fugi-
tive militiamen fled for security, throwing away
their arms, and swimming the river, Here they
concealed themselves as they could among the
brushwood. Their place of retreat being discover-
ed, several Tories followed them ; and, though obli-
ged to swim, yet so intent were they upon the work
of death, that they succeeded in taking their guns
with them. Arriving upon the island, they deliber-
ately wiped their gunlocks, recharged their pieces,
and commenced searching for the fugitives. Two
of these were concealed in sight of each other, but
one of them escaped. But it was, nevertheless, his
lot to behold a scene painful enough to make the
most hardened offender weep, and “blush to own
himself a man.” One of the pursuers came upon
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his companion in partial concealment, who proved
to be his own brother. His salutation was, * So, it
is you, is it?” The unarmed and defenceless man,
thus observed, came forward and fell upon his knees
before his brother, begging for mercy ; promising to
live with him, and serve him forever, if he would
but spare his life. “ All this is mighty fine,” replied
the unrelenting traitor; ‘ but you are a d—d rebel !”
saying which, he deliberately levelled his rifle, and
shot him dead upon the spot. In a domestic war
marked by such atrocity, even among those claim-
ing to be civilized, it becomes us to pause before
we brand the untutored savage, who fights accord-
ing to the usages of his own people, with a/l that is
revolting and cruel.*

There is still another important correction to be
made in reference to every written history of this

* Doctor Thatcher, in his Military Journal, records still greater bar
barities as having been perpetrated on this bloody occasion. He says,
“ One of the prisoners, a Captain Badlock, was committed to torture, by
kaving his body stuck full of splinters of pine knots, and a fire of dry
wood made around him, when his two companions, Captains Ransom
and Durkee, were thrown into the same fire, and held down with pitch-
forks till consumed. One Partial Terry, the son of a man of respectable
character, having joined the Indian party, several times sent his father
word that he hoped to wash his hands in his heart’s blood. The monster,
with his own hands, murdered his father, mother, brothers, and sisters,
stripped off their scalps, and cut off his father’s head!! Thomas Terry,
with his own hands, butchered his own mother, his father-in-law, his sis-
ters and their infant children, and exterminated the whole family !
Upon which the worthy doctor remarks, ** It is only in the infernal re
gions that we can look for a parallel instance of unnatural wickedness.”
It is doubtful whether so great an atrocity was ever committed even
there. Certainly no such were perpetrated at Wyoming. Dr. Thatch-
er also states, that when Colonel Z, Butler sent a flag to propose terms
of capitulation, the reply of Colonel John Butler was in two words—
“ The Hatchet.” He also remarks, in regard to the moral and social
condition of Wyaming, that but for the dissensions produced by the war
of the Revolution, ¢ the inhabitants of this secluded spot might have
lived in the enjoyment of all the happiness which results from harmony
and the purest natural affection.” Witness the ten years of civil wars
sketched in the preceding pages, It was also reported that & man na-
med Thomas Hill with his own hands killed his own mother, his father-
in-law, his sisters and their families! And such is history ! These
monstrous exaggerations were the reports of the battle first published at
Poughkeepsie, on the 20th of July, as derived from the lips of the terrk
fied fugitives who were wending their wuy back to Connecti nut.
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battle extant, not even excepting the last revised
edition of the Life of Washington, by Chief-justice
Marshall. This correction regards the name, and
the just fame, of Joseph Brant, whose character has
been blackened with all the infamy, both real and
imaginary, connected with this bloody expedition,
The Indian leader, as already stated, was a brave
and popular Seneca warrior, named Gi-en-gwah-toh ;
and the Indians L‘llL{lL’"!‘fi in the affair were almost
exclusively Senecas. There were few, if any, Mo-
hawks among them. Captain Brant was at no time
in company with this expedition ; and it is certain,
in the face of every historical authority, British and
American, that, so far from being engaged in the
battle, he was many miles distant at the time of its
occurrence. Such has been the uniform testimony
of the British officers engaged in that expedition,
such was always the word of Thayendanegea him-
self, and such is the statement that has been m,ulu
to the author by Captain Pollard, a Seneca chief of

renown, who was himself in the battle. It will,
moreover, be seen, towards the close of the prese nt
work, that after the publication of Campbell’s * Ger-

trude of Wyoming,” in which poem the Mohawk
chieftain was denounced as “the Monster Brant,”
his son repaired to England, and, in a correspond-
ence with the poet, suc waalnlh, vindicated his fa-
ther’s memory from the calumny.

It is related in the unwritten history of this battle,
that the celebrated Catharine Montour was present,
with her two sons; and that she ranged the field of
blood like a chafed tigress, stimulating the warriors
of her adopted race to the onslaught, even in the
hottest of the fight. But, from the antecedent char-
acter of that remarkable woman, the story can hard-
ly be credited. She was a native of Canada, a half-
breed, her father having been one of the early
French governors, probably Count Frontenac, as he
must have been in the government of that country
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at about the time of her birth. During the wars
between the Six Nations and the French and Hu-
rons, Catharine, when about ten years of age, was
made a captive, taken into the Seneca country,
adopted, and reared as one of their own children.
When arrived at a suitable age, she was married to
one of the distinguished chiefs of her tribe, who
signalized himself in the wars of the Six Nations
against the Catawbas, then a great nation living
southwestward of Virginia. She had several chil-
dren by this chieftain, who fell in battle about the
year 1;311, after which she did not again marry.
She is said to have been a handsome woman when
young, genteel, and of pu ite address, notwithstand-

Ing her Indian associations., It was fre quently her

lot to accompany the chiefs of the Six Nations to
Philadelphia, and other places in Pennsylvania,
where treaties were holden ; and from her character
and manners she was greatly caressed by the Amer-
ican ladies, particularly in Philadelphia, where she
was invited by the ladies of the best circles, and en-
tertained at their houses. Her residence was at the
head of the Seneca Lake.

Some of the flying fugitives from Wyoming had
not proceeded many miles from their desolate
homes before they met a detachment of Continent-
al troops on their way to assist the conlony. It
was now too late. But the detachment, neverthe-
less, remained at Stroudsburg three or four weeks;
by which time Colonel Zebulon Butler had collect-
ed a force consisting of straggling settlers and
others, with whom, and the regular troops just men-
tioned, he returned, and repossessed himself of Wy-
oming, the enemy having retired shortly after the
battle, Colonel John Butler to Niagara, and the In-
dians to their homes ; while Thayendanegea moved
as he had occasion, from his old haunts higher up
the Susquehanna, at Oghkwaga and Unadilla.
Immediately on the reception of the disastrous
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tidings from Wyoming at the Continental head-
quarters, Colonel Hartley’s regiment was ordered
thither, with instructions from Congress to remain
on that frontier until the crops were secured and
the enemy should have retreated. He was joined
by several militia companies, and, among other offi-
cers, by Colonel Dennison, who, in the capitulation
of Wyoming, had stipulated not again to serve
against the king’s troops. He accompanied Colonel
Hartley in an expedition against some of the Indian
towns up the Susquehanna, in the direction of Ogh-
kwaga, several of which were destroyed. A few
prisoners were also taken. It appearing, however,
that the enemy were gathering in too much force
for him to remain long within their territory, Col-
onel Hartley was constrained to retreat. An attack
was made upon his rear, but the assailants were re-
pulsed. Colonel Dennison doubtless felt himself
warranted in breaking the stipulations of Fort Wy-
oming, by the fact that those stipulations were not
strictly observed by the Tories and Indians. But
the enemy made no such allowance ; and this expe-
dition, or, rather, the conduct of Colonel Dennison,
was subsequently used as a pretext for some of the
incidents connected with the attack upon Cherry
Valley

Colonel Zebulon Butler built another fort at Wy-
oming, which he continued to ocecupy until the next
year, when the command of that region devolved
upon General Sullivan. In the mean time, the out-
skirts of the settlements were frequently harassed
by straggling parties of Tories and Indians, who oc-
casionally committed an assassination, or carried
off a few prisoners. The Americans, in turn, de-
spatched every Indian who fell in their way. In
March following, the fort was surrounded by a force
of two hundred and fifty Indians, and Tories dis-
guised as such. They attacked the fortress, but fled
on the discharge of a single piece of artillery, burie
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ing whatever buildings had either been re-erected
or left standing at the.former invasion. The gar-
rison was too weak to allow of a pursuit. A few
weeks afterward, as a company of Continental
troops were approaching the fort, under the com-
mand of Major Powell, they were fired upon by a
party of Indians in ambush, while passing along a
single track through a difficult swamp. In this at-
tack, Captain Davis, Lieutenant Jones, and four
privates, were killed. The detachment formed for
action with all possible despatch, but the Indians
fled after two or three discharges. Nor did they re-
appear afterward, in that immediate neighbourhood,
in any subsequent stage of the Revolutionary con-
test, although other sections of the Pennsylvania
frontier, farther south and west, suffered occasion-
ally from their depredations, particularly in the fol-
lowing year, while Sullivan was preparing to ad-
vance into the Seneca country.*

+ Thus ends the Revolutionary history of Wyoming, But from what
has been given in the preceding pages, touching the history of this val-
ley and its feuds before the Revolution, the reader may possibly feel
some desire to learn the subsequent progress of the long-pending land
quarrel. After the Indians had been chastised, the settlers returned,
and the valley and its precincts once more began to flourish. Pennsyl-
vania again interposed her claims ; and a commission was appointed by
Congress, which met in New Jersey, to hear the case and decide the
question. It was unanimously decided in favour of Pennsylvania. The
people held that this decision was one of jurisdiction merely, and with
this understanding cheerfully acquiesced in it. But fresh troubles arose.
A company of Continental truops was stationed there in 1783, to keep
the peace, and this only made matters worse ; the soldiers became licen-
tious and overbearing, and the people were exceedingly annoyed thereat.
In the spring of 1784, by a succession of ice-dams which accumulated in
the river, the valley was overflowed, and the inhabitants were compelled
to fly to the mountains for safety. hen the ice gave way, the floods
swept off everything, leaving the whole valley a scene of greater deso-
lation than ever. Presently afterward the old troubles broke out afresh.
The inhabitants refused to obey their new masters. The Connecticut
settlers flew to arms ; the Pennsylvanians sent troops thither ; the Con-
necticut settlers laid siege to the fort; there were riots and skirmish-
ings, and some killed and wounded. The Connecticut peopls wers
taken prisoners by treachery, and sent off to prison. They escaped. Re-
enforcements of troops were sent by Pennsylvania; there was more
blood shed. Various attempts were made tosettle the difficulties. Com-
missioners were appointed upon the subject, ore of whom was Timothy
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CHAPTER XVI.

No sooner had Great Britain been apprized of the
alliance between France and her revolted colonies,
than it was determined to evacuate Philadelphia, and
concentrate the royal army at New-York. Accord-
ingly, on the 18th of June, the British troops cross-
ed the Delaware into New-Jersey, and commenced
their march for New-York, ascending the east bank
of the river to Allentown, and thence taking the
lower road leading through Monmouth to Sandy
Hook. General Washington,anticipating this move-
ment, had previously detached a division of the ar-
my, under General Maxwell, to impede the enemy’s
march. It was known that General Gates was ap-
proaching with the army from the North, and the
enemy's motions were no sooner ascertained, than
General Wayne was despatched, with one thousand
chosen men, to strengthen the lines. The Marquis
de Lafayette was directed to take command of the
whole force thus sent in advance, while Washington
himself moved rapidly forward with the main army.
It was his design to bring on a general, and, if pos-
sible, a decisive engagement. The result of his
movements for that object was the battle of Mon-
mouth, fought on the 28th of June. The disposi-
tions for this engagement were admirably arranged
on the night of the 27th, the position of the enemy
being such as to afford the best advantages for an
attack upon his rear the moment he should get in
Pickering. He was forcibly seized, and carried into captivity. His
story has been written by himself, and is full of interest. Theas daffi-
culties continued, with feelings of the bitterest contention, ten years,
pefore matters were compromised between the parties so that they sct-

.ed down in peace. It is now a rich and flourishing county, anc may
be called the Paradise of Pennsylvania.
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motion. Such being the intentions of the com-
mander-in-chief, they were communicated to Gen-
eral Lee, who was ordered to make his dispositions
accordingly, and to keep his troops lying upon their
arms to be 1n readiness at the shortest notice. At
five in the morning of the 28th, the front of the en-
emy was observed to be in motion, and orders were
instantly despatched to General Lee to move on and
attack, *“unless there should be very powerful rea-
sons to the contrary.” Lee was also advised that
Washington was himself advancing to support him.
After marching about five miles, to the great sur-
prise and morufication of the commander-in-chief,
he met the whole advanced corps retreating, by
the orders of Lee, without having made any oppo-
sition, except one fire given by a party under Col-
onel Butler, on their being charged by the enemy’s
cavalry, who were repulsed. Lee was sharply re-
buked, and placed in arrest. Hurrying to the rear
of the rétreating corps, which the commander-in-
chief found closely pressed by the enemy, he arrest-
ed their flight, re-formed them, and with the aid of
some well-served pieces of artillery, at once check-
ed the enemy’s advance, and gained time for making
such dispositions as the unexpected emergency re-
quired. The battle soon became general, and was
obstinately contested at various points through the
whole day, until dark, Sir Henry Clinton and Gen-
eral Washington heading their respective armies in
person. By the misconduct of Lee, however, and
an error of General Scott in the morning, advanta-
ges had been lost which entirely disconcerted the
views of the commander-in-chief, and deprived the
American arms of a victory which was all but cer-
tain. Still, the fortunes of the day were so far re-
covered, that, from being the pursued, the Ameri-
cans drove the enemy back over the ground they
had followed, and recovered the field of battle, and
possessed themselves of their dead. But as they
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retreated behind a morass very difficult to pass, and
had both flanks secured with thick woods, it was
found impracticable for the Americans, fainting with
fatigue, heat, and want of water, to do anything
more that night. '

Both armies encamped in the field, and lay upon
their arms, Washington himself sleeping in his
cloak, under a tree, in the midst of his soldiers. His
intention was to renew and end the battle on the
following morning, not doubting as to the issue. In-
deed, the result of that day’s fight was justly con-
sidered a victory by the American officers ; and but
for the conduct of Lee in the morning, it would, al-
most beyond question, have been decisive. But the
purpose of the commander-in-chief to renew the en-
gagement was frustrated by a silent midnight retreat
of the enemy—so silent, indeed, that his departure
was not known until the morning. A variety of cir-
cumstances concurred to render a pursuit by the
Americans unadvisable; among the principal 6f
which were, the extreme heat of the weather, the
fatigue of the army from its march through a deep
sandy country, almost entirely destitute of water,
and the distance the enemy had gained by his mid-
night march. A pursuit, it was believed, would an-
swer no valuable purpose, and would certainly be
fatal to numbers of the men, several of whom had
perished of heat on the preceding day. The Amer-
lean commander thereupon drew off his army to the
Hudson, crossed over, and once more established
his headquarters at White Plains. Meantime, SIr
Henry Clinton proceeded to Sandy Hook and thence
passed his troops over 1o New-York. The loss of
ihe Americans in this battle was eight officers and
sixty-one privates killed, and one hundred and sixty
wounded. That of the enemy was three hundred
and sixty-eight in killed, wounded, and missing, and
about one hundred taken prisoners. One thousand
of their men deserted on their march. Both parties
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claimed the victory, which was, in fact, won b
neither. The advantages, in the earlier part of the
day, were in favour of the British ; in the after part,
of the Americans. The stealthy retreat of the for-
mer, moreover, covered by the darkness, left no
doubt as to which army was best prepared to renew
the conflict with the return of daylight.

The French fleet, under the Count d’Estaing, con-
sisting of twelve ships of the line and six frigates,
having on board four thousand troops, arrived on the
coast of Virginia about the 1st of July. The design
of the French commander was to engage the Brit-
ish squadron in the Chesapeake. But, unfortunate-
ly, the latter had sailed for New-York a few days
before. Thither the count followed the British ad-
miral, but the bar of the New-York harbour would
not allow the entrance of his heavy ships. An at-
tack upon New-York thus proving to be impractica-
ble, by the advice of General Washington it was de-
termined to make an attempt upon Rhode Island,
then occupied by six thousand British troops, com-
manded by Major-general Sir Robert Pigott. Gen-
eral Sullivan, with-an army of ten thousand men,
was lying in the neighbourhood of Providence.
Count d’Estaing arrived off Newport on the 25th of
July, and arrangements were soon adjusted between
General Sullivan and himself for a combined at-
ltack upon the town of Newport, by land and sea.
The assault was to be made on the 9th of August,
for which purpose Sullivan moved down to Tiver-
ton, where he was joined by General Green, and the
ships of war entered the channel. But the militia
not having joined the regular troops so promptly as
was expected, General Sullivan judged it necessary
to postpone the attack fora day or two. Meantime,
Lord Howe appeared off the harbour with the Brit-
ish fleet, and the Count d’Estaing immediately put
to sea to engage him. The French fleet having the
weather gage, the British admiral weighed anchor
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and put to sea, followed by the count. A storm sep-
arated the fleets, so that no engagement took place ;
and on his return to port on the 19th, Count d’Es-
taing found it necessary to repair to Boston to refit.
During the absence of the count, however, while in
chase of Lord Howe, General Sullivan had crossed
over to the island, and on the 15th laid siege to the
town of Newport. But when the French admiral de-
parted for Boston, the militia, disappointed and dis-
heartened at being thus abandoned by their allies, left
the service in such numbers, that Sullivan was com-
pelled to raise the siege and retire. He was pursued
to the distance of a mile north of Quaker Hill, where,
on the 29th of August, was fought the battle of Rhode
[sland. 1t was a sharp and obstinate engagement
of half an hour, at the end of which the enemy gave
way and retreated. The loss of the Americans was
two hundred and eleven; that of the enemy two
hundred and sixty. Ascertaining, soon afterward,
that strong re-enforcements were coming from New-
York to the aid of General Pigott, a resolution was
immediately adopted by Sullivan to evacuate the
island. This determination was executed on the
night of the 30th—most luckily, as the event proved ;
for on the very next day Sir Henry Clinton arrived
at Newport with four thousand troops, which re-en-
forcement would doubtless have enabled the enemy
to cut off the retreat of the Americans.

In September, after the return of the British
troops to New-York, strong divisions moved north-
ward on each side of the Hudson River. By ade-
tachment of one of these, under General Gray, a
regiment of American cavalry, commanded by Col-
onel Baylor, was surprised while asleep at Tappan,
and almost entirely cut off. The enemy rushed
upon the sleeping troopers, numbering one hundred
and four privates, with their bayonets. The loss,
killed, wounded, and taken, was sixty-four. This
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exploit was very similar to that of the Paoli, under
the same general, the preceding year.

In consequence of the hostile spirit very gener-
ally and extensively manifested by the Indians—the
great Western tribes becoming more and more res-
uff—early in June, immediately preceding the affair
of Wyoming, Congress had determined upon a more
enlarged and decisive campaign against them. This
had, indeed, become the more necessary from the
belligerant indications among the Delawares and
Shawanese, inhabiting the territory now forming the
State of Ohio. At the commencement of the war,
Kogquethagaeehlon, the Delaware chief usually known
as Captain White-Eyes, a firm friend of the colonies,
had succeeded 1in preventing his people from ltll\mg
up the hatchet against them, in opposition to the
views of his rival chief, Captain Pipe. But in the
spring of the present \,mr the policy of the latter
had wellnigh prevailed, through the revengeful
machinations of three celebrated Loyalists, named
M Kee, Elliot, and Simon Girty, who had been con-
fined at Pittsburgh as Tories ; but who, effecting
their escape, traversed the Indian country to De-
troit, proclaiming, as they went, that the Americans
had resolved upon their de&truuion, and that their
only chance of safety was to espouse the cause of
the erown, and h;_rht Availing himself of the ex
citement created by those fugitives, Captain Plpc
assembled a large number of his warriors, and pro-
claimed * every one an enemy to his country who
should endeavour to persuade them against fighting
the Americans, and declared that all such ought
surely to be put to death.” But White-Eyes was
by no means inactive in his efforts to preserve
peace, Collecting the people of his tribe, he ad-
dressed them with great earnestness and pathos.
Observing that some of his warriors were preparing
to take up the hatchet, he admonished them strong-
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ly against such a course, which, in the end, could
only bring upon them sure destruction.

The counsel of White-Eyes, supported by a con-
ciliatory message, which was received just in good
time, from the Americans, prevailed for the mo-
ment, and the Delawares came to the unanimous
determination to follow his advice, and his alone.

But the hostile action of these people was only
suspended for a short time, and it became necessary
for more extended and efficient operations against
nearly the whole race.* In the project of Congress
already adverted to, it was intended that one expe-
dition should move upon Detroit, while General
(Gates was instructed by resolution to co-operate

* Indeed, the Shawaness had not been remarkably quiet antecedent
to the visitation of M‘Kee, Elliot, and Girty, since they had for several
years been engaged in a system of predatory warfare against the cele-
brated Colonel Daniel Boon and his adventurous companions, almost
{from the day they made their appearance upon the banks of the Ohio, with
their families, in 1773, when the settlement of the present State of Ken-
tucky was commenced. Boon had been engaged with Lord Dunmore in
his war against the Shawaness in 1774. In the following year he was
attacked in Boonsborough, his principal settlement; and through the
entire years of 1776 and 1777, hostilities were actively prosecuted by the
savages agninst the advancing colonists. In one of the earlier battles
Boon had lost a son. A second son fell afterward, and his daughter wns
tzken & captive, but bravely rescued by the chivalrous father. In April,
1777, the Indians so divided their forces as to fall upon all the infant set-
tlements &t once, and their little forts only saved the people from de-
struction. On the 15th of April, Boonsborough was attacked by one hun-
dred Indians, at which time the inhabitants suffered severely. On the
19th, Colonel Logan's fort was attacked by a force of two hundred In-
dians, but they were repulsed by the garrison, consisting of only thirteex
men, two of whom were killed. Re-enforcements arriving from Virginia,
the skirmishes became almost daily. In February of the present year
{1778) Boonsbhorough was again attacked, and the gallant colonel him
self taken prisoner. He was token first to Chilicothe, and thence te
Detroit, whera he was treated with humanity by Colonel Hamilton, the
governor, who offered the Indians £100 if they would surrender him
into his hands, that he might liberate him on his purole, But having
imbibed a strong affection for their most subtle and successful enemy,
the Indians declined the offer. Taking him back to Chilicothe, the
colonel was duly adopted into one of the Shawanese families as a son,
to whom his new parents became strongly attached. He soon acquired
their confidence to such an extent, that they allowed him to wander off
and hunt by himself. Ascertaining, however, that they were meditating
another descent npon Boonsborough, he absconded, nnd, eluding pursait,
reached his home on the 20th of June.
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with that expedition by carrying the war into the
Seneca country, and also to dispossess the enemy
of Oswego, should he be found in the occupancy of
that post. It appears that, at the very moment of
the invasion of Wyoming, there was a delegation
of Seneca chiefs at Philadelphia ; but having taken
their departure without communicating with the
government, a resolution was passed by Congress,
immediately upon the receipt of Colonel Z. Butler's
despatches, instructing the board of war to send
after the chiefs, and ascertain from them In what
character, and for what purpose, they had made the
said visit ; and also to inquire whether the Seneca
warriors had not been engaged in hostilities against
the United States. On the 16th of July information
was received that the chiefs refused to return, and
instructions to General Schuyler were proposed, di-
recting him to intercept and detain them at Albany,
The motion was negatived ; but on the 25th of July,
Congress having ascertained that the Senecas were
actually engaged in the invasion of Wyoming, “ aid-
ed by Tories and other banditti from the frontiers
of New-York, New-Jersey, and Pennsylvania,” it
Was resolved that the expedition against the hos-

liles of the Six Nations should be forwarded with

all possible despatch. In the mean time, however,

lrom the expensiveness of the undertaking, the ex-

pedition against Detroit was reluctantly abandoned :

but, in lieu thereof, General M‘Intosh, commanding

the Western Department, was ordered to proceed

from Pittsburgh against those of the Indian towns

the destruction of which, in his opinion, would tend
iost effectually to intimidate and chastise them.

M'Intosh had been stationed at Pittsburgh early in
the spring, and, with a small party of regulars and
militia, had descended the Ohio
and erected a fort, which w
name, at Beavertown.
0l

about thirty miles,
as called by his own
It was a small work, built
strong stockades, and furnished with bastians
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mounting one six-pounder each. The situation
was well chosen, as a point affording the best facil-
ities for intercepting the war parties of the West«
ern Indians in their frequent hostile incursions the
present year.

'This expedition was doubtless judged the more
important from the increasing audacity of the In.
dians on the Ohio border of Virginia, now forming
the State of Kentucky. In August, Colonel Boon
had led a small band of nineteen men against one
of the Indian towns on the Scioto, before reaching
which he fell in with and dispersed a party of forty
Indians then on their way to Boonsborough. The
colonel found the town at Point Creek deserted,
and learned that their whole force had gone against
his own settlement, to the defence of which he was,
consequently, compelled to hasten back. Fortu-
nately, he anticipated their arrival by a few hours,
and was enabled to prepare his little garrison for
defence. On the 8th of August, the Indians, to the
number of about four hundred and fifty, arrived be-
fore the fort, led. in addition to their own chiefs,
by Captain Duquesne, and eleven other Canadian
Frenchmen. The garrison was formally summon-
ed to surrender, which summons was peremptorily
refused. A treatv was then proposed by the be-
siegers, and acceded to, the Indians requiring that
nine men should be sent out to them as negotiators.
But this movement proved to be an artifice, by
means of which they hoped to gain access to the
fort. An attempt to grapple with and carry off the
nine negotiators, though happily unsuccessful, dis-
closed their treacherous design. The besiegers then
attempted a regular approach from the river’s brink
by mining ; but finding that the garrison had discoy-
ered their purpose, and were engaged in counter-
mining them, the siege was abandoned on the 20th
of August, The loss of the enemy was thirty-seven
killed, and a much larger number wounded. The
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luss of the garrison was only two men killed and
four wounded.

But, as we have seen, the expedition of General
M'Intosh, as authorized by the vote of Congress
recently cited, was specially destined against the
Sandusky towns. It was commanded by the gen-
eral himself, and consisted of one thousand men ;
but such were the delays in getting it on foot, that
the officers, on arriving at Tuscarawa, judged it im-
prudent to proceed farther at such an advanced sea-
son of the year. They therefore halted at that
place, and built Fort Laurens, in which M‘lntosh
left a garrison of one hundred and fifty men, under
the command of Colonel John Gibson, and returned
himself to Fort Pitt for the winter.

Connected with these distant Indian operations
of the summer of 1778, was one equally distinguish-
ed by the boldness of its conception and the brill-
tancy of its execution. The increasing hostility of
the remote tribes upon the waters of the Mississippi
and its tributaries had induced a belief that a pow-
erful influence must have been exerted upon their
minds by the settlements planted long before at
Kaskaskias, and in the country of the Upper Mis-
sissippi, by the French, in connexion with Canada
For the purpose of striking at once at the root of
the evil, an expedition was organized early in the
season, the object of which was to invade and take
possession of those settlements. The command
was intrusted to Colonel George Rogers Clarke, of
Virginia, a bold and experienced border officer ; and
his whole force, destined to penetrate twelve hun-
dred miles through a wilderness, which was, in fact,
the enemy’s country, did not exceed two hundred
men. The rendezvous of this little army was at
the Great Kanhawa, where they were attacked by
a superior Indian force before their embarecation.
But, finding they were not able to make any 1mn-
vression upon the fort, the assailants drew off,
5—21
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having killed but one man and wounded one or two
more. Descending to the falls of the Ohio, a small
fort was erected at that place, in which a garrison
was left of ten or twelve families. Arriving within
about sixty miles of the mouth of the Ohio, the
troops were landed, and, with only four days’ pro-
visions, marched for the lllinois. They reached
the precincts of Kaskaskias at midnight on the
sixth day, having marched two days without food
and determined forthwith, and unanimously, to take
the town or die in the attempt. The town was
strongly fortified, and contained about two hundred
and fifty well-built houses ; but the approach of the
invaders was unknown ; the people and the garrison
were alike slumbering in security ; and both town
and fort were taken, the latter being carried by
surprise, although the defences were sufficiently
strong to resist a thousand men. The command-
ing officer, Philip Rocheblave, was made prisoner ;
and among his papers, falling into the hands of Col-
onel Clarke, were the instructions which he had
from time to time received from the British govern-
ors of Quebec, Detroit, and Michilimackinack, ur-
ging him to stimulate the Indians to war by the prof-
fer of large bounties for scalps. Rocheblave was
sent a prisoner to Williamsburg, in Virginia, and
with him were sent the papers taken from his port-
folio.

On the day after the fall of Kaskaskias, Captain
Joseph Bowman, at the head of thirty mounted
men, was sent to attack three other towns upon the
Mississippl, the first of which, called Parraderuski,
distant fifteen miles from Kaskaskias, was surpri-
sed,,and taken without opposition, the inhabitants
at once assenting to the terms of the conqueror.
The next town was St. Philip’s, distant nine miles
farther up. The force of Captain Bowman was so
small, that he wisely determined to make a descent
upon St, Philip’s in the night, that his strength, or
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rather, his weakness, might be concealed. The
precaution ensured success: and the inhabitants,
with whom the whole negotiation was conducted in
the night, acceded to the terms prescribed. From
St. Philip’s, Captain Bowman directed his course
upon the yet more considerable town of Cauhow,
distant between forty and fifty miles. This town
contained about one hundred families, and was also
approached secretly, and entered in the night. Cap-
tain Bowman, with his troop, rode directly to the
quarters of the commander, and demanded the sur-
render of himself and the whole town, which was
immediately complied with. Taking possession of
a large stone house, well fortified, the *bold dra-
goon” immediately established his quarters therein,
and awaited the morning’s dawn, which would dis-
close to the people the diminutive force to which
they had surrendered. Enraged at the discovery,
one of the enemy threatened to bring a body of one
hundred and fifty Indians against the little American
squadron, and cut them off. But he was secured,
and in the course of ten days upward of three hun-
dred of the inhabitants became so reconciled to their
change of masters as to take the oath of allegiance
to the United States. Leaving a small guard at
Cauhow, Captain Bowman returned to Kaskaskias.

But the enemy on the New-York frontiers were
by no means inactive. In addition to the severe af-
fair in the Cobleskill settlement, in which Captain
Christian Brown was the leader of the American
militia and a small band of regulars, as noted in the
last preceding chapter but one, a large band of In-
dians and Tories, under the conduct of Brant and
Barent Frey, broke into the same district at the
close of May, and inflicted no small degree of dam-
age, by the destruction of both life and property.
They were met by Captain Patrick, belonging to
Colonel Alden’s regiment, and a handful of troops,
who were entirely cut to pieces, Captair Patrick
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fell early in the engagement. His lieutenant, a cox
poral, and nineteen men, were also killed. The
command then devolved upon a sergeant, who fought
bravely, as all had done. But they were surround-
ed by a force greatly superior in numbers, and but
four men, exclusive of the sergeant, escaped, all
wounded. The bodies of Patrick and his lieutenant
were shockingly mutilated. A portion of the set-
tlement was burned, and the settlement of Turlock,
in the same vicinity, was also ravaged.

Nor was this all. In the course of the summer,
and probably at about the time of Colonel Hartley’s
expedition into the country above Wyoming, one of
the M‘Donalds, who had fled from Johnstown, a
Loyalist officer, distinguished for his activity, made
a sudden irruption into the Schoharie settlements,
at the head of about three hundred Tories and In-
dians, burning houses, and killing and making pris-
oners such of the inhabitants as came in his way,
and were not able to make their escape. The little
fortress of Schoharie was occupied by a small gar-
rison, commanded by Colonel Vrooman, one of that
class of men who, though officers, are certain never
to be called soldiers. They saw the ravages of the
enemy—the conflagrations by night rendering visi-
ble the acts of outrage committed by day—but, from
their own weakness, dared not to venture forth, or
make a show of opposition. The brave Colonel
Harper was in the fort with Vrooman, and was little
satisfied with the course of that officer. Leaving
the fort, therefore, himself, he succeeded in making
his way through the enemy, mounted his horse, and
started express for Albany. His movement was
discovered, and several Tories and Indians were
despatched in pursuit. They overtook him in the
night, at an inn at Fox’s Creek, after he had retired
to bed. Hearing the noise below, the colonel sprang
up in full panoply, and as they broke open the door,
which he had locked, he presented his arms with




AMERICAN REVOLUTION., 325

such earnestness that they recoiled. Standing upon
the watch until the dawn of morning, he again sic-
ceeded in getting to horse, and rode off. One of the
Indians followed him almost to Albany, the colo-
nel being obliged frequently to turn upon his dusky
pursuer, who as often took to his heels as his pur-
suit was discovered. Having communicated the
situation of affairs in the Schoharie Valley to Colo-
nel Gansevoort, a squadron of cavalry was. forth-
with detached to their assistance. The detachment
rode all night, and early on the following morning,
to the great joy of the terrified inhabitants who re-
mained, the tramp of hoofs announced the approach
of succours. The spirited light-horsemen had no
sooner sounded a charge and made a dash upon the
besiegers, led on by Harper, than the troops sallied
out from the fort, and a precipitate retreat of the en-
emy was the consequence.

The people of Schoharie had suffered severely
from the scouts and scalping parties of the enemy
during the summer, but their bravery in individual
contests had amply avenged their wrongs. On one
occasion a party of seven Indians made prisoner
of a Mr. Sawyer, whom they bound and marched
off into the wilderness. Having proceeded eight or
ten miles, they laid themselves down to sleep for
the night. But their prisoner had been less effect-
aally secured than they supposed. In the course
2f the night he succeeded in disengaging his hands,
and cautiously taking a hatchet from the girdle of
one of the Indians, he despatched six of them in
rapid succession, and wounded the seventh, who
made his escape. Having thus relieved himself of
his keepers, Sawyer returned home in safety, and
at his leisure.

Soon after the battle of Monmouth, Lieutenant-
colonel William Butler, with one of the Pennsyl-
vania regiments and a detachment of Morgan's rifle-
men, was ordered to the North, and stationed at
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Schoharie. Butler was a brave and experienced
officer, especially qualified for the service upon
which he was appointed. His arrival in Schoharie
had a salutary effect, by discouraging the disaffect-
ed, and, by the presence of a stronger force than had
yet bu:n among them, esta lll‘wlllllj_" the confidence
and reviving the s spirits of the people. Several of
his aimmnfrp:nues also returned with good succeess,
Attached to the rifle corps, under Captain Long,
were several bold spirits, who signalized themselves
so greatly in the l}cili!‘\rlll warfare in which they
were engaged, that many of their exploits are fresh-
ly remem bered among the inhabitants of Schoharie
to this day. Of this number were David Elerson
and a Virginian named Murphy. The first expedi-
tion of Captain Long was directed to the valley of
the Charlotte River, one of the upper tributaries of
the Susquehanna, flowing from the mountains south
of Schoharie. The object was to arrest and bring
to the fort a conspicuous Tory living upon that
stream, named Service. His house h(‘lllL{' a point
of rendezvous and supply for the Tory and Indian
scouts, it was desirable that it should be broken up.
While on his way to the place of destination, it was
the good fortune of Captain Long to intercept a
company of Tories, enlisted for the king’s service,
in the neighbourhood of Catskill, by a Captain
Smith, who were then on their way 10 join Sir John
Johnson at Niagara. Smith was killed by the si-
multaneous shots of Elerson and his captain, they
being a few rods in advance at the moment when
the Tory leader emerged at the head of his men
from a thicket. His followers fled in every direc-
tion. They had intended to lodge that night with
Service, but that unfortunate man had guests of
quite another character. While unapprized of dan-
ger, his house was surrounded by the troops of
Long, when in an instant Murphy and Elerson rush-
ed in, and made him a prisoner. Having been in-
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formed that he must accompany them to Schoharie,
on leaving his house he seized an axe standing by
the door, which he poised, and directed for a blow
at the head of Murphy. The latter was too quick-
sighted to receive it ; but as he sprang aside to avoid
the descending weapon, Service fell dead from the
rifle of Elerson,

After his term of enlistment had expired, Murphy
remained in Schoharie, and made war on his own
account. He was as remarkable for his fleetness
as for his courage and great precision in firing. He
used a double-barrelled rifle, and the fact of his fre-
quently firing twice in succession without stopping
to load, and always bringing down his man, rendered
him a terror to the Indians. Not knowing the pe-
culiar construction of his rifle, they were impressed
with the belief that it was a charmed weapon, and
supposed he could continue firing as long and as
often as he pleased without loading at all. He
fought the savages after their own fashion; was
more than their equal in stratagem or with his heels ;
and, the greater the apparent danger he was en-
countering, the greater was his delight. When he
had opportunity, he took pattern of the Indians in
scalping those who fell by his unerring aim ; and it
was said that he killed forty of their warriors with
his own hands.

Colonel Gansevoort yet remained in the command
of Fort Schuyler, and was continued there during
nearly the whole year, although, weared by inaction,
Willett and others of his officers made a strong and
formal effort to be relieved, that their regiment
might have an opportunity to distinguish themselves
in the field with the main army. At Fort Schuyler
they could have little else to do than observe the
motions of the enemy on the lakes and the St. Law-
rence, and to watch, and occasionally cut off, a hos-
tile party when venturing too near the garrison.
But, from the correspondence of the officers, 1t
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would-appear that the troops of the garrison must
have been the severest sufferers from this petty
mode of warfare, since the enemy seemed ever to
be hovering in the precincts, ready to bring down
or carry into captivity such straggling soldiers as
ventured beyond musket-shot from the fort.*

Early in July, Lieutenant M‘Clellan, an active and
efficient officer, was sent with a small party to de-
stroy the buildings and public works at Oswego,
which it was ascertained were not at that moment
in the occupation of the enemy. The object of the
expedition was accomplished, and the buildings
were burned to the ground, together with a quantity
of ammunition, provisions, and other public stores.
It seems unaccountable that this post was left thus
wholly unprotected ; the only occupants found by
the American party being a woman and her children,
and a lad fourteen years old. The woman and her
family, together with her furniture and a suitable
supply of provisions, were placed in an out-building,
and left without farther molestation. The boy was
brought off as a prisoner, and furnished some im-
portant information touching the movements of the

* As an example of these individual murders, the following passage
18 eopied from a MS. letter from Major Robert Cochran to Colonel Ganse-
voort, dated September 8, 1778. During the occasional absences of Colo-
nel Gansevoort, Major Cochran was in command of the post: **This
morning Benjamin Acker, of Captain De Witt’s company, who was out
in the meadow, was killed and scalped by a party of Indians, who were
seen and fired at by the sentinel near Brodack’s house. 1 heard ths
firing in my room, and rin to the officer of the guard to know what was
the matter. I was informed that a party of Indians had fired upon one
of our men who had gone to catch a horse, and that he had either been
killed or taken prisoner. [ ordered Captuin Bleecker to go out imme-
diately, wirth the guard just parading, to see if he could find him dead
or alive, They found Acker lying dead. He was scalped, and a weapon
about two feet and a half long, like this”"—([here Major Cochran gare
a drawing of the instrument—u war club, with a blade like the spear
of a lance inserted in the side, near the upper end of it]—* lying near
him. This lance-head had been stuck several times in his body, It ia
supposed to have been left behind on purpose, as ihere were several
rmarks on it, denoting the number of persons killed and scalps taken by
the means of it.,” [Gaptain Bleecker, mentioned in the foregoing extract,
18 the venerable Leonard Bleecker, yet living at Sing Sing. He was a
vary active and efficient officer at Fort Schuyler for a long time.}
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snemy between their island rendezvous in the St
Lawrence and Niagara.

But Colonel Gansevoort had some serious troubles
to encounter within the garrison, and some painful
duties to execute. Notwithstanding the high char-
acter which the forces constituting the garrison had
acquired, and the sound patriotism of his officers,
the spirit of disaffection appeared among them in
the spring, and the early part of the summer, to an
alarming extent. Distant as was the post of Fort
Schuyler from New-York, Sir Henry Clinton had
succeeded in the introduction of an emissary within
the fort, in the character of a recruit. His name
was Samuel Geake. He was an American soldier,
and had been corrupted while a prisoner in New-
York, whence he was sent forth, in company with
Major Hammell, also an American prisoner, whose
virtue yielded to the all-subduing power of gold.
Geake accompanied Hammell to Poughkeepsie,
where, in furtherance of his iniquitous designs, he
enlisted in Captain Abraham Swartwout’s company,
and was transferred to Fort Schuyler, to join Colo-
nel Gansevoort’s regiment; into which place, for
specific objects, he was instructed to insinuate him-
self by an aid-de-camp of Sir Henry Clinton. After
Hammell’s arrest, Colonel Varick wrote to Ganse-
voort, putting him on his guard as to the character
of Geake. A sergeant named Kartele was employ-
ed by Colonel Gansevoort to ingratiate himself in
Geake’s confidence, and, if possible, ascertain his
true character, and penetrate his designs. The
commission was successfully executed by the ser-
geant, and the whole circumstances of Hammell's
employment by the enemy, and his own, were elicit-
ed. Geake was thereupon arrested, but not until he
had made great progress in his designs, and was on
the eve of desertion, for the purpose of joining the
British army in Philadelphia. He was tried by a
court-martial, made a full confession, and, with his
Vou. 1.—UC ¢
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confederates, was sentenced to death. The sentence
was not carried into execution against Geake, not
only because the constitution of the court was ir-
regular, but because of the desire of the command-
er-in-chief to spare him as a witness against Ham-
mell.

The position of Fort Schuyler was of the first
importance, as the key to the western entrance of
the Mohawk country ; but it was, nevertheless. too
remote from the upper German settlements of the
valley to afford them protection from sudden Irrup-
tions of the enemy, avoiding that fortress in their
approach. The consequence was, that the work
of destruction was actively prosecuted among the
settlements referred to during the summer of this
year. The first blow was struck upon a small and
rather secluded hamlet, called Andrus-town, situa-
ted about six miles southeast of the German Flatts,
on the 18th of July, by a small party of Indians led
by Brant in person. This settlement consisted of
seven families, planted upon a lot of one thousand
acres. ‘T'hey were in affluent circumstances for
borderers, and the object of the invasion was plun-
der. The settlement was utterly destroyed—every-
thing of value that could be removed was carried
away—the houses and other buildings were reduced
to ashes—an aged man named Bell, with his son
and two others, was killed—one other inhabitant
perished in the flames of his own house—and the
remainder of the little colony were ecarried into
captivity. Advices of this catastrophe had no soon-
er reached the Flatts than a party of resolute Whigs
determined to pursue the marauders, among whom
was John Frank, one of the Committee of Safety.
Arriving at the scene of desolation, they hastily
buried the dead, and continued their march, accom-
panied by six or seven friendly Indians, to the Lit-
tle Lakes, where, also, was a small white colony
known as * Young’s Settlement,” from the name
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ol its founder. Here it was discovered that the
enemy was so far in advance, that the cliase was
relinquished. But as Young, the head man of the
settlement, was a Tory, as also was his next neigh-
bour, a man named Collyer, the exasperated Whigs
avenged, to a small extent, the destruction of An-
drus-town, by plundering and burning their habita-
tions.

But the most considerable event of the season in
that vicinity was the entire destruction of the com-
paratively extensive and populous settlement of the
German Flatts. This settlement, originally called
Burnetsfield, from the circumstance that the patent
had been granted by Governor Burnet, extended
over the richest and most beautiful section of the
Mohawk Valley, comprehending the broad alluvial
lands directly beyond the junction of the West Can-
ada Creek and the river, and including about ten
miles of the valley from east to west. Midway of
the settlement, on the south side of the river, yet
stands the ancient stone church, the westernmost
of the line of those structures built under the au-
spices of Sir William Johnson. A short distance
east of the church stood the large and massive-built
stone mansion of the Herkimer family, which, like
the church itself, was used as a fort. Hence it was
called Fort Herkimer. On the north side of the
river, upon a gravelly plain, elevated some ten or
fifteen feet above the surrounding flatts, stood Fort
Dayton.*

At the time of which we are writing, the settle-

* The present site of the village of Herkimer, in the town of the same
name, and one of the most beautiful localities in America. The name
of German Flatts was designed for this town, which would have beer
the most appropriate, as Herkimer would have been for the town on the
south side of the river, now called German Flatts, where the flatts are
far less extensive, and where the Herkimer family resided. The mis-
take was made by the Legislature when the tows 1 were named. Thie
sxplanation, together with the geographical desc iption in the text, i»
necessary, to prevent confusion in regard to wne 1 alities of Farts Us
ton and Herkimer, *n the record of subsequent ey ta,
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ment on the south side of the river numbered thirty-
four dwelling-house s, and there were about an equal
number upon the north side, together with as many
barns and other out-buildings, and several mills,
The population, for the number of houses, was nu-
merous. The lands, rich by nature, and well culti-
vated, had that year brought forth by handfuls: so

that the barns were amply stored with their prod
ucts.

It was at the close of August, or early in the month
of September, that this fine district was laid waste
by the Indians under the direction of Brant. Most
providentially, however, the invasion was attended
with the loss of but two lives ; one man being killed
outright, and another, named M‘Ginnis, pvnbhed in
the flames. The pqrtlc.ulrns of this hostile irrup-
tion were these: Entertaining some suspicions of
Brant, who was at Unadilla, a scout of four men had
been despatched into that vicinity for observation.
Three of these men were killed at the Edmeston
settlement. The fourth, John Helmer, succeeded
in making his escape, and returned to the flatts at
half an hour before sundown, just in time to an-
nounce that Brant, with a large body of Indians,
was advancing, and would, in a few hours, be upon
them. All was, of course, terror and alarm through
the settlement; and the inhabitants, men, women,
and children, were gathered into Forts Dayton and
Herkimer fnr security. In flying to those defences,
they gathered up the most valuable of their ‘tllllT
and, by means of boats and canoes upon the river,
succeeded, in the course of the evening, in collect-
ing a large portion of their best articles of furniture.
But they had no time to look after their flocks and
herds.

Early in the evening, Brant arrived at the edge
of the settlement, but as the night came on exces-
sively dark and rainy, he halted with his forces in a
ravine, near the house of his Tory friend, Shoe
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maker, where the younger Butler and his party
were captured the preceding year. Here the chief-
tain lay with his warriors until the storm broke
away towards morning, unconscious that his ap-
proach had been notified to the people by the scout
in season to enable them to escape the blow of his
uplifted arm. Before the dawn he was on foot, and
his warriors were sweeping through the settle-
ment ; so that the torch might be almost simul-
taneously applied to every building it contained.
Just as the day was breaking in the east, the fires
were Kindled, and the whole section of the valley
was speedily illuminated by the flames of houses
and barns, and all things else combustible. The
spectacle, to the people in the forts, was one of mel-
ancholy grandeur. Every family saw the flames
and smoke of its own domicil ascending to the
skies, and every farmer the whole product of his
labour for the season dissolving into ashes.

Having no fire-arms larger than their rifles, the
Indians avoided even a demonstration against the
forts, notwithstanding their chagrin that neither
scalps nor prisoners were to grace their triumph.
But as the light of day advanced, their warriors were
seen singly, or in small groups, scouring the fields,
and driving away all the horses, sheep, and black
cattle that could be found. Nothing upon which
they could lay their hands was left; and the settle-
ment, which, but the day before, for ten miles, had
smiled in plenty and in beauty, was now houseless
and destitute. Happily, however, of human life
there was no greater sacrifice than has already been
mentioned. After the Indians had decamped with
their booty, a force of between three and four hun-
dred militiamen collected, and went in pursuit, fol-
lowing as far as Edmeston’s plantation on the Una-
dilla River, where the bodies of the three scouts
were found and buried. Puat no other results at-
tended this expedition. A party of the Oneida In-
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dians was more successful. They penetrated into
one of the Unadilla settlements burned several
houses, retook some of the cattle driven from the
German Flatts, and brought off a number of pris.
oners.

The Oneidas, with very few exceptions. were
ever faithful to the cause of the Whigs, and some-
times fought with great personal bravery. The
Oriskany clan of that nation joined General Herki-
mer on the morning of his disastrous battle, under
their chiefs Cornelius and Colonel Honyerry, and
sustained themselves valiantly in that murderous
conflict.

But the acquisitions of booty by the Indians at
the German Flatts were more than counterbal-
anced, a few days afterward. by their losses in
their own chief towns, Unadilla and Oghkwaga,
which were invaded, and in turn laid waste, by Col-
onel William Butler, with the 4th Pennsylvania
regiment, a detachment of Colonel Morgan’s rifle-
men, then recently stationed at Schoharie, as we
have already seen, and a corps of twenty rangers.
Having marched from Schoharie to the head waters
of the Delaware, and descended that stream two
days’ march, Colonel Butler struck off thence to
the Susquehanna, upon which he emerged in the
neighbourhood of Unadilla. He approached the set-
tlement with great caution, but the enemy had left
the place several days before. Two of the white
settlers, Tories, were made prisoners, however,
one of whom was compelled to guide the forces
of Butler to Oghkwaga, which service he perform-
ed. The town was taken possession of without
interruption, the Indians having fled the day before
In the greatest confusion, leaving behind a large
quantity of corn, their dogs, some cattle, and a
great part of their household goods. The march of
Butler’s troops had been fatiguing, and the vegeta-
bles and poultry, which they found here in great
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abundaiice, enabled them to fare sumptuously during
their stay. The town was uncommonly well built
for an Indian settlement, there being a considerable
number of good farmhouses on either side of the
river. These were all destroyed, together with
the Indian castle three miles farther down the
river, as also large quantities of provisions, intend
ed for their winter’s supply. They saw nothing of
the enemy, and lost only one man at that place, who
was shot by an Indian straggler lurking in ambush.
Returning to Unadilla, that settlement, upon both
sides of the river, was burned, as also a gristmill
and sawmill, the only ones in the Susquehanns
Valley.

But although, so far as fighting was concerned, it
was an easy campaign, still the difficulties encoun-
tered by the expedition were very great, and such
as could not have been undergone but by men pos-
sessing a large share of hardiness, both of body and
mind. They were obliged to carry their provisions
on their backs, and, thus loaded, frequently to ford
creeks and rivers. After the toils of hard marches,
they were obliged to camp down during wet and
chilly nights without covering, or even the means
of keeping their arms dry. They completed their
work in sixteen days, and returned to Schoharie.
But the Indians were not slow in taking their re-
venge for this destruction of their towns. An In-
dian’s vengeance slumbers no longer than until an
opportunity is afforded for sating it, as will appear
in the ensuing chapter.

CHAPTER XVIL

Tue arrest of Walter N. Butler at the Germun
Flatts, in the summer of 1777, his trial, and con-
demnation to death, his reprieve, as also his sub-
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sequent imprisonment in Albany, and his escape,
are facts with which the reader has already been
made acquainted. Although his execution would
have been perfectly justifiable under the code mili-
taire, taken, as he had been within the American
lines, in the very act of inviting the people to trea-
son, yet the respectability of his family, and the
assoclations he had himself formed in Albany,
where he had been educated to the profession of the
law, were the causes, through the interposition of
those who had been his personal friends before the
war, of saving his life. Still the reprieve granted
by General Arnold was followed by rigorous con-
finement in the jail at Albany until the spring of
the present year, when, being either sick in reality,
or feigning to be so, through the clemency of Gen-
eral Lafayette his quarters were changed to a pri-
vate house, where he was guarded by a single sen-
tinel. The family with whom he lodged were To-
ries, and having succeeded in making the sentinel
drunk, through their assistance Butler was enabled
to effect his escape. A horse having been provided
for him, he succeeded in joining his father at Ni-
agara soon after the affair at Wyoming. His tem-
per was severe and irascible, but he was, never-
theless, not without his good qualities, and was a
young man of fair promise; “a pretty able young
lawyer,” to use an expression from the lips of one
who knew him well. It is believed, however, that
he took mortal offence at his treatment while in
Albany, and re-entered the service of the crown,
Surning with resentment and thirsting for revenge.

This recapitulation, in part, of a portion of the
younger Butler's history, is deemed essential in
:onnexion with the events to be recorded in the
present chapter.

There was with General Washiugmll,f]uring most
of the summer, a Seneca chief, called The Grea
Tree, who, on leaving the headquarters of the com
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mander-in-chief, professed the strongest friendshi
for the American cause, and his first object, after his
return to his own people, was to inspire them with
his own friendly sentiments. While passing through
the Oneida nation on his way home, he professed
the strongest confidence in his ability to keep his
own tribe bound in the chain of friendship, and
pledged himself, in the event of his failure, to come
down with his friends and adherents, and join the
Oneidas. But, on his arrival in his own country,
The Great Tree found his tribe all in arms. The
warriors had been collected from the remotest of
their lodges, and were then thronging the two prin-
cipal towns, Kanadaseago and Jennesee. Having
heard that the Americans were preparing an expe-
dition against their country, they had seized their
hatchets ; and The Great Tree was himself deter-
mined to chastise the enemy who should dare to
penetrate his country. All the Indians west of their
own tribe, including, of course, the Onondagas, to-
gether with the Indian settlements on the Susque-
hanna and its branches, were to join them ; to ren-
dezvous on the Tioga, and make a descent either
upon the Pennsylvania or New-Jersey frontier.
The Mohawk chief, Thayendanegea, was not
among the Senecas at this time, and it is believed
that the fermentation had been wrought by Butler
after his return to Niagara. Be that as it may, he
obtained the command of a detachment of his fa-
ther’s rangers, with permission to employ the forces
of Captain Brant. Though late in the season, young
Walter determined to undertake an expedition into
Tryon county, and avenge his imprisonment, It
has been asserted that, while on his way from Ni-
agara with his rangers, Butler met Brant returning
from the Susquehanna country to his old winter-
quarters at Niagara, and that the proud Mohawk
was not a little displeased at the idea of being as-

signed to a subordinate station under a man whom
H—22
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he cordially disliked. But the difficulty was adjust-
ed, and the sachem was prevailed upon to turn back
upon the white settlements, with five hundred of
his warriors. The united force comprised seven
hundred men.

The point selected by the enemy was Cherry
Valley, a settlement as remarkable for the respect
ability of its inhabitants as its location was for its
beauty. Unlike the generality of border settlements,
the people were intelligent, and exemplary for their
morals. So scrupulous were they in regard to ob-
serving the precepts of Christianity, that their Com.
mittee of Safety declined sitting with the Tryon
County Committee on the Sabbath day, unless in
the event of such alarming circumstances as would
necessarily * super-exceed the duties to be perform-
ed in attending the public worship of God,” which
they said did not then appear 10 be the case.

It has already been stated that, in consequence
of their exposed situation, the Marquis de Lafayette
had directed the erection of a fortification at that
place early the preceding spring. Colonel Gansevoort
at once solicited the command of the post, with the
regiment which had so greatly distinguished itself
the preceding year in the defence of Fort Schuyler;
but it was given to Colonel Ichabod Alden, at the
head of an eastern regiment, unfortunately but lit-
tle accustomed to Indian warfare.

On the 8th of November, Colonel Alden received
a despatch from Fort Schuyler by express, advising
him that his post was to be attacked by the Tories
and Indians. In consequence of the lateness of the
season, the inhabitants, not anticipating any farther
hostilities before spring, had removed their effects
from the fortification, where, during the summer,
they had been deposited for safety, back to their
own dwellings. On the receipt of this intelligence,
they requested permission to remove once more in-
to the fort, or at least to be allowed again to depos-
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ite their most valuable property within its walls,
But Colonel Alden, discrediting the intelligence as
an idle Indian rumour, denied their solicitations,
assuring the people that he would use all diligence
against surprise, and, by means of vigilant scouts,
be at all times prepared to warn them of approach-
ing danger. Accordingly, scouts were despatched
in various directions on the 9th. The party pro-
ceeding down the Susquehanna, as it were in the
very face of the enemy, very wisely kindled a fire
in the evening, by the side of which they laid them-
selves down to sleep. The result might have been
foreseen. They were all prisoners when they awoke!

Extorting all necessary information from the
prisoners so opportunely taken, the enemy moved
forward on the 10th—Butler with his rangers, and
Thayendanegea with his Indians—encamping for
the night on the top of a hill thickly covered with
evergreens, about a mile southwest of the fort anc
village of Cherry Valley. The snow fell several
inches during the night, the storm turning to rain
in the morning, with a thick and cloudy atmosphere.
The officers of the garrison were accustomed to
lodge about among the families near the fort; and
from the assurances of Colonel Alden, the appre-
hensions of the people were so much allayed that
they were reposing in perfect security. Colonel
Alden himself, with Stacia, his lieutenant-colonel,
lodged with Mr. Robert Wells, a gentleman of great
respectability, recently a judge of the county, who
was, moreover, an intimate friend of Celonel John
Butler, as he had also been of Sir William Johnson.*
Having ascertained the localities in which the offi-
cers lodged, the enemy approached the unsuspect-
wg village in the greatest security, veiled by the
Yaze which hung in the atmosphere. An alarm
was, however, given before the enemy had actually

* RolLer; Wells was the father of the late distinguished counsellon
foln "Walle, of New-York,




340 RORDER WARS OF THE

arrived in the village, by the firing of an Indian
upon a settler from the outskirts, who was riding
thither on horseback. He was wounded, but, never-
theless, pushed forward, and gave instant informa-
tion to the vigilant colonel. Strange as it may
seem, this officer still disbelieved the approach of
an enemy in force, supposing the shot to have pro-
ceeded from a straggler. But he was sooh col-
vinced of his error; for, even before the guards
could be called in, the Indians were upoll them.
Unfortunately, probably, for the inhabitants, the
rangers had halted just hefore entering the village
to examine their arms, the rain having damaged
their powder. During this pause the Indians sprang
forward ; and the Senecas, being at that period the
most ferocious of the Six Nations, were in the van.
The house of Mr. Wells was instantly surrounded
by the warriors of that {ribe, and several Tories of
no less ferocity, who rushed in and massacred the
whole family, consisting at that time of himself, his
mother, his wife, his brother and sister, John and
Jane, three of his sons, Samuel, Robert, and Will-
jam, and his daughter Eleanor. The only surviver
of the family was John, who was then at school in
Schenectady. His father had taken his family to
that place for safety some months before, but his
fears having subsided, they had just removed back
to their home. Colonel Alden having escaped from
the house, was pursued some distance down a hill
by an Indian, who repeatedly demanded of him to
surrender. This, however, he refused to do, turn-
ing upon his pursuer repeatedly, and snapping his
pistol, but without effect. The Indian ultimately
hurled his tomahawk with unerring direction at his
head, and, rushing forward, tore his scalp from him
:n the same instant. Thus, in the very outset of
the battle, fell the commander, who, had he been as
prudent as he was brave, might have averted the
tragic scenes of that hapless day. Lieutenant-colo
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nel Stacia was made prisoner, and the
guards stationed at the house of Mr.,
either killed or taken.

The destruction of the family of Mr. Wells was
marked by eircumstances of peculiar barbarity, It
was boasted by one of the Tories that he had killed
Mr Wells while engaged in prayer—certainly a
happy moment for a soul to wing its flight to another
state of existence ; but what the degree of hardi-
hood that could boast of compassing the death of
an unarmed man at such a moment! His sister
Jane was distinguished alike for her beauty, her
accomplishments, and her virtues. As the savages
rushed into the house, she fled to a pile of wood on
the premises, and endeavoured to conceal herself,
She was pursued and arrested by an Indian, who,
with perfect composure, wiped and sheathed his
dripping knife, and took his tomahawk from his
girdle. At this instant a Tory, who had formerly
been a domestic in the family, sprang forward and
interposed in her behalf, claiming her as a sister.
The maiden, too, who understood somewhat of the
Indian language, implored for merey. But in vain.
With one hand the Indian pushed the Tory from
him, and with the other planted his hatchet deep
into her temple!

The fort was repeatedly assaulted during the day,
and at times with spirit; but the Indians being receiv-
ed by a brisk fire of grape and musketry from the
garrison, avoided the fort, and directed their attention
chiefly to plundering and laying waste the village,
having sated themselves in the onset with blood.

Among the families which suffered from the toma-
hawks of the Indians and Tories—for the latter, as
at Wyoming, were not to be outdone by their un-
civilized allies—were those of the Rev. Samuel
Dunlop and a Mr. Mitchell. Mrs. Dunlop was killed
outright, and thus shared the fate of Mrs. Wells,
ber daughter. Mr. Dunlop and another daughter

ne American
Wells were all




342 BORDER WARS OF THE

would likewise have been murdered but for the in-
terposition of Little Aaron, d chief of the Oghkwaga
branch of the Mohawks, who led the old gentleman,
tottering beneath the weight of years, to the door,
and stood beside him for his protection. The In-
dians attempted to plunder him of some of his at-
tire, but the sachem compelled them to relinquish
that portion of their spoil. The venerable servant
of God, shocked by the events of that day beyond
the strength of his nerves, died within a year after-
ward.

The case of Mr. Mitchell was still more painful.
He was in the field at work when he beheld the In-
dians approaching, and, being already cut off from
his house, his only course was to the woods. Re-
turning, after the enemy had retired, he found his
house on fire, and within its plundered walls the
murdered bodies of his wife and three of his chil-
dren. The fourth, a little girl of ten or twelve years
of age, had been left for dead. But signs of life ap-
pearing, the parent, having extinguished the fire,
which had not yet made much progress, brought his
little mangled daughter forth to the door, and, while
bending over her, discovered a straggling party of
the enemy approaching. He had but just time to
conceal himself, before a Tory sergeant, named New-
berry, rushed forward, and, by a blow of his hatchet,
extinguished what little growing hope of life had
been left by a darker though less savage enemy than
himself. It is some consolation, while recording
this deed of blood, to be able to anticipate the course
of events so far as to announce that this brutal fel-
Jow paid the forfeit of his life on the gallows, by or-
der of General James Clinton, at Canajoharie, in
the summer of the following year. On the next
day Mr. Mitchell removed his dead to the fort with
his own arms, and the soldiers assisted in their in-
terment. Several other families were cul off, the
whole number of the inhabitants slain being thirty-
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two, mostly women and children. In addition to
these, sixteen soldiers were killed. Some of the
inhabitants escaped, but the greater proportion were
taken prisoners. Among the former were Mrs,
Clyde, the wife of Colonel Clyde, who was absent,
and her family. She succeeded in reaching the
woods with her children, excepting her eldest
daughter, whom she could not find at the moment ;
and although the savages were frequently prowling
around her, she yet lay secure in her concealment
until the next day. The eldest daughter, likewise,
had made a successful flight, and returned in safety.
Colonel Campbell was also absent: but hastening
home on hearing the alarm, he arrived only in time
to behold the destruction of his property by the
conflagration of the village, and to ascertain that
his wife and children had been carried into captiv-
ity. The torch was applied indiscriminately to
every dwelling-house, and, in fact, to every building
in the village. The barns, being filled with the com.
bustible products of husbandry, served to render the
conflagration more fierce and terrific, especially to
the fugitive inhabitants who had escaped to the
woods for shelter, and whose sufferings were ag-
gravated by the consciousness that their retreating
footsteps were lighted by the flames of their own
households.

The prisoners taken numbered between thirty
and forty. They were marched, on the evening of
the massacre, down the valley about two miles
south of the fort, where the enemy encamped for
the night. . Large fires were kindled round about the
camp, into the centre of which the prisoners, of all
ages and sexes, were promiscuously huddled, and
there compelled to pass the hours till morning,
many of them half naked, shivering from the inclem-
ency of the weather, with no shelter but the frown-
ing heavens, and no bed but the cold ground. It
was a dismal night for the hapless group, rendered,
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if possible, still more painful by the savage yells of
exultation, the wild, half-frantic revelry, and other
manifestations of joy on the part of the victors, at
the success of their bloody enterprise. In the
course of the night a division of the spoil was made
among the Indians.

The retiring enemy had not proceeded far on their
way before the prisoners, with few exceptions, ex-
perienced a change in their circumstances, as happy
as it was unexpected. They had been separated,
for the convenience of travelling, into small groups,
in charge of different parties of the enemy. On
coming to a halt, they were collected together, and
informed that it had been determined to release all
the women and children excepting Mrs. Campbell
and her four children, and Mrs. Moore and her chil-
dren. These it was resolved to detain in captivity
as a punishment to their husbands, for the activity
they had displayed in the border wars. With these
exceptions, the women and their little ones were
immediately sent back, bearing a letter from the
commander of the rangers 1o General Schuyler.
A key, perhaps, to the motives of Captain Butler i1
this act of humanity is found in the circumstance
that, on the flight of his father and himself to Can
ada, his mother and the younger children had been
left behind. Mrs. Butler and her children were de-
tained by the Committee of Safety, and permission
to follow the husband and son to Canada had been
refused, as has been stated in a former chapter.

Having thus, in a great measure, disencumbered
themselves of their prisoners, the enemy proceeded
on their journey, by their usual route at that period,
down the Susquehanna to its confluence with the
Tioga, thence up that river into the Seneca country.
and thence to Niagara. Mrs. Cannon, dan aged lady.
and the mother of Mrs. Campbell, was likewise helu
in captivity ; but being unfitted for travelling by rea-
gon of her years, the Indian having both in charge
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despatched the mother with his hatchet, by the side
of the daughter, on the second dav of their march.
Mrs. Campbell was driven ulong’ by the uplifted
hatchet, having a child in her arms eighteen months
old, with barbarous rapidity, until the next day,
when she was favoured with a more humane master.
In the course of the march, a straggling party of
the Indians massacred an English family, named
Buxton, residing on the Butternut Creek, and re-
duced their buildings to ashes.

Thus terminated the expedition of Walter N. But-
ler and Joseph Brant to Cherry Valley. Nothing
could exhibit an aspect of more entire desolation
than did the site of that village on the following day,
when the militia from the Mohawk arrived, too late
to afford assistance. The inhabitants who escaped
the massacre, and those who returned from captiv-
ity, abandoned the settlement, until the return of
peace should enable them to plant themselves down
once more in safety, and, in the succeeding summer,
the garrison was withdrawn, and the post aban-
doned.

Next to the destruction of Wyoming, that of
Cherry Valley stands out in history as having been
the most conspicuous for its atroeity. And, as in the
case of Wyoming, both in history and popular tradi-
tion, Joseph Brant has been held up as the foul fiend
of the barbarians, and, of all others, deserving the
deepest execration. Kven the learned and estima-
ble counsellor, who so long reported the adjudicated
law of the State of New-York, in the tribute to the
memory of the late John Wells, with which he
closed the last volume of his juridical labours, has
fallen into the same popular error, and applies the
second stanza in the striking passage of “ Gertrude
of Wyoming,” which called forth the younger Brant
in vindication of his father’s memory, to the case
of his departed and eminent friend. It was, indeed,
most true, as applied to the melancholy case of Mr.
Vor.l.—Dop
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Wells, of whose kindred “ nor man, nor child, nor
thing of living birth,” had been left by the Indians.
But it may be fearlessly asserted that it was not
true as coupled with the name of Joseph Brant.
His conduct on that fatal day was neither barbar-
ous nor ungenerous. On the contrary, he did all in
his power to prevent the shedding of innocent blood ;
and had it not been for a circumstance beyond his
control, it is more than probable that the distin-
guished counsellor referred to would not have been
left *“ alone of all his race.” Captain Brant assert-
ed, and there is no reason to question his veracity,
that on the morning of the attack he left the main
body of the Indians, and endeavoured to anticipate
their arrival at the house of Mr. Wells, for the pur
pose of affording protection to the family. On his
way it was necessary to cross a ploughed field, the
yielding of the earth in which, beneath his tread, so
retarded his progress, that he arrived too late.

But this is not all. On entering one of the dwell
ings, he found a woman employed in household
matters. “Are you thus engaged,” inquired the
chief, “while all your neighbours are murdered
around you?” The woman replied that they were
in favour of the king. * That plea will not avail you
to-day,” replied the warrior. * They have murder-
ed Mr. Wells’s family, who were as dear to me as
my own.” ¢ But,” continued the woman, * there is
one Joseph Brant; if he is with the Indians, he will
save us.” “I am Joseph Brant!” was the quick
response, * but I have not the command, and I know
not that I can save you; but I will do what is in my
power.” At the moment of uttering these words,
he observed the Senecas approaching. * Get into
bed quick,” he commanded her, “and feign your-
self sick.” The woman obeyed, and when the In-
dians came up, he put them off with that pretext.
Instantly, as they departed, he rallied a few of his
Mohawks by a shrill signal, and directed them to
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paint his mark upon the woman and her children,
“You are now probably safe,” he remarked, and de-
parted.

Another instance will serve farther to illustrate
the conduct and bearing of this distinguished Indian
leader on that occasion : After the battle was OVET,
he inquired of one of the captives for Captain
M Kean, who had retired to the Mohawk Valley
with his family. “He sent me a challenge once,”
said the chief; “1 have now come to accept it, He
is a fine soldier thus to retreat!” It was said, in
reply, *“ Captain M‘Kean would not turn his back
upon an enemy where there was a probability of
success.” “I know it,” rejoined Brant: *“he’is a
brave man, and I would have given more to take
him than any other man in Cherry Valley; but I
would not have hurt a hair of his head.”

These were generous sentiments, worthy of a gen
erous soldier. Indeed, the whole conduct of the
Mohawk chief on that melancholy day was anything
rather than characteristic of the “ monster” Brant
has been represented to be. Of the conduct of the
leader of the expedition, Captain Walter N. Butler,
a less charitable judgment must be formed, not so
much, perhaps, on account of the atrocities commit-
ted—because these, too, may have been beyond his
control, or suddenly perpetrated without his knowl-
edge—but because the expedition was entirely one
of his own undertaking. It was said that Colonel
John Butler was grieved at the conduct of his son
at this place ; remarking, on one occasion, in regard
to the murder of Mr. Wells and family, * I would
have gone miles on my hands and knees to save
that family, and why my son did not do it, God only
knows.” It has also been asserted that the colonel
accused Brant of having incited the Indians secretly
to commit the excesses in question, in order to
bring odium upon his son, under whose command,
as the reader has already been informed, he had
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been placed, strongly in opposition to his own wish-
es. But the Mohawk repelled the charge, and ap-
pealed to his former conduct, particularly in the
case of Springfield, as a vindication of his charac-
ter from the imputation of wanton cruelty.

These things may, or they may not, be true; but
in either case the Loyalist Butlers, father and son,
should be justly dealt by, although they have not
been as yet. At least the world has never heard
what they might possibly have said in their own
defence—nay, what they did say—in regard to the
affairs of Wyoming and Cherry Valley; and can-
dour requires the admission, that the narratives of
those events which have descended to us were
written too soon after their occurrence to warrant
o belief in the entire impartiality of the writers.
But as truth constitutes the great excellence of
history, and as a just opinion can rarely be formed
upon testimony altogether ex-parte after fifty-eight
years of silence, it may be allowed to the Butlers,
though dead, to speak a word for themselves. The
elder Butler lived at Niagara many years after the
close of the contest; and, though employed in the
British Indian Department, his conduct was such,
both in public and private life, as to command the
respect of those who knew him.

The letter of Captain Butler to General Schuyler,
written the day after the affair at Cherry Valley,
was delivered by the gentleman who, of all others
felt the greatest interest in facilitating the arrange-
ment proposed—Colonel Campbell himself. It was
not answered by General Schuyler, for the reason
that he was not then in command of the district;
and for the still farther reason that, from the cir
cumstances of the case, it took a different direction.
On the 1st of January, however, a letter upon the
subject was addressed to Captain Butler by Briga-
dier-general James Clinton, which called forth the

following reply :
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Carrain BurLer 1o GENERAL CriNToON.

: * Ningara, 18th February, 1779.
“ SIR,

“ I have received a letter dated the Ist of J
last, signed by you, in answer
of November.

“Its contents I communic
colonel Bolton, the commandi
rison, &c., by whom I am directed to acquaint you
that he had no objection that an exchange of prison-
€rs, as mentioned in your letter, should take place ;
but not being fully empowered by his Excellenc
General Haldimand to order the same immediately
to be put in execution, has thought proper I should
go down to the commander-in-chief for his direction
in the matter.

* In the mean time, Colonel Butler, as he ey
done on every other occasion, will make ey
fort in his power to have all the prisoners, as well
those belonging to your troops as the women
and children in captivity among the different Indian
nations, collected and sent in to this post, to be
forwarded to Crown Point, should the exchange
take place by the way of (Canada, or to Oswego, if
settled there. In either case, Colonel Bolton de-
sires me to inform you that the prisoners shall re-
ceive from him what assistance their wants may
require, which prisoners have at all times received
at this post.

“ The disagreeable situation of your people in the
Indian villages, as well as ours among vou, will in-
duce me to make all the expedition in my power to
Canada (Quebec), in order that the exchange may
be settled as soon as possible. For the good of
both, I make no doubt that his Excellency General
Haldimand will acquiesce in the proper exchange.
The season of the year renders it impossible that
it should take place before the 10th or 15th of May
next. However, 1 shall write you, by the way of

: anuary
to mine of the 12th

ated to Lieutentant-
ng officer of this gar-

er has
ery ef-
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Crown Point, General Haldimand’s determination,
and when and where the exchange will be most
agreeable to him to be made. I could wish Mrs,
Butler and her family, including Mrs. Scheehan and
son, and Mrs. Wall, were permitted to go to Canada
in the spring, even should the exchange be fixed at
Ontario.

]t is not our present business, sir, to enter into
an altercation, or to reflect on the conduct of either
the British or the Continental forces, or on that of
each other; but since you have charged (on report,
1 must suppose) the British officers in general with
inhumanity, and Colonel Butler and myself in par-
ticular, in justice to them, and in vindication of his
and my own honour and character, [ am under the
disagreeable necessity to declare the charge unjust
and void of truth, and which can only tend to de-
ceive the world, though a favourite cry of the Con-

rress on every occasion, whether in truth or not.

« We deny any cruelties to have been committed
at Wyoming, either by whites or Indians; so far to
the contrary, that not a man, woman, O child was
hurt after the capitulation, or a woman OfF child be-
fore it, and none taken into captivity. Though,
should you call it inkumanity, the killing men in arms
in the field, we, in that case, plead guilty. The in-
habitants killed at Cherry Valley do not lay a
my door : my conscience acquits. If any are guilty
(as accessories) it’s yourselves; at least, the con-
duct of some of your officers. First, (Colonel Hart-
ley, of your forces, sent to the Indians the enclosed,
being a copy of his letter charging them with crimes
they never committed, and threatening them and
their villages with fire and sword, and no quarters.
The burning of one of their villages, then inhabited

only by a few families—your friends—who imagined

they might remain in peace and friendship with you,
till ‘assured, a few hours before the arrival of your
troops, that they should not even receive quarters
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took to the woods ; and, to complete the matter,
Colonel Denniston and his People appearing again
in arms with Colonel Hartley, after a solemn capitu-
lation and engagement not io bear arms during the
war, aud Colonel Denniston not performing a prom-
ise t0 release a number of soldiers belonging to
Colonel Butler's corps of rangers, then prisoners
among you, were the reasons assigned by the In-
dians to me, after the destruction of Cherry Valley,
for their not acting in the same manner as at Wy-
oming. They added, that, being charged by their
enemies with what they never had done, and threat-
ened by them, they had determined to convince you
it was not fear which had prevented them from
committing the one, and that they did not want
spirit to put your threats against them in force
against yourselves.

“The prisoners sent back by me, or any now in
our or the Indians’ hands, must declare I did every-
thing in my power to prevent the Indians killing
the prisoners, or taking women and children cap-
live, or in anywise injuring them., Colonel Stacey
and several other officers of yours, when exchanged,
will acquit me ; and must farther declare, that they
have received every assistance, before and since
their arrival at this post, that could be got to relieve
their wants. I must, however, beg leave, by-the-
by, to observe, that I experienced no humanity, or
€ven common justice, during my imprisonment
among you.

“I enclose you a list of officers and privates
whom I should be glad were exchanged likewise.
The list of the families we expect for those as well
sent back as others in our hands, you have likewise
enclosed.

“ Colonel Stacey and several officers, and others,
your people, are at this post, and have leave to
write. I am your very humble serv’t,

“Warrer N. Burrer, Capt. Corps of Rangers.
* Dngadier-general Clinton, of the Continental Fareces 7
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This is a straightforward, manly letter; and
when the impartial readeris weighing the testimony
in regard to the transactions of which it speaks, it
certainly descrves consideration. It is, moreover,
believed to be the first time that the accused have
been permitted to relate their own side of the case.
There were, no doubt, bloody outrages committed,
probably on both sides, because in such a contest,
waged by borderers, many of whom, as has been
seen, were previously burning with indignation
against each other, it is hardly to be expected that
individual combatants would always contend hand
to hand with all the courtesy which characterized
gallant knights in the days of chivalry. In justice
to Colonel John Butler, moreover, it must be ad-
mitted that his conduct towards his prisoners at
Niagara, and among the Indians in that country,
was uniformly characterized by humanity. One
proof of this disposition was afforded in the case
of Colonel Stacia, whose destruction had, for some
reason or other, been determined upon by Molly
Brant, the Indian wife of Sir William Johnson,
who, in her widowhood, had been taken from Johns-
town to Niagara.*

The few prisoners from Cherry Valley were
marched, by the route already indicated, to the

* Molly Brant’s descendants from Sir William Johnson compose some
of the most respactable and intelligent families of Upper Canada at this
day. The traditions of the Mohawk Valley state that the acquaintance
of Sir William with Molly had & rather wild and romantic commence-
ment, The story runs, that she was o very sprightly and beautiful In-
dian girl of about sixteen when he first saw her. Itwasata regimental
militia muster, where Molly was one of a multitude of spectators. One
of the field-officers coming near her upon a prancing steed, by Way of
banter she asked permission to mount behind him. Not supposing she
eould perform the exploit, he said she might. At the word she leaped
upon the crupper with the agility of a guzelle. The horse sprang off
at full speed, and, clinging to the officer, her blanket flying, and her
dark tresses streuming in the wind, she flew about the parade-ground
awift as an arrow, to the infinite merriment of the collected multitude.
The baronet, who was a witness of the spectacle, admiring the spirit
of the young squaw, and becoming enamoured of her person. took het
home as his wife.
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Seneca couatry. Mrs. Campbell was carried tu the
Seneca Castle at Kanadaseaga, where she was pre-
sented 10 a family to fill a place made vacant b
the death of one of its members. Her children, the
infant included, were separated from her, and dis-
tributed among different Indian families. Bein
skilful with her needle, and rendering herself use-
ful to those with whom she lived, she was treated
with indulgence. Among other little civilities, per-
ceiving that she wore caps, an Indian presented her
one, which was cut and spotted with blood. On a
closer scrutiny, her feelings were shocked by the dis
covery, from the mark, that it had belonged to the
lovely companion of her youth, the hapless Jane
Wells !

Alter returning from a successful expedition, a
dance of Thanksgiving is performed by the Iroquois,
which partakes of the character of a religious cere-
mony, and Mrs. Campbell had the opportunity, soon
after her arrival at Kanadaseaga, of seeing the fes-
tival in honour of their recent victory, of which she
hersell was one of the trophies. A grand council
was convoked for this purpose, and preparations
were made for the observance of the festival, upon
4 scale corresponding with the importance of the
achievements they were to celebrate. The arrange-
ments having been completed, the warriors came
forth to the centre of the village, where the great
fire had been kindled, horribly disfigured by black
and red paint, and commenced their savage rites by
singing of their own exploits, and those of their an-
cestors ; by degrees working themselves up into a
tempest of passion; whooping, yelling, and utter-
ing every hideous cry ; brandishing their knives and
war-clubs, and throwing themselves into the most
menacing attitudes, in a manner terrific to the un-
practiced beholder. There was no prisoner put to
the torture, or attired with the raven death-cap on
this occasion ; but the prisoners were paraded, and
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the scalps borne in procession, as would have beeu
the standards taken in civilized warfare in the cele-
bration of a trinmph. For every scalp, and for every
prisoner taken, the scalp-yell, or, as it 1 sometimes
called, the death-halloo, was raised in all its mingled
tones of triumph and terror. The white dog for the
sacrifice was then killed; the offerings collected
were thrown into the fire ; whereupon the dog was
Jaid upon the pile and thoroughly roasted. The
flesh was then eaten, and the wild festival closed.

From an account of the ceremonies at one of the
festivals, of which Mrs. Campbell was a spectator
during her captivity, she must have been present at
the great annual feast of thanksgiving and remission
of sin, which is held by the Senecas and other tribes
of the confederacy. This is their greatest national
and most solemn sacrifice. It is invariably held at
the time of the old moon in January, and is cele-
brated with great parade; the ceremonies being
conducted with the utmost order, harmony, and de-
corum, under the direction of a large committee ap-
pointed for that purpose.

The festivities continued nine days, on the first
of which two white dogs, without spot or blemish,
if such could be found, were strangled and hung up
before the door of the council-house, at the height
of twenty feet. Not a drop of blood was allowed
to be shed in compassing their death, as the victims
would thereby be rendered unfit for the sacrifice.
After the animals were killed, and before their sus-
pension, their faces were painted red, as also the
edges of their ears and other parts of their bodies.
They were then fantastically decorated with rib-
ands and feathers, rendering them as beautiful, in
the eye of an Indian, as possible. Their fancy dress
being completed, the dogs were hung up, and the
ceremonies of the frolic commenced. Inthe course
of the first day every lodge in the town was visited
by the committee, each member being provided with
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a shovel, with whick ke *emoved the ashes and coals
from every hearth, ..nd scattered them to the winds,
In this manner tks fire of every lodge was ex-
tinguished, to be r-kindled only by striking virgin
sparks from the flint. The discharge of a gun at
every lodge announced that the work of purification,
even of fire itself, had been performed ; and with
this ceremony ended the labours of the first day.
The ceremonies of the second day were opened
with a dance by the committee, after which, dressed
in bear-skins, the members visited every lodge, with
baskets to take up alms, receiving whatever was
bestowed, but particularly tobacco, and other arti.
cles used for incense in the sacrifice. Two or three
days were occupied in receiving these grateful dona-
tions, during which time the people at the council-
house were engaged in dances and other recreations.
On the fifth day masks were added to the bear-skin
dresses of the masters of the festival, some ludicrous
and others frightful, in which they ran about the vil-
lage, smearing themselves with dirt, and bedaubing
all such as refused tc add to the contents of their
baskets of incense While thus engaged, the col-
lectors were supposed to receive into their own
vodies all the sins of their tribe, however numerous
or heinous, committed within the preceding year.
On the ninth day of the feast, by some magical
process, the sins of the nation thus collected were
transfused from the several members of the com
mittee into one of their number. The dogs were
then taken down, and the whole weight of the na-
tion’s iniquity, by another magical process, was
transfused into their lifeless carcasses. The bodies
of the dogs were next laid upon an altar of wood,
to which fire was applied, and the whole consumed :
the masters of the sacrifice throwing the tobacco
and other odoriferous articles into the flames, the
incense ascending from which was supposed to be
acceptable to the Great Spirit. The sacrifice ended,
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the people all partook ofa bountiful feast, the chief
article of which was succatash. Then followed the
war and peace dances, and the smoking of the calu-
met. Thus refreshed, and relieved from the burden
of sin—at peace with the Great Spirit, and with each
other—the warriors, with their families, returned,
each to his own house, prepared to enter upon the
business and duties of another year; the chiefs, du-
ring the festival, having carefully reviewed the past.
and adjusted their policy for the future.

Captain Butler having returned from his visit to
General Haldimand, with permission for the pro-
posed exchange of prisoners, the colonel, his father,
proceeded to the Seneca castle to negotiate for the
release of Mrs. Campbell. The family by whom she
had been adopted were very reluctant to part with
her: but after the holding of a council, the strong
appeals of Colonel Butler, who was anxious for the
release of his own wife and family, prevailed, and
Mrs. Campbell reached Niagara in June, 1779.
While residing there, among others she had an op-
portunity of seeing the celebrated Catharine Mon-
tour, whose name occurs in the preceding pages in
connexion with the battle of Wyoming. One of her
two sons, who had signalized themselves at Wy
oming, was also in the affair at Cherry Valley.

it was not until June of the following year that
Mrs. Campbell was sent from Niagara to Montreal,
on her way home. While residing at the former
post, the Indians having been driven into the fort,
she was enabled to recover three of her children.
On her arrival at Montreal, she met with Mrs. But-
ler and her family, who had been previously releas-
ed. Here, also, and in charge of that lady, Mrs.
Campbell found her fourth child, a little son who
had been torn from her in the Cherry Valley mas-
sacre. He was dressed in the green uniform of
Butler’s rangers; but had forgotten the English
language, speaking nothing but Indian. From Mon
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treal Mrs. Campbell was sent to Albany by the way
of Lake Champlain, where she was shortly afterward
Jjoined by her husband, who had been stationed at
Fort Schuyler most of the time during her captivity.
The destruction of Cherry Valley closed the war-
like operations of both nations in the North for that
year. A formidable campaign had, indeed, been
projected early in the season, as has been already
stated, not only against the hostiles of the Six Na-
tions, but likewise against the nations more remote,
for whom Detroit was the common centre. But the
larger half of this enterprise had been abandoned
after the irruption into Wyoming, and the next proj-
ect contemplated the invasion of the Seneca coun
try by way of the Tioga and Chemung Rivers. In
October this branch of the project was likewise de-
ferred, at the suggestion of Generals Gates and
Schuyler. Thus closed the Northern campaigns of
1778. The British, Tories, and Indians went into
winter-quarters, and the frontier inhabitants dispo-
sed of themselves as best they could.
Much has been said in the traditions of Tryon
county, and somewhat, also, in the courts of law,
in cases involving titles to real estate formerly in
the family of Sir William Johnson, respecting "the
burial of an iron chest, by his son, Sir John, previous
to his flight to Canada, containing the most valuable
of his own and his father's papers. Late in the
autumn of the present year, General Haldimand, at
the request of Sir John, sent a party of between forty
and fifty men privately to Johnstown, to dig up and
carry the chest away. The expedition was suc-
cessful ; but the chest not being sufficiently tight to
prevent tlie influence of dampness from the earth,
the papers had become mouldy, rotten, and illegible,
when taken up. The information respecting this
expedition was derived, in the spring following, from
4 man named Helmer, who composed one of the
Jarty, and assisted in disinterring the chest. Hel-
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mer had fled to Canada with Sir John. While re-
tiring from Johnstown with the chest, he injured his
ankle ; and by reason of his lameness, went back to
his father's house, where he remained concealed
until spring. when he was arrested. He was tried
as a spy by a court-martial, at Johnstown, April 15,
1779, and sentenced to death, chiefly on his own
admissions to the court. A considerable number
of rather summary executions, by the Whigs of
Tryon county, took place in the course of the con-
test.

The leading military events occurring in other
parts of the country, during the year 1778, have
already been incidentally adverted to, with the ex-
ception of those at the South. In the course of the
summer, two incursions of British regulars and
American refugees had been made from Florida into
Georgia. Both expeditions met with such dis-
heartening obstacles as to induce their retreat with-
out accomplishing more than the destruction of the
church, dwelling-houses, and rice fields of Midway.
In return for these visitations, General Robert
Howe led an expedition of about two thousand men,
mostly militia, into Florida. He captured the Brit-
ish posts onthe St. Mary’s River, and was proceed-
ing successfally, when his march was arrested by
sickness so fatal to his army as to compel a re-
linquishment of the enterprise. Towards the close
of the year, the British commander-in-chief deter-
mined to strike a signal blow against the South.
For this purpose, an expedition of two thousand
men, under the command of Colonel Campbell, an
officer of courage and ability, embarked at New-
York on the 27th of November, destined against
Savannah. General Howe, to whom the defence
of Georgia had been confided, had but six hun-
dred regular troops and a few hundred militia to
oppose the invaders. This officer had taken a posi-
tion between the landing and the town, where a bat-
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. tle was fought on the 29th of December. He was
outnumbered, outgeneralled, and beaten, with a loss
of one hundred killed. The town and fort of Sa-
vannah, thirty-eight officers, four hundred and fifteen
privates, twenty-three mortars, together with the
shipping in the river, and a large quantity of am-
munition and provisions, fell into the hands of the

i conquerors. It was an easy victory to the enemy,
whose loss was but seven killed and nineteen
wounded.

From these glimpses of the events of the year 1778,
oceurring elsewhere than in the Indian country, it
seems, after the battle of Monmouth, to have been
a season of comparative inactivity on both sides.
Still, having repossessed themselves of the strong
pass of the Highlands, immediately after the return
of Sir Henry Clinton and Commodore Hotham to
New-York, towards the close of the preceding year,
no lack of industry was exhibited on the part of the
Americans in strengthening and multiplying its de-
fences, from which neither force nor treachery ever
again dislodged them.

CHAPTER XVIIIL.

Tre erection of an advanced post, called Fort
Laurens, on the Tuscarawa, by General M‘Intosh,
who was directed to advance upon the Indian towns
of Sandusky, has been mentioned in a preceding
chapter. Colonel Gibson, who had been left in
command of the fort, with a garrison of one hun-
I dred and fifty men, soon found his position rather

uncomfortable, by reason of the swarms of Indians
hovering about the precincts, who soon became so
numerous as completely to invest the little fortress
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The first hostile demonstration of the forest war-
riors was executed with equal cunning and success.
'The horses of the garrison were allowed to forage
for themselves upon the herbage, among the dried
prairie-grass immediately in the vicinity of the fort,
wearing bells, that they might be the more easily
found, if straying too far. 1t happened, one morn-
ing in January, that the horses had all disappeared,
but the bells were heard, seemingly at no great dis-
tance. They had, in truth, been stolen by the In-
dians, and conveyed away. The bells, however,
were taken off, and used for another purpose.
Availing themselves of the tall prairie-grass, the
Indians formed an ambuscade, at the farthest ex-
tremity of which they caused the bells to jingle as
adecoy. The artifice was successful. A party of
sixteen men was sent in pursuit of the straggling
steeds, who fell into the snare. Fourteen were
killed upon the spot, and the remaining two taken
prisoners, one of whom returned at the close of the
war, and of the other nothing was ever heard.
Towards evening of the same day, the whole force
of the Indians, painted, and in the full costume of
war, presented themselves in full view of the garri-
son, by marching in single files, though at a respect-
ful distance, across the prairie. Their number, ac-
cording to 2 count from one of the bastions, was
eight hundred and forty-seven; altogether too great
to be encountered in the field by so small a garri-
son. After this display of their strength, the In.
dians took a position upon an elevated piece of
eround at no great distance from the fort, though
on the opposite side of the river. In this situation
they remained several weeks, in a state rather of
armed neutrality than of active hostility. Some of
them would frequently approach the fort sufficiently
near to hold conversations with those upon the
walls. 'They uniformly professed a desire for peace,
hut protested against the encroachments of the

=




AMERICAN REYOLUTION. 361

white people upon their lands ; more especially was
the erection of a fort so far within the territory
claimed by them as exclusively their own, a cause
of complaint, nay, of admitted exasperation. There
was with the Americans in the fort an aged friend-
ly Indian, named John Thompson, who seemed to
be in equal favour with both parties, visiting the In-
dian encampment at pleasu:e, and coming and going
as he chose. They informed Thompson that they
deplored the continuance of hostilities, and finally
sent word by him to Colonel Gibson that they were
desirous of peace, and if he would present them
with a barrel of flour, they would send in their pro-
posals the next day. The flour was sent, but the
Indians, instead of fulfilling their p-.rt of the stipula-
tion, withdrew, and entirely disappeared. They
had, indeed, continued the siege as long as they
could obtain subsiste..ce, and raised it only because
of the lack of supplies. Still, as the beleaguerment
was begun in stratagem, so was it ended. Colonel
Gibson’s provisions were also running short, and,
as he supposed the Indians had entirely gone off, he
directed Colonel Clark, of the Pennsylvania line,
with a detachment of fifteen men, to escort the in-
valids of the garrison, amounting to ten or a dozen
men, back to Fort M‘Intosh. But the Indians had
left a strong party of observation lurking in the
neighbourhood of the fort, and the escort had pro-
ceeded only two miles before it was fallen upon,
and the whole number killed with the exception of
four, one of whom, a captain, escaped back to the
fort. The bodies of the slain were interred by the
garrison, on the same day, with the honours of war.
A party was likewise sent out to coliect the re-
mains of the fourteen whio had first fallen by the
ambuscade, and bury them.

The situation of the garrison was now becoming
deplorable. For two weeks the men had been re-
duced to half a pound of sour flour, and a like quan-
Vor. .—E &
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tity of offensive meat, per diem; and for a week
longer they were compelled to subsist only upon
raw hides, and such roots as they could find in the
circumjacent woods and prairies, when General
M‘Intosh most opportunely arrived to their relief,
with supplies, and a re-enforcement of seven hun-
dred men. But still they came near being imme-
diately reduced to short allowance again, by an un-
toward accident causing the loss of a great portion
of their fresh supplies. These supplies were trans-
ported through the wilderness upon pack-horses
The garrison, overjoyed at the arrival of succours
on their approach to within about a hundred yards
of the fort manned the parapets and fired a salute
of musketry. But the horses, young in the service,
were affrighted at the detonation of the guns, and
broke from their guides. The example was con-
tagious, and in a moment more the whole caval-
cade of pack-horses were bounding into the woods
at full gallop, dashing their burdens to the ground,
and scattering them over many a rood in all direc-
tions, the greater portion of which could never be
recovered. But there was yet enough of provisions
saved to cause the mingling of evil with the good.
Very incautiously, the officers dealt out two days’
rations per man, the whole of which was devoured
by the famishing soldiers, to the .mminent hazard
of the lives of all, and resulting in the severe sick-
ness of many. Leaving the fort again, General
M‘Intosh assigned the command to Major Vernon,
who remained upon the station several months.
He, in turn, was left to endure the horrors of fam-
ine, until longer to endure was death; whereupon
the fort was evacuated and the position abandoned,
its occupation and maintenance, at the cost of great
fatigue and suffering, and the expense of many lives
having been not of the least service to the country.

But, notwithstanding the untoward result of Gen-
eral M‘Intosh’s expedition, the Indian branch of the
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service opened auspiciously the ‘present year else-
where. and first in a region yet deeper in the West
than Fort Laurens. Colonel Hamilton, the British
lieutenant-governor of Detroit, a rough, bad-tem.
pered, and cruel officer, w ho had signahzed himself
by the exertion of a malignant influence over the
Indians, and had provoked them to take up the
hatchet against the Americans by every possible
means—instigating them to deeds of blood by large
rewards—had projected a powerful Indian expedi-
tion against the Virginia frontier, to be executed
early in the spring. With this design, at the close
of the preceding autumn Hamilton left Detroit, and
took post at St. Vincent’s, on the Wabash, in order
to act earlier and more efficiently immediately after
the breaking up of winter. But his purpose was
most happily defeated by a blow from a direction
which he did not anticipate. Colonel Clarke, who
was yet with a small force in command of Kaskas-
kias, having learned in February that Hamilton had
weakened himself by despatching many of his In-
dians in different directions to annoy the frontiers
of the states, formed the bold resolution of attack-
ing him in his quarters. After a difficult movement
by land and water, at the head of one hundred and
thirty men, Clarke suddenly arrived before St. Vin-
cent’'s. The town at once submitted, and on the
following day Colonel Hamilton and the garrison
surrendered themselves prisoners of war. It was
the good fortune of Colonel Clarke, also, to inter-
cept and capture a valuable convoy of provisions
and stores coming to St. Vincent’s from Detroit.
Hamilton was transferred to Virginia, where the
Council of the Commonwealth instituted an inquiry
into the inhuman conduct imputed to him, and his
confinement in irons, on a diet of bread and water,
was recommended. The plans of the enemy were
not a little disconcerted by this small, though brill-
'ant affair; and peace with several of the Indian
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tribes in that direction was the immediate conse-
qllCHCG.

In the mean time, and before this disaster befell
the Detroit expedition, some bold winter emprise
was projected by Joseph Brant, which, in conse-
quence, probably, of the capture of Hamilton, mis-
carried, or, rather, was not attempted to be put in
execution. There is reason to suppose that a part
of his project was to strike a blow upon the Oneidas
themselves, unless they could be seduced from thei
neutrality, amounting, as it did, almost to an alli-
ance with the United States.* But this faithful
tribe were neither to be coaxed nor driven from the
stand they had maintained since the beginning of
the controversy. On the 16th and 17th of January,
the Oneidas and Tuscaroras held a council, to de-
liberate upon the invitations of the Quiquogas and
Captain Brant, the result of which they communi-
cated to Colonel Van Dyck on the following day.
They informed that efficient officer that, after giv
ing permission to any of their tribe who desired to
join the enemy to withdraw, there was a unanimous
resolution of the council “to stand by each other
in defence of their lives and liberty, against dny
enemy that might be disposed to attack them.”

Seven of the principal Onondaga chiefs, who had
hitherto been considered as neutrals, being at the
time in Oneida, on their way to Fort Schuyler, it
was determined to call them in to the council, and
acquaint them with the above resolution. It was

+ On the Oth of April, 1779, Congress passed a resolution granting
the commission of captain to four of the Oneida and Tuscarora Indians,
and eight commissions of lieutenants. Subsequently, the then princi-
pal Oneida chief, Louis Atayataroughta, was commissioned a lieuten-
ant-colonel. Louis, or ¢ Colonel Louis,” as he was afterward called,
was the representative of three races, being part Indian, part negro,
and part white man. A few other conimissions were issued to those
Indians in the course of the war. The greater number served faithfully.
Some were killed, and three of the lheutepunts deserted to the enemy,
and exchanged their commissions for the sawe rank in the DBritish ser-
vice.
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acco.dingly done, by the transmission of a large
olaek belt of wampum. The Onondagas replied,
“That they were very glad to hear the resolution
which their children, the Oneidas and Tusearoras,
had made, and were determined to join them to op-
pose any invader.”

The Onondagas farther engaged, upon their re-
turn home, to effect a final separation in their tribe,
and insist that every one should declare for one
side or the other. The conduct of most of the
Onondagas had been from the first equivocal, often
openly hostile. But those present at this council
manifested a better feeling, and joined in the request
of the Oneidas for troops to aid in their protection.
The Oneidas, on this occasion, placed great confi-
dence in the professions of their Onondaga breth-
ren, and were in high spirits at the result of the
council.

There was other evidence, not only of the inten-
tion of Thayendanegea to make a powerful Indian
descent upon the Mohawk during this winter, but
of the supposed fidelity of these Onondagas to the
United States. About the middle of February,
General Clinton having, through various channels,
and by several expresses, received information at
Albany of such a design, marched to Schenectady
with Colonel Van Schaick’s regiment, ordering the
latter as farup the Mohawk as Caughnawaga, there
to await the event. On the 26th of February, Cap-
tain Copp, of Fort Van Dyck, wrote to Captain Gra-
ham, then in charge of Fort Schuyler, announcing
that two of the Oneida messengers, of distinguished
(Indian) families, had just returned from Niagara,
where they had obtained positive evidence of Brant’s
purpose. The Mohawk chief had received express-
es announcing that the Shawanese and Delawares
svere to strike a simultaneous blow upon tne fron-
tier of Virginia;* and Brant himself was Jead

* ‘The project of Colonel Hamilton, frustrated by his capture
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the main expedition direct to the Muh wwe, < aile
another diversion was to be created by sending a
smaller force round by the Unadilla, to fall upon the
settlements of Schoharie. In regaid to the fidelity
of the Onondagas, it was stated by the Oneida
chiefs that fourteen of that nation had been de-
spatched to Niagara by the chiefs of the tribe, to
persuade their brethren, who had taken up the hatch-
et with the Mohawks, to return. But these four-
teen messengers had not been permitted to come
back themselves, and the Onondagas were appre-
hensive that they and all their people at Niagara
had been inade prisoners. The uneasiness in Tryon
county was greatly increased under these circum-
stances. Major Jelles Fonda wrote to General
Clinton that there were yet three hundred Tory
families in the northern part of that settlement, af-
fording aid and comfort to the hostile refugees, who
kept up a continual intercourse with them, across
through the woods, or by Lake Champlain to Canada.
For greater security, therefore, he urged permission
to build a strong blockhouse, and station fifty ran-
gers within it, on the Sacondaga River, directly north
of Johnstown.

Captain Brant, however, either abandoned or de-
ferred the threatened invasion. The winter, conse
quently, passed away without any serious disturb-
ance in that region. But, notwithstanding all the
fair professions of the Onondagas, their treachery
had become alike so manifest and so injurious as to
render it expedient, immediately on the opening of
the spring, to make them a signal example to their
red brethren. Accordingly, early in April an expe-
dition was detailed upon this service by General
Clinton, with the approbation of the commander-in-
chief, consisting of detachments from the regiments
of Colonels Van Schaick and Gansevoort, to the
number of five hundred men, under the conduct of
the former. The troops were moved as expedi
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tiously as possible to Fort Schuyler, and thirty bat-
teaux were simultaneously ordered thither to trans-
port them down Wood Creek, and through the Onei-
da Lake to Three Rivers. Colonel Van Schaick’s
instructions were very full and explicit upon every
point. The design was to proceed as rapidly and
cautiously as possible, in order to take the Indians
by surprise ; for which purpose, on the morning of
the departure of the expedition, it was to be an-
nounced that its destination was against Oswego.
Colonel Van Schaick was directed to burn and ut
terly destroy the village and castle of the Ononda-
gas, together with all their cattle and effects; but
he was strictly enjoined to make as many prisoners
as possible, and put none to death who could be
taken alive. ‘The following passage occurs in the
instructions of General Clinton on this occasion,
which is worthy of preservation : * Bad as the say
ages are, they never violate the chastity of any
women, their prisoners. Although I have very lit-
tle apprehension that any of the soldiers will so far
forget their character as to attempt such a crime
on the Indian women who may fall into their hands,
yet it will be well to take measures to prevent such
a stain upon our army.” This injunction speaks
volumes in praise of the soldier who wrote it.

The orders to Colonel Van Schaick were issued
on the 9th of April, and so rapidly were the neces-
sary arrangements expedited, that everything was
in readiness for the departure from Fort Schuyler
on the 18th. During the evening of that day, the
batteaux, with the necessary stores, were silently
removed across the carrying-place to Wood Creek,
and all things there placed in order. The troops
were early in motion on the morning of the 19th,
and a thick mist contributed essentially in covering
the movement, had there been any spies lurking
about to make observation. The number of men
embarked, including officers, was five hundred and
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fifty-eight. Their progress to the Oneida Lake was
considerably impeded, by reason of trees which had
fallen across the creek, so that much of the first
day’s journey was perfurrned by the troops on foot.
The passage of the Oneida Lake was effected as ex-
peditiously as possible ; and although they encoun-
tered a strong and excessively disagreeable head-
wind, they nevertheless reached the Onondaga Land-
ing, opposite to old Fort Brewington, with the whole
flotilla, by three o’clock in the afternoon of the 20th.

Ledvmg a suitable guard with the boats, the little
army pushed immediately forward, and, despite the

obstacles in traversing a rleep-tangled forest, the
soil resembling a morass, they marched nine miles
without halting. The night was dark, wet, and
cold ; but knowing well the wariness of the enemy
and the celerity of their movements, and how fre-

quently they were prepared to strike when least
expected, the troops were necessarily precluded
from kindling fires, and obliged to sleep on their
arms. The march was resumed very early on the
morning of the 21st, and, in order to save time, they
were obliged to ford an arm of the Onondaga Lake,
about two hundred yards wide and four feet in depth.

Arriving at the estuary of Onondaga Creek, at the
head of the lake, Captain Graham, commanding the
advanced guard, captured one of the warriors of the
tribe ; and although they were now within two or
three miles of the village and castle, this was the first
Indian seen, or who was apprized of the approach of
the expedition. Captain Graham was now directed
again to advance with all possible rapidity and cau-
tion, for the purpose of surrounding the lower castle,
while the residue of the main force was divided into
small detachments, and hurried forward for the pur-
pose of falling upon the other towns in such rapid
succession as, if possible, to take all the villages by
surprise, This chain of villages extended through
the valley of the Onondaga Creek for the distance
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of ten miles. The tribe had once been among the
most powerful of the Aganuschioni, or confeder-
ated people of the Five Nations. Situated in the
centre of the confederacy, to the Onondagas, time
immemorial, had been committed the keeping of the
great council fire. This fire had been extinguished
in 1692 by Count Frontenac, who then came against
it at the head of a powerful expedition from Mon-
treal, and utterly destroyed the village. It had again
been put out in the spring of 1777, and was now
doomed to a third extinetion, equally summary and
complete with the former. But although the expe-
dition of Colonel Van Schaick had been thus far.
and was throughout, admirably conducted, the sur-
prise was not as complete as had been intended.
While Captain Graham’s company was securing a
few prisoners taken in the outskirts of the village,
near the principal castle, means were found by the
wily adversary to give the alarm in advance. The
tidings, of course, flew from village to village with
greater rapidity than the several detachments of
troops could equal, and the Indians scattered off to
the woods in all directions. But such was the pre-
cipitancy of their flight, that they carried nothing
with them, not even their arms. Still, thirty-three
of their number were taken prisoners, and twelve
killed. Three villages, consisting of about fifty
houses, were burned to the ground, and a large
quantity of provisions, consisting chiefly of beans
and corn, destroyed. Nearly one hundred muskets
were taken among the booty, and several rifles, to-
gether with a considerable quantity of ammunition.
Their swivel at the council-house was rendered
useless, and their cattle and horses were destroyed.
The work of destruction having been completed.
the detachment immediately commenced its return
to Fort Schuyler. It was fired upon in the after-
noon by a small party of Indians in the woods, but
without injury, while one of the enemy fell by the
o—24
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return fire. On Saturday, the 24th, the troops were
all back again at Fort bchuylu, ]hmnrr performed
a journey, going and returning, of one hundred and
eighty mllm, and effected 111(,1: objeet without the
loss of a single man.

At this distance of time, from the very imperfect
data afforded by written history, this expedition
against the Onondagas appears like a harsh, if not
an unnecessary measure. But, notwithstanding the
professions of this nation, those in the direction of
public affairs at that period unquestionably felt its
chastisement to be a work of stern necessity. Gen-
eral Schuyler had written that, unless some exem-
plary blow should be inflicted upon the hostiles of the
Six Nations, Schenectady would shortly become the
boundary of the American settlements in that direc-
tion. - The enterprise had, moreover, the sanction
of the commander-in-chief; while nothing could be
more humane, in regard to a warlike expedition,
than the instructions of General Clinton.

It is, perhaps, a coincidence worth noting, that on
the very day on which Colonel Van Schaick depart-
ed from Fort Schuyler for Onondaga, the lower sec-
tion of the Mohawk Valley was thrown into alarm
by the sudden appearance of an Indian force simul-
taneously on both sides of the river, in the vicinity
of Palatine. On the south side, a party rushed
down upon the settlement, took three prisoners, to-
gether with several horses, and drove the inhabi-
tants into Fort Plank. At the very same hour, an-
other division of the savages made a descent upon
the back part of Stone-Arabia, where, in the onset,
they burned two houses and murdered one man.
The next house in their course belonged to Captain
Richer. The occupants were Richer, his wife and
two sons, and an old man. 'T'he captain and his two
boys, being armed, on the near approach of the In-
dians gave them a warm reception. A sharp action
ensued The old man, being unarmed, was killed;
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as also was one of the brave boys, a lad seventeen
years of age. Captain Richer was severely wound-
ed, and his arm was broken; his other son was
also wounded in the elbow, and his wife in one of
her legs. And yet, notwithstanding that the whole
garrison was either killed or wounded, the Indians
retreated on the loss of two of their number.

On the same day, a party of Senecas appeared in
Schoharie, made prisoners of Mr. Lawyer and Mr
Cowley, and plundered their houses. The panic
was again general ; the people flying to the forts for
safety, and the Committee of Palatine writing im-
mediately to General Clinton, at Albany, for assist-
ance. The general was an officer of great activity,
and so rapidly did he move in cases of alarm, that
he traversed the Mohawk Valley with Colonel
Gansevoort’s regiment and the Schenectady militia,
and was back at Albany again on the 28th. The
Indians who appeared on the south side were from
the West; those on the north side were Mohawks
from Canada. General Clinton, in his despatches
to the governor, his brother, expressed an opinion
that, but for his timely movement on that occasion,
the enemy would have driven the settlements all in
upon Schenectady.

On the 30th of April, Lieutenants M‘Clellan and
Hardenburgh returned to Fort Schuyler from an un-
successful expedition, at the head of a body of In-
dians, against the small British garrison at Oswe-
gatehie. It was their intention to take the fort by
surprise ; but, falling in prematurely with some
straggling Indians, several shots were imprudently
exchanged, by reason of which their approach be-
came known to the garrison. They then attempted
by stratagem to draw the enemy from the fort, and
partly succeeded, but could not induce them to ven-
ture far enough from their works to cut them off;
and on approaching the fort themselves, the assail-
ants were so warmly received by cannister and
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grape as to be compelled to retreat without unne-
cessary delay. The only service performed was to
send a Caughnawaga Indian into Canada with a let-
tor in French, by “a French general,” probably the
Marquis de Lafayette, addressed to the Canadians,
and written in the preceding autumn. This expe-
dition was despatched from Fort Schuyler on the
day before Colonel Van Schaick moved upon Onon-
daga ; and, from a letter addressed by General Clin-
ton, six weeks afterward, to General Sullivan, there
is reason to believe one object was to get clear of
the Oneida Indians then in the fort, until Colonel
Van Schaick should have proceeded so far upon his
expedition that they or their people would not be
able to give the Onondagas notice of his approach.
All the Indians still remaining in Fort Schuyler on
the 17th were detained expressly for that object of
precaution. General Clinton conceded their use-
fulness as scouts and spies upon the British forces ;
but, he observed, * Their attachment to one another
is too strong to admit of their being of any service
when employed against their fellows.” This testi-
mony is certainly not discreditable to the Indian
character as such.

The Onondagas, fired with indignation at the de-
struction of their villages and castle, and the put-
ting out of the great council-fire which they had so
long kept burning at their national altar, resolved
upon summary vengeance. To this end, three hun-
dred of their warriors were speedily upon the war-
path, bending their steps to the valley of the Scho-
harie Kill. The settlement of Cobleskill, which
had suffered so severely the preceding year, situated
about ten miles west of the Schobarie Kill, and yet
comprising nineteen German families, was the first
object of attack. But they were prevented from
taking the place by surprise, in consequence of two
of their number straggling a considerable distance
in advance of the main body, who were discovered
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by a scout of two of the Cobleskill militia. One of
the Indians was shot, and the ot} er fled; and the
scouts hastened home to give the alarm. Intelli-
gence of the enemy’s approach was immediately
despatched to Schoharie, with a request for assist-
ance. A captain of the Continental army was
thereupon sent to Cobleskill with a detachment of
regular troops. On the following morning a party
of Indians sallied out of the woods, and after ap.
proaching the settlement, suddenly returned. They
were pursued by a small detachment of troops to the
edge of the forest, where their reception was so
sharp as to compel a retreat. The captain himself
immediately marched to the scene of action with
the whole of his little band, together with fifteen
volunteers of the militia. The Indians receded be.
fore the whites for a time, and continued the decep-
tion by showing themselves at first in small num.
bers on the skirt of the forest, until they had accom-
plished the identical purpose they had in view.” The
captain and his men pursued, without any knowl-
edge of the disparity of numbers they had to en-
counter, until the Indians had drawn them sufficient.
ly within their toils to make a stand. Their num-
bers now multiplied rapidly, and the battle became
animated. The captain fell wounded, and was soon
afterward killed. His men, panic-stricken, instant-
ly fled; but in the twinkling of an eye, a cloud of
several hundred savages, until then in concealment,
rose up on all sides of them, pouring in a deadly
shower of rifle balls, and making the forest ring
with their appalling yells. The inhabitants of the
settlement, on perceiving the disaster which had be-
fallen the troops, fled in the direction of Schoharie
with a portion of the fugitive soldiers. Their flight
was facilitated, or, rather, they were prevented from
being overtaken, by seven of the captain’s brave
fellows, who took possession of a deserted house,
and made a resolute defence. From the windows
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of their castle they fired briskly upon the Indians,
and, bringing them to a pause, detained them until
the inhabitants had made good their flight to Scho-
harie. Unable to drive the soldiers from the house,
the Indians at length applied the brand, and the
brave fellows were burned to death within its walls.
The whole settlement was then plundered and burn-
ed by the Indians. But they did not proceed farther
towards Schoharie. The loss of the whites was
twenty-two killed and two taken prisoners. The
bodies of the slain were found the next day, sadly
mutilated : and in the hand of one of them the Indians
had placed a roll of Continental bills, a severe satire
upon the description of money for which the soldiers
were serving. The great fact, however, that it was
the causk, and not the pav, which kept the Amer-
icans in the field, could scarcely be appreciated by
the forest warriors. They were led in this battle by
a Tory, who was subsequently killed by the cele-
brated Murphy. Their loss was severe, but to what
extent was not known. Thus was amply avenged
the destruction of Onondaga.

During the month of April, the inhabitants of Mo-
nongalia, on the northwestern Virginia border and
the western part of Pennsylvania, in the vicinity of
Fort Pitt, had been severely harassed by the In-
dians, and numbers of the people murdered. These
individual murders were the more cruel, inasmuch
as they could have no effect upon the result of the
pending contest. The snatching away of prisoners
by these petty expeditions was a different affair;
and often served a twofold purpose, enabling the
enemy [requently to extort information, and, by 4
silent operation, continually increasing the number
of prisoners in their hands for exchange. But,
whether murdered outright or carried into captivity,
the trials of the inhabitants upon a frontier, thus
hourly exposed to dangers of the most appalling de-
scription, can scarcely be appreciated by those who
have not been placed in similar peril
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The frontier towns of the county of Ulster were
likewise not a little annoyed, in the early part of
May, by a detachment of thirty or forty of Butler's
rangers, who, from their knowledge of the country,
were supposed to have fled to the royal standard
{from that neighbourhood. On the 4th of May, four
dwelling-houses and five barns were burned by them
in Fantine Kill. Six of the inhabitants were mur-
dered, besides three or four more who were sup-
posed to be burned in their houses. Colonel Philip
Van Courtlandt, stationed at that time with one of
the New-York regiments at Warwasing, went in
pursuit of the traitors ; but although he twice came
in sight of them upon the crest of a mountain, they
were Loo dexterous in thridding the forests to allow
him to overtake them ; and the colonel had scarcely
turned back from the pursuit before they fell upon
the town of Woodstock, in the neighbourhood of
Kingston, where they burned several houses and
committed other depredations. They made a few
prisoners, some of whom were carried away ; while
others were compelled, by the upraised hatchet, to
take an oath not to serve in arms against the king,

In order to preserve unbroken a narrative of the
principal Indian campaign of the present year, it is
necessary somewhat to anticipate the progress of
events, by recording in this place the particulars of
the celebrated invasion of Minisink, and the bloody
battle that immediately ensued near the Delaware,*
The brave Count Pulaski, with his battalion of cav-
alry, had been stationed at Minisink during the pre-
ceding winter ; but in the month of February he was
ordered to South Carolina, to Join the army of Gen-

* Minisink, for an inland American town, 1s very ancient, It is situn-
ted about ten miles west of Goshen, in the county of Urange (N. Y.), on
the Navisink River, and among what are called the Shawangunk Mount-
ains. It is bordered on the southwest by both the States of New-Jersey
and Pennsylvania. The Wallkill also rises in this town, Its history,
previous to the war of the Revolution, is full of interest. A severe bat-

tle was fought with the Indians in Minisink, July 22. 1669, the bloody
horrors of which yet live in the traditions of that neighhourhood
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eral Lincoln. Left thus wholly unpro{cctﬁd. save
by its own people, Captain Brant determined to
make a descent upon it, for the purpose of taking
both plunder and prisoners. Accordingly, on the
20th of July, or, rather, during the night of the 19th,
the crafty Mohawk stole upon the slumbering town,
at the head of sixty Indians and twenty-seven Tory
warriors disguised as Indians, which was a very
common practice with the Loyalists when acting
with the savages. This was only a detachment of
a much larger force which Brant had left among the
mountains between Minisink and the Delaware
Such was the silence of their approach, that sever-
al houses were already in flames when the inhabi
tants awoke to their situation. ‘Thus surprised, and
wholly unprepared, all who could escape fled in
consternation, leaving the invaders to riot upon the
spoil. 'Ten houses and twelve barns were burned,
together with a small stockade fort and two mills.
Several persons were killed, and others taken pris-
oners. The farms of the settlement were laid
waste, the cattle driven away, and all the booty car-
ried off which the invaders could remove. Having
thus succeeded in his immediate object, Brant lost
no time in leading his party back to the main body
of his warriors, whom he had left at Grassy Brook.

No sooner had the fugitives fromn Minisink arri-
ved at Goshen with the intelligence, than Dr. T'usten,
the colonel of the local militia, issued orders to the
officers of his command to meet him at Minisink on
the following day, with as many volunteers as they
could raise. The order was promptly obeyed, and
a body of one hundred and forty-nine men met their
colonel at the designated rendezvous at the time
appointed, including many of the principal gentle-
men of the county. A council of war was held to
determine upon the expediency of a pursuit. Colonel
‘Pusten was himself opposed to the proposition, with
so feeble a command, and with the certainty, if they
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overtook the enemy, of being obliged to encounter
an officer combining, with his acknowledged Prow-
ess, s0 much of subtlety as characterized the move-
ments of the Mohawk chief, His force, IMoreover,
was believed to be greatly superior to theirs in num-
vers, and to include many ‘l'ories as well acquaint-
ed with the country as themselves. The colonel,
therefore, preferred waiting for the re-enforcements
which would be sure soon to arrive, the more espe-
clally as the volunteers already with him were but
il provided with arms and ammunition. Others,
however, were forimmediate pursuit. They affect-
ed to hold the Indians in contempt, insisted that they
would not fight, and maintained that a recapture of
the plunder they had taken would be an easy achieve-
ment. Town-meeting counsels in the conduct of
war are not usually the wisest, as will appear in the
sequel. The majority of Tusten’s command were
evidently determined to pursue the enemy ; but their
deliberations were cut short by Major Meeker, who
mounted his horse, flourished his sword, and vaunt-
ingly called out, ** Let the brave men follow me, the
cowards may stay behind ! It may readily be sup-
posed that such an appeal to an excited multitude
would decide the question, as it did. The line of
march was immediately taken up, and after pro
ceeding seventeen miles the same evening, they en-
camped for the night. On the morning of the 22d
they were joined by a small re-enforcement under
Colonel Hathorn, of the Warwick regiment, who,
as the senior of Colonel Tusten, took the command.
When they had advanced a few miles, to Halfway
Brook, they came upon the Indian encampment of
the preceding night, and another council was held
there. Colonels Hathorn, Tusten, and others, whose
valour was governed by prudence, were opposed to
advancing farther, as the number of Indian fires, and
the extent of ground they had occupied, removed
all doubt as to the superiority of their numbers. . A
Vou. 1.—F ¥
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scene similar to that which had broken up the for. '
mer council was acted at this place, and with the
same result. The voice of prudence was compelled
to yield to that of bravado.

Captain Tyler, who had some knowledge of the
woods, was sent forward at the head of a small
scouting party, to follow the trail of the Indians, and
to ascertain, if possible, their movements, since
it was evident that they could not be far in ad-
vance. The captain had proceeded but a short dis- '
tance before he fell from the fire of an unseen ene-
my. This circumstance occasioned considerable |
alarm : but the volunteers., nevertheless, pressed 1
eagerly forward, and it was not long before they
emerged upon the hills of the Delaware, in full view
of that river, upon the eastern bank of which, at the
distance of three fourths of a mile, the Indians were
seen deliberately marching in the direction of a
fording-place near the mouth of the Lackawaxen.
This discovery was made at about 9 o’clock in the
morning. The intention of Brant to cross at the |
fording-place was evident ; and it was afterward as-
certained that his booty had already been sent thith-
er in advance.

The determination was immediately formed by
Colonel Hathorn to intercept the enemy at the ford-
ing-place, for which purpose instant dispositions
were made. But, owing to intervening woods and
hills, the opposing bodies soon lost sight of each
other, and an adroit movement on the part of Brant
gave him an advantage which it was impossible for
the Americans to regain. Anticipating the design
of Hathorn, the moment the Americans were out of
sight Brant wheeled to the right, and, by thridding a
ravine across which Hathorn had passed, threw him-
self into his rear, by which means he was enabled
deliberately to select his ground for a battle and
form an ambuscade. Disappointed in not finding
the enemy, the Americans were brought to a stand,
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when the enemy disclosed himself partially, in a
quarter altogether unexpected. According to the
American account, the first shot was fired upon an
Indian, who was known, and who was mounted upon
a horse stolen at Minisink. The Indian fell, and the
firing soon became general : the enemy coutriving,
In the early part of the engagement, to cut off from
the main body of Hathorn’s troops a detachment
comprising one third of his whole number. The
conflict was long and obstinate. The number of the
enemy being several times greater than that of the
Goshen militia, the latter were surrounded, and ulti-
mately hemmed within the circumference of an acre
of ground. Being short of ammunition, Hathorn’s
orders were strict that no man should fire until very
sure that his powder would not be lost. The battle
commenced about 11 o’clock in the morning, and
was maintained until the going down of the sun ;
both parties fighting after the Indian fashion, every
man for himself, and the whole keeping up an ir-
regular fire from behind rocks and trees as best they
could. About sunset the ammunition of the militia
was expended, and the survivers attempted to re-
treat, but many of them were cut down. Doctor
Tusten was engaged behind a cliff of rocks in dress-
ing the wounded when the retreat commenced.
There were seventeen disabled men under his care
at the moment, whose cries for protection and mercy
were of the most moving description. The Indians
fell upon them, however, and they all, together with
the doctor, perished under the tomahawk. Amon

the slain were many of the first citizens of Goshen ;
and of the whole number that went forth, only about
thirty returned to tell the melancholy story.* Sev-

* Among the slain were Jones, Little, Duncan, Wisner, Vail, Towns-
nd, and Knapp. In 1822 the peaple of Orange county collected the
bones, which until then had been left to bleach on the battle-field, and
caused them to be buried, The funeral procession numbered twelve
thousand people, among whom was Major Poppino, one of the survivers
of the battle, then nearly one hunded years old
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eral of the fugitives were shot while attempting e
escape by swimming the Delaware.

Brant has been severely censured for the cruel-
ties perpetrated, or alleged to have been perpetrated,
in this battle. He always maintained that he hac
been unjustly blamed, and that his conduct had beer.
the subject of unjust reproach. He stated that,
having ascertained that the Goshen militia were in
pursuit of him, determined to give him battle, he, of
course, prepared himselt for the reception. Still,
having obtained the supplies he needed, his own ob-
ject was accomplished. He also stated, that on the
near approach of the Americans, he rose, and pre-
sented himself openly and fairly to their view, ad-
dressed himself to their commanding officer, and de-
manded their surrender, promising, at the same time,
to treat them kindly as prisoners of war. He as-
sured them, frankly, that his force in ambush was
sufficient to overpower and destroy them ; that then,
before any blood had been shed, he could control
his warriors ;: but should the battle commence, he
could not answer for the consequences. But, he
said, while he was thus parleying with them, he was |
fired upon, and narrowly escaped being shot down,
the ball piercing the outer fold of his belt. Imme-
diately upon receiving the shot, he retired, and se-
creted himself among his warriors. The militia,
imboldened by his disappearance, seeing no other
enemy, and disbelieving what he had told them,
rushed forward heedlessly until they were com-
pletely within his power. In crossing a creek they
had broken their order, and before they could form
again on the other side, Brant gave the well-known
signal of the war-whoop. Quick as the lightning’s
flash, his dark cloud of warriors were upon theil
feet. Having fired once, they sprang forward, toma- |
hawk in hand. The conflict was fierce and bloody.
Few escaped, and several of the prisoners were
killed. There was one who, during the battle, suved
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himself by means which Brant said were dishonour-
able. By some process or other, though not a Free-
mnason, he had acquired a knowledge of the master
mason’s grand hailing signal of distress ; and having
been informed that Brant was a member of the
brotherhood, he gave the mystic sign. Faithful to
his pledge, the chieftain interposed and saved his
life. Discovering the imposture afterward, he was
very indignant. Still, he spared his life, and the
prisouer ultimately returned to his friends after a
long captivity.

There was another occurrence of deep and thrill-
ing interest connected with this battle, the particu-
lars of which were related in after years by Brans
himself, while on a visit to the city of New-York.
Among those who were grievously wounded was
Lieutenant-colonel Gabriel Wisner, a gentleman of
greal respectability, a magistrate, serving among
the Goshen volunteers. In surveying the battle-
field, the situation of Wisner arrested the attention
of the Indian commander, who examined his con-
dition. The chief saw that he was wounded past
hope of recovery; but he was, nevertheless, in the
full possession of his faculties, and was even able
to converse. Believing his case to be altogether
beyond the power of medical and surgical skill, and
having no means of carrying him away, Brant re-
tlected a moment upon his own course of duty. He
was disposed to save his life if he could. and yes
felt that it was impossible. To leave him thus help-
less and alone upon the field, in the possession of
his senses to a degree enabling him to appreciate
all the horrors of his situation, would be the heighs
of cruelty. Added to which was the moral certainty
that the wolves abounding in the forest, guided by
the scent of blood, would soon be gorging them-
selves alike upon the wounded and the dead. 'The
thought, therefore, that Wisner might be torn in
pieces while vet alive, seemed to him even more
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than savage cruelty. Under these distressing cir-
cumstances and considerations, the chief argued
with himself that true humanity required a speedy
termination of his sufferings. Having formed tlus
conclusion, the next point was t0 cOmMpass his death
without inflicting additional torture upon his feel-
ings. With this view, he engaged Wisner in con-
versation, and, while diverting his attention, struck
him dead in an instant, and unperceived, with his
hatchet. It was but a savage exhibition of human-
ity ; but there was benevolence in the intention,
however strangely reasoned; and the motive of
the final blow is to be applauded, notwithstanding
the shudder caused by its contemplation.

From Minisink, by a rapid movement, Brant fell
upon a settlement on the south side of the Mohawk,
where, on the 2d of August, he made a few prison-
ers, the name of one of whom was House. This
man, with his companions, was carried back into
the woods, and left in charge of the Indians, while
Brant, with four or five of his warriors, went off
upon some secret enterprise. Un the fourth day after
his absence, he returned, attended by his four war-
riors, but on horseback himself, having been wound-
ed in the foot by a musket-shot. The wound, how-
ever, was not like that of Achilles, in the heel, but
by a buckshot in the ball of the great toe, and there-
fore in a place less equivocal for a soldier’s honour.
They then commenced their march in the direction
of Tioga; but as House became 100 lame by walk-
mg to continue the journey on foot, the Indians
proposed killing him. To this Brant objected ; and
having been acquainted with House before the war,
he released him on condition of his taking an oath
of neutrality, which was written by the chief in the
Indian language. House signed the oath, and Brant
witnessed it. He was then released, and being some-
where in the vicinity of Otsego Lake, where Gen-
eral Clinton was then making preparations for his
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celebrated descent of the Susquehanna, House came
into Clinton’s camp on the 8th of August, the day
previous to his embarcation.

Contemporaneously with these occurrences, and
while, as will subsequently appear, the attention of
the American officers was directed to more impor-
tant movements, the Indians and Tories once more
broke in upon the Pennsylvania border, in North-
ampton, Lyconia, and the neighbourhood of Sunbury.
In a succession of petty affairs between the 1st and
21st of July, several neighbourhoods were destroyed
and mills burned. On the 17th, all the principal
houses in the township of Munsey were burned.
Two persons were killed on that day, and four had
been killed a few days previous, besides several
taken prisoners. On the 20th, three men were
killed by a small party hovering about Freeland’s
Fort, situated on the west branch of the Susque-
hanna, seventeen miles from Sunbury. On the 28th,
five days after the affair of Minisink, this little de-
fence, which was garrisoned by only thirty men,
and about fifty women and children, who had sought
refuge within its walls, was invested by one of the
M‘Donalds, at the head of two hundred Indians, and
one hundred troops, calling themselves regulars.
But, although wearing the British uniform, it was
believed that they were American Loyalists. The
enemy met with less resistance during this irruption
than would have been the case, but for the circum-
stance that the greater part of the men had been
draughted for the boat service of General Sullivan,
who was then at Wyoming, preparing to enter the
Seneca country. Fort Freeland was too weak of
itself, and too weakly garrisoned, to hold out long
against such a disparity of force. Captain Hawkins
Boone, a brave officer, stationed with thirty men at
a distance of some miles, marched to the relief of
the fort immediately on hearing of the investment
The garrison had surrendered before his arrival
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Boone, nevertheless, gave battle to the enemy ; but,
overpowered by numbers, he was slain, together
with eighteen of his men, whose scalps were car- .
ried as trophies into the fort. Two other officers, 5
Captains Dougherty and Hamilton, were also killed. .
By the terms of capitulation, M‘Donald stipulated
to spare the women and children, and allow them
to depart. The fort, and the houses iu ‘ts vicinity,
were then burned.

Meantime, the Shawanese were continuing their
depredations upon the Ohio border of Virginia, with
cesults certainly not unfavourable to the former.

With these incidents closes the present volume.
The second will open with a narrative of the most
formidable Indian campaign undertaken during the
contest for American Independence.
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